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TERMS
As used herein, and unless the context suggests otherwise, the terms “the Company,” “Spark Networks,” “we,” “us” or “our” refer to Spark Networks SE and its consolidated
subsidiaries.
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This annual report contains statements that constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
All statements other than statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and
other factors that may cause Spark Networks’ performance or achievements to be materially different from those of any expected future results, performance, or achievements.
Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and Spark Networks does not assume any duty to update forward-looking statements. Readers are
cautioned that a number of important factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in, or implied or projected by, such forward-looking
statements. Words and expressions reflecting optimism, satisfaction, or disappointment with current prospects, as well as words such as “believes,” “hopes,” “intends,”
“estimates,” “expects,” “projects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” and variations thereof, or the use of future tense, identify forward-looking statements, but their absence does not mean
that a statement is not forward-looking. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about operating a diverse global platform of premium online
dating sites and mobile applications, statements about providing exceptional user experience and driving stockholder value, statements about projected financial results,
statements regarding Spark Network’s growth opportunities and initiatives, statements regarding the Company’s building of global, shared services for its dating brands'
technology platforms, statements relating to the benefits and integration of Zoosk to the Company’s business, statements about the Company’s plans, objectives, expectations
and intentions and other statements that are not historical facts. Such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of performance and actual results could differ materially
from those contained in such statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to: risks related to the acquisition of Zoosk, risks
related to the degree of competition in the markets in which Spark Networks operates; the ability of Spark Networks to retain and hire key personnel; Spark Networks’ ability to
continue to control costs and operating expenses; Spark Networks’ ability to achieve its intended cost savings; Spark Networks’ ability to generate cash from operations, lowerthan-expected revenue, credit quality deterioration or a reduction in net earnings; Spark Networks’ ability to raise outside capital and to repay debt as it comes due; Spark
Networks’ ability to introduce new competitive products and the degree of market acceptance of such new products; the timing and market acceptance of new products
introduced by Spark Networks’ competitors; Spark Networks’ ability to identify potential acquisitions; Spark Networks’ ability to successfully integrate acquired businesses
and the ability of acquired businesses to perform as expected; Spark Networks’ ability to maintain strong relationships with branded channel partners; changes in Spark
Networks’ stock price due to broader stock market movements and the performance of peer group companies; Spark Networks’ ability to enforce intellectual property rights and
protect their respective intellectual property; Spark Networks' ability to comply with new and evolving regulations relating to data protection and data privacy; general
competition and price measures in the market place; risks related to the duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on Spark Networks’ business; the
effects of social distancing, shelter-in-place orders and increased unemployment, in each case, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, on Spark Networks’ business and the
online dating industry; the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the U.S. and global economies and financial markets generally and on Spark Networks' ability to access
capital; general economic conditions; and the other factors identified in Item 1.A “Risk Factors.”
Although Spark Networks believes the assumptions upon which these forward-looking statements are based are reasonable, any of these assumptions could prove to be
inaccurate and the forward-looking statements based on these assumptions could be incorrect. The underlying expected actions and Spark Networks’ results of operations
involve risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside the Company’s control, and any one of which, or a combination of which, could materially affect Spark Networks’
results of operations and whether the forward-looking statements ultimately prove to be correct. In light of the significant uncertainties inherent in the forward-looking
statements, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements.
These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which the statements were made and Spark Networks does not undertake any obligation to update or revise any
forward-looking statements made in this annual report or elsewhere as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise, except as required by law.
In addition to other factors and matters contained or incorporated in this document, the factors discussed under “Risk Factors” could cause actual results to differ materially
from those discussed in the forward-looking statements.

3

Many of the factors that will determine Spark Networks’ future results are beyond Spark Networks’ ability to control or predict. Spark Networks cannot guarantee any future
results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements.
Additional information about these factors and about the material factors or assumptions underlying such forward-looking statements may be found elsewhere in this annual
report.
Spark Networks cautions further that, as it is not possible to predict or identify all relevant factors that may impact forward-looking statements, the foregoing list should not be
considered a complete statement of all potential risks and uncertainties.
Readers should carefully consider the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section in connection with any subsequent forward-looking statements that may be
issued by Spark Networks or persons acting on behalf of Spark Networks.
Note regarding trademarks
Except as indicated, the trademarks, trade names or service marks appearing in this annual report are the property of the Company. Solely for convenience, trademarks and trade
names referred to in this annual report may appear without the ® or TM symbol.
PART I
Item 1. Business.
Overview
When used in this report, the terms "we," "us," "our" and "the Company" refer to Spark Networks SE and its subsidiaries.
We are a leader in social dating platforms for meaningful relationships focusing on the 40+ demographic and faith-based affiliations. Since our inception, we have had nearly
100 million users register with our dating platforms (which includes inactive accounts). We currently operate a portfolio of brands accessible to customers across the globe.
However, our focus is in five key geographies – USA, Canada, Australia, UK and France, where we generate the majority of our revenues.
Our vision is to be the world’s leader in social dating for meaningful relationships. It encompasses the following pillars:
•
•
•

We build world’s best dating communities focused on the 40+ age demographic and religious communities: our users are active, committed and sophisticated.
We excel in customer safety, privacy and social dating features.
We create engaging brands and innovative products to help our customers find true love seamlessly.

We offer services both via websites and mobile applications accessed mostly through a “subscription” business model, where certain basic functionalities are provided free of
charge, while providing premium features (such as interacting with other community members via messages) only to paying subscribers.
Subscription revenue is our primary source of income, with membership subscriptions accounting for the vast majority of our revenue for the years ended December 31, 2021
and 2020, respectively. Subscription length ranges from 1-month to 12-months, with most subscriptions renewing automatically unless the member opts to terminate the
subscription. We also offer users "pay as you go" features and have a small but growing advertising revenue stream.
The majority of our users' activity is on mobile devices. We have created innovative and tailored mobile applications and will continue to improve the features, functionality and
engagement of our mobile websites and applications.
Our American Depository Shares ("ADS") are traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market ("Nasdaq").
Our Industry
Our primary businesses are in the online personals industry, which fulfills the need for single adults looking to meet a companion. Traditional methods such as offline dating
services and public gathering places often do not meet the needs of single people. Offline dating services are time-consuming, expensive and offer a smaller number of potential
partners. Public
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gathering places such as restaurants, bars and other social venues provide a limited opportunity to learn about others prior to a one-on-one meeting. In contrast, online personals
services facilitate interaction between singles by allowing them to screen and communicate with a large number of potential companions before they meet in-person. With
features such as detailed personal profiles, email, mobile chat and instant messaging, this medium allows users to communicate with other singles at their convenience and
affords them the ability to meet multiple people in an anonymous, convenient and secure setting.
The global online personals industry has experienced significant growth in recent years. Industry research estimates that the dating services industry revenue is expected to
increase an annualized 7.8% to approximately $8 billion by 2026.
North America is currently the largest geographic market in the online personals industry, according to industry research. In recent years, we have increased our market share in
the United States through the launch of EliteSingles and SilverSingles in conjunction with the 2017 and 2019 acquisitions of the largely North American brands Jdate, Christian
Mingle, JSwipe, and Zoosk.
Our Competitive Strengths
Portfolio of strong brands.
We own a portfolio consisting of some of the most well-known and highest quality dating brands. Our brands are primarily tailored to quality dating with real users looking for
love and companionship in a safe, comfortable environment. With shared values being one of the most important factors in successful, long-term relationships, our portfolio
holds some of the most established and well-respected value-based dating brands in the world. Additionally, the Zoosk brand provides the potential to be turned into a highquality product providing an additional option for a younger demographic looking for high-quality profiles.
The following is a list of our key brands:
Zoosk, EliteSingles, SilverSingles, Christian Mingle, Jdate and JSwipe
Diverse global platform.
We operate a diverse global platform of premium online dating sites and mobile applications. This diversified suite of dating sites and mobile applications allows us to
implement best practices from each of the brands across our geographic footprint and will also enable rapid and effective roll-out of new brands and products.
Operational and financial scale.
We are one of the largest online dating companies in the United States based on revenue. This allows for the operational and financial scale required for significant investments
into new technologies and products, while also providing a better platform to attract and retain customers. Importantly, our marketing strength allows us to acquire a big enough
pool of local customers at a national level to provide significant choice in potential partners.
Efficient user acquisition.
We have a deep understanding of how to use online and offline marketing to drive traffic to our websites and mobile applications, and leverage proprietary technology to
analyze the efficiency of all our marketing campaigns. This ensures an efficient and effective marketing budget allocation that ultimately translates into superior margins.
Potential to share a significantly larger pool of users.
We have the potential to build shared user pools for all of our brands in each market and use matchmaking algorithms to provide best possible matches to our users upon further
platform consolidation of our dating technology. Combining the user pools of our combined portfolio of brands would add value to users of all of our platforms and allow us to
quickly and efficiently launch new products and services.
Industry consolidator role.
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The fact that we are a publicly traded online dating company in the United States enables us to issue public equity as consideration for acquisitions as we pursue further
consolidation in the online dating industry.
Low-cost operating base in Berlin, Germany.
We have assembled highly skilled teams with deep domain expertise across marketing, technology, and product within our headquarters in Berlin, Germany. Today, Berlin has
a lower cost of living, and in turn, lower salaries than other major cities in Europe or North America. As a result, we require less capital to recruit and retain key employees.
This cost advantage has allowed us to allocate significant capital to growth investments like direct marketing while also maintaining and scaling profitably.
Our Strategy
Grow in North America.
We will continue to focus on expanding our presence in North America. In recent years, we have grown our North American market share through the (i) introduction of
established European brands such as EliteSingles, (ii) launch of new brands such as SilverSingles, and (iii) acquisition of established North American brands such as Zoosk,
Jdate, Christian Mingle and JSwipe. Going forward, we expect to continue to allocate significant marketing capital towards North America as we look to drive both the organic
growth of our existing brand portfolio and expansion through the launch of new or acquired brands.
Cement and grow our leadership position in 40+ age demographic and religious dating segments.
We will continue to invest in product innovation, brand building, customer acquisition and partnerships to provide the best products and strongest brands in the premium and
community-based dating areas. We intend to develop solutions and strengthen our brands that speak to the specific needs of our target audiences. In 2021, we launched Zoosk
Great Dates, a first-to-market virtual dating feature for singles. Zoosk Great Dates aims to reinvigorate the video dating trend by enabling singles and their dates to access fun
virtual date experiences in exciting global destinations, with the first batch of interactive dates set in Greece, Italy and Japan.
Create global technology services to enable flexible and powerful dating platforms.
We are developing new, scalable technology services that will support future growth. Our new services will be architected and built with a particular emphasis on supporting all
platforms and applications that many of our members utilize to access our products. With shared services to power our platforms, we expect to reduce the time and resources
required to launch new brands or to integrate potential acquisitions, and to quickly adopt new features, trends and consumer preferences.
Markets and Geographical Presence of Spark Networks
We will continue to focus on premium online dating services catering to the 40+ demographic and faith-based affiliations. This strategy will include a focus on developing new
and maintaining existing products.
We currently operate a portfolio of brands accessible to customers across the globe. While we might enter new geographies in the future, our primary focus will be to expand
our presence in North America, which we consider the most attractive market for further growth based on the relative size of the United States and Canadian markets and the
high potential for us to garner additional market share. We will also consider launching existing brands in markets where we already have a geographic presence to complement
our service offerings and create a broader offering in these markets.
Sales and Marketing
We engage in a variety of marketing activities intended to drive consumer traffic to our websites and mobile applications and allow us the opportunity to introduce our products
and services to prospective visitors, members and subscribers. Our marketing efforts are focused online and offline. Our online marketing approach employs a combination of
search engine marketing, social media marketing and direct e-mail campaigns to attract potential members and paying subscribers, and use a network of online affiliates,
through which we acquire traffic.
We supplement our online marketing by employing a variety of offline marketing and business development activities. These include print, television, public relations, event
sponsorship and promotional alliances. We believe a more consistent, targeted
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marketing message, delivered through an array of available marketing channels, will improve consumer awareness of our brands, drive more traffic to our products, and
therefore increase the number of active users and paying subscribers.
Customer Service
Our customer support services aim to ensure an enjoyable, smooth and safe journey for all of our users. Our multi-lingual call centers and email support teams provide
comprehensive support for our users, which includes assisting members with billing questions, helping members complete personal profiles and answering technical questions.
Customer support is also engaged in monitoring our products for fraudulent activity. Certain of our customer support services are provided by our third-party commercial
partners, and all customer service personnel receive ongoing training in an effort to better personalize the experience for members and paying subscribers who call or email us
and to capitalize on upselling opportunities.
Technology
Our product teams are focused on the development and maintenance of products. They work in close cooperation with the technical teams, who build and manage our software
and hardware infrastructure. We intend to continue investing in the development of new products, such as mobile applications, and enhancing the efficiency and functionality of
our existing products and infrastructure.
Our network infrastructure and operations are designed to deliver high levels of availability, performance, security and scalability in a cost-effective manner.
Intellectual Property
We rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws in the United States, Europe and other jurisdictions, as well as confidentiality procedures and
contractual provisions to protect our proprietary technology and our brands. We also enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and
consultants and confidentiality agreements with other third parties.
Spark Networks, Spark, Zoosk, Jdate, Christian Mingle, SilverSingles and EliteSingles, amongst others, are registered trademarks in the United States. Spark Networks, Zoosk,
Jdate, Christian Mingle, EliteSingles and SilverSingles, amongst others, are registered trademarks in the European Union ("EU"). We also have a number of other registered and
unregistered trademarks, and many of our trademarks are also registered in other jurisdictions, such as Switzerland, Iceland and Canada. Our rights to these registered
trademarks are perpetual as long as we use them and renew them periodically. We also hold many United States and EU patents.
We rely on internal and external controls, including applicable laws and regulations and contractual provisions with employees, contractors, customers and others, to protect and
control access to our intellectual property rights.
Competition
We operate in a highly competitive environment with minimal barriers to entry. We believe the primary competitive factors in creating a community on the internet are
functionality, brand recognition, reputation, critical mass of members, member affinity and loyalty, ease-of-use, quality of service and reliability. We compete with a number of
large and small companies. Our principal online personals services competitors include Match Group (which operates the Match.com, OkCupid, Plenty of Fish, Tinder and
Hinge brands), Bumble (which operates Bumble and Badoo brands) and ParshipMeet Group (which operates the eHarmony, Parship, ElitePartner and Meet brands). In addition,
we face competition in free and freemium mobile applications such as Tinder, Hinge and Bumble, as well as social networking sites such as Facebook.
Government Regulation
Our business is regulated by diverse and evolving laws and governmental authorities in North America and other countries in which we operate. We are subject to laws and
regulations related to internet communications, privacy, consumer protection, security and data protection, intellectual property rights, commerce, taxation, entertainment,
recruiting and advertising. These laws and regulations are becoming more prevalent, and new laws and regulations are under consideration by the United States Congress, state
legislatures and foreign governments. Any failure by us to comply with existing laws and regulations may subject us to liabilities. New laws and regulations governing such
matters could be enacted or amendments may be made to existing regulations at any time that could adversely impact our services. Plus, legal uncertainties surrounding
domestic and
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foreign government regulations could increase our costs of doing business, require us to revise our services, prevent us from delivering our services over the internet or slow the
growth of the internet, any of which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. For more information on the risks and related
matters, see “Risk Factors-We may fail to adequately protect our intellectual property rights or may be accused of infringing the intellectual property rights of third parties,” “We have been subject to cybersecurity incidents in the past and anticipate being the target of future attacks. Any actual or perceived security or privacy breach could interrupt
our operations, harm our brand, and adversely affect our reputation, brand, business, financial condition, and results of operations,” and “-The varying and rapidly-evolving
regulatory framework on privacy and data protection across jurisdictions could result in claims, changes to our business practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of
operations, or declines in user growth or engagement, or otherwise harm our business.”
Human Capital Disclosure
As a human-capital intensive business, the long-term success of our firm depends on our people. We are not only striving for communities and relationships that last for our
users but also for our workforce by establishing a supportive and empowering culture. Our goal is to ensure that we have the right talent in the right place at the right time.
As of December 31, 2021, we had approximately 269 employees based in Germany and the United States.
We monitor and evaluate various turnover and attrition metrics. We believe our annualized voluntary turnover is healthy for our industry, which we attribute to our strong
values-based culture, commitment to career development, attractive compensation and benefit programs, and an inclusive, diverse and safe work environment.
Value Based Culture
We strive to attract individuals who are people-focused and share our core values. We promote recognition of behavior, initiatives, and projects which model our values across
the organization. We continue to intensely focus on creating a highly engaged workforce, driving improvements across our communications, our culture, our reward programs,
and our work environment and fostering a collaborative, inclusive and inspiring experience for all of our employees. The efforts are reflected in a strong commitment across our
workforce. The results of our Year End 2021 Annual Employee Survey, which was completed by 72% of our workforce, revealed that more than 90% of our employees are
satisfied with their employment with us and 89% are motivated to achieve our goals. 90% of our employees confirmed that we offer a supportive work environment. None of
our employees is covered by collective bargaining agreements, and we consider our employee relations to be good.
Commitment to Career Development
We prioritize and invest in creating opportunities to help employees grow and build their careers, through a multitude of training and development programs. We offer our
employees several tools to help in their personal and professional development, including career development plans, mentoring programs and in-house learning opportunities,
including Spark Academy (our in-house education program offering online, instructor-led and on-the-job learning formats.) In addition, we invest in our executive talent
through succession planning and individualized development planning.
Attractive Compensation and Benefit program
We are committed to providing a total compensation package to our employees that is market-competitive and performance based, driving innovation and operational
excellence. One of our primary objectives with respect to employee compensation is to attract and retain the best possible employee talent, to link annual compensation and
long-term stock-based compensation to achievement of measurable corporate goals and individual performance, and to align employee’ incentives with stockholder value
creation. Total direct compensation is generally positioned within a competitive range of the market median, with differentiation based on tenure, skills, proficiency, and
performance to attract and retain key talent.
Diversity and Inclusion
Our employees reflect the communities we live and work in and the users we serve. As of December 31, 2021, approximately 47% of our overall workforce and 30% of our
management team are women. Our eight person Board consists of two female directors, one of the members of our Board is African-American, and our CEO (who is also a
member of our Board) is Latin. Our Board, CEO and senior executives model high standards of diversity, equity and inclusion and are leading sustainable
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change, being supported in their efforts by an employee led diversity and inclusion initiative called “Spark Together”. We believe that that the diversity of our management and
workforce is key to our success.
Healthy Work Environment
During 2021, we continued to focus significant attention on the effective handling of the COVID-19 pandemic. Our response has included a re-layout of our office plans in both
Berlin and Utah to ensure compliance with social distancing and hygiene requirements and a safe work environment. We made additional investments in company-wide
engagement events to ensure connectivity and collaboration across the organization and implemented the use of flexible and remote work arrangements and other creative
solutions. We also modified training programs to comply with distancing requirements, limited visitor entry and increased virtual meetings, and provided additional support
through mental and behavioral health resources. We also developed resources to support employees and their families with additional time off, flexible schedules and employer
paid benefits.
Available Information
Spark Networks SE was incorporated as a European stock corporation (Societas Europaea, SE) with the legal name Blitz 17-655 SE under the laws of Germany and the
European Union, with entry into the German commercial register on April 5, 2017, by its stockholders, Blitzstart Beteiligungs Ltd. and Blitz Beteiligungs GmbH. It was
acquired by Affinitas GmbH on April 12, 2017, for the purpose of becoming the ultimate holding company of Spark Networks, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Spark”), and
Spark Networks Services GmbH (f/k/a Affinitas GmbH), a German limited company (“Affinitas”) following the completion of the merger between Spark and Affinitas (the
“Affinitas / Spark Merger”). On August 29, 2017, Spark Networks SE changed its name from Blitz 17-655 SE to Spark Networks SE. Spark Networks SE is registered with the
commercial register (Handelsregister) of the local court (Amtsgericht) of Munich, Germany, under the registration number HRB 232591 under the legal name Spark Networks
SE. Spark Networks SE currently does not use a commercial name different from its legal name. Spark Networks SE has been formed for an unlimited duration.
On November 2, 2017, we completed the Affinitas / Spark Merger pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated May 2, 2017.
On July 1, 2019, we completed the acquisition of Zoosk whereby we acquired 100% of Zoosk's shares for a combination of cash and Spark Networks ADS. Prior to the
acquisition, Zoosk was an unrelated third party and owner of the Zoosk platform, which is a leading global online dating platform.
Our registered offices are located at Kohlfurter Straße 41/43, Berlin 10999, Germany and the telephone number at that address is (+49) 30 868 000 102. Our website is
www.spark.net. As a European stock corporation incorporated in Germany, we are subject to the laws of Germany and the EU. Our fiscal year is the calendar year.
Our SEC filings are available on the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov. This site contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers
that file electronically with the SEC.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
A description of the risks and uncertainties associated with our business is set forth below. You should carefully consider the risks described below, together with the other
information contained in this annual report, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this Annual Report. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and
uncertainties that we are unaware of, or that we currently believe are not material, may also become important factors that affect us. We cannot assure you that any of the events
discussed below will not occur. These events could have a material and adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. If that were to
happen, the trading price of our ordinary shares could decline, and you could lose all or part of your investment.
Risk Factors Summary:
The risk factors summarized and detailed below could materially harm our business, operating results and/or financial condition, impair our future prospects and/or cause the
price of our common stock to decline. These are not all of the risks we face and other factors not presently known to us or that we currently believe are immaterial may also
affect our business if they occur. Material risks that may affect our business, operating results and financial condition include, but are not necessarily limited to, those relating
to the following:
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Risks Related to our Business and Operations
• establishing and maintaining strong brands;
• dating industry is competitive with low barriers to entry, low switching costs and new products and entrants;
• attracting new members, converting members into paying subscribers and retaining our paying subscribers;
• ability to attract and retain users through cost-effective marketing efforts;
• our revenue could be adversely affected if subscriptions cannot be automatically renewed;
• inappropriate actions by certain users could damage our brand reputation;
• our growth strategy includes acquisitions that entail significant execution, integration and operational risks and we face significant competition for such opportunities;
• the synergies and benefits of the Zoosk acquisition may not be realized or may not be realized within the expected time frame;
• our success depends on our ability to identify, hire, develop, motivate and retain highly skilled individuals;
• turnover of our top executives;
• failure to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting;
• risks related to operations in international markets;
• foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;
• risks related to COVID-19;
• adverse capital and credit market conditions could limit our access to capital and increase cost of capital;
• impairment risk of goodwill, intangible assets and other long-lived assets;
Risks Relating to Information Technology and Intellectual Property
• failure to successfully build shared services for our brands’ platforms;
• failure to adequately protect our intellectual property rights or accusations of infringing the intellectual property rights of third parties;
• failure to keep pace with rapid technological change;
• communicating with users and erosion of such ability could have an adverse effect;
• the integrity of our systems and infrastructure and on ability to enhance, expand and adapt these systems and infrastructure in a timely and cost-effective manner;
• services are highly technical and may contain undetected bugs or errors;
• being subject to cybersecurity incidents in the past and anticipation of being the target of future attacks;
• reliance on a number of third-party providers who may fail to continue to perform;
• dependence on third parties to drive traffic to our websites;
• distribution and use of our products depends on third party publishers, platforms and mobile app stores;
• growth and maintenance of the Internet;
• potential for increasing app store fees;
• ability to access, collect and use personal data about our users;
• risks related to credit card payments;
• certain open-source software risks;
• credit card fees and chargeback costs of credit card companies;
• loss or material modification of our credit card acceptance privileges;
• user metrics subject to inherent challenges in measurement;
Risks Relating to our Indebtedness
• level of indebtedness and compliance with our senior secured credit facility;
• ability to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness;
• changes to how LIBOR is determined;
Risks Related to Regulation and Litigation
• claims related to the rapidly evolving regulatory framework on privacy and data protection across jurisdictions;
• publisher liability for information made available on our sites or apps;
• being subject to complex international laws;
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•

•
•

•
•
•
•

impact of Brexit;
litigation risk;
FCPA risks;
failure to comply with United States securities laws;
risk associated with operating as a U.S. public company;
difficulty enforcing civil liability against Spark Networks or members of its Administrative Board;
changes in tax treatment of companies engaged in e-commerce;

Risks Relating to the Spark Networks ADSs
• dilution of ownership interests and voting power;
• limited trading volume for Spark Networks’ ADSs which can reduce liquidity and increase volatility;
• fluctuation in the price of Spark Networks’ ADSs
• differing rights as a holder of ADSs representing ordinary shares in a German company compared to rights a stockholder of a U.S. corporation;
• holders of ADSs do not have the same voting rights as actual stockholders, and holders of ADSs have less access to information and less opportunity to exercise rights as
a holder of ADSs instead of ordinary shares.
• principal stockholders own a significant percentage of the company’s ordinary shares;
• right to dividends or distributions on the company’s ordinary shares as a holder of ADSs;
• holders of ADSs may be unable to claim tax credits or refunds to reduce German withholding tax on dividends; and
• adverse tax consequences if Spark Networks is considered a passive foreign investment company;
Risks Relating to Our Business and Operations
Our business depends on establishing and maintaining strong brands, and if we are not able to maintain and enhance our brands, we may be unable to expand or maintain
our member and paying subscriber bases.
We believe that establishing and maintaining our brands is essential to our efforts to attract and expand our member and paying subscriber bases. We believe that the
importance of brand recognition will continue to increase, given the growing number of online dating sites and applications, or “apps,” and the low barriers to entry for
companies offering online dating and other types of personals services. To attract and retain members and paying subscribers, and to promote and maintain our brands in
response to competitive pressures, we may have to substantially increase our financial commitment to creating and maintaining our distinct brands. A number of factors could
negatively affect user retention, growth and engagement, including if:
• visitors, members and paying subscribers to our products do not perceive our existing services to be of higher quality;
• we introduce new services or enter into new business ventures that are not favorably received by such parties;
• users engage with our competitor’s products or services;
• users feel that their experience is diminished as a result of the decisions we make with respect to the frequency, prominence, format, size and quality of ads that we
display;
• there are decreases in user sentiment due to questions about the quality of our user data practices or concerns related to privacy and the sharing of user data;
• there are decreases in user sentiment due to questions about the quality or usefulness of our products or concerns related to safety, security, well-being of users or other
factors;
• users are no longer willing to pay for subscriptions or in-app purchases;
• users have difficulty installing, updating or otherwise accessing our products on mobile devices as a result of actions by us or third parties that we rely on to distribute
our products and deliver our services;
• we fail to keep pace with evolving online, market and industry trends (including the introduction of new and enhanced digital services);
• initiatives designed to attract and retain users and engagement are unsuccessful or discontinued, whether as a result of actions by us, third parties or otherwise;
• third-party initiatives that may enable greater use of our products are discontinued;
• we adopt terms, policies or procedures related to areas such as user data or advertising that are perceived negatively by our users or the general public;
• we, our partners or companies in our industry are the subject of adverse media reports or other negative publicity;
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•
•

technical, customer service or other problems prevent us from delivering our products in a rapid and reliable manner or otherwise affect the user experience, such as
security breaches, distributed denial-of-service attacks or failure to prevent or limit spam or similar content; or
there is decreased engagement with our products as a result of changes in prevailing social, cultural or political preferences in the markets where we operate.

If any of the foregoing, among others, occur, the value of our brands could be diluted, thereby decreasing the attractiveness of our websites and mobile applications to such
parties. As a result, our results of operations may be adversely affected by decreased brand recognition or negative brand perception.
The dating industry is competitive, with low barriers to entry, low switching costs and new products and entrants constantly entering the market.
The dating industry is competitive, with new products and entrants constantly being developed and released. Some of our competitors may enjoy better competitive positions in
certain geographical regions or user demographics that we currently serve or may serve in the future. These advantages could enable these competitors to offer products that are
more appealing to users and potential users than our products, or to respond more quickly and/or cost-effectively than us to new or changing opportunities. The attractiveness of
these products could also allow these companies to sell their products at higher prices and with higher margins.
We compete with traditional personals services, as well as newspapers, magazines and other traditional media companies that provide personals services. We also compete with
a number of large and small companies, including internet portals and specialty-focused media companies that provide online and offline products and services to the markets
served. Principal online personals services competitors include Match Group (which operates the Match.com, OkCupid, Plenty of Fish, Tinder and Hinge properties), Bumble
(which operates the Bumble and Badoo brands) and ParshipMeet Group (which operates the eHarmony, Parship, ElitePartner and Meet brands). In addition, we face competition
in free and freemium mobile applications such as Tinder, Bumble and Hinge or applications that compete in one of our niches such as Match Group's Upward as well as social
networking sites like Facebook. Some of our competitors have longer operating histories, greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources and larger customer bases
than we currently have. These factors may allow competitors to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer preferences. These competitors
may engage in more extensive research and development efforts, undertake more far-reaching marketing campaigns and adopt more aggressive pricing policies that may allow
them to build larger member and paying subscriber bases. Our competitors may develop products or services that are equal or superior to our products and services or that
achieve greater market acceptance than our products and services. These activities could attract members and paying subscribers away from our websites and mobile
applications and reduce our market share. Customers may utilize multiple dating services simultaneously, and cease using a particular service that comparatively lags behind or
is duplicative of another service.
In addition, we currently compete with other companies that direct all or portions of their websites and mobile applications toward each of their respective targeted and actual
subscribers. For example, we currently compete with generalist personals services platforms, some of which have substantially greater resources and brand recognition than we
do, which, unlike more targeted or segmented personal services platforms, permit customers access to a broad array of people with a wide variety of backgrounds and interests.
Further, within the dating industry generally, costs to develop new products are comparatively low and costs for consumers to switch between products are low as well,
resulting in significant customer churn and low brand loyalty. As a result, new products, entrants and business models are likely to continue to emerge. It is possible that a new
product could gain rapid scale at the expense of existing brands through harnessing a new technology or distribution channel, creating a new approach to connecting people or
some other means. If we are not able to compete effectively against our current or future competitors, whether or not such competitors operate traditional or non-traditional
platforms, the size and level of engagement of our user base may decrease, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We believe that our ability to compete depends upon many factors both within and beyond our control, including the following:
•
•
•
•

brand strength in the marketplace relative to competitors;
attractiveness to target niches;
the size and diversity of member and paying subscriber bases;
efficacy in user acquisition and marketing optimization;
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•
•

the timing and market acceptance of our products and services, including developments and enhancements to products and services relative to those offered by our
competitors; and
customer service and support efforts.

If our efforts to attract new members, convert members into paying subscribers and retain our paying subscribers are not successful, or if our users decrease their level of
engagement with our products, our revenue and operating results will suffer.
Since we launched in 2008, we and our predecessor companies have had nearly 100 million users register with our dating platforms. A registration is deemed complete once a
user has inserted an email/password combination, accepted the terms of service and clicked the registration button in order to create a profile with the respective site (such user,
a “registered user”).
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, we had an average of approximately 875,000 paying members across all of our platforms. The vast majority of our revenue is
generated by users that pay a subscription fee. Our future growth depends on our ability to attract new members that fit within our target audience, convert members into paying
subscribers, retain our paying subscribers and maintain or grow user engagement of our products. This in turn depends on our ability to deliver a relevant, high-quality online
personals experience to these members and our ability to remain attractive to our existing and potential paying customers. As a result, we must continue to invest significant
resources in order to enhance our existing products and services and introduce new high-quality products and services that people will use. If we are unable to predict user
preferences or industry changes, or if we are unable to modify our products and services on a timely basis, we may lose existing members and paying subscribers and may fail to
attract new members and paying subscribers. For example, one of our strategies is to target single people with high socio-economic status who are looking for a serious and
long-term relationship. If our user preferences change, or the market for this niche otherwise decreases, or this strategy is otherwise unsuccessful, we could lose users, including
paying subscribers, and our market share and revenue could decrease. We cannot assure that we will be able to grow or even maintain the current size of our subscriber base. If
we do not constantly attract new paying subscribers at a faster rate than subscription terminations, we will not be able to maintain or increase our current level of revenue. Our
revenue and expenses will also be adversely affected if our innovations are not responsive to the needs of our members and paying subscribers or are not brought to market in
an effective or timely manner.
Our growth and profitability rely, in part, on our ability to attract and retain users through cost-effective marketing efforts. Any failure in these efforts could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our costs to acquire paying subscribers are dependent, in part, upon our ability to purchase advertising at a reasonable cost. Our advertising costs vary over time depending upon
a number of factors, many of which are beyond our control. Historically, we have used online and offline advertising as the primary means of marketing our services. During
2021, cost of revenue, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, decreased compared to the prior year as a result of a reduction in marketing spend for Zoosk.
Evolving consumer behavior can affect the availability of profitable marketing opportunities. For example, as traditional television viewership declines and as consumers spend
more time on mobile devices rather than desktop computers, the reach of many traditional advertising channels is contracting. To continue to reach potential users and grow our
businesses, we must identify and devote more of our overall marketing expenditures to newer advertising channels, such as mobile and online video platforms, as well as
targeted campaigns in which we communicate directly with potential, former and current users via new virtual means. Positive user experiences can provide gratuitous
promotional opportunities for us, as satisfied subscribers can encourage others to join; we can also capitalize on such success stories in our marketing. Many of our competitors
have also engaged in live marketing efforts such as organized online social events for members, an area that we have not yet tried at scale. Generally, the opportunities in and
sophistication of newer advertising channels are relatively undeveloped and unproven, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to appropriately manage
and fine-tune our marketing efforts in response to these and other trends in the advertising industry. Any failure to do so could adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations.
In addition, the cost of online and/or offline advertising has historically increased over time. If we are not able to reduce our other operating costs, increase our paying
subscriber base or increase revenue per paying subscriber to offset increased marketing costs, our profitability will be adversely affected.
Our revenue could be adversely affected if subscriptions cannot be automatically renewed.
We generally provide our premium memberships pursuant to 1-month, 3-month, 6-month and 12-month subscriptions, which are generally automatically renewed unless
canceled by the subscriber. In each of the years ended December 31, 2021 and
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2020, subscription revenue accounted for over 96% of our total revenue. Although we have historically experienced a high percentage of subscribers that choose an autorenewal payment option, a significant portion of our members may choose not to do so in the future or we may encounter difficulties during the technical processing of the
renewal of credit card processing due to, for instance, the expiration or blocking of the applicable credit card. We have taken steps to increase renewal rates by, for example,
improving the auto-renewal success, but there can be no assurance that these efforts will remain successful in maintaining, and even increasing renewal rates in the future.
The EU Consumer Rights Directive (the “Directive”), enforced in EU member states since June 2014, that restricts the use of auto-renewals, and we have implemented a
membership subscription model which is compliant with the Directive. In the United States, numerous states also have laws regulating auto-renewal clauses in contracts, and
proposals to restrict auto-renewals are also under consideration in the United States. To the extent that we must reduce or eliminate the use of auto-renewals in these or other
markets, renewal rates may fall, potentially reducing the number of membership subscription users. Consequently, the growth of subscription revenue will depend significantly
on attracting new subscription users, and this dependence could increase due to regulations concerning auto-renewal that are outside of our control. Any failure to maintain or
improve the renewal rates of membership subscription users or to attract new subscription users could have a material adverse effect on results of operations.
Moreover, the EU has introduced the Payment Services Directive, which applies more stringent rules for payments and credit card processing in the EU. The effect of this
regulation could require users to take additional steps when paying online. This may have an adverse effect on the authorization levels of our users.
Inappropriate actions by certain of our users could be attributed to us and damage our brands’ reputations, which in turn could adversely affect our business.
The reputation of our brands may be adversely affected by the actions of our users that are deemed to be hostile, offensive, defamatory, inappropriate or unlawful. While we
monitor and review the appropriateness of the content accessible through our dating products and have adopted policies and technical solutions to address and prevent illegal,
offensive or inappropriate use of our dating services, our users could nonetheless engage in activities that violate our policies or circumvent the solutions. These safeguards may
not be sufficient to avoid harm to our reputation and brands, especially if such hostile, offensive or inappropriate use is well-publicized.
In addition, it is possible that a user of our services could be physically, financially, emotionally or otherwise harmed by an individual that such user met through the use of one
of our services. While we check every new profile and monitor accounts for fraudulent activity, we are not certain that the risk of harm posed by other individuals can be
eliminated. If one or more of our users suffers or alleges to have suffered any such harm, we could experience negative publicity or legal action that could damage our
reputation and our brands. Similar events affecting users of our competitors’ dating services could result in negative publicity for the dating industry, which could in turn
negatively affect our business. Concerns about such harms and the use of dating services and social networking platforms for illegal conduct, such as romance scams and
financial fraud, could produce future legislation or other governmental action that could require changes to our dating services, restrict or impose additional costs upon the
conduct of our business generally, subject us to liability for user conduct or cause users to abandon our dating services.
Our growth strategy includes acquisitions that entail significant execution, integration and operational risks.
We pursue a growth strategy based in part on acquisitions, with the objective of creating a combined company that we believe can achieve increased cost savings and operating
efficiencies through economies of scale, especially in the integration of administrative services. We will seek to make additional acquisitions in the future to increase our scale
and profitability. We have consummated several acquisitions, including (i) the acquisition of Zoosk, Inc. ("Zoosk") in July 2019, pursuant to which Zoosk became a wholly
owned subsidiary of Spark Networks; (ii) the merger of Spark Networks Services GmbH (f/k/a Affinitas GmbH), a German limited company (“Affinitas”) and Spark Networks,
Inc., a publicly listed Delaware corporation (“Spark”) and owner of the Jdate, Christian Mingle, and JSwipe platforms, among others in November 2, 2017, (iii) the acquisition
of Samadhi, owner of the Attractive World in September 2016. We expose ourselves to operational and financial risks in connection with historical and future acquisitions if we
are unable to:
•

•

properly value prospective acquisitions, especially those with limited operating histories;
fully identify potential risks and liabilities associated with acquired businesses;
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•
•
•
•

successfully integrate the operations, as well as the accounting, financial controls, management information, technology, human resources and other
administrative systems of acquired businesses with our existing operations and systems;
successfully identify and realize potential synergies among acquired and existing businesses;
retain or hire senior management and other key personnel at acquired businesses; and
successfully manage acquisition-related strain on our management, operations and financial resources and those of the various brands in our portfolio.

Furthermore, we may not be successful in addressing other challenges encountered in connection with our acquisitions. The anticipated benefits of one or more of our
acquisitions may not be realized or the value of goodwill and other intangible assets acquired could be impacted by one or more continuing unfavorable events or trends, which
could result in significant impairment charges. The occurrence of any of these events could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
While we have successfully integrated acquisitions in the past, such as in the Affinitas / Spark Merger, we cannot provide assurance that we will experience similar success with
future acquisitions.
Acquisitions also involve operational risks and uncertainties, such as unknown or contingent liabilities with no available manner of recourse, exposure to unexpected problems,
the retention of key employees and customers, and other issues that could negatively affect our business. Any such liabilities, individually or in the aggregate, could have a
material adverse effect on our business.
Although we expect the acquisition of Zoosk will result in synergies and other benefits, those synergies and benefits may not be realized or may not be realized within the
expected time frame.
Our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of the Zoosk acquisition will depend, to a large extent, on the combined company’s ability to integrate the businesses of Spark
Networks and Zoosk in a manner that facilitates growth opportunities and achieves projected cost savings and revenue growth without adversely affecting current revenues and
investments in future growth. In addition, some of the anticipated synergies may not occur for a significant time period and will require substantial capital expenditures in the
near term to be fully realized, such as the ones required to consolidate our technology platforms. Even if we are able to integrate the business and operations of Zoosk
successfully, the anticipated benefits of the Zoosk acquisition, including the expected synergies, may not be realized fully or at all or may take longer to realize than expected.
The combination of two independent businesses is complex, costly and time-consuming and may divert significant management attention and resources. The difficulties of
combining the operations of the companies include, among others:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the diversion of management attention to integration matters;
difficulties in integrating operations and systems, including intellectual property and communications systems, administrative and information technology infrastructure
and financial reporting and internal control systems;
challenges in conforming standards, controls, procedures and accounting and other policies, business cultures and compensation structures between the two companies;
differences in control environments, cultures, and auditor expectations may result in future material weaknesses, significant deficiencies, and/or control deficiencies
while we work to integrate the companies and align guidelines and practices;
difficulties in attracting and retaining key personnel;
challenges in retaining existing customers and obtaining new customers;
difficulties in achieving anticipated cost savings, synergies, business opportunities, financing plans and growth prospects;
difficulties in managing the expanded operations of a significantly larger and more complex company;
the transition of management to the combined company management team, and the need to address possible differences in corporate cultures and management
philosophies;
known or potential unknown liabilities of Zoosk that are larger than expected; and
other potential adverse consequences and unforeseen increased expenses or liabilities associated with the acquisition.

Some of these factors are outside of our control, and any one of them could result in lower revenues, higher costs and diversion of management time and energy, which could
materially impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We face significant competition for acquisition opportunities.
There is significant competition for acquisition targets in the markets within which we operate. Consequently, we may not be able to identify suitable acquisitions or may have
difficulty finding attractive businesses for acquisition at reasonable prices. If we are unable to identify future acquisition opportunities, reach agreements with such third parties
or obtain the financing necessary to make such acquisitions, we could lose scale relative to competitors who are able to make such acquisitions. This loss of relative scale in the
industry could negatively impact our capacity to compete and reduce future growth potential.
In addition, current and potential competitors are making, and are expected to continue to make, strategic acquisitions, or establishing cooperatives and in some cases,
establishing exclusive relationships with significant companies or competitors to expand their businesses or to offer more comprehensive products and services. To the extent
these competitors or potential competitors establish exclusive relationships with major consumer facing internet players or smart phone apps including, but not limited to,
search engines and social networks, our ability to reach potential members through online advertising may be restricted. Any of these competitors could cause difficulty in
attracting and retaining members and converting members into paying subscribers.
Our future success will depend upon our continued ability to identify, hire, develop, motivate and retain highly skilled individuals.
The continued contributions of our senior management are especially critical to our success. In particular, the loss of Eric Eichmann and/or David Clark, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, and Tobias Plaputta, our Chief Technology Officer, could materially and adversely affect us. Our Chief Operating Officer and Chief Legal
Officer has informed us that she will be departing the Company, and we expect her departure date will be in April 2022. For a discussion of our senior management, see Item
10—Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance included in PART III of this report. Our continued ability to compete effectively depends, in part, upon our
ability to attract new employees. While we have established programs to provide incentives to retain existing employees, particularly our senior management, we cannot assure
that we will be able to attract new employees or retain the services of our senior management or any other key employees in the future. Effective succession planning is
important to our future success. If we fail to ensure the effective transfer of senior management knowledge and smooth transitions involving senior management across our
various businesses, our ability to execute short and long term strategic, financial and operating goals, as well as our business, financial condition and results of operations
generally, could be adversely affected.
We have experienced significant turnover in our top executives, and our business could be adversely affected by these and other transitions in our senior management team
or if any of the resulting vacancies cannot be filled with qualified replacements in a timely manner.
We have experienced turnover in our top executives and the replacement of these positions with new officers. During 2021, we saw the departure of our Chief Commercial
Officer. We also saw the appointment of a new Chief Financial Officer.
Management transition is often difficult and inherently causes some loss of institutional knowledge, which could negatively affect our results of operations and financial
condition. Our ability to execute our business strategies may be adversely affected by the uncertainty associated with these transitions and the time and attention of the board
and management needed to fill vacant roles could disrupt our business. Further, we cannot guarantee that we will not face similar turnover in the future. Although we generally
enter into employment agreements with our executives, our executive officers may terminate their employment relationship with us at any time, and we cannot ensure that we
will be able to retain the services of any of them. Our senior management’s knowledge of our business and industry would be difficult to replace, and any further turnover could
negatively affect our business, growth, financial conditions, results of operations and cash flows.
We previously identified and continue to identify material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal
control over financial reporting in the future, we may not be able to accurately report our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows, which may adversely
affect investor confidence.
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures. We are
required to perform system and process evaluations and testing of internal controls over financial reporting to allow management to report annually on the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting. This assessment requires disclosure of any material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting identified by
management. SOX 404 also generally requires an attestation from our independent registered public accounting firm on the
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effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. For as long as we remain an emerging growth company ("EGC"), we intend to take advantage of the exemption
permitting us not to comply with the independent registered public accounting firm attestation requirement. At the time when we are no longer an EGC (which will occur no
later than January 1, 2023), to the extent that we continue to identify material weaknesses in internal controls, our independent registered public accounting firm may issue an
adverse report, in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which our controls are documented, designed or operating. Remediation efforts may not enable us to avoid a
material weakness in the future.
Compliance with SOX 404 requires the incurrence of substantial accounting expense and consumes significant management efforts. We may not be able to complete evaluation,
testing and any required remediation in a timely fashion. During the evaluation and testing process, if we identify one or more material weaknesses in internal control over
financial reporting, it will be unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective.
We previously identified in prior periods and have continued to identify material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. We are taking steps to remediate
these material weaknesses. However, we cannot at this time estimate how long it will take to remediate the material weaknesses, and we may not ever be able to remediate the
material weaknesses. For additional information regarding these material weaknesses, see Item 9A—Controls and Procedures included in PART III of this report.
In addition, we cannot assure that there will not be other material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting in the future. Any failure to maintain internal
control over financial reporting could severely inhibit our ability to accurately report financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. If we are unable to conclude that
internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm determines we have a material weakness or significant deficiency in
internal control over financial reporting, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, the market price of our ADSs could
decline, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the Nasdaq, the SEC or other regulatory authorities. Failure to remedy any material weakness in internal
control over financial reporting, or to implement or maintain other effective control systems required of public companies, could also restrict future access to the capital
markets.
We operate in various international markets, including certain markets in which we have limited experience. As a result, we face additional risks in connection with certain
of our international operations.
Our brands are available worldwide. Operating internationally exposes us to a number of additional risks, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

operational and compliance challenges caused by distance, language and cultural differences;
difficulties in staffing and managing international operations;
differing levels of social and technological acceptance of our dating services or lack of acceptance of them generally;
foreign currency fluctuations;
other potential adverse consequences and unforeseen increased expenses or liabilities associated with the Zoosk acquisition.
competitive environments that favor local businesses;
limitations on the level of intellectual property protection; and
trade sanctions, political unrest, terrorism, war, health and safety epidemics, or the threat of any of these events.

The occurrence of any or all of the events described above could adversely affect our international operations, which could in turn adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations could adversely affect our results of operations.
We operate in various international markets, primarily in various jurisdictions within the EU, United States and other international locations, and as a result, are exposed to
foreign exchange risk for the Euro, United States dollar ("USD"), Great British pound, Australian dollar and Canadian dollar, among others. We translate international revenue
into USD-denominated operating results, so during periods of a strengthening USD, our non-USD revenue will be reduced when translated into USD. In addition, as foreign
currency exchange rates fluctuate, the translation of international revenue into USD-denominated operating results affects the period-over-period comparability of such results.
We face similar risks as a result of revenue earned in other currencies.
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Fluctuating foreign exchange rates can also result in foreign currency exchange gains and losses. We do not intend to hedge any foreign currency exposures. Significant foreign
exchange rate fluctuations, in the case of one currency or collectively with other currencies, could adversely affect future results of operations.
The global COVID-19 outbreak has affected our business and operations.
The outbreak of the novel coronavirus and the COVID-19 disease that it causes has evolved into a global pandemic. In light of the continued uncertainty relating to COVID-19,
we have taken certain precautionary measures intended to minimize the risk of the virus to our employees and the communities in which we operate, including temporarily
closing certain of our offices and virtualizing, postponing, or canceling certain events and travel, which may negatively impact our business.
Furthermore, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, most of our employees and service providers are working remotely. It is possible that continued, widespread remote work
arrangements may have a negative impact on our operations, the execution of our business plans, the productivity and availability of key personnel and other employees
necessary to conduct our business, and on third-party service providers who perform critical services for us, or otherwise cause operational failures due to changes in our normal
business practices necessitated by the outbreak and related governmental actions. If a natural disaster, power outage, connectivity issue, or other event occurs that impacts our
employees’ ability to work remotely, it may be difficult or, in certain cases, impossible, for us to continue our business for a substantial period of time. The increase in remote
working may also result in material consumer privacy, information technology security, and fraud risks.
In addition, governments at all levels continue to impose and advise restrictions on social gatherings in both public and private spaces. The continuation of these restrictions,
along with an increased hesitancy by individuals to frequent public spaces, could reduce the demand for our services in the future.
Accordingly, it is not possible at this time to estimate the extent of the impact that COVID-19 will have on our business, as the pandemic continues to evolve and be highly
uncertain.
Adverse capital and credit market conditions could limit our access to capital and increase our cost of capital, which may significantly affect our ability to meet liquidity
needs.
The capital and credit markets have been experiencing extreme volatility over the last few years, most recently in light of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and the response by
U.S. and international governments thereto, including the lowering of short-term interest rates by the U.S. Federal Reserve in the first quarter of 2020, and the potential global
recession resulting therefrom. In some cases, the markets have exerted downward pressure on availability of liquidity and credit capacity for certain issuers. We may not be able
to access cash or to incur indebtedness if the ongoing macroeconomic effects, including the COVID-19 pandemic, the closure of banks for an extended period of time or a
sudden increase in requests for indebtedness at one time by many potential borrowers, either or both of which could overwhelm the banking industry.
While on December 31, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents of $16.1 million and expect to have positive operating cash flow, we may in the future be in need of liquidity to
implement our growth strategy, including to raise capital to finance acquisitions. In such a scenario, we may be forced to curtail certain operations and may be unable to operate
our business as we deem appropriate. Disruptions, uncertainty or volatility in the capital and credit markets, including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, may also limit our
access to capital required to operate our business. Such market conditions may limit our ability to replace, in a timely manner, maturing liabilities and access the capital
necessary to operate and grow our business. As such, we may be forced to delay raising capital or bear an unattractive cost of capital, which could decrease our profitability and
significantly reduce our financial flexibility. In addition, the terms of future debt agreements could include more restrictive covenants, which could further restrict our business
operations. Our results of operations, financial condition, cash flows and capital position could be materially adversely affected by disruptions in the financial markets.
Goodwill, intangible assets and other long-lived assets are subject to impairment risk.
We had $134.7 million of goodwill, $27.5 million of brands and trademarks and $1.9 million of other intangible assets as of December 31, 2021. We review the potential
impairment of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets at least annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable and test property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets for impairment whenever changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable.
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Indicators that may signal that an asset has become impaired include a significant decline in actual or projected revenue, a significant decline in the market value of our ADSs, a
significant decline in performance of certain acquired companies relative to our original projections, an excess of our net book value over our market value, a significant decline
in our operating results relative to our operating forecasts, a significant change in the manner of our use of acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business, a significant
decrease in the fair value of an asset, a shift in technology demands and development, or a significant turnover in key management or other personnel.
The assessment for potential impairment of goodwill, intangible assets or other long-term assets requires management to make judgments on a number of significant estimates
and assumptions, including projected cash flows, discount rates, projected long-term growth rates and terminal values. We may be required to record a significant charge in our
consolidated financial statements during the period in which any impairment of our goodwill, intangible assets or other long-term assets is identified and this could negatively
impact our financial condition and results of operations. Changes in management estimates and assumptions as they relate to valuation of goodwill, intangible assets or other
long-lived assets could affect our financial condition or results of operations in the future.
Risks related to Information Technology and Intellectual Property
A failure to successfully build global, shared services for our dating brands' technology platforms could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business.
In 2021, we continued developing shared services to further drive the consolidation of our technology platforms with a particular emphasis on supporting the mobile
applications that many of our members utilize to access our products. To mitigate a prolonged interruption in development, we focused the development of the platform
consolidation in to modular technology services that we anticipate will provide us with global, highly flexible, shared technology for all of our global dating brands. These new
services are expected to support future growth and to harmonize key processes. We believe that these new services will be essential to our growth initiatives and business plans.
Such technology service implementations are complex and time-consuming and involve significant expenditures on system software and implementation activities, as well as
changes in business processes. A failure or prolonged interruption in our technology services, or any difficulty encountered in upgrading these services, may compromise our
ability to meet customer needs, or to operate our business without a material adverse effect on our financial condition.
We may fail to adequately protect our intellectual property rights or may be accused of infringing the intellectual property rights of third parties.
We rely heavily upon our trademarks and related domain names and logos to market our brands and to build and maintain brand loyalty and recognition, as well as upon trade
secrets. We also rely upon patented and patent-pending proprietary technologies relating to our products.
In addition, we rely on a combination of laws, and contractual restrictions with employees, customers, suppliers, affiliates and others, to establish and protect our various
intellectual property rights. For example, we have generally registered, and continues to apply to register and renew, or secure by contract where appropriate, trademarks and
service marks as they are developed and used, and reserve, register and renew domain names as we deem appropriate. Effective intellectual property protection may not be
available or may not seek such protection in every country in which our products are made available, and contractual disputes may affect the use of certain intellectual property
governed by private contract. Similarly, not every variation of a domain name may be available or be registered, even if available.
Despite these measures, our intellectual property rights may still not be protected in a meaningful manner, challenges to contractual rights could arise or third parties could copy
or otherwise obtain and use our intellectual property without authorization. In addition, litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights,
protect our trade secrets or to determine the validity and scope of proprietary rights claimed by others, including in respect of alleged trademark or patent infringement. Any
litigation of this nature, regardless of outcome or merit, could result in substantial costs and diversion of management and technical resources.
For instance, we settled a dispute with a competitor related to our registered figurative trademark for EliteSingles and country specific related trademarks in BeneLux, Finland,
Hungary, Ireland, Sweden, Poland, Denmark and the UK. While we ultimately prevailed and defended our interests vigorously, if we had lost such a dispute, we might have
been required to rebrand EliteSingles and the country specific brands in the given countries, which could have had an adverse effect on the performance of the respective
EliteSingles brands.
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The occurrence of such events could result in the erosion of our brands and limit our ability to market our brands using our various domain names, as well as impede our ability
to effectively compete against competitors with similar technologies, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
If we fail to keep pace with rapid technological change, our competitive position will suffer.
We operate in a market characterized by rapidly changing technologies, evolving industry standards, frequent new product and service announcements, enhancements and
changing customer demands. Accordingly, our performance depends on our ability to adapt to rapidly changing technologies and industry standards, and the ability to
continually improve the speed, performance, features, ease of use and reliability of services in response to both evolving demands of the marketplace and competitive service
and product offerings. Our industry has been subject to constant innovation and competition. When one competitor introduces new features perceived as attractive to users,
other competitors replicate such new features. Over the last few years, such new feature introductions in the industry have included instant messaging, message boards, e-cards,
personality profiles, the delivery of content through cell phones and linking of profiles to social media accounts. There have also been subsequent enhancements on new
features such as the ability to send videos and photos through instant messaging or customize user experience based on machine learning and artificial intelligence. Integration
of new technologies into systems involves numerous technical challenges, substantial amounts of capital and personnel resources, and often takes many months to complete. We
intend to continue to devote efforts and funds toward the development of additional technologies and services so that we can both innovate and stay competitive in the
competitive landscape in which we operate. For example, in 2021, we introduced a number of new features such as virtual interactive dating in global destinations, livestreaming, and we anticipate the introduction of additional features in the future. Given that we often rely on third-party service providers to help integrate new features, we may
not always be able to effectively integrate new technologies into our websites and mobile applications on a timely basis or at all, which may degrade the responsiveness and
speed of our websites and mobile applications. Such technologies, even if integrated, may not function as expected.
Communicating with our users is critical to our success, and any erosion in our ability to communicate with our users could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
To be successful, we must communicate with our subscribers and other users to, among other things, update them on their profile and related activity and to introduce them to
new products and services. As a result, we must ensure that our technology and methodology for communication with our subscribers and other users evolves in step with the
communication habits of our consumers. For instance, most of our communications currently take the form of email and push notifications.
Any failure to effectively communicate with current users or develop or take advantage of new means of communication could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
Our success depends, in part, on the integrity of our systems and infrastructure and on our ability to enhance, expand and adapt these systems and infrastructure in a
timely and cost-effective manner.
In order for us to succeed, our systems and infrastructure must perform well on a consistent basis. From time to time, we may experience system interruptions that make some
or all of our systems or data unavailable and prevent our products from functioning properly for our users; any such interruption could arise for any number of reasons,
including human errors. Further, our systems and infrastructure are vulnerable to damage from fire, power loss, hardware and operating software errors, telecommunications
failures and similar events. While we have backup systems in place for certain aspects of our operations, our systems and infrastructure are not fully redundant, disaster
recovery planning is not sufficient for all eventualities and our property and business interruption insurance coverage may not be adequate to compensate us fully for any losses
that we may suffer. Any interruptions or outages, regardless of the cause, could negatively impact our users’ experiences with our products, tarnish our brands’ reputation and
decrease demand for our products, any or all of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, even if detected, the
resolution of such interruptions may take a long time, during which customers will not be able to access, or will have limited access to, the service.
We also continually work to expand and enhance the efficiency and scalability of our technology and network systems to improve the experience of our users, accommodate
substantial increases in the volume of traffic to our various dating products, ensure acceptable page load times or general accessibility for our dating products and keep up with
changes in technology and user preferences. Any failure to do so in a timely and cost-effective manner could adversely affect our users’ experience with our various products
and thereby negatively impact the demand for our products, and could increase our costs, either of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
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Our services are highly technical and may contain undetected bugs or errors, which could manifest in ways that could seriously harm our reputation and our business.
Our services are highly technical and complex, and any services we may introduce in the future may contain undetected bugs, errors, and other vulnerabilities. These bugs and
errors can manifest in any number of ways in our services, including through diminished performance, security vulnerabilities, malfunctions, or even permanently disabled
services. We have a practice of rapidly updating our services, but some errors in our services may be discovered only after our service are used by users, and may in some cases
be detected only under certain circumstances or after extended use. Any such defects discovered in our services after commercial release could result in a loss of sales and users,
which could seriously harm our business. Any errors, bugs, or vulnerabilities discovered in our code after release could damage our reputation, drive away users, lower
revenue, and expose us to damages claims, any of which could seriously harm our business.
We have been subject to cybersecurity incidents in the past and anticipate being the target of future attacks. Any actual or perceived security or privacy breach affecting us
or our third-party service providers could interrupt our operations, harm our brand, and adversely affect our reputation, brand, business, financial condition, and results of
operations.
Our business involves the collection, storage, processing, and transmission of personal data, including credit card information. Additionally, we maintain sensitive and
proprietary information relating to our business, such as our own proprietary information and personal data relating to our employees. An increasing number of organizations,
including large online and off-line businesses, Internet companies, financial institutions, and government institutions, have disclosed breaches of their information security
systems and other information security incidents, including cyberattacks, ransomware, computer viruses, worms, hacking, phishing, bot attacks or other destructive or disruptive
software, distributed denial of service attacks, other attempts to misappropriate customer information, some of which have involved sophisticated and highly targeted attacks.
We have previously experienced and expect to continue to experience these types of breaches, attacks and other incidents. See Note 10— Commitments and Contingencies to
our "Consolidated Financial Statements".
Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to or to sabotage information systems change frequently and may not be known until launched against us, we or our
service providers may be unable to anticipate or prevent these attacks, react in a timely manner, or implement adequate preventive measures, and we may face delays in our
detection or remediation of, or other responses to, security breaches and other privacy- and security-related incidents. Unauthorized parties have in the past gained access, and
may in the future gain access, to systems or facilities used in our business through various means, including gaining unauthorized access into our systems or facilities,
attempting to fraudulently induce our employees, users or others into disclosing user names, passwords, payment card information, or other sensitive information, which may in
turn be used to access our information technology, or IT, systems, or attempting to fraudulently induce our employees, or others into manipulating payment information,
resulting in the fraudulent transfer of funds to bad actors. Unauthorized parties may also seek to disrupt or disable our or our service providers’ services through attacks such as
ransomware attacks. In addition, we or our service providers may be unable to identify, or may be significantly delayed in identifying, cyberattacks and incidents due to the
increasing use of techniques and tools that are designed to circumvent controls, to avoid detection, and to remove or obfuscate forensic artifacts.
In addition, users could have vulnerabilities on their own devices that are entirely unrelated to our systems but could mistakenly attribute their own vulnerabilities to us.
Further, breaches experienced by other companies may also be leveraged against us. Certain efforts may be supported by significant financial and technological resources,
making them even more difficult to detect, remediate, and otherwise respond to.
Although we and our service providers have systems and processes that are designed to protect, prevent data loss, and prevent other security breaches and security incidents,
these security measures have not fully protected our systems in the past and cannot guarantee security in the future. The IT and infrastructure used in our business and in the
products of third parties we use may be vulnerable to cyberattacks or security breaches, and unauthorized third parties may be able to access data, including personal data and
other sensitive and proprietary data of users, our employees’ personal data, or our other sensitive and proprietary data, accessible through those systems. Employee error,
malfeasance, or other errors in the storage, use, or transmission of any of these types of data could result in an actual or perceived privacy or security breach or other security
incident. Although we have policies restricting the access to the personal information we store, there is a risk that these policies may not be effective in all cases.
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Any actual or perceived breach of privacy, or any actual or perceived security breach or other incidents, could interrupt our operations, result in our platform being unavailable,
result in loss or improper access to, or acquisition or disclosure of, data, result in fraudulent transfer of funds, harm our users' reputation, brand, and competitive position,
damage our relationships with third-party partners, or result in claims, regulatory investigations, and proceedings and significant legal, regulatory, and financial exposure,
including ongoing monitoring by regulators, and any such incidents or any perception that our security measures are inadequate could adversely affect our business, financial
condition, and results of operations. Any actual or perceived breach of privacy or security, or other security incident, impacting any entities with which we share or disclose data
(including, for example, our third-party technology providers) could have similar effects. Further, any cyberattacks or actual or perceived security and privacy breaches and
other incidents directed at, or suffered by, our competitors could reduce confidence in our industry as a whole and, as a result, reduce confidence in us. We also expect to incur
significant costs in an effort to detect and prevent privacy and security breaches and other privacy- and security-related incidents, and we may face increased costs and
requirements to expend substantial resources in the event of an actual or perceived privacy or security breach or other incident.
Additionally, defending against claims or litigation based on any security breach or incident, regardless of their merit, could be costly and divert management’s attention,
including as a result of business changes that may be required in settling or resolving such claims or litigation. We cannot be certain that our insurance coverage will be
adequate for data handling or data security costs or liabilities actually incurred, that insurance will continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms or at all, or
that any insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed available insurance coverage, or the
occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have an adverse effect
on our reputation, brand, business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Similarly, online scammers and other similar groups may use our services and products to engage in illegal activities and it is likely that as more people use our services, these
groups will increasingly seek to misuse our products. Although we invest resources to combat these activities, including by suspending or terminating accounts we believe
violate our guidelines, we believe that these groups will continue to seek ways to act inappropriately and illegally on our services. Combating these groups requires our
engineering and customer service teams to divert significant time and focus from improving our services.
Further, the impact of cyber security events experienced by third parties with whom we do business (or upon whom we otherwise rely in connection with our day-to-day
operations such as credit card processors) could have a similar effect on us. If breaches, scamming and other similar activities increase at third parties with whom we do
business, our reputation, business and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
We rely on a number of third-party providers and their failure or unwillingness to continue to perform could harm us.
We rely on third parties to provide important services and technologies, including third parties that manage and monitor our offsite data center, ISPs, search engine marketing
providers and credit card processors, among others. In addition, we license technologies from third parties to facilitate our ability to provide our services. Any failure on our part
to comply with the terms of these licenses could result in the loss of our rights to continue using the licensed technology, and we could experience difficulties obtaining licenses
for alternative technologies. Furthermore, any failure of these third parties to provide these and other services, or errors, failures, interruptions or delays associated with licensed
technologies, could significantly harm our business. Any financial or other difficulties our providers face may have negative effects on our business, the nature and extent of
which we cannot predict. Except to the extent of the terms of our contracts with such third party providers, we exercise little or no control over them, which increases our
vulnerability to problems with the services and technologies they provide and license to us. In addition, if any fees charged by third party providers were to substantially
increase, we could incur significant additional losses.
We depend, in part, upon arrangements with third parties to drive traffic to our various websites and apps.
We engage in a variety of activities designed to attract traffic to our various websites and mobile applications and convert visitors into members and paying subscribers. How
successful we are in these efforts depends, in part, upon our continued ability to enter into arrangements with third parties to drive traffic to our various websites and mobile
applications and our oversight of such third parties to ensure that they are appropriately communicating with online users. Pursuant to these arrangements, third parties
generally promote our services on their websites and mobile applications, through email campaigns, through radio and/or podcasts, and we pay them based on a variety of
metrics (cost per registration, cost per one thousand impressions, a percentage of sales, etc.). Depending on how a third party communicates with online users via email, third
party
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email service providers could treat such email campaign as spam, and ultimately limit our ability to communicate with our members and paying subscribers via email.
These arrangements are generally not exclusive, are short-term in nature and are generally terminable by either party given notice. If existing arrangements with third parties are
terminated (or are not renewed upon their expiration) and we fail to replace this traffic and related revenue, or if we are unable to enter into new arrangements with existing
and/or new third parties in response to industry trends, or if such third parties improperly manage email campaigns, our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be adversely affected.
Distribution and use of our dating products depends, in significant part, on a variety of third-party publishers, platforms and mobile app stores. If these third parties limit,
prohibit or otherwise interfere with the distribution or use of our dating products in any material way, it could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results
of operations.
We market and distribute our dating products (including related mobile applications) through a variety of third-party publishers and distribution channels. Our ability to market
our brands on any given property or channel is subject to the policies of the relevant third party. Certain publishers and channels have, from time to time, limited or prohibited
advertisements for dating products for a variety of reasons, including as a result of poor behavior by other industry participants. There is no assurance that we will not be limited
or prohibited from using certain current or prospective marketing channels in the future. If this were to happen in the case of a significant marketing channel and/or for a
significant period of time, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
Additionally, our mobile applications are accessed through the Apple App Store and the Google Play Store, among other platforms. Both Apple and Google have broad
discretion to change their respective terms and conditions applicable to the distribution of our applications as well as to the pricing of our services, and to interpret their
respective terms and conditions in ways that may limit, eliminate or otherwise interfere with our ability to distribute our applications through their stores, including to make bug
fixes or other feature updates or upgrades, the features we provide, our ability to access native functionality or other aspects of mobile devices, and our ability to access
information about our users that they collect. For example, there is no assurance that Apple or Google will not limit or eliminate or otherwise interfere with the distribution of
our applications. If either or both entities were to do so, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
Our business depends, in part, on the growth and maintenance of the internet, and our ability to provide services to our members and paying subscribers may be limited by
outages, interruptions and diminished capacity of the internet, as well as by new laws and regulations governing the internet.
Our performance will depend, in part, on the continued growth and maintenance of the internet. This includes maintenance of a reliable network backbone with the necessary
speed, data capacity and security for providing reliable internet services. Internet infrastructure may be unable to support the demands placed on it if the number of internet users
continues to increase or if existing or future internet users access the internet more often or increase their bandwidth requirements. In addition, viruses, worms and similar
programs may harm the performance of the internet. We have no control over the third-party telecommunications, cable or other providers of access services to the internet that
our members and paying subscribers rely upon. There have been instances where regional and national telecommunications outages have caused us to experience service
interruptions during which our members and paying subscribers could not access our services. Any additional interruptions, delays or capacity problems experienced with any
points of access between the internet and our members could adversely affect our ability to provide services reliably to our members and paying subscribers. The temporary or
permanent loss of all, or a portion, of our services on the internet, the internet infrastructure generally, or our members’ and paying subscribers’ ability to access the internet
could disrupt our business activities, harm our business reputation and result in a loss of revenue. Additionally, the internet, electronic communications and telecommunications
industries are subject to federal, state and foreign governmental regulation, including those related to privacy, rights of publicity, data protection, content regulation, intellectual
property, health and safety, competition, protection of minors, consumer protection, employment, and taxation. New laws and regulations governing such matters could be
enacted or amendments may be made to existing regulations at any time that could adversely impact our services. Any such new laws, regulations or amendments to existing
regulations could disrupt or adversely affect the profitability of our business.
As the distribution of our dating products through app stores increases, we will need to offset increasing app store fees.
As our user base continues to shift to mobile solutions, we increasingly rely on the Apple App Store and the Google Play Store to distribute our mobile applications and related
in-app products. While our mobile applications are free to download from these
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stores, we offer our users the opportunity to purchase paid memberships through these applications. We determine the prices at which these memberships and features are sold
and, in exchange for facilitating the purchase of these memberships and features through these applications to users who download our applications from these stores, we pay
Apple and Google, as applicable, a share of the revenue we receive from these transactions (generally 30%). As the distribution of our dating products through app stores
increases, we will need to offset these increased app store fees by decreasing traditional marketing costs, or by engaging in other efforts to increase revenue or decrease costs
generally, or our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
Our success depends, in part, on our ability to access, collect and use personal data about our users and subscribers.
We depend on search engines, digital app stores and social media platforms, to market, distribute and monetize our products and services. Our subscribers and users engage with
these platforms directly, and in the case of digital app stores, may be subject to requirements regarding the use of their payment systems for various transactions. As a result,
these platforms may receive personal data about our users and subscribers that we would otherwise receive if we transacted with our users and subscribers directly. If these
platforms limit or increasingly limit, eliminate or otherwise interfere with our ability to access, collect and use personal data about our users and subscribers that they have
collected, our ability to identify and communicate with a meaningful portion of our user and subscriber bases may be adversely impacted. If so, our customer relationship
management efforts, our ability to identify, target and reach new segments of our user and subscriber bases and the population generally, the efficiency of our paid marketing
efforts and our ability to develop and implement safety features, policies and procedures for certain of our products and services could be adversely affected. We cannot assure
you that search engines, digital app stores and social media platforms upon which we rely will not limit or increasingly limit, eliminate or otherwise interfere with our ability to
access, collect and use personal data about our users and subscribers that they have collected. To the extent that any or all of them do so, our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be adversely affected. For example, in March 2021, with the release of iOS 14, Apple introduced AppTrackingTransparency (ATT) which requires
users to opt in before their identifier for advertisers (IDFA) can be accessed by an app, which allows advertisers to provide users with targeted advertising and to measure
advertising campaigns. While ATT did not have the adverse effect we originally anticipated, we expect that other companies such as Google (Android and Chrome) and Meta
(Facebook and Instagram) will introduce similar tracking frameworks, and as a result, our ability to accurately target and measure advertising campaigns at the user level may
be adversely affected and we and other app developers may experience increased cost per registration.
We are subject to a number of risks related to credit card payments, including data security breaches and fraud that it or third parties experience or additional regulation,
any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We accept payment from our users primarily through credit card transactions and online payment service providers. While we use third parties to handle and process credit card
transactions, we still face risks related to security breaches involving these third-party providers. For instance, a large breach at a third-party credit card processor could cause
people to cancel their credit cards, which could affect our ability to process auto-renewals. In addition, breaches at third party processors could affect consumer confidence in us
because consumers may not distinguish between us and the third party when informed of the breach. Additionally, if we fail to adequately prevent fraudulent credit card
transactions, we may face litigation, fines, governmental enforcement action, civil liability, diminished public perception of our security measures, significantly higher credit
card-related costs and remediation costs, or refusal by credit card processors to continue to process payments on our behalf. The occurrence of these or similar events could have
a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial conditions.
Our use of “open source” software could subject our proprietary software to general release, adversely affect our ability to sell our products and services and subject us to
possible litigation.
We use open source software in connection with a portion of our proprietary software and expect to continue to use open source software in the future. Under certain
circumstances, some open source licenses require users of the licensed code to provide the user’s own proprietary source code to third parties upon request, or prohibit users
from charging a fee to third parties in connection with the use of the user’s proprietary code. While we try to insulate our proprietary code from the effects of such open source
license provisions, we cannot guarantee that we will be successful, that all open source software is reviewed prior to use in our products, that our developers have not
incorporated open source software into our products, or that they will not do so in the future. Accordingly, we may face claims from others challenging our use of open source
software, claiming ownership of, or seeking to enforce the license terms applicable to such open source software, including by demanding release of the open source software,
derivative works or our proprietary source code that was developed or distributed with such software. Such claims could also require us to purchase a commercial license or
require us to devote additional research and development
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resources to change our software, any of which would have a negative effect on our business and results of operations. In addition, if the license terms for the open source code
change, we may be forced to re-engineer our software or incur additional costs. Additionally, the terms of many open source licenses to which we are subject have not been
interpreted by U.S. or foreign courts. There is a risk that open source software licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on
our ability to market or provide our products.
Increases in credit card processing fees and high chargeback costs could increase operating expenses and adversely affect results of operations, and an adverse change in,
or the termination of, our relationship with any major credit card company would have a severe, negative impact on our business.
A significant portion of our customers purchase our products using credit or debit cards. The major credit card companies or the issuing banks may increase the fees that they
charge for transactions using their cards. An increase in those fees would require us to either increase the prices we charge for our products, or suffer a negative impact on our
profitability, either of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, we have potential liability for chargebacks associated with the transactions processed on our behalf. If a customer claims that a subscription to one of our products
was purchased fraudulently, the subscription price is “charged back” to us or our bank, as applicable. If we or our sponsoring banks are unable to collect the chargeback from
the persons processing transactions on our behalf, or, if the credit card processor refuses or is financially unable to reimburse for the chargeback, we bear the loss for the amount
of the refund paid. We also have potential liability related to fines that are levied by the major credit card companies when chargeback expenses exceed certain thresholds.
We are vulnerable to credit card fraud. Card fraud occurs when a customer uses a stolen card (or a stolen card number in a card-not-present-transaction) to purchase
merchandise or services. In a traditional card-present transaction, if the merchant swipes the card, receives authorization for the transaction from the card issuing bank and
verifies the signature on the back of the card against the paper receipt signed by the customer, the card issuing bank remains liable for any loss. In a fraudulent card-not-present
transaction, even if the processor receives authorization for the transaction, we or the card processor are liable for any loss arising from the transaction. Because all of our sales
via credit card are card-not-present transactions, we are more vulnerable to credit card fraud.
Loss or material modification of our credit card acceptance privileges would have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.
A significant percentage of our users pay for our services by credit card. The loss of credit card acceptance privileges would significantly limit our ability to renew paying
subscribers or secure new paying subscribers.
Most of our users purchase a membership, for which payment is made at the beginning of the term. In addition, almost all membership renewals are paid by auto-renewal,
charging the renewal fee to the client’s credit card. There is a risk that, if we fail to fully perform our obligations under the terms of service or the client objects to the autorenewal payment made by credit card, the credit card companies could be obligated to reimburse these clients for all or a portion of the membership fee. We might be obligated
to pay all such amounts under our agreements under which we have obtained our credit card acceptance privileges. As a result of this risk, credit card companies may require us
to set aside additional cash reserves, may not renew acceptance privileges or may increase the transaction fees they charge for these privileges.
The card networks, such as Visa, MasterCard, and American Express, have adopted rules and regulations that apply to all merchants who process and accept credit cards and
include the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards (“PCI DSS”). Under the PCI DSS, our Zoosk brand is required to adopt and implement internal controls over the
use, storage and security of card data to help prevent credit card fraud. We assess our compliance with the PCI DSS on a periodic basis and make necessary improvements to
our internal controls. If we fail to comply with the rules and regulations adopted by the card networks, including the PCI DSS, we would be in breach of our contractual
obligations to payment processors and merchant banks. Such failure to comply may subject us to fines, penalties, damages and civil liability and could eventually prevent us
from processing or accepting credit cards. Further, there is no guarantee that, even if we comply with the rules and regulations adopted by the card networks, we will be able to
maintain our compliance. We also cannot guarantee that such compliance will prevent illegal or improper use of our payments systems or the theft, loss or misuse of the credit
card data of customers or participants.
The loss of, or the significant modification of, the terms under which we obtain credit card acceptance privileges would have a material adverse effect on our business, revenue
and operating results.
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Our user metrics and other estimates are subject to inherent challenges in measurement, and real or perceived inaccuracies in those metrics may seriously harm and
negatively affect our reputation and our business.
We regularly review metrics, including our ARPU and average paying subscribers metrics, to evaluate growth trends, measure our performance, and make strategic decisions.
These metrics are calculated using internal company data gathered on an analytics platform that we developed and operate and have not been validated by an independent third
party. While these metrics are based on what we believe to be reasonable estimates of our user base for the applicable period of measurement, there are inherent challenges in
measuring how our products are used across large populations globally. Our user metrics are also affected by technology on certain mobile devices that automatically runs in the
background of our application when another phone function is used, and this activity can cause our system to miscount the user metrics associated with such account. The
methodologies used to measure these metrics require significant judgment and are also susceptible to algorithm or other technical errors. In addition, we are continually seeking
to improve our estimates of our user base, and such estimates may change due to improvements or changes in our methodology.
Errors or inaccuracies in our metrics or data could also result in incorrect business decisions and inefficiencies. For instance, if a significant understatement or overstatement of
active users were to occur, we may expend resources to implement unnecessary business measures or fail to take required actions to attract a sufficient number of users to satisfy
our growth strategies. We continually seek to address technical issues in our ability to record such data and improve our accuracy, but given the complexity of the systems
involved and the rapidly changing nature of mobile devices and systems, we expect these issues to continue, particularly if we continue to expand in parts of the world where
mobile data systems and connections are less stable. If partners or investors do not perceive our user, geographic, or other demographic metrics to be accurate representations of
our user base, or if we discover material inaccuracies in our user, geographic, or other demographic metrics, our reputation may be materially adversely impacted.
Risks Relating to Our Indebtedness
Our substantial level of indebtedness could materially affect our ability to operate our business, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and
results of operations.
As of December 31, 2021, we had $85.6 million total outstanding indebtedness and borrowing availability of $5 million under our credit facility. Our significant indebtedness,
and indebtedness that we may incur in the future, could materially adversely affect our business by:

•
•
•
•

increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;
requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of our cash flow to
fund working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, product development efforts, marketing expenditures, and other general corporate purposes;
limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate; and
exposing us to the risk of increased interest rates as our borrowings are, and may in the future be, at variable interest rates.

The occurrence of any one of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition, and ability to satisfy our
obligations under our Senior Secured Facilities.
Our ability to comply with the Senior Secured Facilities Agreement is subject to our future performance and other factors.
On July 1, 2019, in connection with the acquisition of Zoosk, we entered into the Senior Secured Facilities Agreement (the "Senior Secured Facilities Agreement") that provides
for a senior secured term loan facility in an aggregate amount equal to $120 million and a senior secured revolving facility in an aggregate amount equal to $5 million (the
"Revolving Credit Facility"), which was amended on May 20, 2020 to extend the required delivery date of the audited financial statements and related year-end documentation
for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019, and which was further amended on December 2, 2020 to, among other things as set forth therein, reset the financial covenants
and increase the term loan facility by $6 million (the "Term Loan Facility" and together with the Revolving Credit Facility, the "Facilities"). Borrowings under the Senior
Secured Facilities Agreement mature on July 1, 2023 and are secured by substantially all of the Company’s assets. The Senior
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Secured Facilities Agreement contains certain financial covenants including quarterly testing of a maximum First Lien Net Leverage Ratio and a minimum Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio (each as defined in the Senior Secured Facilities Agreement) and monthly testing of a minimum liquidity covenant. Additional covenants, among other things,
limit our and our subsidiaries' abilities to:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

incur additional indebtedness;
create or incur additional liens;
engage in certain fundamental changes, including mergers or consolidations;
sell or transfer assets;
pay dividends and distributions on our and our subsidiaries’ capital stock;
make payments and prepayments of junior or unsecured indebtedness;
make acquisitions, investments, loans, or advances;
engage in certain transactions with affiliates; and
enter into negative pledge clauses and clauses restricting subsidiary distributions.

Our ability to comply with these covenants in the future is, to a certain extent, subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors
beyond our control. In March 2021, the administrative agent to the Amended Term Loan Facility entered into the Limited Waiver pursuant to which certain events of default
under the Senior Secured Facilities were waived for a fee. There can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain compliance with these covenants in the future. The breach
of any of the debt covenants could result in an event of default under the Senior Secured Facilities Agreement. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, the lenders could
make an immediate demand of the amount outstanding under the credit facility. If a default was to occur and such a demand was to be made, there can be no assurance that our
assets would be sufficient to repay the indebtedness in full. If any of these events were to occur, our ability to fund our operations could be seriously harmed.
If we experience a decline in cash flow due to any of the factors described in these “Risk Factors” or otherwise, we could have difficulty paying interest and the principal
amount of our outstanding indebtedness. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow or otherwise obtain the funds necessary to make required payments under our
Facilities, or if we fail to comply with the various requirements of our indebtedness, we could default under our Facilities. Any such default that is not cured or waived could
result in an acceleration of indebtedness then outstanding under our Facilities, a requirement that we and our subsidiaries that have guaranteed our indebtedness pay the
obligations in full, and would permit the lenders to exercise remedies with respect to all of the collateral that is securing our indebtedness, including substantially all of our and
our subsidiary guarantors’ assets. We cannot be certain that our future operating results will be sufficient to ensure compliance with the covenants in Senior Secured Facilities or
to remedy any defaults under such facilities.
We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness and may be forced to take other actions to satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness
that may not be successful.
Our ability to satisfy our debt obligations will depend upon, among other things:

•
•

our future financial and operating performance, which will be affected by prevailing economic conditions and financial, business, regulatory, and other factors, many of
which are beyond our control; and
our future ability to borrow under our Senior Secured Facilities, the availability of which will depend on, among other things, our complying with the covenants in the
then-existing agreements governing our indebtedness.

There can be no assurance that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations, or that we will be able to draw under our Revolving Credit Facility or otherwise,
in an amount sufficient to fund our liquidity needs.
If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to service our indebtedness, we may be forced to reduce or delay capital expenditures, sell assets, seek additional capital
or restructure or refinance our indebtedness. These alternative measures may not be successful and may not permit us to meet our scheduled debt service obligations. Our
ability to restructure or refinance our debt will depend on the condition of the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. Any refinancing of our debt could be at
higher interest rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict
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our business operations. In addition, the terms of existing or future debt agreements may restrict us from adopting some of these alternatives.
Changes in how LIBOR is determined, or the potential replacement of LIBOR with an alternative reference rate, may adversely affect our interest expense.
Our Senior Secured Facilities Agreement has an interest rate tied to the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). On July 27, 2017, the United Kingdom Financial Conduct
Authority, which regulates LIBOR, announced its intention to stop persuading or compelling banks to submit LIBOR quotations by the end of 2021. On November 30, 2020,
IBA extended the LIBOR transition deadline to June 30, 2023, rather than December 31, 2021, for the overnight and one-, three-, six-, and twelve-month USD LIBOR. These
decisions are subject to consultation, and announcements of the official cessation of any LIBOR settings will be made separately. We cannot predict the impact of the potential
phase out of LIBOR on the interest rate in our debt agreement, and whether the alternative reference rates in our debt agreement will be more or less favorable than LIBOR and
any other unforeseen impacts of the potential discontinuation of LIBOR. We intend to monitor the developments with respect to the potential phasing out of LIBOR after 2021
and work with our lenders to ensure any transition away from LIBOR will have minimal impact on our financial condition.
At or prior to the cessation of LIBOR, we may need to amend our Senior Securities Facilities with our lender to be based on an alternative rate that is established, if any, as a
factor in determining the interest rate. The transition to an alternative rate will require careful and deliberate consideration and implementation so as to not disrupt the stability of
financial markets. There is no guarantee that a transition from LIBOR to an alternative will not result in financial market disruptions, significant increases in benchmark rates, or
borrowing costs to borrowers, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition, and stock price. If we are unable to
transition our Senior Secured Facilities to an alternative variable rate prior to the discontinuation of LIBOR, we may be unable to utilize such facility. We cannot provide
assurances regarding the impact of the discontinuation of LIBOR on our financial condition or whether the discontinuation of LIBOR would have a material adverse effect on
our results of operations.
Risks Related to Regulation and Litigation
The varying and rapidly evolving regulatory framework on privacy and data protection across jurisdictions could result in claims, changes to our business practices,
monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, or declines in user growth or engagement, or otherwise harm our business.
There are numerous laws in the countries in which we operate regarding privacy and the storage, sharing, use, processing, disclosure and protection of this kind of information,
the scope of which are constantly changing, and in some cases, inconsistent and conflicting and subject to differing interpretations, as new laws of this nature are proposed and
adopted. For example, in 2016, the European Commission adopted the General Data Protection Regulation ("GDPR"), a comprehensive European Union privacy and data
protection reform that became effective in May 2018. The act applies to companies established in the European Union or otherwise providing services or monitoring the
behavior of people located in the European Union and provides for significant penalties in case of non-compliance as well as a private right of action for individual claimants.
GDPR will continue to be interpreted by EU data protection regulators, which may require that the Company make changes to the Company’s business practices and could
generate additional risks and liabilities. The European Union is also considering an update to the EU’s Privacy and Electronic Communications (so called “e-Privacy”)
Directive, notably to amend rules on the use of cookies. The Court of Justice of the European Union issued a judgment in October 2019 indicating that affirmative consent
would be required for non-essential tracking tools. At the same time, many countries in which we do business have already adopted or are also currently considering adopting
privacy and data protection laws and regulations. Multiple legislative proposals concerning privacy and the protection of user information are being considered by the United
States Congress. Various United States state legislatures intend to consider privacy legislation in the future. Other United States state legislatures such as Virginia, Nevada, and
California, have already passed and enacted privacy legislation, most prominent of which is the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, which was signed into law in June
2018 and came into effect on January 1, 2020. In November 2020, California voters passed the California Privacy Rights and Enforcement Act of 2020 (“CPRA”). The CPRA
further amends and expands the requirements of the CCPA, bringing the California law in many respects closer to the EU's GDPR. Compliance with the CPRA, which comes
into full force on January 1, 2023, may impose additional burdens on us and thereby adversely affect our business. Additionally, the Federal Trade Commission and several
other state regulators have increased their focus on privacy and data security practices at digital companies.
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Additionally, we are subject to laws, rules, and regulations regarding cross-border transfers of personal data, including laws relating to transfer of personal data outside the
European Economic Area (“EEA”). Recent legal developments in Europe have created complexity and uncertainty regarding transfers of personal data from the EEA to the
United States and other jurisdictions; for example, on July 16, 2020, the CJEU invalidated the EU-US Privacy Shield Framework (“Privacy Shield”) under which personal data
could be transferred from the EEA to US entities that had self-certified under the Privacy Shield scheme. While the CJEU upheld the adequacy of the standard contractual
clauses (a standard form of contract approved by the European Commission as an adequate personal data transfer mechanism, and potential alternative to the Privacy Shield), it
noted that reliance on them alone may not necessarily be sufficient in all circumstances; this has created uncertainty and increased the risk around our international operations.
These recent developments may require us to review and amend the legal mechanisms by which we make, or in the future might make, and, or, receive, or in the future might
receive, personal data transfers to the United States and other jurisdictions. The German data protection authorities, the European Data Protection Board, and other data
protection authorities issue further guidance on personal data export mechanisms, including circumstances where the standard contractual clauses cannot be used, and/or start
taking enforcement action, we could suffer additional costs, complaints and/or regulatory investigations or fines, and/or if we are otherwise unable to transfer personal data
between and among countries and regions in which we operate, it could affect the manner in which we provide our services, the geographical location or segregation of our
relevant systems and operations, and could adversely affect our financial results.
While we believe that we comply with industry standards and applicable laws and industry codes of conduct relating to privacy and data protection in all material respects, there
is no assurance that we will not be subject to claims that we have violated applicable laws or codes of conduct, that we will be able to successfully defend against such claims or
that we will not be subject to significant fines and penalties in the event of non-compliance. Additionally, to the extent multiple local-level laws are introduced with inconsistent
or conflicting standards and there is no national law to preempt such laws, compliance with such laws could be difficult to achieve and we could be subject to fines and penalties
in the event of non-compliance.
Any failure or perceived failure by us (or the third parties with whom we have contracted to process such information) to comply with applicable privacy and security laws,
policies or related contractual obligations, or any compromise of security that results in unauthorized access, or the use or transmission of, personal user information, could
result in a variety of claims against us, including governmental enforcement actions, significant fines, litigation, claims of breach of contract and indemnity by third parties, and
adverse publicity. When such events occur, our reputation may be harmed, we may lose current and potential users and the competitive positions of various brands could be
diminished, any or all of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Lastly, compliance with the numerous laws in the countries in which we operate regarding privacy and the storage, sharing, use, processing, disclosure and protection of
personal data could be costly, as well as result in delays in the development of new products and features as resources are allocated to these compliance projects, particularly as
these laws become more comprehensive in scope, more commonplace and continue to evolve. In addition, the varying and rapidly evolving regulatory frameworks across
jurisdictions may result in decisions to introduce products in certain jurisdictions but not others or to cease providing certain services or features to users located in certain
jurisdictions. If these costs or other impacts are significant our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
We may be liable as a result of information retrieved from or transmitted over the internet.
We maintain on our platforms personal user information, including user-to-user communications, and enable our users to share their personal information with each other in
such communications. In some cases, we engage third party service providers to store this information. We have systems to protect the integrity of this information, but we have
experienced and may experience in the future incidents and breaches of such information and cannot guarantee that inadvertent or unauthorized use or disclosure of such user
information will not occur. When such events occur, we may not be able to remedy them and may be required by law to notify regulators and individuals whose personal
information was used or disclosed without authorization. If such incidents occurred, we may be subject to claims, including government enforcement actions or fines, sued for
defamation, civil rights infringement, negligence, copyright or trademark infringement, invasion of privacy, personal injury, product liability or under other legal theories
relating to information that is published or made available on our websites and mobile applications and the other sites or applications linked to us. These types of claims have
been brought, sometimes successfully, against online services in the past. We could incur significant costs in investigating and defending such claims, even if we ultimately are
not held liable. If any of these events occurs, our revenue could be materially adversely affected, or we could incur significant additional expense.
Our business is subject to complex and evolving United States and international laws and regulations. Many of these laws and regulations are subject to change and
uncertain interpretation, and could result in claims, changes to our business
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practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, or declines in user growth or engagement, or otherwise harm our business.
We are subject to a variety of laws and regulations in the United States and abroad that involve matters that are important to or may otherwise impact our business, including,
among others, broadband internet access, website accessibility, online commerce, advertising, user privacy, data protection, intermediary liability, protection of minors,
consumer protection, sex-trafficking, taxation, export controls, economic sanctions and securities law compliance. The introduction of new products, expansion of our activities
in certain jurisdictions, or other actions that we may take may subject us to additional laws, regulations or other government scrutiny.
These United States federal, state, municipal and foreign laws and regulations, which in some cases can be enforced by private parties in addition to government entities, are
constantly evolving and can be subject to significant change. For example, legislative changes in the United States, at both the federal and state level, could impose new
obligations in areas such as moderation of content posted on our platform by third parties, including with respect to requests for removal based on claims of copyright. Further,
there are various Executive and Congressional efforts to restrict the scope of the protections from legal liability for content moderation decisions and third-party content posted
on online platforms that are currently available to online platforms under Section 230 of the Communications Decency Act, and our current protections from liability for
content moderation decisions and third-party content posted on our platform in the United States could decrease or change, potentially resulting in increased liability for content
moderation decisions and third-party content posted on our platform and higher litigation costs. Relatedly, following such Executive and Congressional actions, more changes
could be required to our products that would in turn restrict or impose additional costs upon the conduct of our business generally or cause users to abandon our products.
Foreign laws and regulations can impose different obligations or be more restrictive than those in the United States. For example, the European Union is also reviewing the
regulation of digital services, and it has been reported that the European Union plans to introduce the Digital Services Act (“DSA”), a package of legislation intended to update
the liability and safety rules for digital platforms, products, and services, which could negatively impact the scope of the limited immunity provided by the E-Commerce
Directive and require such platforms, products, and services to ramp up content moderation, other age or identity verification features. Some European jurisdictions have also
proposed or intend to pass legislation that imposes new obligations and liabilities on platforms with respect to certain types of harmful content. In parallel, the European
Commission is working on a legislative proposal to introduce new ex ante regulation of online platforms and new market investigation powers as a separate piece of legislation,
the Digital Markets Act (“DMA”). If the DMA is enacted, it may contain certain regulatory requirements and/or obligations, as well as stricter rules on targeted advertising that
may prohibit digital platforms from showing commercials to users based on their sensitive data, all of which could negatively impact our business. Some European jurisdictions
(such as the United Kingdom and Germany) are also reviewing their competition rules in relation to digital platforms which could lead to new regulations similar to the DMA at
national level. While the scope and timing of these proposals are currently uncertain, if enacted and applied to our platform, the new rules may adversely affect our business.
More specifically, concerns about harms and the use of dating products and social networking platforms for such illegal and harmful conduct have produced and could continue
to produce future legislation or other governmental action. For example, in January 2020, the Committee on Oversight Subcommittee on Economic and Consumer Policy of the
U.S. House of Representatives launched an investigation into the online dating industry’s user safety policies, including certain practices of our businesses relating to the
identification and removal of registered sex offenders and underage individuals from our platforms. The state Attorney Generals have been taken advantage of their increasingly
broader subpoena authorities and have taken increasing steps to review and, in some cases, launch broad investigations into consumer facing technology companies with a
particular interest in companies offering online dating services. Government authorities may seek to restrict certain users’ access to our products if they consider such users to be
in violation of laws or regulations or otherwise be a threat to public safety, as well as to impose obligations for us to use background checks on our platform, such removal and
restriction of access may reduce our user growth and engagement. We have in the past be subject to such subpoena and/or investigation requests and have incurred significant
costs to comply with the requests. If future legislation or governmental action is proposed or taken to address concerns regarding such harms, and if existing protections are
limited or removed, we could continue to incur similar costs, and changes could be required to our products that could restrict or impose additional costs upon the conduct of our
business generally or cause users to abandon our products, which may in turn materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
As a result, the application, interpretation, and enforcement of these laws and regulations are often uncertain, particularly in the new and rapidly evolving industry in which we
operate, and may be interpreted and applied inconsistently from state to state and country to country and inconsistently with our current policies and practices. These laws and
regulations, as well as any

30

associated inquiries or investigations or any other government actions, may be costly to comply with and may delay or impede the development of new products, require that we
change or cease certain business practices, result in negative publicity, increase our operating costs, require significant management time and attention, and subject us to
remedies that may harm our business, including fines or demands or orders that we modify or cease existing business practices.
In addition, proposed or new legislation and regulations could also adversely affect our business, including the adoption of any laws or regulations that adversely affect the
popularity or growth in use of the internet or our services, including laws or regulations that undermine open and neutrally administered internet access as well as those restrict
or otherwise adversely affect the level of advertising allowed by marketers. For example, in January 2022, Democratic lawmakers in the U.S. introduced the Banning
Surveillance Advertising Act (the “BSAA”), which would outright prohibit advertisers from targeting advertisements to consumers including contextual targeting or broadbased geographic targeting with only a few exceptions. The bill empowers the Federal Trade Commission and state attorneys generals with the authority to enforce the new
rules for targeted advertising. In the event that this bill, or the similar bills are passed and other restrictions are imposed on our business practices, we are required to or elect to
make changes to our operations and our ability to retain or increase our user base, user engagement, or the level of advertising by marketers may be adversely affected, we may
not be able to maintain or grow our revenue as anticipated, and our financial results could be materially adversely affected.
Similarly, the promulgation of new laws or regulations, or the new interpretation of existing laws and regulations, in each case that restrict or otherwise unfavorably impact our
business or our ability or the manner in which we provide our services, could require us to change certain aspects of our business and operations to ensure compliance, which
could decrease demand for services, reduce revenues, increase costs and subject us to additional liabilities. For example, U.S. courts have increasingly interpreted Title III of the
Americans with Disabilities Act (the “ADA”) to require websites and web-based applications to be made fully accessible to individuals with disabilities. As a result, we may
become subject to claims that our apps are not compliant with the ADA, which may require us to make modifications to our products to provide enhanced or accessible services
to, or make reasonable accommodations for, individuals, and could result in litigation, including class action lawsuits.
Legal, political and economic uncertainty surrounding the exit of the United Kingdom from the European Union, or Brexit, and the implementation of the trade and
cooperation agreement between the United Kingdom and the European Union could have a material adverse effect on our business.
In June 2016, voters in the United Kingdom approved a referendum to withdraw the United Kingdom’s membership from the European Union, which is commonly referred to
as “Brexit.” The United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European Union occurred on January 31, 2020, but the United Kingdom remained in the European Union’s customs
union and single market for a transition period that expired on December 31, 2020. On December 30, 2020, the United Kingdom and the European Union entered into a trade
and cooperation agreement (the “Trade and Cooperation Agreement”), which was completed in April 2021. While the economic integration does not reach the level that existed
during the time the United Kingdom was a member state of the European Union, the Trade and Cooperation Agreement sets out preferential arrangements in areas such as trade
in goods and in services, digital trade and intellectual property. As of January 2022, the United Kingdom has introduced certain import controls on goods from the European
Union. Negotiations between the United Kingdom and the European Union are expected to continue in relation to the relationship between the United Kingdom and the
European Union in certain other areas that are not covered by the Trade and Cooperation Agreement. The long-term effects of Brexit will depend on the effects of the
implementation and application of the Trade and Cooperation Agreement and any other relevant agreements between the United Kingdom and the European Union.
We have operations in the United Kingdom and the European Union and, as a result, we face risks associated with the potential uncertainty and disruptions that may follow
Brexit and the implementation and application of the Trade and Cooperation Agreement, including with respect to volatility in exchange rates and interest rates, disruptions to
the free movement of data, goods, services, people and capital between the United Kingdom and the European Union and potential material changes to the regulatory regime
applicable to our operations in the United Kingdom. The uncertainty concerning the United Kingdom’s future legal, political and economic relationship with the European
Union could adversely affect political, regulatory, economic or market conditions in the European Union, the United Kingdom and worldwide and could contribute to instability
in global political institutions, regulatory agencies and financial markets. These developments, or the perception that any of them could occur, have had and may continue to
have a material adverse effect on global economic conditions and the stability of global financial markets and could significantly reduce global market liquidity and limit the
ability of key market participants to operate in certain financial markets. In particular, it could also lead to a period of considerable uncertainty in relation to the United Kingdom
financial and banking markets, as well as to the regulatory process in Europe. Asset valuations, currency exchange rates and credit ratings may also be subject to increased
market volatility.
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We may also face new regulatory costs and challenges as a result of Brexit that could have a material adverse effect on our operations. For example, as of January 1, 2021, the
United Kingdom lost the benefits of global trade agreements negotiated by the European Union on behalf of its members, which may result in increased trade barriers that could
make our doing business in areas that are subject to such global trade agreements more difficult. In addition, Brexit could lead to legal uncertainty and potentially divergent
national laws and regulations as the United Kingdom determines which laws of the European Union to replace or replicate. There may continue to be economic uncertainty
surrounding the consequences of Brexit that adversely impact customer confidence resulting in customers reducing their spending budgets on our services, which could
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
The ongoing instability and uncertainty surrounding Brexit and the implementation and application of the Trade and Cooperation Agreement, could require us to restructure our
business operations in the United Kingdom and the European Union and could have an adverse impact on our business and employees in the United Kingdom and European
Union.
We are subject to litigation and adverse outcomes in such litigation could have an adverse effect on our financial condition.
We are, and from time to time may become, subject to litigation and various legal proceedings, including litigation and proceedings related to intellectual property matters,
privacy and consumer protection laws and other matters that involve claims for substantial amounts of money or for other relief or that might necessitate changes to our
business or operations. In addition, we might be subject to potential class action suits or other collective proceedings in the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom or
Australia for possible violations of the consumer protections laws. The defense of these actions may be both time consuming and expensive. We evaluate litigation claims and
legal proceedings to assess the likelihood of unfavorable outcomes and to estimate, if possible, the amount of potential losses. Based on these assessments and estimates, we
may establish reserves and/or disclose the relevant litigation claims or legal proceedings, as and when required or appropriate. These assessments and estimates are based on
information available to management at the time of such assessment or estimation and involve a significant amount of judgment. As a result, actual outcomes or losses could
differ materially from those envisioned by our current assessments and estimates. Our failure to successfully defend or settle any such legal proceedings could result in liability
that, to the extent not covered by applicable insurance, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Failure to comply with the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act or other applicable anti-corruption legislation could result in fines, criminal penalties and an
adverse effect on Spark Networks’ business.
We operate in a number of countries throughout the world, including countries known to have a reputation for corruption. We are committed to doing business in accordance
with applicable anti-corruption laws. We are subject, however, to the risk that our officers, board members, employees, agents and collaborators may take action determined to
be in violation of such anti-corruption laws, including the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, the United Kingdom Bribery Act 2010 and the European Union
Anti-Corruption Act, as well as trade sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control and the United States Department of Commerce. Any such violation could
result in substantial fines, sanctions, civil and/or criminal penalties or curtailment of operations in certain jurisdictions and might adversely affect results of operations. In
addition, actual or alleged violations could damage our reputation and ability to do business.
Failure to comply with United States federal securities laws and regulations applicable to public companies could result in an adverse effect on our business.
As a United States reporting company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses. Compliance with reporting and corporate governance obligations may require
members of our management and finance and accounting staff to divert time and resources from other responsibilities to ensure these regulatory requirements are fulfilled and
may increase legal, insurance and financial compliance costs. We cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs we may incur or the timing of such costs. In addition,
if we fail to comply with any significant rule or requirement associated with being a public company, such failure could result in the loss of investor confidence and could harm
our reputation and cause the market price of our ADSs to decline.
We will incur increased costs and demands upon management as a result of complying with the laws and regulations affecting public companies classified as "domestic
filers" under the Exchange Act, particularly after we are no longer an “emerging growth company,” which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.
As of January 1, 2021, we are no longer considered a “foreign private issuer” under the Exchange Act and are therefore no longer exempt from certain rules under the Exchange
Act. As such, and particularly after we cease to be an EGC (which will
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occur no later than January 1, 2023), we will incur greater legal, accounting, finance, and other expenses than we incurred as a foreign private issuer.
This change has increased and will continue to increase our legal, accounting, and financial compliance costs and has made, and will continue to make, some activities more
time-consuming and costly. For example, now that we are no longer a foreign private issuer, the Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file annual, quarterly, and
current reports with respect to our business and results of operations and that we comply with certain requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act, and other rules and regulations of the SEC. As a result of the complexity involved in complying with the rules and regulations, our
management’s attention may be diverted from the day-to-day management of our business, which could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Although we have already hired additional employees to assist us in complying with these requirements, we may need to hire more employees in the future or engage outside
consultants, which will increase our operating expenses. Additionally, due to these additional rules and regulations and oversight, we may not have the same flexibility we had
as a foreign private issuer.
In addition, changing laws, regulations, and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure are creating uncertainty for domestic filers such as us, increasing
legal and financial compliance costs, and making some activities more time-consuming. These laws, regulations, and standards are subject to varying interpretations, in many
cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This
could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. We intend to
invest substantial resources to comply with evolving laws, regulations, and standards, and this investment may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a
diversion of management’s time and attention from business operations to compliance activities. If our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations, and standards differ from
the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to their application and practice, regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against
us and our business may be harmed.
As a result of the disclosure of information required of us, our business and financial condition will become more visible, which may result in an increased risk of threatened or
actual litigation, including by competitors and other third parties. If such claims are successful, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be harmed, and
even if the claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in our favor, these claims, and the time and resources necessary to resolve them, could divert the resources of our
management and harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
United States investors may have difficulty enforcing civil liabilities against us or members of our Administrative Board.
Certain of the members of the Administrative Board are non-residents of the United States, and all or a substantial portion of the assets of such persons are located outside the
United States. As a result, it may not be possible, or may be very difficult, to serve process on such persons or us in the United States or to enforce judgments obtained in United
States courts against them or us based on civil liability provisions of the securities laws of the United States. In addition, awards of punitive damages in actions brought in the
United States or elsewhere may be unenforceable in Germany. An award for monetary damages under the United States securities laws would be considered punitive if it does
not seek to compensate the claimant for loss or damage suffered and is intended to punish the defendant. The enforceability of any judgment in Germany will depend on the
particular facts of the case as well as the laws and treaties in effect at the time. Litigation in Germany is also subject to rules of procedure that differ from the United States
rules, including with respect to the taking and admissibility of evidence, the conduct of the proceedings and the allocation of costs. Proceedings in Germany would have to be
conducted in the German language, and all documents submitted to the court would, in principle, have to be translated into German. For these reasons, it may be difficult for a
United States investor to bring an original action in a German court predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the United States federal securities laws against Spark
Networks and the members of our Administrative Board. The United States and Germany do not currently have a treaty providing for recognition and enforcement of judgments
(other than arbitration awards) in civil and commercial matters, though recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments in Germany is possible in accordance with applicable
German laws.
Changes in tax treatment of companies engaged in e-commerce could materially adversely affect the commercial use of our platforms and our business, financial condition
and operating results.
Due to the global nature of the internet, it is possible that various countries and local jurisdictions might attempt to impose additional or new regulation on our business or levy
additional or new sales, income or other taxes relating to our activities. Tax authorities at the national and local levels are currently reviewing the appropriate treatment of
companies engaged in e-commerce. New or revised tax regulations may subject us or our customers to additional sales, income and other taxes. For
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example, certain jurisdictions have considered various approaches to legislation that would require companies engaged in e-commerce to collect sales tax on internet revenue. In
June 2018, the United States Supreme Court decided the South Dakota v. Wayfair, Inc. sales tax nexus case. As a result of the Supreme Court ruling, states now have the ability
to adopt laws requiring taxpayers to collect and remit sales tax on a basis of economic nexus, even in states in which the taxpayer has no physical presence. Furthermore, there is
risk that some jurisdictions, where we are or will be subject to VAT, may increase their local VAT rates on e-commerce services in order to recover economic costs of the
ongoing pandemic. New or revised taxes and, in particular, sales taxes, value-added taxes and similar taxes would likely increase the cost of doing business online and decrease
the attractiveness of our services. New taxes could also create significant increases in internal costs necessary to capture data and collect and remit taxes. Any of these events
could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
Risks Relating to the Spark Networks ADSs
You may experience dilution of your ownership interests because of the future issuance of additional ordinary shares, preferred stock or other securities that are
convertible into or exercisable for such securities.
In the future, we may issue authorized but previously unissued equity securities, resulting in the dilution of the ownership interests of direct or indirect holders of our ordinary
shares, including Spark Networks ADSs. We may issue additional ordinary shares or other securities that are convertible into or exercisable for our ordinary shares in
connection with hiring or retaining employees, future acquisitions, future sales of securities for capital raising purposes, or for other business purposes. The future issuance of
any such additional ordinary shares may create downward pressure on the trading price of our ADSs. We may need to raise additional capital in the near future to meet working
capital needs, and there can be no assurance that we will not be required to issue additional ordinary shares in the future in conjunction with these capital raising efforts. While
stockholder approval will be needed to issue additional ordinary shares beyond those currently authorized, the approval does not have to authorize a specific use of the shares
and management will have broad discretion in determining how, when and for what purpose the shares should be issued. If existing stockholders or option holders sell, or
indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of our ADSs (or our ordinary shares that can be deposited with our ADS Depositary in exchange for our ADSs) in the public
market, the price of our ADSs could decline. The perception in the market that these sales may occur could also cause the price of our ADSs to decline.
There may be limited trading volume for our ADSs, which could reduce liquidity for the holders of our ADSs and may cause the price of our ADSs to be volatile, all of
which may lead to losses by investors.
There may be limited trading volume for our ADSs on the Nasdaq Capital Market, such that trading does not reach the level that enables holders of our ADSs to freely sell their
ADSs in substantial quantities on an ongoing basis and thereby readily achieve liquidity for their investment. In addition, if there is limited trading volume, our ADSs may
experience significant market price and volume fluctuations in the future, in response to factors such as announcements of developments related to us and our subsidiaries,
announcements by our competitors, fluctuations in financial results and general conditions in the dating services industry.
The price of our ADSs may fluctuate significantly.
The stock market generally has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of listed
companies. Broad market and industry factors may negatively affect the market price of our ADSs, regardless of our actual operating performance. The market price and
liquidity of the market for our ADSs may fluctuate and may be significantly affected by numerous factors, some of which are beyond our control.
These factors include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

significant volatility in the market price and trading volume of securities of companies in the sector within which we operate, which is not necessarily related to the
operating performance of these companies;
the mix of services that we provide, during any period; delays between our expenditures to develop and market new services and the generation of sales from those
services and the related risk of obsolete services;
changes in the amount that we spend to develop, acquire or license new services, technologies or businesses;
changes in our expenditures to promote our services;
success or failure of our research and development projects or our competitors;
announcements of acquisitions by us or one of our competitors;
the general tendency towards volatility in the market prices of shares of companies that rely on technology and innovation;
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•
•
•
•

changes in regulatory policies or tax guidelines;
changes or perceived changes in earnings or variations in operating results;
any shortfall in revenue or net income from levels expected by investors or securities analysts; and
general economic trends and other factors.

Your rights as a holder of ADSs representing ordinary shares of a German company organized as a European stock corporation may differ from your rights as a
stockholder in a United States corporation.
We are organized as a European stock corporation (Societas Europaea, SE) under the laws of Germany. You should be aware that the rights of stockholders under German law
differ in important respects from those of stockholders in a United States corporation. These differences include, in particular:
•

•

Under German law, certain important resolutions, including, for example, capital decreases, measures under the German Transformation Act (Umwandlungsgesetz),
such as mergers, conversions and spin-offs, the issuance of convertible bonds or bonds with warrants attached and the dissolution of the German stock corporation apart
from insolvency and certain other proceedings, require the vote of a 75% majority of the capital present or represented at the relevant stockholders’ meeting. Therefore,
the holder or holders of a blocking minority of 25% or, depending on the attendance level at the stockholders’ meeting, the holder or holders of a smaller percentage of
the shares in a German stock corporation may be able to block any such votes, possibly to our detriment or the detriment of other stockholders.
As a general rule under German law, in the case of a one-tier European stock corporation a stockholder has no direct recourse against the members of the administrative
board and managing directors, in the event that it is alleged that they have breached their duty of loyalty or duty of care to the corporation. Apart from insolvency or
other special circumstances, only the European stock corporation itself has the right to claim damages from members of the board and executive officers. A European
stock corporation may waive or settle these damages claims only if at least three years have passed and the stockholders approve the waiver or settlement at the
stockholders’ meeting with a simple majority of the votes cast, provided that a minority holding, in the aggregate, 10% or more of the European stock corporation’s
share capital does not have its opposition formally noted in the minutes maintained by a German civil law notary. For more information, we have provided summaries of
relevant German corporation law and of our articles of association, which are available on our website.

Holders of our ADSs will not have the same voting rights as our stockholders, which may affect the value of our ADSs.
Holders of our ADSs will not be able to directly vote underlying our ordinary shares. Holders of our ADSs may instruct our ADS Depositary how to vote the ordinary shares
underlying their ADSs. If we ask it to, our ADS Depositary will send out information about stockholder meetings and solicit voting instructions and will try to carry out voting
instructions it receives. However, we are not required to instruct our ADS Depositary to take action with respect to stockholder meetings. If we do not do so, holders of our
ADSs can still send voting instructions to our ADS Depositary, and our ADS Depositary may try to carry out those instructions, but it is not required to do so. However, holders
of our ADSs may not become aware of stockholder meetings if our ADS Depositary does not send out information. Even if our ADS Depositary does solicit voting instructions,
holders of our ADSs may not receive the information in time. Because of these factors, holders of our ADSs may not be able to effectively exercise voting rights that they
would have if they held our ordinary shares directly.
Our principal stockholders and management own a significant percentage of our ordinary shares and will be able to exert significant influence over matters subject to
stockholder approval.
Members of the Administrative Board and holders of 5% or more of our ordinary shares beneficially own a majority of our ordinary shares (including our ordinary shares
represented by our ADSs). Currently, our principal stockholders (those stockholders owning at least 5% of our ordinary shares) and management hold approximately 26%
(excluding any shares underlying options) of our ordinary shares (which may be held in the form of our ADSs). These stockholders have significant influence over the outcome
of all matters requiring stockholder approval. For example, these stockholders may be able to influence the outcome of elections of members of Administrative Board,
amendments of our organizational documents, or approval of any merger, sale of assets, or other major corporate transactions. This may prevent or discourage unsolicited
acquisition proposals or offers for our ADSs that you may feel are in your best interest as a holder of our ADSs. The interests of this group of stockholders may not always
coincide with your interests or the interests of other stockholders, and they may act in a manner that advances their best interests and not necessarily those of other stockholders,
including seeking a premium value for their ordinary shares, which might affect the prevailing market price for our ADSs.
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We have no present intention to pay dividends on our ordinary shares in the foreseeable future and, consequently, your only opportunity to achieve a return on your
investment during that time is if the price of our ADSs appreciates.
We have no present intention to pay dividends on our ADSs in the foreseeable future. Any recommendation by the Administrative Board to pay dividends will depend on many
factors, including financial condition, results of operations, legal requirements and other factors. Accordingly, if the price of our ADSs declines in the foreseeable future, you
will incur a loss on your investment, without the likelihood that this loss will be offset in part or at all by potential future cash dividends.
You might not receive distributions on our ordinary shares represented by our ADSs or any value for them.
Under the terms of the Deposit Agreement, our ADS Depositary has agreed to pay to you the cash dividends or other distributions it or the custodian receives on our ordinary
shares after deducting fees and expenses. You will receive these distributions in proportion to the number of our ordinary shares represented by your ADSs. However, in
accordance with the limitations set forth in the Deposit Agreement, our ADS Depositary is not required to make a distribution if it decides it may be unlawful or impractical to
make a distribution available to holders of our ADSs.
Certain or all of the holders of our ADSs may be unable to claim tax credits with respect to, or tax refunds to reduce German withholding tax applicable to the payment of
dividends, or a dividend may be effectively taxed twice.
We do not anticipate paying dividends on our ADSs for the foreseeable future. As a German tax resident company, however, if we pay dividends, such dividends will be subject
to German withholding tax. Currently, the applicable German withholding tax rate is 26.375% of the gross dividend. This German tax can be reduced to the applicable United
States-Germany income tax treaty (“Treaty”) rate, which is generally 15%, if the applicable taxpayer is eligible for such Treaty rate and files an application containing a specific
German tax certificate with the German Federal Central Tax Office (Bundeszentralamt für Steuern). If such a tax certificate cannot be delivered to our ADS holders due to
applicable settlement mechanics or lack of information regarding our ADS holders, holders of our ADSs may be unable to benefit from the double tax treaty relief (including
“Eligible United States Holders” as defined under the Treaty) and may be unable to file for a credit of such withholding tax in their jurisdiction of residence. Further, the
payment made to our ADS holders equal to the net dividend may, under the tax law applicable to our ADS holders, qualify as taxable income that is in turn subject to
withholding, which could mean that a dividend is effectively taxed twice. There can be no guarantee that the information delivery requirement can be satisfied in all cases,
which could result in adverse tax consequences for affected ADS holders. Our ADS holders should note that the applicable interpretation circular (Besteuerung von American
Depositary Receipts (ADR) auf inländische Aktien) issued by the German Federal Ministry of Finance (Bundesministerium der Finanzen), dated May 24, 2013 (reference
number IV C 1-S2204/12/10003) (the “ADR Tax Circular”), is not binding on German courts, and there is no certainty as to whether a German tax court will follow the ADR
Tax Circular in determining the German tax treatment of our ADSs. In addition, the ADR Tax Circular does not include details on how an ADR program should be designed. If
our ADSs are determined not to fall within the scope of application of the ADR Tax Circular, or a German tax court does not follow the ADR Tax Circular, and profit
distributions made with respect to our ADSs were not treated as a dividend for German tax purposes, our ADS holders would not be entitled to a refund of any taxes withheld
on the dividends under German tax law and profit distributions made with respect to our ADSs may be effectively taxed twice.
You may have less access to information about us and less opportunity to exercise your rights as a security holder if you hold our ADSs instead of our ordinary shares.
The rights and terms of our ADSs are designed to replicate, to the extent reasonably practicable, the rights attendant to our ordinary shares, for which there is no active trading
market in the United States. However, because of aspects of German law, our Articles of Association and the terms of the Deposit Agreement under which our ADSs are issued,
your rights as a holder of our ADSs will differ in various ways from a stockholder’s rights, and you may be affected in other ways, including:
•
•
•

you may not be able to participate in rights offerings or dividend alternatives;
the Deposit Agreement may be amended by us and our ADS Depositary, or may be terminated by us or our ADS Depositary, without your consent in a manner that
could prejudice your rights; and
the Deposit Agreement limits our obligations and liabilities and those of our ADS Depositary.

United States investors could suffer adverse tax consequences if we are characterized as a passive foreign investment company (“PFIC”) for United States federal income
tax purposes.
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Generally, if, for any taxable year, at least 75% of our gross income is passive income, or at least 50% of the gross average quarterly value of our assets is attributable to assets
that produce passive income or are held for the production of passive income, we would be characterized as a PFIC for United States federal income tax purposes. If we are
characterized as a PFIC, United States holders of our ordinary shares or ADSs may suffer adverse tax consequences, including having gains realized on the sale of our ordinary
shares or ADSs treated as ordinary income, rather than capital gain, the loss of the preferential rate applicable to dividends paid by us to individuals who are United States
holders, and having interest charges apply to distributions by us and the proceeds of sales of our ADSs or shares.
Item 2. Properties.
Our principal administrative activities are located in our approximately 2,620 square meter leased facility in Berlin, Germany. We also lease additional office space in New
York, Utah, and California in the United States. We believe that our facilities are adequate for our current needs and suitable additional or substitute space will be available in
the future to replace our existing facilities, if necessary, or accommodate expansion of our operations. The leases for our facilities vary in dates and terms, with the main
facility’s lease expiring on January 31, 2024.
We believe our facilities, including our planned expansions, are sufficient for our current needs.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
Refer to Note 10 to our “Consolidated Financial Statements,” which is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not Applicable.
PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s ADSs, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Market Information and Holders
Our ADSs are listed for trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “LOV”.
As of March 7, 2022, the number of holders of record of our ADSs was 71. This number does not include beneficial owners whose ADSs are held in street name.
Dividends
We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our ordinary shares since our inception. We do not plan to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to
retain all available funds and any future earnings, if any, for use in the operation of our business. Any future determination to declare cash dividends will be made at the
discretion of our board of directors, subject to applicable laws, and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, general business
conditions and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant, and subject to the restrictions contained in future financing instruments. Consequently, stockholders
will need to sell our ADSs to realize a return on their investment, if any.
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer or Affiliated Purchasers
We did not repurchase any of our equity securities during the fiscal year 2021.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data.
Not applicable.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and consolidated results of operations should be read together with our Consolidated Financial Statements and
accompanying notes, which are included in Part II. Item 8 of this Form 10-K. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this
report, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business and related financing, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed below. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include those discussed below
and elsewhere in this report, particularly in the “Risk Factors” in Part I. Item 1A of this Form 10-K.
Overview
We are a leader in social dating platforms for meaningful relationships focusing on the 40+ age demographic and faith-based affiliations. Since our inception, we have had
nearly 100 million users register with our dating platforms (which includes inactive accounts). We currently operate one or more of our brands worldwide.
We will continue to expand our presence in North America through significant marketing investment in this region as we look to drive both organic growth of our existing brand
portfolio and expansion through the launch of new or acquired brands. We intend to incorporate more social features in our products with content, community and social
discovery functionality to allow our users to meet in more informal ways and to provide new ways to date online. Our portfolio of strong brands along with our improved
financial strength positions us to deliver a superior user experience to our customers and drive long-term value to shareholders.
Our ability to compete effectively will depend upon our ability to address the needs of our members and paying subscribers, on the timely introduction and performance of
innovative features and services associated with our brands, and our ability to respond to services and features introduced by competitors. We must also achieve these objectives
within the parameters of our consolidated and operating segment profitability targets. We are focused on enhancing and augmenting our portfolio of services while also
continuing to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of our operations. We believe we have sufficient available cash resources on hand to accomplish the enhancements
currently contemplated.
COVID-19 Update
During 2020, the novel coronavirus ("COVID-19") outbreak spread worldwide and was declared a global pandemic in March 2020. Despite challenging economic conditions
on consumers, we maintained stable churn levels during the period and experienced positive user engagement. The global outbreak of COVID-19 continues to rapidly evolve.
Management is actively monitoring the global situation and potential impact on its business. The effects of COVID-19 did not have a material impact on our result of
operations or financial condition for the period ended December 31, 2021. However, given the evolution of the COVID-19 situation, and the global responses to curb its spread,
we are not able to estimate the effects COVID-19 may have on our future results of operations or financial condition.
Key Business Metrics
We regularly review certain operating metrics in order to evaluate the effectiveness of our operating strategies and monitor the financial performance of the business. The key
business metrics that we utilize include the following:
Total Registrations
Total registrations are defined as the total number of new members registering to the platforms with their email address. Those include members who enter into premium
subscriptions and free memberships.
Average Paying Subscribers
Paying subscribers are defined as individuals who have paid a monthly fee for access to premium services, which include, among others, unlimited communication with other
registered users, access to user profile pictures and enhanced search functionality. Average paying subscribers for each month are calculated as the sum of the paying subscribers
at the beginning and the end of the month, divided by two. Average paying subscribers for periods longer than one month are calculated as the sum of the average paying
subscribers for each month, divided by the number of months in such period.
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Monthly Average Revenue Per User ("ARPU")
Monthly ARPU represents the Revenue for the period divided by the number of average paying subscribers for the period, divided by the number of months in the period.
Contribution
Contribution is defined as revenue, net of refunds and credit card chargebacks, less direct marketing.
Direct Marketing
Direct Marketing is defined as online and offline advertising spend and is included within Cost of Revenue, exclusive of depreciation and amortization within our
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.
Unaudited selected statistical information regarding the key business metrics described above is shown in the table below:
Year Ended December 31,
2021
Registrations
Average Paying Subscribers
Total Monthly ARPU

$

2020

13,146,834
874,922
20.66

$

14,809,382
927,951
20.93

Net Revenue
Direct Marketing

$

216,905
105,805

$

233,036
115,059

Contribution

$

111,100

$

117,977

New members registered to our platforms in 2021 decreased by 1.7 million, or 11.2%, compared to 2020. Average paying subscribers in 2021 decreased by 53 thousand, or
5.7%, compared to 2020. The decrease was primarily driven by a decline in registrations of the Zoosk brand.
Monthly ARPU for 2021 decreased by 1.3% compared to 2020.
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Results of Operations
The following table shows our results of operations for the periods presented. The period-over-period comparison of our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the
results that may be expected in the future.
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2021

Revenue
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of goodwill, intangible assets, and capitalized software

$

216,905

2020
$

233,036

$ Change
$

% Change

(16,131)

(6.9)%

131,974
59,408
6,593
52,950

142,459
63,136
9,384
51,236

(10,485)
(3,728)
(2,791)
1,714

(7.4)%
(5.9)%
(29.7)%
3.3 %

Total operating costs and expenses

250,925

266,215

(15,290)

(5.7)%

Operating loss
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
(Loss) gain on foreign currency transactions
Other income

(34,020)

(33,179)

(841)

2.5 %

—
(13,453)
(2,918)
634

74
(13,355)
3,771
1,070

(74)
(98)
(6,689)
(436)

(100.0)%
0.7 %
(177.4)%
(40.7)%

Total other expense, net

(15,737)

(8,440)

(7,297)

86.5 %

Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense

(49,757)
(18,398)

(41,619)
(4,989)

(8,138)
(13,409)

19.6 %
268.8 %

Net loss

(68,155)

(46,608)

(21,547)

46.2 %

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020
Revenue
Revenue in 2021 decreased by $16.1 million, or 6.9%, compared to 2020. The decrease in revenue was attributable to the decrease in the number of average paying subscribers
of 5.7% related to Zoosk brand, partially offset by the increase in the core Spark brands.
Cost of revenue, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
Cost of revenue, exclusive of depreciation and amortization consists primarily of direct marketing expenses, data center expenses, credit card fees and mobile application
processing fees. Cost of revenue in 2021 decreased by $10.5 million, or 7.4%, compared to 2020. The decrease was primarily due to a reduction in marketing spend for Zoosk
and commission expense for mobile application due to a decrease in revenue.
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses consists primarily of costs for sales and marketing, customer service, technical operations and development, and corporate
functions. These costs include personnel, technology platform and system costs, third-party service and professional fees, occupancy and other overhead costs. Selling, general
and administrative expenses in 2021 decreased by $3.7 million, or 5.9%, compared to 2020. The decrease was primarily driven by higher legal fees incurred during 2020 related
to cybersecurity matters and a decrease in stock-based compensation expense from higher grants in 2020 and higher forfeitures in 2021. In addition, we had higher accounting
and audit fees in connection with the U.S. GAAP conversion during the third quarter of 2020. The decrease was partially offset by an increase in personnel-related costs due to
increased headcount in the sales and marketing and technical operations and development functions in 2021 compared to 2020.
Other income (expense)
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Other expense, net, consist primarily of interest income and expenses, foreign exchange gains and losses, and other related finance costs. Other expense, net, in 2021 increased
by $7.3 million, or 86.5%, compared to 2020. The increase was primarily related to a $6.7 million increase in losses on foreign currency transactions compared to 2020.
Impairment
During the second quarter of 2021, the Company lowered its financial expectations for the remainder of 2021 due to introduction of enhanced cybersecurity measures to address
increased risk of cybersecurity attacks, delays in product initiatives and a more uncertain COVID-19 outlook. These factors constituted an interim triggering event as of the end
of the Company's second quarter of 2021, and the Company performed an impairment analysis with regard to its indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill. For the Zoosk
reporting unit, the Company recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $21.8 million. In addition, the Company recognized a Zoosk trademark impairment charge of $10.3
million. As part of the Company's annual impairment testing, the Company recorded additional impairment charge of $15.1 million for Zoosk trade name.
See Note 6—Goodwill and Intangible Assets in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this report for further discussion of impairment.
Income tax benefit (expense)
Income tax expense in 2021 was $18.4 million compared to $5.0 million in 2020, which reflects an effective tax rate of (37.0)% and (12.0)%, respectively. The increase in
income tax expense was primarily driven by the change in the valuation allowance for U.S. deferred tax assets and the impairment of goodwill and intangible assets.
See Note 4—Income Taxes in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this report for further discussion of income taxes.
Non-GAAP Financial Measures
We report our financial results in accordance with U.S. GAAP. However, management believes that certain non-GAAP financial measures provide users of our financial
information with additional useful information in evaluating our performance.
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("Adjusted EBITDA"), a non-GAAP financial measure, is one of the primary metrics by which we
evaluate the performance of our business, budget, forecast and compensate management. We believe this measure provides management and investors with a consistent view,
period to period, of the core earnings generated from the ongoing operations and allows for greater transparency with respect to key metrics used by senior leadership in its
financial and operational decision-making. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net earnings (loss) excluding net interest expense, (gain) loss on foreign currency transactions,
income tax (benefit) expense, depreciation and amortization, asset impairments, stock-based compensation expense, acquisition related costs and other costs. Adjusted EBITDA
has inherent limitations in evaluating the performance of the Company, including, but not limited to the following:
•
•
•
•

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the cash capital expenditures during the measurement period;
Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect any changes in working capital requirements during the measurement period;
Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the cash tax payments during the measurement period;
Adjusted EBITDA may be calculated differently by other companies in our industry, thus limiting its value as a comparative measure;

Because of these limitations, Adjusted EBITDA should be considered in addition to other financial performance measures, including net income (loss) and our other U.S.
GAAP results. The following table reconciles Net loss to Adjusted EBITDA for the periods presented:
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Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2021

Net loss
Net interest expense
Loss (gain) on foreign currency transactions
Income tax expense
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of goodwill, intangible assets, and capitalized software
Stock-based compensation expense
Acquisition-related costs(1)
Other costs(2)

$

Adjusted EBITDA

$

2020
(68,155) $
13,453
2,918
18,398
6,593
52,950
2,725
—
4,155
33,037

$

(46,608)
13,281
(3,771)
4,989
9,384
51,236
4,780
1,545
4,106
38,942

(1) Acquisition

related costs primarily consist of transaction costs, including legal, consulting, advisory fees, and severance and retention costs.
(2) Includes primarily consulting and advisory fees related to special projects, as well as non-cash acquisition related expenses, post-merger integration activities and long-term
debt transaction and advisory fees.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our ongoing liquidity requirements arise primarily from working capital needs, research and development requirements and the debt service. In addition, we may use liquidity
to fund acquisitions or make other investments. Sources of liquidity are cash balances and cash flows from operations and borrowings under the Senior Secured Facilities
Agreement (as defined below). From time to time, we may obtain additional liquidity through the issuance of equity or debt. As of December 31, 2021, we had cash and cash
equivalents of $16.1 million.
We have determined that our offshore earnings will be indefinitely reinvested outside of Germany. As a result, we have not recorded a deferred tax liability related to
undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020. The Company will continue to evaluate its reinvestment policy on a quarterly
basis and will adjust its deferred tax liability accordingly to the extent there is a change and adjustment is required. As of December 31, 2021, the amount of undistributed
earnings was $76.1 million. Upon distribution of these earnings, we would be subject primarily to German income taxes and foreign withholding taxes. Assuming the
indefinitely reinvested earnings were repatriated under the laws and rates applicable at December 31, 2021, the incremental taxes are estimated to be $4.9 million.
We believe that our current cash and cash flow from operations will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for financial liabilities, capital expenditures and contractual
obligations, for at least the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements and the adequacy of available funds will depend on many factors, including those described in our
"Risk Factors" in this report. We do not anticipate requiring additional capital; however, if required or desirable, we may utilize our Revolving Credit Facility (as defined below)
or issue additional equity in the private or public markets. Under the Senior Secured Facilities Agreement, we are subject to various financial covenants including a monthly
liquidity requirement and quarterly tests including guarantor coverage test, maximum leverage ratio and minimum asset coverage ratio. Additionally, it includes covenant that,
among other things, restricts the Company's ability and the ability of its subsidiaries to: incur additional indebtedness, create liens, engage in mergers or consolidations, sell or
transfer assets, pay dividends and distributions and make share repurchases, make certain acquisitions, engage in certain transactions with affiliates, and change lines of
business.
Borrowings
In July 2019, in connection with the acquisition of Zoosk, we entered into a $125 million Senior Secured Facilities Agreement which provides for $120 million under a Term
Loan Facility and $5 million under Revolving Credit Facility (the "Facilities"). Borrowings under the Facilities bear interest at a rate equal to LIBOR plus an applicable margin
of 8% (per annum).
In addition to paying interest on outstanding principal under the Facilities, we are required to pay a commitment fee to the lenders under the Term Loan Facility and the
Revolving Credit Facility. For the Term Loan Facility, the initial commitment fee is equal to 0.50% of the aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan Facility. The
commitment fee related to the Revolving Credit Facility is calculated based on the unutilized commitments thereunder. The commitment fee rate is 0.75% per annum, and the
Revolving Credit Facility currently has $5 million of undrawn availability. As the Revolving Credit Facility is not
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expected to be drawn down, any costs related to the commitment fee and any other transaction fees related to the Revolving Credit Facility are deferred and amortized over the
term of the agreement.
On December 2, 2020, we entered into the Second Amendment to Loan Agreement (the "Second Amendment"), which established additional $6 million of term loan
commitment to its existing Term Loan Facility. The funds were applied to pay the Term Loan Facility repayment amount for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2020 and for
the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2021, and any interest payable with respect to the loans for any interest payment date occurring on or prior to March 31, 2021. The Second
Amendment requires additional principal repayments of $0.15 million quarterly, beginning on March 31, 2021, in addition to the $3 million quarterly repayment of the original
Term Loan Facility. The interest accrued during each quarter is also payable at the end of each quarter along with the principal amount noted above.
On March 5, 2021, the Company entered into a Limited Waiver under Loan Agreement (the "Limited Waiver") with the Administrative Agent and the lenders pursuant to which
certain defaults under the Senior Secured Facilities Agreement were waived. In consideration of the Limited Waiver, the Company agreed to pay the Administrative Agent, for
the ratable benefit of the lenders, a fee of $0.5 million upon the execution of the Limited Waiver, plus $0.3 million paid in kind by capitalizing such amount into the principal
balance under the Senior Secured Facilities Agreement. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had outstanding principal debt balance of $85.6 million and $104.7 million,
respectively, and there were no outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility.
The Facilities contain a number of covenants that, among other things, restrict, subject to certain exceptions, our ability to: incur additional indebtedness, create liens, engage in
mergers or consolidations, sell or transfer assets, pay dividends and distributions and make share repurchases, make certain acquisitions, engage in certain transactions with
affiliates, and change lines of business. We are in compliance with all of our financial covenants with a net leverage ratio of 2.11 as of December 31, 2021.
See Note 9—Long-term Debt in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this report for further discussion of our debt. On March 11, 2022, the
Company completed the successful refinancing of its existing term and revolving facility with borrowings under a new term loan facility with MGG Investment Group LP.
Refer to Note 15 — Subsequent Events in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this report for additional information.
Cash Flows Information
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2021

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

2020

$

16,663 $
(1,086)
(19,920)

18,950
(3,247)
(10,677)

$

(4,343) $

5,026

Operating Activities
Our cash flows from operating activities primarily include net loss adjusted for (i) non-cash items included in net loss, such as depreciation and amortization, impairment of
goodwill and intangible assets, stock-based compensation and (ii) changes in the balances of operating assets and liabilities.
Net cash provided by operating activities in 2021 was $16.7 million, a decrease of $2.3 million compared to $19.0 million in 2020. The decrease was primarily driven by the
increase in net loss from $46.6 million to $68.2 million.
Investing Activities
Our cash flows from investing activities primarily include development of internal-use software, purchase of property and equipment and business acquisition.
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Net cash used in investing activities in 2021 was $1.1 million, a decrease of $2.1 million compared to $3.2 million in 2020. The decrease was primarily due to the cash paid for
the Zoosk acquisition final adjustment surplus of $0.5 million in 2020, and the additional capital expenditures of $1.6 million during 2020.
Financing Activities
Our cash flows from financing activities primarily include changes in long-term debt.
Net cash used in financing activities in 2021 was $19.9 million, an increase of $9.2 million compared to $10.7 million in 2020. The increase was primarily attributable to the
additional $4.6 million in proceeds from bank loans in 2020, the fee paid in connection with the execution of the Limited Waiver under Loan Agreement in March 2021 that we
entered into with the parties to the Senior Secured Facilities Agreement of $0.5 million, and a higher mandatory prepayment made during the second quarter of 2021 compared
to same period in 2020.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2021, as defined in the rules and regulations of the SEC.
Seasonality
Historically, we have experienced higher operating profits in the second half of the year due to higher marketing expenses during the first six months of the year. Revenue is at
similar levels during the first and second half of the year.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 1—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this report
for a discussion of recently issued and adopted accounting standards.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP based on the selection and application of significant accounting policies, which require
management to make significant estimates and assumptions. We re-evaluate our estimates on an on-going basis. Our estimates are based on historical experience and on various
other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Because of the uncertainty inherent in these matters, actual results may differ from these estimates
and could differ based upon other assumptions or conditions.
We have considered the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on significant estimates and judgments used in applying accounting policies. While there is a great degree of
uncertainly in applying these judgments in light of this crisis, we believe reasonable estimates have been used in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the following noted below are more critical judgment areas in the application of our accounting policies that currently affect our financial position and results of
operations. All of our significant accounting policies are outlined in Note 1—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this report.
Income Taxes
As a matter of course, we may be audited by German, U.S. Federal and state, and tax authorities in the other countries within which we operate. From time to time, these audits
result in proposed assessments. We are currently under audit in Germany and Israel. Our determinations regarding the recognition of income tax benefits are made in
consultation with outside tax and legal counsel, where appropriate, and are based upon the technical merits of our tax positions in consideration of applicable tax statutes and
related interpretations and precedents and upon the expected outcome of proceedings (or negotiations) with taxing and legal authorities. The tax benefits ultimately realized may
differ from those recognized in our future financial statements based on a number of factors, including our decision to settle rather than litigate a matter, relevant legal
precedent related to similar matters and our success in supporting our filing positions with taxing authorities.
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Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
We assess goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually during the fourth quarter, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets may be impaired. Indicators that may signal that an asset has become impaired include a significant decline in actual or
projected revenue, a significant decline in the market value of our ADSs, a significant decline in performance of certain acquired companies relative to our original projections,
an excess of our net book value over our market value, a significant decline in our operating results relative to our operating forecasts, a significant change in the manner of our
use of acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business, a significant decrease in the fair value of an asset, a shift in technology demands and development, or a significant
turnover in key management or other personnel. We have the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a
determination that is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If, after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, we
determine it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then additional impairment testing is not required. However, if we
conclude otherwise, then we are required to perform a quantitative assessment for impairment. Goodwill impairment testing is performed for the Spark and Zoosk reporting
units.
The fair value of the reporting units is determined using an income approach based on discounted cash flow ("DCF") model and a market approach based on appropriate
valuation multiples observed for the reporting unit's guideline public companies. The fair value results from a complex series of judgements about future events and
uncertainties and rely heavily on estimates and assumptions at a point in time. The DCF model incorporates a number of reporting unit specific market participant assumptions
including future revenue growth rates and operating margins. The discount rates represent the weighted average cost of capital measuring the reporting unit's cost of debt and
equity financing, which are weighted by the percentage of debt and percentage of equity in a reporting unit's target capital structure. The discount rates applied also include
adjustments to reflect management's assessment of a market participant's view concerning other risks associated with the projected cash flows of the individual reporting units.
We validate our estimates of fair value determined using the income approach considering the implied control premium to determine if the estimated enterprise value is
appropriate compared to external market indicators.
During the second quarter of 2021, the Company lowered its financial expectations for the remainder of 2021 due to introduction of enhanced cybersecurity measures to address
increased risk of cybersecurity attacks, delays in product initiatives and a more uncertain COVID-19 outlook. The Company determined that these factors constituted an interim
triggering event as of the end of the Company's second quarter of 2021 and performed an impairment analysis with regard to its indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill.
For the quarter ended June 30, 2021, as a result of the interim goodwill impairment test, the fair value of the Spark reporting unit exceeded the carrying amount, and as a result,
no goodwill impairment was recorded. Goodwill assigned to the Spark reporting unit was $24.5 million. For the Zoosk reporting unit, the fair value did not exceed the carrying
value, and the Company recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $21.8 million. For the year ended December 31, 2021 the Company performed the quantitative assessment of
goodwill, and based on the results of that test, no impairment was recorded.
For our 2020 annual impairment test, based on the quantitative impairment test performed, we determined that the fair value of the Spark reporting unit exceeded the carrying
amount, and as a result, no goodwill impairment was recorded. For the Zoosk reporting unit, we determined that the fair value did not exceed the carrying amount and recorded
a goodwill impairment charge of $42.7 million. The impairment charge was primarily attributed to declines in the estimated undiscounted cash flows and an increase in the
discount rate due to increased company-specific risk factors, which was offset by an increase in the terminal value growth rate, the net impact of which resulted in the carrying
amount not being recoverable. To determine the fair value of the reporting units, we considered, among other things, expectations of projected revenue and cash flows,
assumptions impacting the discount rate, changes in our stock price and changes in the carrying amounts of our reporting units with goodwill. We also considered overall
business conditions. We used terminal value growth rate of 3.0% beyond the forecasted period and discount rates ranging between 11.0% to 14.0%. The terminal value growth
rate increased in the current year based largely on our assessment of economic and industry trends in the most advantageous market. If all other assumptions are held constant, a
100 basis point reduction in the terminal value growth rate or 100 basis point increase in the discount rate would decrease the fair value by $9.0 million and $16.0 million,
respectively.
Management judgement is involved in estimating these variables, and they include inherent uncertainties since they are forecasting future events. Certain assumptions and
estimates in our model are highly sensitive and include inherent uncertainties that are often interdependent and do not change in isolation. If current expectations of future
growth rates and margins are not met, if market factors outside of our control, such as discount rates, change, then one or more of our reporting units might become impaired in
the future.
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We also utilize a fair value calculation to perform a quantitative assessment of indefinite-lived intangible assets, such as trade names, which are generally recorded and valued in
connection with a business acquisition. We estimate the fair value using an income approach, specifically the relief-from-royalty method, based on the present value of future
expected cash flows. Significant assumptions under the relief-from-royalty method include the royalty rate, projected revenue and the discount rate applied to the estimated cash
flows. For the interim assessment for the quarter ended June 30, 2021 and the annual assessments in the fourth quarter of 2021 and 2020, we performed a qualitative assessment
for indefinite-lived intangibles related to Jdate and Christian Networks and a quantitative assessment for those related to Zoosk. For the qualitative assessment performed, there
were no impairments of indefinite-lived intangible assets in 2021 and 2020. For the quantitative assessment performed, we recorded an impairment charge in 2021 and 2020 of
$25.4 million and $8.5 million, respectively, related to the Zoosk Trademark. The fair values of the remaining indefinite-lived trademarks exceeded their carrying amounts. For
2021, the Company used a royalty rate of 4.0% and discount rates ranging between 14.5% and 21%. For 2020, the Company used a royalty rate of 4.0% and discount rate of
13.5%.
Stock-based Compensation
Stock-based compensation is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is generally expensed over the requisite service period (generally the vesting
period). Starting with awards granted in 2021, we estimate the fair value of each stock option grant using the capped-call Black-Scholes option pricing model, which requires
management to make certain assumptions of future expectations based on historical and current data. The assumptions include the expected term of the stock option, expected
volatility, dividend yield, and risk-free interest rate. The expected term represents the amount of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding, using the simplified
method, as the Company's historical share option exercise experience does not provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the expected term. The simplified method
deems the term to be the average of the time-to-vesting and contractual life of the stock-based awards. Expected volatility is estimated based on a combination of implied
market volatilities, historical volatility of our stock price and other factors. The Company’s dividend yield is based on forecasted expected payments, which are expected to be
zero, and the risk-free rate is derived from the U.S Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.
For all previous awards, we estimate the fair value of each virtual stock option grant using a binomial option-pricing model on the grant date. The fair value determined by the
binomial model is affected by our stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of highly complex and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited
to, our expected stock price volatility over the term of the award, and actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors. Expected volatilities utilized in the
binomial option-pricing model are based on a combination of implied market volatilities, historical volatility of our stock price and other factors. The binomial model also
considers the expected exercise multiple which is the multiple of exercise price to grant price and incorporates exercise and forfeiture assumptions based on an analysis of
historical data.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Not applicable.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021
Shareholders and Administrative Board
Spark Networks SE
Berlin, Germany
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Spark Networks SE and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2021, the related consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively referred to as
the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at
December 31, 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ BDO USA, LLP
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2021.
New York, New York
March 16, 2022
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020
To the Shareholders and Administrative Board of Spark Networks SE:
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Spark Networks SE and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2020, and the related consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively, the
consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to
be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
We served as the Company’s auditor from 2013 to 2021.
Berlin, Germany
March 31, 2021
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Spark Networks SE
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share data)
December 31, 2021
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $368 and $93, respectively
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets

$

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Deferred tax assets
Other assets

16,141
6,261
3,201
1,085

December 31, 2020

$

26,688
3,613
134,744
29,369
7,623
7,764

Total assets
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable
Deferred revenue
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

$

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current portion
Deferred tax liabilities
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Contingencies (Note 10)
Shareholders' Equity:
Common stock, €1.00 nominal value; 3,521,005 shares authorized; 2,661,386 shares issued; 2,617,397
and 2,605,689 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively
Treasury stock, at €1.00 nominal value; 43,989 and 55,697 shares as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Total shareholders' equity

209,801

31,280
11,418
156,582
58,999
23,522
8,642
$

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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290,443

17,593
11,474
36,973
27,042

19,037
11,127
38,304
28,429

93,082
64,531
1,077
18,418

96,897
80,109
993
17,541

177,108

195,540

3,064

3,064

(48)
223,103
(200,403)
6,977

(61)
220,852
(132,248)
3,296

32,693

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

19,267
5,507
4,366
2,140

209,801

94,903
$

290,443

Spark Networks SE
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Year Ended December 31,
2021
Revenue
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of goodwill, intangible assets, and capitalized software

$

2020
216,905 $

233,036

131,974
59,408
6,593
52,950

142,459
63,136
9,384
51,236

Total operating costs and expenses
Operating loss
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
(Loss) gain on foreign currency transactions
Other income

250,925
(34,020)

266,215
(33,179)

—
(13,453)
(2,918)
634

74
(13,355)
3,771
1,070

Total other expense, net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense

(15,737)
(49,757)
(18,398)

(8,440)
(41,619)
(4,989)

Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustment

(68,155)

(46,608)

3,681

(4,455)

Comprehensive loss

$

(64,474) $

(51,063)

Loss per share:
Basic loss per share
Diluted loss per share

$
$

(26.10) $
(26.10) $

(17.89)
(17.89)

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

2,610,873
2,610,873

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2,605,689
2,605,689

Spark Networks SE
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity
(in thousands, except share data)
Common Stock

Shares
Balance at January 1, 2020

Treasury Stock

Amount

2,661,386

$

3,064

Shares

Amount

(55,697) $

(61)

Additional
Paid-in Capital
$

216,072

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income

Accumulated
Deficit
$

(85,640)

$

7,751

Total
shareholders'
equity
$

141,186

Stock-based compensation

—

—

—

—

4,780

—

—

4,780

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

(46,608)

—

(46,608)

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Balance at December 31, 2020

—
2,661,386

—
$

3,064

—

—

(55,697) $

(61)

—
$

220,852

Stock-based compensation

—

—

—

—

2,725

Treasury stock issued pursuant to equitybased plans

—

—

11,708

13

Net loss

—

—

—

—

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Balance at December 31, 2021

—
2,661,386

—
$

3,064

—

—

(43,989) $

(48)

—
$

(132,248)

3,296

(4,455)
$

94,903

—

—

(474)

—

—

(461)

—

(68,155)

—

(68,155)

—
$

(4,455)
$

223,103

—
$

(200,403)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2,725

3,681
$

6,977

3,681
$

32,693

Spark Networks SE
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2021
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of goodwill, intangible assets, and capitalized software
Loss on tangible and intangible assets
Unrealized loss (gain) on foreign currency transactions
Stock-based compensation expense
Amortization of debt issuance costs and accretion of debt discounts
Deferred tax expense
Provision for credit losses
Non-cash lease expense
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other current liabilities
Other liabilities
Deferred revenue

$

2020
(68,155) $

(46,608)

6,593
52,950
—
2,835
2,725
4,125
15,341
458
1,971

9,384
51,236
341
(2,921)
4,780
3,874
3,530
307
1,936

(1,381)
547
337
(61)
(1,877)
255

855
192
(138)
(5,755)
(1,743)
(320)

16,663
(1,086)
—

18,950
(2,734)
(513)

Net cash used in investing activities
Proceeds from debt, net of issuance costs
Repayment of debt
Payments directly related to debt facility

(1,086)
—
(19,397)
(523)

(3,247)
4,634
(15,311)
—

Net cash used in financing activities

(19,920)

(10,677)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
Effects of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

(4,343)
(495)

5,026
(1,366)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period

(4,838)
21,117

3,660
17,457

Net cash provided by operating activities
Capital expenditures
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period

$

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes

$
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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16,279

$

21,117

9,251 $
114 $

10,572
779

Spark Networks SE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Description of Business
Spark Networks SE (“Spark Networks” or "the Company”) is a leader in social dating platforms for meaningful relationships focusing on the 40+ age demographic and faithbased affiliations, including Zoosk, Inc. ("Zoosk"), EliteSingles, SilverSingles, Christian Mingle, Jdate and JSwipe, among others. The Company’s brands are tailored to quality
dating with real users looking for love and companionship in a safe and comfortable environment. The Company is domiciled in Germany with significant corporate operations,
including executive leadership, accounting and finance, located in the United States.
Basis of Presentation and Consolidation
The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP").
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated in consolidation.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Significant estimates and assumptions are required in the
determination of: revenue reserves, deferred tax asset valuation allowances, unrecognized tax benefits, classification and measurement of virtual stock option plans, and annual
impairment testing of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets. The Company evaluates its estimates and judgements on an ongoing basis based on historical experience,
expectations of future events and various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances and revises them when necessary. Actual results may differ
from the original or revised estimates.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company's financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which contemplates the realization of assets and liquidation of liabilities in the normal course
of business. As of the date of the financial statements, the Company has generated losses from operations, incurred impairment charges to its Zoosk goodwill and intangible
assets and has a working capital deficiency. These factors are potential indications of the Company's inability to continue as a going concern. In accordance with Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”) 205-40, Going Concern, the Company evaluated whether there are conditions and events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial
doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that these consolidated financial statements are issued. This evaluation initially does not take
into consideration the potential mitigating effect of management’s plans that have not been fully implemented as of the date the financial statements are issued. When
substantial doubt exists under this methodology, management evaluates whether the mitigating effect of its plans sufficiently alleviates substantial doubt about the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.
The Company's plans to alleviate these indicators include growing its subscriber base by improving its marketing techniques and implementing new features to increase
customer engagement on its various platforms. Further, the Company has plans in place to refinance the existing debt to provide more covenant flexibility and allowing more
resources to be invested into the business to drive growth. The Company's plans, which include refinancing the debt, along with its current cash and cash equivalents, and cash
flow from operations, is expected to be sufficient to meet its anticipated cash requirements for financial liabilities, capital expenditures and contractual obligations, for at least
the next 12 months from the issuance of these financial statements. On March 11, 2022, the Company completed the successful refinancing of its existing term and revolving
facility. Refer to Note 15 for additional information.
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Revenue Recognition
The Company generates revenue primarily from users in the form of recurring subscriptions. The Company recognizes revenue through the following steps: (1) identification of
the contract, or contracts, with a customer; (2) identification of the performance obligations in the contract; (3) determination of the transaction price; (4) allocation of the
transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (5) recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation.
The Company enters into contracts with customers that include promises to provide subscription services with enhanced access to our dating platforms. Revenue is recognized
when the promised services are provided to our customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services.
Subscription revenue is presented net of refunds and credit card chargebacks. Sales and value-added-taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities
are not included in revenue and are reflected as Accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the balance sheet.
Subscribers pay in advance, primarily by credit card or through mobile app stores. The Company records deferred revenue when cash payments are received in advance of
satisfying its performance obligations. Enhanced access to dating platforms represents a series of distinct services as the Company continually provides enhanced access over
the subscription term and represents a single performance obligation that is satisfied over time. Revenue is recognized using the straight-line method over the terms of the
applicable subscription period, which primarily range from one to twelve months. The Company applies the practical expedient for contracts with duration of one year or less
and therefore does not consider the effects of the time value of money.
The Company evaluates whether it is appropriate to recognize revenue on a gross or net basis based upon its evaluation of whether the Company obtains control of the specified
services by considering if it is primarily responsible for fulfillment of the promise, has latitude in establishing pricing and selecting suppliers, among other factors. Based on its
evaluation of these factors, for revenue earned through certain mobile applications, including iOS and Android, the Company recognizes subscription revenue gross of the
application processing fees primarily because the Company is the principal and has the contractual right to determine the price paid by the subscriber. The Company records the
related application processing fees as cost of revenue, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, in the period incurred.
As subscriptions terms do not exceed one year, the Company applies the practical expedient for the recognition of incremental costs of obtaining a contract, and expenses them
as incurred.
Revenue is also earned from virtual currency and advertising. Virtual currency may be redeemed by members and subscribers for certain premium features, delivery
confirmation of messages, and virtual gifts. Virtual currency is paid upfront and is initially recorded as deferred revenue, and the Company records virtual currency revenue as
it is redeemed. Unredeemed virtual currency is recognized into revenue if a user account is inactive for more than two years. Advertising revenues are derived primarily from
sponsored links and display advertisements and is recognized when the ad is displayed, based on the number of clicks. Advertising and virtual currency revenues were each less
than 3% of total revenues for all periods presented.
Cost of Revenue, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
Cost of revenue, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, consists primarily of direct marketing advertising expenses, compensation and other employee-related costs for
personnel dedicated to maintaining the Company's data centers, data center expenses, credit card fees and mobile application processing fees. The Company incurs direct
marketing advertising expenses in order to generate traffic to its websites and mobile applications. Direct marketing advertising expenses are directly attributable to the revenue
the Company receives from its subscribers and consist of both online and offline marketing, particularly television and out-of-home advertising. Direct marketing advertising
expenses are recognized as incurred and totaled $105.8 million and $115.1 million for 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Foreign Exchange
Financial statements of subsidiaries outside the United States are generally measured using the local currency as the functional currency. All assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated into the U.S dollar using the exchange rate in effect at the reporting date. Revenue and expenses are translated using average exchange rates
during the period. Foreign currency translation adjustments are reflected in shareholders' equity as a component of other comprehensive income (loss). Transaction gains and
losses including intercompany balances denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of
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the entity involved are included in foreign exchange gain (loss) within other income (expense) in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.
Defined Contribution Plan
The Company maintains a 401(k) savings plan covering all U.S. employees. Participating employees may contribute a portion of their salary into the saving plan, subject to
certain limitations. The Company matches 100.0% of each employee's contributions, up to a maximum of 4.0% of the employee's eligible earnings. The Company's matching
contribution expense in 2021 and 2020 totaled $0.1 million and $0.4 million, respectively.
Stock-based Compensation
Stock-based compensation is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is generally expensed over the requisite service period (generally the vesting
period). The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market performance conditions are expected to
be met, such that the amount ultimately recognized is based on the number of awards that meet the related service conditions at the vesting date.
The Company recognizes compensation expense on a straight-line basis from the beginning of the service period. For awards with graded-vesting features, each vesting tranche
is separately expensed over the related vesting period.
The Company estimates the fair value of each stock option grant using the capped-call Black-Scholes option pricing model, which requires management to make certain
assumptions of future expectations based on historical and current data. The assumptions include the expected term of the stock option, expected volatility, dividend yield, and
risk-free interest rate. The expected term represents the amount of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding, using the simplified method, as the Company's
historical share option exercise experience does not provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the expected term. The simplified method deems the term to be the
average of the time-to-vesting and contractual life of the stock-based awards. Expected volatility is estimated based on a combination of implied market volatilities, historical
volatility of our stock price and other factors. The Company’s dividend yield is based on forecasted expected payments, which are expected to be zero, and the risk-free rate is
derived from the U.S Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.
In a net settlement of an award, the Company does not receive payment of the exercise price from the employees but reduces the number of ADRs issued. In addition, the
Company net settles for the purposes of payment of a grantee's minimum income tax obligation. ADRs issued pursuant to the exercise of the awards are issued from the
Company's treasury shares.
Income Taxes
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recorded with respect to temporary differences in the accounting treatment of items for financial reporting purposes and for income
tax purposes. Where, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more-likely-than-not that some amount of recorded deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valuation
allowance is established for the amount that, in management’s judgment, is sufficient to reduce the deferred tax asset to an amount that is more-likely-than-not to be realized.
The benefit of a tax position is recognized if it is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination by the applicable taxing authority, including resolution of any related
appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefit to be recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50
percent likely of being realized upon settlement.
Interest Expense
Interest expense primarily includes interest for the Company's long-term debt obligation and the amortization of deferred issuance costs and original issue discounts on debt.
Earnings per share
Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net earnings (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings
(loss) per share is computed by dividing net earnings (loss) by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period after adjusting for dilutive
securities, such as awards under equity compensation plans. Dilutive potential common shares from equity awards are determined using the average share price
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for each period under the treasury stock method. In addition, proceeds from exercise of equity awards and the average amount of unrecognized compensation expense for equity
awards are assumed to be used to repurchase shares.
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, diluted loss per share excludes988,180 and 296,817 potentially dilutive common shares, respectively, related to vested option awards, as
their effect was anti-dilutive.
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
Cash and cash equivalents include all cash balances and the restricted cash primarily represents the net cash proceeds of the loan commitment that were deposited into the
reserve account. See Note 9—Long-term Debt for additional information.
The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the Consolidated Balance Sheets to the total amounts shown in the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows:
December 31,
(in thousands)

2021

2020

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash included in other current assets

$

16,141
138

$

19,267
1,850

Total cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash as shown on the consolidated statements of cash flows

$

16,279

$

21,117

Accounts Receivable, net
Accounts receivable is primarily comprised of credit card payments for subscription fees, pending collection from the credit card processors. The Company recognizes current
estimated credit losses for accounts receivable, net. The allowance for credit losses reflects the Company's current estimate of credit losses expected to be incurred for an
estimated amount of receivables that will not be collected. The Company considers various factors in establishing, monitoring, and adjusting its allowance for credit losses
including the historical losses. Historically, the Company has not experienced significant credit losses. The Company also monitors other risk factors and forward-looking
information, such as country specific risks and default rates across bank cards in establishing and adjusting its allowance for credit losses. Accounts receivable are written off
after all collection efforts have ceased. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, accounts receivable is presented net of an allowance for credit losses of $0.4 million and $0.1
million, respectively. In the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized credit loss expense of $0.5 million and $0.3 million, respectively, which is
included as a component of Selling, general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that can potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consists of cash and receivables from credit card processors. The Company
reduces credit risk by placing its cash with major financial institutions with high credit ratings. The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insures up to $250,000 per
depositor at each financial institution.
Users primarily purchase our services through the Company's mobile app and desktop stores. Payments made through these stores are processed by third-party payment
providers. At December 31, 2021, two payment providers accounted for approximately 46% and 35%, respectively, of our accounts receivables, net. The comparable amounts at
December 31, 2020 were 32% and 47%, respectively. Receivables from payment processors settle relatively quickly, and the Company has not experienced historical
experience of losses. Management monitors the creditworthiness of payment processors closely. The Company also maintains allowances to reserve for potential refunds or
chargebacks issued to users. These amounts are based on historical evidence.
Business Combinations
The Company accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. The Company allocates the fair value of purchase consideration to the tangible
assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and identifiable intangible assets acquired based on their estimated fair values determined as of the acquisition date. Estimated fair value
represents the estimated price that would be paid by a third-party market participant. The excess of the purchase consideration over the fair values of these
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identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The results of businesses acquired in a business combination are included in the Company's Consolidated Financial
Statements from the date of acquisition.
Determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions, including estimates of future revenues
and adjusted earnings before interest and taxes, and discount rates. Estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently
uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates.
During the measurement period, which can be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with
the corresponding adjustment to goodwill to the extent the Company identifies an adjustment to the preliminary purchase allocation. Upon the conclusion of the measurement
period, any subsequent adjustments are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.
Acquisition-related expenses incurred by the Company in a business combination are accounted for as an expense in the period in which the costs are incurred.
Segment Reporting
Segments are reflective of how the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) reviews operating results for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing performance. The
Company considers a combination of factors when evaluating the composition of its operating segments, including the results regularly reviewed by the CODM, economic
characteristics, services offered, classes of customers, distribution channels, geographic and regulatory environment considerations. The Company has two operating segments,
Zoosk and Spark, which share similar economic and other qualitative characteristics, and are aggregated together as one reportable segment.
Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
The Company's goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets resulted from business combinations in previous years. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not
amortized but are subject to annual impairment testing. The Company assesses goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually during the fourth quarter,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets may be impaired. Triggering events that may indicate
impairment include, but are not limited to, a significant adverse change in customer demand or business climate or a significant decrease in expected cash flows.
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate fair value of the consideration transferred in a business combination over the fair value of the asset acquired, net of liabilities
assumed. The impairment tests for goodwill are conducted at the reporting unit level, which is defined as an operating segment or one level below an operating segment, for
which discrete financial information is regularly reviewed by the segment manager. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company has two reporting units.
The fair value of the reporting units is determined using an income approach based on discounted cash flow ("DCF") model and a market approach based on appropriate
valuation multiples observed for the reporting unit's guideline public companies. The fair value is estimated based upon a complex series of judgements about future events and
uncertainties and rely heavily on estimates and assumptions at a point in time. The DCF model incorporates a number of reporting unit specific market participant assumptions
including future revenue growth rates and operating margins. The discount rates represent the weighted average cost of capital measuring the reporting unit's cost of debt and
equity financing, which are weighted by the percentage of debt and percentage of equity in a company's target capital structure. The discount rates applied also include
adjustments to reflect management's assessment of a market participant's view concerning other risks associated with the projected cash flows of the individual reporting units.
We validate our estimates of fair value determined using the income approach by considering the implied control premium to determine if the estimated enterprise value is
appropriate compared to external market indicators. In testing for goodwill impairment, the Company has the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether the
existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination whether it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, including
goodwill. If the Company determines that it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then a quantitative assessment for
impairment is required. The Company may elect not to perform the qualitative assessment for some or all reporting units. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the
Company performed the quantitative assessment of goodwill.
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Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
Indefinite-lived intangible asset consists of acquired trade names, which are expected to contribute to cash flows indefinitely. Similar to the goodwill impairment test, the
Company may first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform a quantitative impairment test. If the Company chooses to bypass the qualitative
assessment, or if the qualitative assessment indicates that the indefinite-lived intangible asset is more-likely-than-not impaired, a quantitative impairment test must be
performed. If the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to the difference. The
Company estimates the fair value using an income approach, specifically the relief-from-royalty method, based on the present value of future cash flows. Significant
assumptions under the relief-from-royalty method include the royalty rate, projected sales and the discount rate applied to the estimated cash flows.
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company performed the quantitative analysis for the Zoosk indefinite-lived intangible assets, while performing a
qualitative analysis for all other indefinite-lived intangible assets.
Long-lived Assets
Property and Equipment, net
Property and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization begin at the time the asset is placed into service and are recognized using the straight-line method over
the following estimated useful lives as follows:
•
•

Office and other equipment: 3 - 5 years
Leasehold improvements: the shorter of the lease term or 5 years

Disposals are removed at cost less accumulated depreciation, and any gain or loss from disposition is reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Loss.
Internal-Use Software Development Costs
The Company capitalizes certain internal-use software development costs including external direct costs utilized in developing or obtaining the software and compensation for
personnel directly associated with the development of the software. Capitalization of such costs begins when the preliminary project stage is complete and ceases when the
project is substantially complete and ready for its intended purpose. Capitalized internal-use software costs less accumulated amortization are included in Property and
equipment, net within the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Depreciation and amortization are recognized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
internal use software, which range from 3 to 6 years. Additions and improvements that increase the value or extend the life of an asset are capitalized.
For property and equipment and internal-use software development costs, depreciation and amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting
date and adjusted if appropriate.
Definite-lived Intangible Assets
The Company's definite-lived intangible assets is primarily attributed to business combinations in previous years. Intangible assets with definite lives are amortized using the
straight-line method over their estimated lives. The estimated lives of intangible assets for current and comparative periods are as follows:
•
•
•

Licenses and domains: 2 - 5 years
Brands and trademarks: 10 years
Other intangible assets: 1 - 6 years

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived assets, which consist of right-of-use assets, property and equipment and long-lived intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. The carrying value of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the
undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset. If the carrying value is deemed not to be recoverable, an
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impairment loss is recorded equal to the amount by which the carrying value of the long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. Amortization of definite-lived intangible assets is
computed on a straight-line basis.
Leases
The Company leases office space in multiple locations under non-cancelable operating lease agreements. Operating right-of-use assets represent the Company's right to use an
underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represents the Company's obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease, both of which are recognized based
on the present value of future minimum lease payments over the lease term at the commencement date, increased for any prepaid lease costs and reduced by any lease incentives.
Leases with a lease term of 12 months or less at inception are not recorded within the Consolidated Balance Sheets and are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss. The lease payments are discounted at the Company's incremental borrowing rate as the implicit rate in
the lease is not readily determinable for most of the Company's leases, which is the rate incurred to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term an amount equal to the
lease payments in a similar economic environment. The Company elected to combine lease and non-lease components on all new or modified leases agreements, which are
recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
For contractual obligations related to the sublease of office space where the Company remains the primary obligor upon assignment of the lease and does not obtain a release
from the lessor, the Company continues to recognize rent expense and operating lease assets and liabilities for the head lease on its Consolidated Balance Sheets. The related
lease obligation to the lessor is presented separately from the sublease created by the lease assignment to the sublessee. The Company accounts for the head lease based on the
original assessment at inception and determines if the sublease arrangement is either a sales-type, direct financing, or operating lease at inception. If the total remaining lease
cost on the head lease for the term of the sublease is greater than the anticipated sublease income, the right-of-use asset is assessed for impairment. The Company's sublease is an
operating lease and the Company recognizes sublease income on a straight-line basis over the sublease term.
Fair Value Measurements
Fair value is a market-based measurement that is determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or a liability. When determining the
fair value measurements for assets and liabilities which are required to be recorded at fair value, the Company considers the principal or most advantageous market in which the
Company would transact and the market-based risk measurement or assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the assets or liabilities, such as inherent risk,
transfer restrictions and credit risk.
The Company applies the following fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value into three levels and bases the categorization within the
hierarchy upon the lowest level of input that is available and significant to the fair value measurement:
•
•
•

Level 1— Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
Level 2— Other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace for similar assets or liabilities.
Level 3— Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.

The fair value hierarchy requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.
The Company's material financial instruments consist primarily of cash, accounts receivable, long-term debt, accounts payable and accrued expenses. The fair value of longterm debt was determined using observable inputs (Level 2). The carrying values of the Company's accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximated
fair values at December 31, 2021 and 2020, due to the short period of time to maturity or repayment. The Company's non-financial assets, such as goodwill, intangible assets,
right-of-use assets and property and equipment are adjusted to fair value when an impairment is recognized.
Contingencies
The Company accrues for contingencies when the obligation is probable, and the amount can be reasonably estimated. As facts concerning contingencies become known, the
Company reassesses its position and makes appropriate adjustments to the consolidated financial statements. Significant judgement is required to determine both the probability
and the estimated amount of loss. These estimates have been based on our assessment of the facts and circumstances at each balance sheet date and are subject to change based
on new information and future events.
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COVID-19 Update
During 2020, the novel coronavirus ("COVID-19") outbreak spread worldwide and was declared a global pandemic in March 2020. Despite challenging economic conditions
on consumers, we maintained stable churn levels during the period and experienced positive user engagement. The global outbreak of COVID-19 continues to rapidly evolve.
Management is actively monitoring the global situation and potential impact on its business. The effects of COVID-19 did not have a material impact on our result of
operations or financial condition for the period ended December 31, 2021. However, given the evolution of the COVID-19 situation, and the global responses to curb its spread,
we are not able to estimate the effects COVID-19 may have on our future results of operations or financial condition.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2019, the Financial Accounting Standard Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standard Update ("ASU") 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the
Accounting for Income Taxes, which simplifies the accounting for incomes taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740. The amendments also
improved consistent application of and simplify the accounting for other areas of Topic 740 by clarifying and amending existing guidance. The Company adopted the standard
in the first quarter of 2021 and it did not have a material impact to the financial statements.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers,
to improve the accounting for acquired revenue contracts with customers in a business combination by addressing diversity in practice and inconsistency related to the
recognition of an acquired contract liability and the payment terms and their effect on subsequent revenue recognized by the acquirer. ASU 2021-08 will become effective for
the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2023, including interim periods within the fiscal year. Early adoption of the amendments is permitted. The amendments in this update
should be applied prospectively to business combinations occurring on or after the effective date of the amendments. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the
adoption of this guidance may have on its consolidated financial statements.
Note 2. Business Combinations
On March 21, 2019, the Company entered into a merger agreement (the "Merger Agreement") with Zoosk, Inc. ("Zoosk"), to acquire 100% of the common stock of Zoosk with
a combination of cash and Spark Networks ADS for consideration of $262.2 million. Zoosk became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
The Merger Agreement provided for cash consideration of $105.0 million, which included $10.0 million of the cash consideration held back by the Company in order to satisfy
any indemnity obligations of the holders of shares of Zoosk Capital Stock, Vested Options and Cash Out Warrants. The holdback amount accrues interest at 2.0% annually from
July 1, 2019 until December 31, 2020, and 12.0% annually thereafter. The holdback amount, including accrued interest balances as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 of $1.5
million and $0.3 million, respectively, is included as Other liabilities within the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Further, $1.0 million of other consideration was placed in escrow
for purposes of satisfying post-closing purchase price adjustments, if any. The Company determined that the final merger aggregate adjusted cash consideration resulted in a
final adjustment surplus of $0.5 million, which was paid in February 2020. The Company financed the cash consideration through borrowings under the Senior Secured
Facilities Agreement as described in Note 9—Long-term Debt.
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Note 3. Revenue
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, revenue was as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2021

Subscription revenue
Virtual currency revenue
Advertising revenue
Total Revenue

2020

$

208,796 $
4,885
3,224

226,823
3,535
2,678

$

216,905 $

233,036

Revenue disaggregated by geography, based on where the revenue is generated, consists of the following:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2021

United States
Germany
Rest of world
Total Revenue

2020

$

141,973 $
1,468
73,464

155,494
1,791
75,751

$

216,905 $

233,036

The Company's deferred revenue balances as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 are $37.0 million and $38.3 million, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020, the Company recognized $38.3 million and $36.0 million of revenue that was included in the deferred revenue balances as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
respectively.
Note 4. Income Taxes
Income Tax Expense
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company recorded income tax expense of $18.4 million and $5.0 million, respectively, which reflects an effective tax
rate of (37.0)% and (12.0)%, respectively. The Company's income tax expense in 2021 was primarily driven by U.S. Federal and state taxes, change in valuation allowance on
Federal & state deferred tax assets and German net operating losses and interest carryforwards, and non-deductible German share-based compensation arrangements. The
Company's income tax expense in 2020 was primarily driven by U.S. Federal and state taxes, valuation allowance on German net operating losses and interest carryforwards,
and non-deductible German share-based compensation arrangements.
The components of the income (loss) before income taxes are as follows:

(in thousands)
Germany
Foreign
Total

$
$

The components of the income tax expense are as follows:
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Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020
(5,852) $
(43,905)
(49,757) $

224
(41,843)
(41,619)

Years Ended December 31,
2021
2020

(in thousands)
Current tax expense:
Germany
Foreign
Total current tax expense

$

Deferred tax expense:
Germany
Foreign
Total deferred tax expense
Income tax expense

2,260
797

1,298
161

3,057 $

1,459

239
15,102
$
$

15,341
18,398

3,144
386
$
$

3,530
4,989

The statutory income tax rate of the Company is determined by the tax rate of Spark Networks SE, consisting of the German corporate income tax of 15.8% including solidarity
surcharge, as well as the trade tax of 14.4%.
Reported income tax expense differed from the amounts computed by applying the combined German corporate and trade income tax rate of30.2% in both 2021 and 2020 to
income (loss) before income taxes as a result of the following:

(in thousands)
Income tax (benefit) at statutory rate
Foreign tax rate differential
Impairment of goodwill
Change in valuation allowance
Share-based payment arrangements
Unrecognized tax benefits
Tax credits
Other
Income tax expense

$

$

Components of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
Significant components of deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as follows:
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Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020
(15,014) $
10,538
4,575
16,659
832
255
340
213
18,398

$

(12,558)
4,214
9,808
2,496
1,458
461
(737)
(153)
4,989

Years Ended December 31,
2021
2020

(in thousands)
Deferred tax assets:
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Accrued employee compensation and benefits
Deferred revenue
Lease liabilities
Interest expense carryforwards
Other
Tax credit carryforwards
Tax loss carryforwards
Total deferred tax assets

$

Less: valuation allowance
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance
Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible assets
Right-of-use assets
Property and equipment
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets

$

49 $
401
26
737
1,289
4,567
1,753
9,323
38,018

85
467
48
531
1,453
2,985
965
9,789
44,611

56,163
(40,233)

60,934
(18,336)

15,930

42,598

(7,013)
(1,006)
(356)
(1,009)
(9,384)

(13,918)
(1,339)
(2,636)
(2,176)
(20,069)

6,546 $

22,529

At December 31, 2021, the Company had German and foreign net operating losses of approximately $111.4 million and $155.0 million, respectively. At December 31, 2020,
the Company had German and foreign net operating losses of approximately $143.6 million and $169.2 million, respectively. The foreign net operating loss carryforward is
made up of U.S. Federal and state and Israeli losses. The U.S. Federal net operating loss carryforward will expire beginning December 31, 2025 through December 31, 2037.
The U.S. state net operating loss carryforward will expire beginning December 31, 2030 through December 31, 2040. The German and Israel net operating losses have an
unlimited carryforward period. Of the total U.S. Federal net operating loss carryforward, $18.7 million will carry forward indefinitely.
The U.S. Internal Revenue Code ("IRC") of 1986, as amended, imposes substantial restrictions on the utilization of carryforwards in the event of an “ownership change” of a
corporation. Accordingly, a company’s ability to use net operating losses may be limited as prescribed under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 (“IRC Section 382”). Events
which may cause limitations in the amount of the net operating losses that the Company may use in any one year include, but are not limited to, a cumulative ownership change
of more than 50% over a three-year period. Due to the effects of historical equity issuances, the Company has determined that the future utilization of a portion of its net
operating losses is limited annually pursuant to IRC Section 382. Furthermore, under current German tax laws, certain substantial changes in the Group’s ownership and
business may further limit the amount of German net operating loss carryforwards, which could otherwise be utilized annually to offset future taxable income.
At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company has U.S. Federal and state tax credit carryforwards of approximately $13.7 million and $14.4 million, respectively, which
primarily relate to Research and Development ("R&D") tax credits. These tax credits will expire beginning December 31, 2027 through December 31, 2039 for U.S. Federal
purposes and December 31, 2022 through December 31, 2028 for U.S. state purposes. The U.S. state R&D tax credits of $6.4 million have an unlimited carryforward period.
Periodically, the Company considers both positive and negative evidence related to the likelihood of realization of its deferred tax assets to determine, based on the weight of
available evidence, whether it is more likely-than-not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. As of December 31, 2021, the Company's valuation
allowance on its U.S. Federal and state deferred tax assets was $23.8 million primarily related to net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and $2.5 million
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related to Israel net deferred tax assets, primarily made up of cumulative loss carryforwards. As of December 31, 2020, the Company's valuation allowance on its U.S. Federal
and state deferred tax assets was $4.0 million related to California net operating losses and California Enterprise Zone credits and $2.5 million related to Israel net deferred tax
assets, primarily made up of cumulative loss carryforwards. As of December 31, 2021, the Company has a valuation allowance on all of its Federal, state, and Israel deferred tax
assets with the exception of $1.1 million which could be offset against deferred tax payables. The Company has determined, after evaluating all positive and negative historical
and prospective evidence, that it is more-likely-than-not that these U.S. assets will not be realized. The U.S. valuation allowance increased by $19.8 million during 2021 which
was primarily due to establishing an additional valuation allowance on certain Federal deferred tax assets along with all additional state net operating losses and credits that
were not offset by a valuation allowance at the end of December 31, 2020. The change was as a result of increases in U.S. deferred tax assets for which there existed uncertainty
about our future ability to fully utilize the assets.
In addition, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, management determined that a valuation allowance of $13.9 million and $11.8 million, respectively, was required for certain
German deferred tax assets that are not more-likely-than-not to be realized due to the negative evidence which outweighed the positive evidence. For the remaining German
deferred tax assets without a valuation allowance, management believes it is more-likely-than-not that the Company will generate sufficient taxable income in the appropriate
future periods to realize the benefit. The $2.1 million increase in the valuation allowance during 2021 is primarily driven by an increase in German interest carryforwards.
The Company has determined that its offshore earnings will be indefinitely reinvested outside of Germany. As a result, the Company has not recorded a deferred tax liability
related to undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020. The Company will continue to evaluate its reinvestment policy on a
quarterly basis and will adjust its deferred tax liability accordingly to the extent there is a change and adjustment is required. As of December 31, 2021, the amount of
undistributed earnings was $76.1 million. Upon distribution of these earnings, we would be subject primarily to German income taxes and foreign withholding taxes. Assuming
the indefinitely reinvested earnings were repatriated under the laws and rates applicable at December 31, 2021, the incremental taxes are estimated to be $4.9 million.
In assessing whether unrecognized tax benefits should be recognized in its financial statements, the Company first determines whether it is more-likely-than-not that a tax
position will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. In evaluating
whether a tax position has met the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the Company presumes that the position will be examined by the appropriate taxing authority that
would have full knowledge of all relevant information. For tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the Company measures the amount of benefit
recognized in the financial statements at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement. For each reporting period, management
applies a consistent methodology to measure unrecognized tax benefits, and all unrecognized tax benefits are reviewed periodically and adjusted as circumstances warrant.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
(in thousands)
Balance at the beginning of the year
Increases for current year tax positions
Increases (decreases) for prior year tax positions
Statute of limitation expirations
Settlements with taxing authorities
Balance at the end of the year

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020
4,593 $
242
(104)
—
—
4,731 $

3,747
614
232
—
—
4,593

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company has $4.7 million and $4.6 million of unrecognized tax benefits, respectively. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the
Company has recognized $0.7 million and $0.4 million of interest and penalties respectively. The Company recognized an increase to interest and penalties of $0.3 million. Of
the $4.7 million of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2021, $1.3 million would impact the effective tax rate if recognized. The Company’s policy is to classify
interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense.
The Company is subject to income taxes in Germany and multiple other foreign jurisdictions. The Company remains subject to examination in Germany for the 2016 through
2020 tax years. U.S. Federal income tax returns of the Company are subject to IRS examination for the 2018 through 2020 tax years. U.S. state income tax returns are subject to
examination for the 2017
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through 2020 tax years. The Company is subject to examination in Israel for the 2016 through 2020 tax years and in France for the 2018 through 2020 tax years.
As a matter of course, the Company may be audited by Germany, U.S. Federal and state, Israel, France, the U.K. and other foreign tax authorities within which it operates. From
time to time, these audits result in proposed assessments. The Company was notified during 2020 that the Israeli tax authorities were auditing Spark Networks Ltd. for the tax
years 2016-2019. There is minimal activity in the entity and, while we do not expect adverse findings, any potential finding would result in a reduction of the net operating loss
carryforward which has a full valuation allowance against it. The Company was notified that the German tax authorities are auditing Spark SE for the tax years 2017-2018, as
well as Spark GmbH for the tax years 2016-2018.
Based on the current status of Germany, U.S. Federal, state, local and other foreign audits, the Company does not expect the amount of unrecognized tax benefits to significantly
decrease in the next 12 months as a result of settlements of tax audits and/or the expiration of statutes of limitations.
Note 5. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the following as of December 31, 2021 and 2020:
December 31,
(in thousands)

2021

Office and other equipment
Leasehold improvements
Internally developed software
Purchased software

$

2020
2,526 $
344
3,633
1,108

Total
Less: Accumulated depreciation

3,821
373
13,221
255

7,611
(3,998)
$

Property and equipment, net

17,670
(6,252)

3,613 $

11,418

Depreciation expense was $2.4 million and $2.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
The Company capitalized $0.7 million and $2.5 million of internally developed software costs for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
The Company performed its annual review of internally developed software for the year ended December 31, 2021, and determined to abandon various software development
projects that the Company concluded were no longer a current strategic fit based on new product initiatives and focus areas for the organization. The Company wrote-off
internally developed software with a cost of $8.4 million and accumulated depreciation of $2.6 million. As a result, for the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company
recognized an impairment charge of $5.8 million.
Property and equipment, net disaggregated by geography, consists of the following as of December 31, 2021 and 2020:
December 31,
(in thousands)

2021

United States
Germany
Total property and equipment, net

2020

$

742 $
2,871

1,259
10,159

$

3,613 $

11,418

Note 6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill
The Company completes its annual goodwill impairment test during the fourth quarter of each year, or more frequently if triggering events indicate a possible impairment in one
or more of its reporting units. The fair value of the reporting units was determined using a combination of an income based approach based on a present value cash flow model
and a market approach based on appropriate valuation multiples observed for the reporting unit's guideline public companies.
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During the second quarter of 2021, the Company lowered its financial expectations for the remainder of 2021 due to introduction of enhanced cybersecurity measures to address
increased risk of cybersecurity attacks, delays in product initiatives and a more uncertain COVID-19 outlook. The Company determined that these factors constituted an interim
triggering event as of the end of the second quarter of 2021, and performed an impairment analysis with regard to its indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill. For the
quarter ended June 30, 2021, as a result of the interim goodwill impairment test, the fair value of the Spark reporting unit exceeded the carrying amount, and as a result, no
goodwill impairment was recorded. Goodwill assigned to the Spark reporting unit was $24.5 million. For the Zoosk reporting unit, the fair value did not exceed the carrying
value, and the Company recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $21.8 million. In connection with its annual impairment assessment, the Company performed a quantitative
impairment analysis for the Zoosk reporting unit and a qualitative impairment analysis for the Spark reporting unit, and based on the results of that test, no impairment was
indicated.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, as a result of our annual goodwill impairment test, the fair value of the Spark reporting unit exceeded the carrying amount, and as a
result, no goodwill impairment was recorded. For the Zoosk reporting unit, the fair value did not exceed the carrying value, and the Company recorded a goodwill impairment
charge of $42.7 million. The impairment charge was attributed to declines in the estimated undiscounted cash flows and an increase in the discount rate, which resulted in the
carrying value not being recoverable.
The following table summarizes the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the periods indicated:
(in thousands)
Balance as of January 1, 2020
Impairment charges
Impact of currency translation

$

199,238
(42,713)
57

Balance as of December 31, 2020
Impairment charges
Impact of currency translation

$

156,582
(21,786)
(52)

Balance as of December 31, 2021

$

134,744

The total accumulated impairment loss of the Company's goodwill was $84.5 million and $62.7 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.
Intangible assets consists of the following as of December 31, 2021:
December 31, 2021

(in thousands)

Weighted-Average
Remaining Amortization
Period (Years)

Gross Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Impairment Charges

Currency Translation
Impact on Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Amount

Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
Brands and trademarks

$

63,800

$

(36,360)

$

—

$

—

$

27,440

Long-lived intangible assets:
Brands and trademarks

0.1

86

—

(50)

—

36

Acquired technology

1.5

5,910

—

(4,039)

—

1,871

Customer relationships

0.0

10,780

—

(10,780)

—

—

Licenses and domains

0.0

205

—

(183)

—

22

Other

0.0

470

—

(470)

—

Total intangible assets

1.6

$

81,251

Intangible assets consists of the following as of December 31, 2020:
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$

(36,360)

$

(15,522)

$

—

—
$

29,369

December 31, 2020

(in thousands)

Weighted-Average
Remaining Amortization
Period (Years)

Gross Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Impairment Charges

Currency Translation
Impact on Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Amount

Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
Brands and trademarks

$

63,800

$

(10,960)

$

—

$

—

$

52,840

Long-lived intangible assets:
Brands and trademarks

0.1

3,025

(2,573)

(409)

4

47

Acquired technology

1.3

7,300

—

(3,997)

—

3,303

Customer relationships

0.4

11,420

—

(8,762)

—

2,658

Licenses and domains

0.0

410

—

(361)

3

52

Other

0.0

5,203

—

(5,102)

(2)

Total intangible assets

1.8

$

91,158

$

(13,533)

$

(18,631)

$

5

99
$

58,999

For the interim assessment for the quarter ended June 30, 2021, the Company recognized an impairment charge of $10.3 million for the Zoosk indefinite-lived trade name. The
Company estimated the fair value using an income approach, specifically the relief-from-royalty method, based on the present value of future cash flows. The Company used a
royalty rate of 4% and discount rate of 14.5%. As part of the Company's annual assessment, the Company performed a qualitative assessment for Jdate and Christian Networks
and a quantitative assessment for Zoosk. The Company recognized an additional impairment charge of $15.1 million for Zoosk using a royalty rate of 4% and discount rate of
21%. No impairment charge was recorded for the long-lived intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
For the annual assessments in 2020, we performed a qualitative assessment for Jdate and Christian Networks and a quantitative assessment for Zoosk. The qualitative
assessment performed, there were no impairments of indefinite-lived intangible assets, while we recorded an impairment charge of $8.5 million for Zoosk for the year ended
December 31, 2020. The Company used a royalty rate of 4% and a discount rate of 13.5%.
Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were $4.2 million and $7.3 million, respectively.
At December 31, 2021, amortization of long-lived intangible assets for each of the next five years is estimated to be as follows:
(in thousands)

Amortization Expense

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026

1,279
632
8
8
2

Note 7. Leases
The Company's lease portfolio includes lease arrangements for its offices. Such leases generally have remaining terms between2 years and 3 years, and the Company does not
have residual value guarantees associated with its leases. In December 2019, the Company entered into a sublease agreement for the office lease in San Francisco, which was
acquired in connection with the Zoosk acquisition in July 2019, for the remaining period of the original lease term, which ends on September 30, 2024. In July 2021, the
Company entered into an agreement to extend the office lease in Berlin until January 31, 2024.
The following table summarizes the classification of operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2021
and 2020:
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(in thousands)
Assets
Right-of-use assets

December 31, 2021

December 31, 2020

$

5,911

$

6,338

Liabilities
Short-term:
Current lease liabilities
Long-term:
Non-current lease liabilities

$

2,325

$

1,932

Total lease liabilities

$

3,887
6,212

4,650
$

6,582

Right-of-use assets are included in Other assets, and Current lease liabilities and Non-current lease liabilities are included in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities and
Other liabilities, respectively, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The following table summarizes the classification of lease expense in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020:
Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2021

2020

Operating lease expense
Short-term lease expense
Sublease income

$

2,237 $
138
(1,956)

Total net lease expense

$

419

2,272
224
(1,956)

$

540

The following table provides supplemental information related to the Company's Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:
Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Operating cash flow information:
Cash paid for operating leases
Cash received from sublease
Non-cash activity:
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities recognized in lease modification

2021

2020

$
$

2,170 $
1,905 $

2,211
1,753

$

1,626 $

—

The weighted average remaining term for our leases as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 was2.6 years and 3.6 years, respectively. The weighted average discount rate for our
leases as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 was 4.0% and 4.6%, respectively.
At December 31, 2021, the future minimum lease payments under our operating lease liabilities are as follows:
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Year Ending December 31,

(in thousands)

2022
2023
2024

$

Total lease payments
Less: Interest

2,523
2,575
1,441
6,539
(327)

Present value of lease liabilities

$

6,212

Non-cancellable sublease proceeds with future minimum rental receipts as of December 31, 2021 totaling $5.6 million has not been deducted from the future minimum
payments.
Note 8. Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following as of December 31, 2021 and 2020:
(in thousands)

December 31, 2021

Accrued advertising
Accrued employee compensation and benefits
Accrued professional fees
Accrued service providers
Accrued value-added, sales, and other non-income-based taxes
Current portion of income tax payable
Current portion of lease liabilities
Other
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

December 31, 2020

$

6,483
1,487
835
1,806
8,837
3,733
2,325
1,536

$

8,691
2,085
1,819
2,433
8,897
1,536
1,932
1,036

$

27,042

$

28,429

Other liabilities consist of the following as of December 31, 2021 and 2020:
(in thousands)

December 31, 2021

Deferred payment to Zoosk's shareholders
Lease liabilities, less current portion
Sublease security deposit
Other
Other liabilities

December 31, 2020

$

11,545
3,887
1,038
1,948

$

10,373
4,650
1,038
1,480

$

18,418

$

17,541

Note 9. Long-term Debt
On July 1, 2019, in connection with the acquisition of Zoosk, Spark Networks entered into a Loan Agreement with Zoosk, Spark Networks, Inc., the subsidiary guarantors party
thereto, the lenders party thereto, and Blue Torch Finance LLC (“Administrative Agent”), as administrative agent and collateral agent (the "Senior Secured Facilities
Agreement") that provides for a four-year $125.0 million Senior Secured Facility, maturing July 1, 2023 ("Maturity Date"). The Senior Secured Facilities Agreement provides
for a term loan facility in an aggregate amount equal to $120.0 million (the “Term Loan Facility”) and a revolving credit facility in an aggregate amount equal to $5.0 million
(the “Revolving Credit Facility”) and, together with the Term Loan Facility, (the “Facilities”). Substantially all of the Company's assets are pledged as collateral. Borrowings
under the Facilities bear interest at a rate equal to LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 8.0% per annum.
Term Loan Facility
The Term Loan Facility was issued at a discount of 3.0% of the aggregate principal amount of the $120.0 million totaling $3.6 million. Transaction costs and commitment fees
of $3.1 million and $0.6 million, respectively, were paid at closing. The
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initial commitment fee was equal to 0.5% of the aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan Facility. Through the effective interest rate method, the discount and commitment
fees on the Term Loan Facility are amortized to interest expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss through the Maturity Date. The
effective interest rate was 10.7%.
On December 2, 2020, the Company entered into the Second Amendment to Loan Agreement (the "Second Amendment" and together with the Term Loan Facility, the
("Amended Term Loan Facility"), which established an additional $ 6.0 million of term loan commitment to its existing Term Loan Facility. The additional borrowing was
applied to pay the quarterly Term Loan Facility principal and interest payments due on December 31, 2020 and March 31, 2021. The Second Amendment was accounted for as a
modification of debt, and as such, the third-party costs incurred in connection with the Second Amendment of approximately $ 1.3 million were expensed as incurred. The debt
issuance costs of $1.3 million that were paid directly to the lender at the closing date were capitalized and will be amortized using the effective interest method over the term of
the loan. The effective interest rate on the modified loan is 11.3%. The Second Amendment requires repayment of the principal amount of $0.15 million quarterly, beginning on
March 31, 2021, in addition to the $3.0 million quarterly principal repayment of the original Term Loan Facility and the modified interest.
On March 5, 2021, the Company entered into a Limited Waiver under Loan Agreement (the "Limited Waiver") with the Administrative Agent and the lenders pursuant to which
certain defaults under the Senior Secured Facilities Agreement were waived. In consideration of the Limited Waiver, the Company agreed to pay the Administrative Agent, for
the ratable benefit of the lenders, a fee of $0.5 million upon the execution of the Limited Waiver, plus $0.3 million paid in kind by capitalizing such amount into the principal
balance under the Senior Secured Facilities Agreement. The aggregated fees were capitalized and will be amortized using the effective interest rate of 11.8%.
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the aggregated outstanding principal balance of the Amended Term Loan Facility is $85.6 million and $104.7 million, respectively, and the
amortized cost basis is $82.1 million and $99.1 million, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, interest expense on the Amended Term Loan Facility
totaled $12.1 million and $12.7 million, respectively, and includes stated interest of $9.2 million and $10.5 million, discount amortization of $1.2 million and $0.9 million, and
fee amortization of $1.7 million and $1.2 million, respectively.
In addition, pursuant to the terms of the Amended Term Loan Facility, within 5 days after the annual financial statements are required to be delivered to the lender, the
Company is required to make a prepayment of the loan principal in an amount equal to a percentage of the excess cash flow of the most recently completed fiscal year. For the
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company made a prepayment of $6.8 million and $3.3 million, respectively. Estimated prepayments are included as current
borrowings as of the balance sheet dates. As of December 31, 2021, the estimated prepayment is $5.0 million.
Revolving Credit Facility
The $5 million Revolving Credit Facility has a commitment fee of 0.75% per annum on the unutilized commitments thereunder and payable on the Maturity Date. As the
Revolving Credit Facility is not expected to be drawn down, transaction costs and upfront fees totaling $0.3 million related to the Revolving Credit Facility were deferred and
are being amortized over the term of the agreement. There were no outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2021.
Covenants
The Facilities contain a number of covenants that, among other things, restrict, subject to certain exceptions, the Company's ability and the ability of its subsidiaries to: incur
additional indebtedness, create liens, engage in mergers or consolidations, sell or transfer assets, pay dividends and distributions and make share repurchases, make certain
acquisitions, engage in certain transactions with affiliates, and change lines of business.
In addition, the Facilities, as revised by the Second Amendment, require the following financial covenants to be maintained: (i) a fixed charge coverage ratio of no less than
1.10 for the first four quarters of the loan, 1.25 for the second two quarters of the loan, and between 1.20 and 0.70 for the remaining life of the loan, (ii) a net leverage ratio of no
greater than 3.00 for the first quarter of the loan, declining steadily from 2.60 to 1.75 for the quarters ended December 31, 2020 through the maturity date of the loan, and (iii) a
minimum liquidity threshold of $10.0 million at the end of each month following the closing date of the loan, consisting of available cash funds and availability under the
Revolving Credit Facility. The Facilities also contain certain customary affirmative covenants and events of default, including a change of control. The Company is in
compliance with all of its financial covenants as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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Long-term debt maturities:
Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands)

2022
2023
2024

$

17,593
67,959
—

Total
Less: current portion of long-term debt
Less: unamortized discount
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs

85,552
(17,593)
(1,430)
(1,998)
$

Total long-term debt, net

64,531

On March 11, 2022, the Company completed the successful refinancing of its existing term and revolving facility with borrowings under a new term loan facility with MGG
Investment Group LP. Refer to Note 15 for additional information.
Note 10. Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments
The Company's future payments related to off-balance sheet contractual obligations as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:
December 31,
(in thousands)

2021

Less than one year
Between one and five years
Total

2020

$

4,536 $
2,115

6,349
7,230

$

6,651 $

13,579

The Company has non-cancellable contractual obligations consisting of contracts with cloud-based web service providers and marketing service providers, as well a contractual
obligation of $1.9 million related to estimated future interest to be paid on the deferred payment to Zoosk's shareholders. The Company does not have significant renewal or
purchase options.
Contingencies
The Company is involved in lawsuits, claims and proceedings incident to the ordinary course of business and establishes reserves for specific legal matters when it determines
that the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome is probable and the loss is reasonably estimable. Management has also identified certain other legal matters where the Company
believes an unfavorable outcome is not probable and, therefore, no reserve is established. Any claims against the Company, whether meritorious or not, could result in costly
litigation, require significant amounts of management time and result in the diversion of significant operational resources. The results of these lawsuits, claims and proceedings
cannot be predicted with certainty. However, the Company believes that the ultimate resolution of these current matters will not have a material adverse effect on our liquidity,
results of operations or financial condition.
Cybersecurity Matters
On July 22, 2020, a putative class action was filed against the Company and Zoosk in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California by individuals claiming to be
Zoosk users whose information was affected by the 2020 security incident disclosed by Zoosk. The complaint, as subsequently amended, asserts that by reason of the Zoosk
security incident Spark and Zoosk violated the California Consumer Privacy Act ("CCPA"), the California Unfair Competition Law ("UCL"), and common-law obligations.
Based on these assertions, the complaint seeks statutory damages, compensatory damages, punitive damages, attorneys' fees, and injunctive relief. On December 14, 2020,
plaintiffs voluntarily withdrew their claim under the CCPA. On January 30, 2021, the district court granted in part, and denied in part, Zoosk's motion to dismiss the remainder
of the complaint for failure to state a claim by dismissing the UCL claim, but allowing the common-law claim to go forward. The
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court held in abeyance the Company's motion to dismiss itself on jurisdictional grounds and for failure to state a claim. The court granted plaintiffs limited jurisdictional
discovery as to the Company. Zoosk answered the portion of the complaint that asserts the one remaining common-law claim by denying its material allegations and asserting a
number of affirmative defenses. The court stayed the case pending resolution of the jurisdictional discovery. On May 6, 2021, plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed the Company
from the case and the stay was lifted. On July 28, 2021, plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint re-alleging the UCL claim on behalf of a subclass. The court granted
Zoosk’s motion to dismiss that amended claim on October 5, 2021. On October 28, 2021, plaintiffs sought leave to file a third amended complaint that re-alleges a UCL claim.
Following briefing and oral argument, the court granted plaintiffs’ motion for leave to file an amended complaint as to one theory of UCL liability and ordered plaintiffs either
file the third amended complaint or seek leave to file a fourth amended complaint by February 17, 2022. Plaintiffs also sought and were granted an extension to file their motion
for class certification, which now must be filed on April 11, 2022. Zoosk and plaintiffs are currently engaged in discovery and the case is scheduled for trial in late 2022.
Separately, a group of lawyers that is different from those who filed the putative class action described above filed77 separate arbitration demands against Zoosk in the Judicial
Arbitration and Mediation Services, Inc. ("JAMS") arbitration forum. Zoosk has objected that neither JAMS nor any arbitrator appointed by JAMS has authority to arbitrate any
of these claims or to rule on the issue of arbitrability. JAMS decided to commence arbitration proceedings in regard to one of the arbitration claims filed to date, but that claim
was withdrawn in November 2021 as it was established that the claimant was not affected by the incident. On May 5, 2021, the same group of attorneys that filed the arbitration
demands, described above, filed a petition to compel arbitration in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California on behalf of three other individuals claiming to
be Zoosk users affected by the 2020 security incident. The attorneys then voluntarily dismissed the petition in its entirety on July 15, 2021. JAMS has initiated three further
arbitration claims previously filed and intends to proceed with those arbitrations if requisite fees are paid. Zoosk has refused to pay the respondents’ share of the initiation fee for
those arbitrations. On December 8, 2021, the same attorneys then filed a petition to compel arbitration in Orange County Superior Court in California on behalf of those three
individuals. In response, Zoosk has filed a motion to dismiss the California petition based on the forum selection clause in the Zoosk TOU that selects New York as the venue
for any dispute. Zoosk has also filed a petition to stay arbitration in New York on the basis that the claimants breached the TOU when they filed their arbitration demands and
Zoosk is therefore under no obligation to arbitrate. The parties stipulated that both of the petitions are stayed pending resolution of Zoosk’s forum-based challenge to the Orange
County petition.
Intellectual Property
Trademarks are an important element in running online dating websites and mobile applications. Given the large number of markets and brands, the Company deals with claims
against its trademarks from time to time in the ordinary course of business. The Company vigorously defends against each of the above legal proceedings. In August 2021, the
Company settled certain national trademark disputes in Europe. There was no material impact to the financial statement as of December 31, 2021.
The Company may encounter future legal claims in the normal course of business.
At this time, management does not believe the above matters, either individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations
or financial condition and believes the recorded legal provisions as of December 31, 2021 are adequate with respect to the probable and estimable liabilities. However, no
assurance can be given that these matters will be resolved in the Company's favor.
Note 11. Shareholders' Equity
At December 31, 2021, the Company’s issued ordinary no-par value registered shares (auf den Namen lautende Stückaktien) (“Ordinary Shares") totaled 2,661,386.
Outstanding Ordinary Shares totaled 2,617,397 after deducting 43,989 in treasury shares held by the Company. In accordance with the Company’s American Depository Share
(ADS) Program, each ADS represents one-tenth of an ordinary share. Accordingly, issued and outstanding ADSs as of December 31, 2021 totaled 26,173,970.
Treasury shares
The Company accounts for treasury shares using the nominal value method. Under the nominal value method, whereby the nominal value of the shares is deducted from
common stock. The excess of the cost of shares acquired over the nominal value is allocated to additional paid-in capital. Under local law, treasury shares are not entitled to
shareholder rights, in particular, to dividends and voting rights.
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In 2021, the Company closed the Chardonnay Trust, which held shares of Spark Networks SE ADSs to satisfy, as necessary, the obligations under all unexercised Spark stock
options awarded under the Spark 2007 Plan. Shares held in the Chardonnay Trust were transferred to an account registered under Spark Networks SE. The shares underlying
the ADSs are classified as treasury shares at their nominal value per share of €1.00.
During 2021, 11,708 treasury shares were issued to satisfy option exercises under the Company's LTIP Plan.

Note 12. Stock-based Compensation
Stock-based compensation expense reflects share awards issued under the Spark Networks 2018 virtual stock option plan ("2018 VSOP") and the 2020 Long Term Incentive
Plan ("the LTIP").
2018 VSOP
In 2017, Spark Networks established the 2017 VSOP for selected executives and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. In March 2018, the Company replaced the
2017 VSOP by establishing the 2018 VSOP for selected executives and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries if and to the extent that the plan participants under the
2017 VSOP have agreed to such replacement. All plan participants agreed to the replacement. Both plans, which were established following the merger between Affinitas
GmbH ("Affinitas") and Spark, Inc. in 2017, replaced plans in effect under Affinitas prior to the merger.
Under the 2018 VSOP, the Company granted participants a certain number of virtual stock options in exchange for options granted under the 2017 VSOP and/or a certain
number of new virtual stock options. Awards issued under the 2018 VSOP have a contractual term of 85 months and vest over a period of four years from the grant date,
whereby one fourth of each option award vests upon the first anniversary of the grant with the remaining options vesting in six-month installments. The 2017 VSOP options
which were exchanged for the 2018 VSOP vest over a period of three years from the grant date, whereby one third of each option award vest on the first-year anniversary of the
grant and the remaining options vesting in six month installments. The Company will not grant any additional awards under the 2018 VSOP.
Vested awards under the 2018 VSOP may be settled for either equity shares or a cash amount equal to the market price of the Company's ADS minus the share price. The
method of settlement is at the discretion of the Company. As a result, awards issued under the 2018 VSOP are treated as equity settled.
The following table summarizes the activity for the Company's options under the 2018 VSOP:

Number of Options

Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual
Term

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

(in years)
Outstanding as of December 31, 2020
Forfeited

326,281 $
(16,250) $

11.56
12.34

4.15

Outstanding as of December 31, 2021

310,031 $

11.52

3.12

Options vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2021

307,221 $

11.50

3.12

Number of Options

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Unvested as of December 31, 2020
Vested
Forfeited

32,814 $
(13,754) $
(16,250) $

6.48
6.55
6.32

Unvested as of December 31, 2021

2,810 $

7.07
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The total grant date fair value of options that vested during 2021 and 2020 was $0.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively.
As the options are subject to a graded vesting schedule, the grant date fair value of each tranche is expensed ratably over the related vesting period. Estimated forfeitures are
revised if the number of options expected to vest differ from previous estimate, and if any differences between the actual and estimated forfeitures are accounted for in the
period they occur.
The total unrecognized compensation expense related to awards granted under the 2018 VSOP at December 31, 2021 was less than $0.1 million, which will be recognized over a
weight-average period of 0.28 years.
2020 Long Term Incentive Plan
In January 2020, the Administrative Board of the Company (the "Administrative Board") adopted the LTIP for applicable executives and employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries as part of their remuneration for future services. The LTIP provides for the grant of virtual stock options. Each option represents the right to receive, upon exercise,
a certain amount in cash determined based on the relevant American Depository Shares ("ADS") Stock Price of the option minus the strike price of such option; provided,
however, that the Company may elect to settle options in ADSs or ordinary shares of Spark Networks instead of cash at its sole discretion. The LTIP provides that the strike
price can be set at any amount determined by the Administrative Board, including zero. Under the LTIP, the "ADS Stock Price" is, as of the grant date, the average closing price
of one ADS of Spark Networks trading on a US stock exchange for the period of five trading days prior to such date. Spark Networks classifies awards under the LTIP as
equity-settled.
Options granted under the LTIP have a contractual term of 85 months and vest, subject to the employee's continued service to the Company, as follows: (i) 25.0% of the total
number of options granted to a participant vest 12 months after the grant date of such option, and (ii) an additional 6.25% of such options shall vest at the end of each additional
three-month period thereafter until the end of the 48th month after the relevant grant date.
In connection with the adoption of the LTIP, the Administrative Board authorized for 2020 the issuance of virtual options for up to three million ADSs, including up to one
million zero-priced options. In 2021, the Administrative Board authorized an additional 500,000 ADSs that may be issued under the plan, all of which may be zero-priced
options. At December 31, 2021, 197,772 virtual options, and 915,932 zero-priced options were available for future grant.
During 2020 the fair value of the virtual stock options and zero-priced options were measured using a binomial option-pricing model.The inputs used in the measurement of fair
values at the date of grant for the period ended December 31, 2020 are summarized below:
Virtual Stock
Options
Share price ($)
Exercise price ($)
Option life (months)
Volatility
Dividend yield
Risk-free rate

$2.77 - $6.09
$2.23 - $4.88
85
40.0% - 49.0%
$—
0.52% - 1.51%

Zero-Priced
Options
$2.91 - $6.42
$—
85
50.2% - 74.9%
$—
0.17% - 1.48%

Beginning in 2021, the fair value of the virtual stock options and zero-priced options are measured using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model for the year ended December 31,
2021. The Black-Scholes option-pricing model meets the fair value measurement objective and there was no material impact as a result of the change in valuation techniques.
The inputs used in the measurement of the fair values at the date of grant are summarized below:
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Virtual Stock Options
Long Call
Option
Stock price
Strike price
Term
Volatility
Dividend
Risk-free rate

Zero-Priced Options

Short Call
Option (Cap)

$3.21 - $5.42
$3.13 - $5.34
4.65 - 4.67
62.7% - 64.0%
— %
0.7% - 0.9%

$3.21 - $5.42
$31.30 - $53.40
4.65 - 4.67
62.7% - 64.0%
— %
0.7% - 0.9%

Long Call
Option

Short Call
Option (Cap)

$3.21 - $5.42
$—
4.65 - 4.67
62.7% - 64.0%
— %
0.7% - 0.9%

$3.21 - $5.42
$50.00
4.65 - 4.67
62.7% - 64.0%
— %
0.7% - 0.9%

The following table summarizes the activity for the Company's options under the 2020 LTIP during the year ended December 31, 2021 :
Weighted Average
Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual
Number of Options
Exercise Price
Term

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value

(in years)
Outstanding as of December 31, 2020
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

1,550,000
523,400
(7,250)
(263,922)

$
$
$
$

4.74
4.50
3.14
4.47

6.22 $

0.90

Outstanding as of December 31, 2021
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2021

1,802,228 $
611,261 $

4.71
4.81

5.62 $
5.19 $

0.01
0.01

Number of Options

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Unvested as of December 31, 2020
Granted
Vested
Forfeited

1,550,000
523,400
(618,511)
(263,922)

$
$
$
$

2.99
1.89
3.04
2.73

Unvested as of December 31, 2021

1,190,967 $

2.53

The following table summarizes the activity for the Company's zero priced options under the 2020 LTIP:
Number of Options
Outstanding as of December 31, 2020
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

674,000
200,900
(207,004)
(83,828)

Outstanding as of December 31, 2021
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2021

584,068
69,698

76

Number of Options

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Unvested as of December 31, 2020
Granted
Vested
Forfeited

674,000 $
200,900
(276,702)
(83,828)

Unvested as of December 31, 2021

514,370 $

6.13
3.85
6.21
5.55
5.29

The total grant date fair value of options that vested during 2021 related to awards granted under the 2020 LTIP was $3.6 million. The total intrinsic value of options exercised
during 2021 was $1.0 million. No options vested or were exercised during 2020.
The total unrecognized compensation expense related to awards granted under the 2020 LTIP at December 31, 2021 was $2.7 million, which will be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 2.74 years.
Pre-merger Share Awards
Prior to the 2017 merger with Affinitas, Spark, Inc. granted share-based payment awards under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Spark Inc. 2007 Plan”). As of the merger
date, outstanding awards under the Spark Inc. 2007 Plan ("Spark Inc. Options") consisted entirely of nonqualified stock options. As the merger was considered a change in
control under Spark Inc. 2007 Plan, all outstanding unvested awards became fully vested.
In connection with the merger with Affinitas, Spark Inc. established the Chardonnay Trust, with the purpose of holding such number of shares of Spark Networks SE ADSs as
necessary to settle all unexercised Spark Inc. stock options awarded under the Spark 2007 Plan. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, no stock-based compensation
expense was recognized for the awards granted under the Spark Inc. 2007 Plan. As discussed in Note 11—Shareholders' Equity, the Chardonnay Trust was closed in 2021.
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized total stock-based compensation expense for all the plans of $2.7 million and $4.8 million,
respectively, which is included as a component of Selling, general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.
Note 13. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements
The Company records long-term debt at carrying value less unamortized discount and unamortized fees as it is not required to be carried at fair value on a recurring basis. The
fair value of long-term debt was determined using observable inputs (Level 2). The valuation considers the present value of expected future repayments, discounted using a
market interest rate equal to the interest margin on the borrowings and variable interest rate.
The following table presents the carrying values and the estimated fair values of long-term debt as of December 31, 2021 and 2020:
December 31, 2021
(in thousands)
Long-term debt, including current portion (1)

Carrying Value
$

82,124

Fair Value
$

96,089

December 31, 2020

Carrying Value
$

99,146

Fair Value
$

107,504

(1)

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the carrying value of long-term debt is net of unamortized original issue discount and debt issuance costs of $3.4 million and $5.5 million,
respectively.
The Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, deposits, accounts receivable, and accounts payable are carried at cost, which approximates their fair
value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The Company does not have financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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Note 14. Related Party Transactions
An employee of the Company's wholly owned subsidiary, Smooch Labs, is a co-founder and employee of a marketing agency for which the Company incurs expenses in the
ordinary course of business. For the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company has expensed $0.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively, for services performed by
the marketing agency.
Note 15. Subsequent Events
On March 2, 2022, Gitte Bendzulla, the Chief Operating Officer, Chief Legal Officer and Managing Director of Spark Networks SE (the “Company”), notified the Company
that she would be leaving the Company to pursue other opportunities. Ms. Bendzulla’s departure date has not yet been set but the Company currently expects that Ms.
Bendzulla’s departure date will be in April 2022.
On March 11, 2022, Spark Networks SE (the “Company”) entered into a Financing Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Zoosk, Inc. (“Zoosk”) and Spark Networks, Inc.,
the subsidiary guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto, and MGG Investment Group LP, as administrative agent and collateral agent. The Loan Agreement provides
for senior secured term loans of $100 million. Borrowings under the Loan Agreement accrue interest at a rate per annum equal to the LIBOR Rate (as defined in the Loan
Agreement) plus 7.50% or the Reference Rate (as defined in the Loan Agreement), plus 6.50%, as the case may be. Borrowings under the Loan Agreement mature on March
11, 2027 and are secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company, Spark Networks Inc., Zoosk and their respective subsidiary guarantors.
The Loan Agreement contains customary representations, warranties, events of default and covenants, including limitations on incurrences of debt and liens, restricted payments
and investments, mergers and financial covenants including (1) quarterly testing of a maximum Leverage Ratio and a minimum Marketing Efficiency Ratio (each as defined in
the Loan Agreement) and (2) an all-times test of a minimum liquidity covenant.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
As previously reported, on June 3, 2021, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company approved the dismissal of KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
(“KPMG”) as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, effective on June 3, 2021, and approved the appointment of BDO USA, LLP (“BDO”) as the
Company’s new independent registered public accounting firm, which was approved by the Company’s shareholders at the Company’s 2021 annual meeting of shareholders.
During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the subsequent interim period through June 3, 2021, there were no disagreements (as defined in Item 304(a)(1)
(iv) of Regulation S-K and the related instructions) between the Company and KPMG on any matters of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or
auditing scope or procedures which, if not resolved to KPMG’s satisfaction, would have caused KPMG to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreement in
connection with their reports on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for 2020 and 2019.
During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the subsequent interim period through June 3, 2021, there were no “reportable events” (as defined in Item
304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K), except the existence of material weaknesses reported in Item 9A of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2020 filed on March 31, 2021 summarized as follows:
a.

The Company did not adequately design certain key controls at a sufficient level of precision, including account reconciliation and debt controls, to address relevant
financial reporting risks including inadequate design of procedures to ensure completeness and accuracy of underlying reports and data used when executing the control.

b.

The Company did not design and maintain formal and effective controls over certain information technology general controls (“ITGCs”) for IT systems that are relevant
to the preparation of the financial statements.

c.

The Company did not design and maintain adequate controls to analyze and account for Value Added Tax (VAT) and sales tax obligations, to address relevant financial
reporting risks over timely payment and accrual recognition which could adversely affect the completeness and accuracy of related balances.

d.

The Company did not have an adequate number of individuals within its accounting and financial reporting function with sufficient training in US GAAP and SEC
reporting standards, including understanding of new accounting
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standards and accounting for significant estimates including goodwill, and the impact on the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting.
e.

The Company utilized third party specialists in connection with the valuation of the underlying assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Spark Networks / Zoosk
Merger, accounting for its United States income tax provision, and in the annual impairment test performed over the Company’s goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets. The Company did not have a sufficient number of adequately trained personnel within the organization to provide appropriate oversight over these specialists, to
sufficiently understand the complexities of the related estimates, or to sufficiently review certain assumptions and calculations performed by these specialists.

The audit reports of KPMG on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for each of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 did not contain an adverse
opinion or disclaimer of opinion, and were not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles.
During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the subsequent interim period through June 3, 2021, neither the Company nor anyone on its behalf has
previously consulted with BDO regarding either (i) the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed; or the type of audit opinion
that might be rendered on the Company's consolidated financial statements, and BDO did not provide either a written report or oral advice to the Company that BDO concluded
was an important factor considered by the Company in reaching a decision as to any accounting, auditing, or financial reporting issue; or (ii) any matter that was either the
subject of a "disagreement" or a "reportable event" (as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) and Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K, respectively).

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of the Company’s Disclosure Controls
The Company’s management, with the participation of its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of its disclosure controls and
procedures as of December 31, 2021. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and
other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act
is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the rules and forms promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”). Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in
the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal
financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of
possible controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, our management concluded that, as of December 31, 2021, our disclosure controls and procedures were not
effective because our internal control over financial reporting was not adequate.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule
13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s principal executive officer
and principal financial officer and effected by the Company’s board of directors, management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
our financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America and includes those policies and procedures that:
•
•
•

Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets;
Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the issuer are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors; and
Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the issuer's assets that could have a material
effect on the issuer’s consolidated financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, our internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate. Accordingly, even effective internal control over financial reporting can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives.
Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria established in the SEC guidance on conducting such
assessments as of the end of the period covered by this report. Management conducted the assessment based on certain criteria established in the Internal Control Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO) of the Treadway Commission in 2013. Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2021, due to the material weaknesses described
below.
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
In fiscal year 2019, we previously disclosed the following material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting:
a.
b.

The Company did not have an adequate number of individuals within its accounting and financial reporting function with sufficient training in US GAAP and SEC
reporting standards, including understanding of new accounting standards and accounting for significant estimates including goodwill, and the impact on the Company’s
internal controls over financial reporting.
The Company utilized third party specialists in connection with the valuation of the underlying assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Spark Networks / Zoosk
Merger, accounting for its United States income tax provision, and in the annual impairment test performed over the Company’s goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets. The Company did not have a sufficient number of adequately trained personnel within the organization to provide appropriate oversight over these specialists, and
sufficiently understand the complexities of the related estimates, and sufficiently review certain assumptions and calculations performed by these specialists.

In fiscal year 2020, we previously disclosed the following material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting:
The Company identified material weaknesses corresponding to the control activities component of internal control under the COSO Framework as described below.
Specifically, we did not design and maintain certain formal accounting and information technology policies, procedures and controls to achieve complete, accurate and timely
financial accounting, reporting and disclosures, including controls to validate the completeness and accuracy of underlying reports and data used to support financial reporting.
Deficiencies in control activities contributed to the potential for there to have been material accounting errors in several financial statement account balances and disclosures,
specifically:
•

The Company did not adequately design certain key controls at a sufficient level of precision, including account reconciliation and debt controls, to address relevant
financial reporting risks including inadequate design of procedures to ensure completeness and accuracy of underlying reports and data used when executing the control.

•

The Company did not design and maintain formal and effective controls over certain information technology general controls (“ITGCs”) for IT systems that are relevant
to the preparation of the financial statements. Specifically, the Company did not design and maintain: (a) user access controls to ensure appropriate segregation of duties
and adequate restriction of user and privileged access to financial applications, programs, and data (b) program change management controls to ensure that IT program
and data changes affecting financially-significant IT applications and underlying accounting records are identified, tested, authorized and implemented appropriately, (c)
computer operations controls to ensure that data backups are authorized and monitored, and (d) testing and approval controls for program development to ensure that new
software development is aligned with business and IT requirements. As a result, it is possible that the Company’s business process controls that depend on the accuracy
and completeness of data or financial reports generated by the information technology system could be adversely affected due to the lack of operating effectiveness of
ITGCs.

•

The Company did not design and maintain adequate controls to analyze and account for Value Added Tax (VAT) and sales tax obligations, to address relevant financial
reporting risks over timely payment and accrual recognition which could adversely affect the completeness and accuracy of related balances.

Management concluded that the material weaknesses identified in fiscal year 2019 and fiscal year 2020 as noted above continued to exist as of December 31, 2021.
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In fiscal year 2021, we did not have an effective risk assessment process that defined clear financial reporting objectives and evaluated risks, including risks introduced from
the above-mentioned ITGC material weakness, and risks resulting from changes in business operations, including changes to people, processes and systems, at a sufficient level
of detail to identify all relevant risks of material misstatement across the Company. As a result, we did not adequately design, maintain or execute effective manual
compensating controls to address risks rising from our inability to fully rely on data, automated controls, and financial reporting inherent in, or generated by, systems impacted
by the above-mentioned ITGC, including controls to enforce appropriate segregation of duties with respect to the preparation and review of manual journal entries and controls
to validate the completeness and accuracy of our revenue and deferred revenue balances on a timely basis.
Remediation Plans
In fiscal year 2020, the Company began taking actions to remediate the deficiencies in its internal controls over financial reporting and is implementing additional processes and
controls designed to address the underlying causes associated with the above-mentioned material weaknesses. Management is committed to finalizing the remediation of the
material weaknesses during fiscal year 2022. The Company’s internal control remediation efforts include the following:
•

During fiscal year 2020 and 2021, we engaged an outside firm to assist management with:
◦
◦
◦
◦

Enhancing the execution of our risk assessment activities by evaluating whether the design of our internal controls appropriately addresses changes in the
business (including changes to people, processes and systems) that could impact our system of internal controls;
Reviewing our current processes, procedures and systems to identify opportunities to enhance the design of each process and to include additional control
activities that will ensure all transactions are properly recorded;
Evaluating and reassessing the design of controls that address the completeness and accuracy of any key reports or underlying data utilized in the execution of
internal controls; and
Executing upon a monitoring protocol to evaluate the design and operating effectiveness of our controls and the adherence of our personnel to the newly
implemented or enhanced controls, policies, and procedures.

•

We hired additional resources to support the Accounting and Financial Reporting function(s) in the United States (US), including the Chief Financial Officer, Global
Controller, and an Accounting Manager, who each have the requisite background and knowledge in the application of US GAAP and SEC reporting.

•

We hired internal personnel dedicated to managing the tax function and enhancing sales tax and VAT related policies and procedures.

•

We engaged external tax advisors to complement internal resources, and provide support in assessing the Company’s taxability over our service offerings. We held
consultations with our external tax advisors throughout the year to remain current on changes to state and local sales tax and VAT regulations.

•

We implemented a training program for personnel responsible for internal controls over financial reporting, including educating control owners regarding the
requirements of each control.
In addition to implementing and executing the aforementioned activities, we will be complementing these efforts by engaging in the following additional activities in fiscal year
2022:
•

We will continue to reassess staffing and add additional resources, as required, with the requisite experience and training, to support our system of internal control.

•

We will continue to engage a third-party to assist us with enhancing our internal controls over financial reporting and performing control testing to validate that controls
are in place and operating as designed;

•

We will continue to train and cross train our employees on their internal control responsibilities and how to best support the Company if personnel turnover issues within
their departments occur. We have also supplemented our internal resources with third-party resources, where necessary;

•

During the first quarter of 2021, we began the implementation of a new company-wide Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system and have designed and implemented
ITGCs over the system. We anticipate that the ERP system will go live across the organization by the end of fiscal year 2022. We will continue to engage an outside firm
to assist us in the evaluation of the new ERP system and to assist in the design, implementation, and documentation of internal controls that address the relevant financial
reporting risks.

•

We will continue to report regularly to the audit committee on the progress and results of the remediation plan, including the identification, status and resolution of
internal control deficiencies.
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•

We will continue to redesign and implement internal control activities. We continue to enhance corporate oversight over process-level controls and structures to ensure
that there is appropriate assignment of authority, responsibility, and accountability to enable remediation of our material weaknesses.

We believe the foregoing efforts will effectively remediate the identified material weaknesses in internal controls over financial reporting. Because the reliability of the internal
control process requires repeatable execution, the successful remediation of the material weaknesses will require review and evidence of effectiveness prior to management
concluding that the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting are effective. As management continues to evaluate and improve the Company’s internal controls over
financial reporting, it may take additional measures to address control deficiencies or to modify the remediation plan described above. During fiscal year 2022, we will test and
evaluate the implementation of these new or enhanced internal controls to ascertain whether they are designed and operating effectively in order to provide reasonable assurance
that they will prevent or detect a material misstatement in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm as we are an emerging growth company. Our independent
registered public accounting firm will not be required to opine on our internal control over financial reporting until we are no longer an emerging growth company.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have been engaged in the process of the design and implementation of our internal control over financial reporting in a manner commensurate with the scale of our
operations. Except with respect to the changes in connection with such design and implementation of the initiatives to remediate the material weaknesses noted above, there have
been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B. Other Information.
The board of directors of the Company plans to hold the Company’s annual meeting of shareholders on June 30, 2022. Any qualified stockholder proposals to be presented at
the annual meeting and in the Company’s proxy statement relating to the annual meeting must be received by the Company at its principal executive offices located at
Kohlfurter Straße 41/43, Berlin 10999, Germany, addressed to the Company’s Corporate Secretary, no later than the close of business on April 7, 2022. All stockholder
proposals comply with applicable law, rules and regulations with respect to the annual meeting and such proposal.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.
Not applicable.
PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
The names of our directors and executive officers and their ages, positions and biographies as of March 7, 2022 are set forth below.Our executive officers are appointed by and
serve at the discretion of our Board of Directors.
Name
Age
Position
44
Axel Hefer(1)
Director
42
Bangaly Kaba(2)
Director
52
Bradley J. Goldberg(3)
Director, Vice-Chair of the Board
63
Colleen Birdnow Brown
Director, Chair of the Board
50
Chelsea A. Grayson(1)
Director
39
David Khalil(2)
Director
63
Joseph E. Whitters(4)
Director
54
Eric Eichmann
Director, Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
45
Gitte Bendzulla
Managing Director, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Legal Officer
57
David Clark
Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer
(1)
(2)

Member of our Audit Committee
Member of our Nominating, Governance and Compensation Committee
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(3)
(4)

Chairperson of our Nominating, Governance and Compensation Committee
Chairperson of our Audit Committee

Axel Hefer serves as CEO of trivago N.V. since 2019, where he has been a managing director and CFO since 2016. Prior to joining trivago, Mr. Hefer was managing director,
CFO and COO of Home24 AG, an online home furniture and decor company, from 2014 to 2016, and managing director of One Equity Partners, the Private Equity Division of
J.P. Morgan Chase from 2011 to 2014. Mr. Hefer recently joined the supervisory board of FC Gelsenkirchen-Schalke 04 e.V. Mr. Hefer holds a diploma in management from
Leipzig Graduate School of Management (HHL) in 2000 and an MBA from INSEAD in 2003. Mr. Hefer was selected to our Board of Directors because he possesses particular
knowledge and experience in accounting, finance and capital structure, leadership of European technology companies, and he is the CEO of a public company.
Bangaly Kaba is currently the Head of Platform Growth at Popshop Live, a live streaming mobile marketplace that combines commerce, entertainment, and social, which he
joined in June 2020. Popshop is reimagining ecommerce as a people-centric, engaging experience for both sellers and buyers across the US. From January 2020 to March 2021,
Mr. Kaba was an Executive in Residence at Reforge, the leading career development company for tech professionals. Mr. Kaba served as VP of Product Management at
Instacart, a grocery delivery marketplace startup with a valuation of over $39B, from November 2018 to November 2019. At Instacart, Mr. Kaba led the Growth and Consumer
organizations that built the core functionality for user onboarding, shopping, and product discovery. From February 2014 to November 2018, Mr. Kaba worked at Facebook Inc.
where his last role was the Head of Growth at Instagram. Mr. Kaba joined Instagram when it had 450M monthly actives and helped it to grow to over 1B monthly actives in just
2.5 years, making Instagram one of the world’s fastest growing apps. Mr. Kaba’s career prior to Facebook spanned multiple industries, including working in education as a
Dean of a boarding school in Switzerland, working in finance as an Asset Manager at Lehman Brothers and Barclays Capital, and founding an e-commerce startup. Mr. Kaba
holds a BA in History and Spanish from Washington University in St. Louis and an MBA in Entrepreneurship and Finance from the University of Southern California. Mr.
Kaba was selected to our Board of Directors because he possesses particular knowledge and experience in consumer technology, building mobile digital products, and
accelerating growth through social media.
Bradley J. Goldberg is a builder of fintech, consumer, and tech platform businesses. He is a Limited Partner Advisor at NYCA Partners and a Board Member at Cellar
Tracker. Mr. Goldberg is an active advisor for CEOs and Founders using technology to disrupt the status quo. Mr. Goldberg served as an executive at PEAK6 Investments L.P.
from 2009-2019, first as CEO, Online from 2009-2011, and then as President of PEAK6 from 2011-2019. Prior to PEAK6, Mr. Goldberg served at Microsoft from 1997-2009,
first leading product management teams in Visual C++ and SQL Server, and then as an executive leading multi-billion P&Ls in Server Platforms and Search. Before graduate
school, Mr. Goldberg was an Associate in strategy consulting at A.T. Kearney. Mr. Goldberg is also the founder and Chief Executive Officer of Quartz Strategic, LLC. Mr.
Goldberg graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics from Amherst College and completed post graduate work in Japan, at the Inter-University Center for Japanese
Language Studies. Mr. Goldberg earned an MBA from Harvard Business School, where he was awarded second year honors. Mr. Goldberg was selected to our Board of
Directors because he possesses particular knowledge and experience in scaling global technology companies, people operations including global compensation systems, and
strategic planning.
Colleen Birdnow Brown serves as a director of publicly traded True Blue Inc. and Big5 Sporting Goods. She also serves as a director for privately held Port Blakely. Ms.
Brown served as President and CEO at Fisher Communications from 2005 to 2013, and in the C-Suite of Belo Corp from 2000 to 2004. Prior to 2000, she held a number of
positions in the media and broadcasting industries, including President of Broadcast at Lee Enterprises from 1998 to 2000, President at 12 News (KPNX-TV, NBC) from 1995
to 1998, President of WFMY News 2 from 1991 to 1995, and station manager and CFO at KUSA-TV from 1980 to 1991. She also served in various corporate positions at
TEGNA (formerly Gannett) from 1980 to 1998. Ms. Brown also served as chairman of the board of directors of American Apparel, and as a director of Career Builder and
Classified Ventures. Ms. Brown currently serves as a director of a nonprofit, Delta Dental of Washington and Spring Rock Ventures. Ms. Brown is a member of NACD, WCD,
IWF, and C200. She is a NACD Leadership Fellow. She holds an MBA from the University of Colorado Boulder (1981) and a BS in Business Administration from the
University of Dubuque (1979). Ms. Brown was selected to our Board of Directors because she possesses particular knowledge and experience in accounting, finance and risk
management, governance and she has public company operating experience as a CEO.
Chelsea A. Grayson is an Executive-in-Residence at Wunderkind (formerly BounceX), a leading marketing technologies provider, a member of the Board of Directors of
Xponential Fitness, Inc. (NYSE: XPOF) (where she is a member of the Audit Committee), a member of the Board of Directors of Goodness Growth Holdings (formerly Vireo
Health (CSE: GDNS) (where she Chairs the Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee and sits on the Audit Committee), a member of the Board of Directors of
Loudpack, member of the Board of Directors, Independent Lead Director and member of the Audit Committee of iHerb, and Chair of the Board of Directors of Lapmaster
Group Holdings. She is also a member of the UCLA Board of Visitors for the English Department and a Board Leadership Fellow and Corporate Governance Fellow with the
National Association of Corporate Directors (NACD). Previously, she was the Chief Executive Officer and a board member of True Religion, Inc.

83

(where she chaired the audit committee) and the Chief Executive Officer and a board member of American Apparel Inc. Before joining American Apparel, Ms. Grayson was a
partner in the Mergers & Acquisitions practice group of law firm Jones Day. Ms. Grayson received a J.D. from Loyola Law School and a BA from the University of California,
Los Angeles. Ms. Grayson was selected to our Board of Directors because she possesses particular knowledge and experience in corporate development and M&A, consumer
marketing and business operations.
David Khalil is an entrepreneur and business angel. He is the founder and was managing director of Sunshine Smile GmbH which was founded in 2017. He currently serves on
the board of Sunshine Smile GmbH. Prior to that, from August 2016 to November 2016, he acted as interim CFO at flaschenpost GmbH. Mr. Khalil served as managing
director at Affinitas from 2008 until February 2016. Previous to his time at Affinitas, Mr. Khalil worked as an investment manager at European Founders Fund from 2007 to
2008 and as a business consultant at Boston Consulting Group from 2006 to 2007. He has also made numerous angel investments. In 2006, Mr. Khalil received a Master’s
degree in business administration from WHU-Otto Beisheim School of Business, where he focused on corporate finance, controlling and entrepreneurship. Mr. Khalil was
selected to our Board of Directors because he possesses particular knowledge and experience in online dating businesses, consumer marketing and subscription businesses, and
European technology company leadership.
Joseph E. Whitters is currently a partner at Frazier Healthcare Partners, a private equity firm, which he joined in 2005. Mr. Whitters represents Frazier on the boards of
Orthotic Holdings, Inc, and Parata Systems. Furthermore, Mr. Whitters currently is a member of the Board of Directors of Accuray Incorporated and Cutera, Inc. Mr. Whitters
has previously served on the board of directors of other publicly traded public companies, including PRGX Global, Inc., InfuSystem Holdings, Inc., Analogic Corporation, Air
Methods Corporation, Mentor Corp, Omnicell, Inc. Mr. Whitters was a member of the Audit Committee of all of these respective organizations and in many cases, he chaired
the Audit Committee. He also served on the board at various privately held companies, including Rural/Metro Corp., Northfield Medical and Revionics LLC. Mr. Whitters held
various finance positions of increasing responsibility at First Health Group Corporation (“FHCC”), a public managed care organization where he served as Chief Financial
Officer for many years. Prior to FHCC, Mr. Whitters held various financial positions with United Healthcare and Overland Express. Mr. Whitters is a certified public
accountant (inactive) and began his career in public accounting with Peat Marwick. Mr. Whitters holds a B.A. in Accounting from Luther College. Mr. Whitters was selected to
our Board of Directors because he possesses particular knowledge and experience in accounting, finance and risk management, governance, and has public company operating
experience as a CFO and experience as a chair and member of numerous audit committees of public and private companies.
Eric Eichmann joined Spark Networks in November 2019 as Chief Executive Officer. From 2013 until 2018, Mr. Eichmann was with Criteo S.A. where he held the position of
CEO from 2015. Prior to joining Criteo, Eric was COO at Living Social and at Rosetta Stone, SVP of Advertising Operations and Technology at AOL, and Eric was also a
senior engagement manager at McKinsey&Co. Eric holds a master’s degree in computer engineering from EPFL (École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne), and an MBA
from the Kellogg School of Management, Northwestern University. Mr. Eichmann was selected to our Board of Directors because of his particular knowledge and experience in
global public companies, technology and product development, and consumer and marketing driven businesses.
Gitte Bendzulla joined Spark Networks as General Counsel in 2018. Since then, she has consecutively expanded her responsibilities, as Chief Operating Officer and Chief
Legal Counsel, she is responsible for Spark’s People and Customer Care function, Legal, Procurement, Office IT and Cyber Security. Before joining Spark Networks, Gitte
held several senior legal positions on a European and global scale with Juniper Networks, APM Terminals, Eaton Industries and the SITA Suez group. Gitte started her career at
the German-based law firm Graf von Westphalen in 2004. She is admitted to the German bar and holds a master’s degree from the University of Bayreuth (Germany), as well
as a bachelor’s degree obtained in Berlin (Germany).
David Clark joined Spark Networks in August 2021 as Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Clark previously served as a Chief Financial Officer for Synchronoss Technologies, Inc.
Prior to joining Synchronoss, Mr. Clark served as Chief Financial Officer of The Meet Group from April 2013 until November 2017. Prior to that, Mr. Clark served as
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of Nutrisystem, Inc., and held several other senior leadership positions at Nutrisystem, Inc. from 2007 to 2013.
Mr. Clark was Chief Financial Officer of SunCom Wireless Holdings from its founding in 1997 through 2006 and held the additional positions of Executive Vice President
from 2000 through February 2006 and Senior Vice President from 1997 through 2000. During this time, he also served as Chief Financial Officer of Triton Cellular Partners,
L.P., an entity related to SunCom Wireless Holdings, from 1997 to 2000.
Corporate Governance Guidelines
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We have adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines (in addition to other supplemental codes and policies) for our directors, officers (including our principal executive officer
and other executive leaders) and employees. We have also adopted Rules of Procedure and issued a Statement of Corporate Governance, which, in conjunction with our Articles
of Association and charters of standing committees, form the framework for our corporate governance.
These codes and policies are available on the Investor Relations section of our website at https://www.spark.net/investor-relations/corporate-governance/highlights. We will
post amendments or waivers to the aforementioned codes and policies on the same website.
Codes of Conduct and Ethics
Our Board of Directors has adopted a code of business conduct and ethics that applies to all of our employees, officers and directors, including our Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and other executive and senior financial officers. We intend to disclose future amendments to certain provisions of our code of conduct, or waivers of
these provisions, on our website or in public filings. The full text of our code of conduct is posted on the investor relations section of our website at
https://www.spark.net/investor-relations/corporate-governance/highlights.
Board Composition and Leadership Structure
The positions of Chief Executive Officer and Chair of the Board of Directors are held by two different individuals (Eric Eichmann and Colleen Birdnow Brown, respectively).
We also have a Vice-Chair of the Board of Directors, which is held by Bradley J. Goldberg. This structure allows our Chief Executive Officer to focus on our day-to-day
business while our Chair leads our Board of Directors in its fundamental role of providing advice to and independent oversight of management. Our Board of Directors believes
such separation is appropriate, as it enhances the accountability of the Chief Executive Officer to the Board of Directors and strengthens the independence of the Board of
Directors from management.
Board’s Role in Risk Oversight
Our Board of Directors believes that open communication between management and the Board of Directors is essential for effective risk management and oversight. Our Board
of Directors meets with our Chief Executive Officer and other members of the senior management team at Board of Director meetings, where, among other topics, they discuss
strategy and risks in the context of reports from the management team and evaluate the risks inherent in significant transactions. The Board exercises its oversight related to
Cyber Security Risks by receiving regular specific updates from the Company’s General Counsel and Company’s Director of Cyber Security and regularly engages third parties
to conduct independent risk assessments. While our Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for risk oversight, our Board committees assist the Board of Directors in
fulfilling its oversight responsibilities in certain areas of risk. The Audit Committee assists our Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to risk
management in the areas of internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures. The Nominating, Governance and Compensation Committee assists
our Board of Directors in assessing risks created by the incentives inherent in our compensation policies and in its oversight responsibilities with respect to the management of
corporate, legal and regulatory risk.
Board Diversity
Spark Networks is committed to diversity and inclusion, and the diverse nature of the Board reflects that commitment. The below Board Diversity Matrix reports self-identified
diversity statistics for the Board in the format required by Nasdaq’s rules.
Board Diversity Matrix (As of March 7, 2022)
Board Size:

8

Total Number of Directors
Female

Male

Non- Binary

Did not disclose
gender

Gender:
Directors

2

6

0

0

African American or Black

0

1

0

0

Alaskan Native or Native American

0

0

0

0

Number of Directors who identify in any of the categories below:
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Asian

0

0

0

0

Hispanic or Latinx

0

1

0

0

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander

0

0

0

0

White

2

4

0

0

Two or More Races or Ethnicities

0

0

0

0

LGBTQ+

0

Committees of Our Board of Directors
Our Board of Directors has established an Audit Committee and a Nominating, Governance and Compensation Committee, each of which has the composition and
responsibilities described below. Our Nominating, Governance and Compensation Committee performs the functions sometimes performed by separate nominating and
compensation committees. We have combined these two committees without issue and plan to continue to do so for the foreseeable future. We believe that a single committee is
best suited to address our oversight and governance needs and responsibilities. Members serve on these committees until their resignation or until otherwise determined by our
Board of Directors. Each of these committees has a written charter, copies of which are available without charge on the investor relations section of our website at
https://www.spark.net/investor-relations/corporate-governance/highlights.
Audit Committee
Our Audit Committee comprises Joseph E. Whitters, Chelsea A. Grayson and Axel Hefer. Mr. Whitters is the Chair of our Audit Committee. The composition of our Audit
Committee meets the requirements for independence under the current Nasdaq and SEC rules and regulations. Each member of our Audit Committee is financially literate. In
addition, our Board of Directors has determined that Joseph E. Whitters is an “audit committee financial expert” as defined in Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regulation S-K promulgated
under the Securities Act. Our Audit Committee is directly responsible for, among other things:
•
•
•
•
•
•

the conduct and integrity of Spark’s financial reporting to any governmental or regulatory body, the public or other users thereof;
Spark’s systems of internal accounting and financial and disclosure controls;
the qualifications, engagement, compensation, independence and performance of Spark’s independent auditors, their conduct of the annual audit, and their engagement
for any other services;
Spark’s legal and regulatory compliance;
Spark’s codes of ethics as established by management and the Board of Directors; and
The preparation of any audit committee report required by the SEC.

Nominating, Governance and Compensation Committee
Our Nominating, Governance and Compensation Committee comprises Bradley J. Goldberg, David Khalil and Bangaly Kaba. Mr. Goldberg is the Chair of our Nominating,
Governance and Compensation Committee. The composition of our Nominating, Governance and Compensation Committee meets the requirements for independence under the
current Nasdaq and SEC rules and regulations. Our Nominating, Governance and Compensation Committee is responsible for, among other things:
•
•
•
•

identifying, screening and reviewing individuals qualified to serve as managing directors and/or members of the Board of Directors and recommending to the Board of
Directors candidates for election as members of the Board of Directors;
developing and recommending to the Board of Directors and overseeing the implementation of Spark’s corporate governance guidelines and principles;
reviewing, on a regular basis, the overall corporate governance of Spark and recommending to the Board of Directors improvements when necessary; and
assisting the Board of Directors in discharging its responsibilities relating to the compensation of the Company's directors and executive officers

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
None of our executive officers currently serves, and in the past year has not served, as a member of the compensation committee of any entity that has one or more executive
officers serving on our Administrative Board.
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Family Relationships
There are no familial relationships among any of our directors and executive officers.
Section 16(a) Reports
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires our directors, executive officers and any persons who own more than 10% of our shares, to file
initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership with the SEC. Such persons are required by SEC regulation to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms
that they file. Except as set forth herein, based solely on its review of the copies of such forms furnished to the Company and written representations from the directors and
executive officers, the Company believes that all Section 16(a) filing requirements were met in a timely manner in fiscal 2021. (1) Timely Forms 4 were inadvertently not filed
with respect to 27 Rule 10b5-1 trading plan sale transactions made during 2021 beginning on January 13, 2021 and ending on May 12, 2021 with respect to ADSs held by
Affinitas Phantom Share GmbH. Mr. Khalil previously owned 50% of the equity interests in Affinitas Phantom Share GmbH. These transactions were reported on a Form 4
filed on September 3, 2021. (2) A timely Form 3 was inadvertently not filed with respect to Mr. Kaba’s appointment to the board of directors on August 11, 2021. Such Form 3
was filed on September 3, 2021. (3) A timely Form 3 was inadvertently not filed with respect to Mr. Whitters' appointment to the board of directors on August 11, 2021. Such
Form 3 was filed on August 27, 2021. (4) A timely Form 4 was inadvertently not filed with respect to Mr. Clark’s two stock option grants received on August 10, 2021. Such
Form 4 was filed on August 27, 2021.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation.
COMPENSATION DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
This Compensation Discussion & Analysis provides our shareholders and other stakeholders with information about Spark Networks’ performance, compensation framework,
compensation decisions and associated governance for our Named Executive Officers (NEOs) in 2021.
Named Executive Officers
Eric Eichmann
Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer

At a Glance
Compensation Design

89

Compensation Philosophy and Strategic Alignment

·
·

Overview of our Compensation Program, Policies and Practices
Compensation Governance
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Nominating, Governance and Compensation Committee Role
Shareholder Engagement

·
·

David Clark (1)
Managing Director & Chief Financial Officer
Gitte Bendzulla
Managing Director, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Legal Officer
Bert Althaus (2)
Former Managing Director & Chief Financial Officer
Yoon Um (3)
Global Controller
(Interim Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Use of Market Data and Target Positioning
Managing Compensation Risk
2021 Compensation Decisions and Outcomes
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Base Salary
Annual Cash Incentives

·
·

Equity Incentives

·

Benefits and Perquisites

·

Nominating, Governance and Compensation Committee Report

97
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(1)

Appointed in August 2021.
Departed in July 2021.
(3) Appointed as Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer from May 2021 until August 2021. In light of Ms. Um’s interim
three-month tenure as our Principal Financial Officer between Chief
Financial Officer appointments, this Compensation Discussion &
Analysis focuses on the Company’s other Named Executive Officers.
(2)

COMPENSATION DESIGN
Compensation Philosophy and Strategic Alignment
Spark operates in the growing online dating market and is committed to social data for meaningful relationships. Our compensation programs are designed to attract and
retain the best possible executive talent who are capable of creating value for our shareholders in a growth environment. This philosophy is reflected in our compensation
principles.
Principle

How we achieve this

Link pay to the achievement of measurable
corporate goals and individual performance

ü

Base a majority (70%) of the annual incentive on corporate financial performance

ü

Align executives’ incentives with stockholder
value creation

ü

Base a meaningful element (30%) of the annual incentive on quantitative and/or qualitative objectives by individual
aligned to areas of strategic importance to Spark
Utilize annual incentive performance metrics that drive stock price performance

ü

Deliver a meaningful proportion of compensation in equity-based vehicles, that incentivize sustainable stock price
appreciation

Attract and retain the best possible executive
talent

ü

Offer market competitive compensation opportunities

Performance measures are selected to align to our strategic priorities and include a combination of financial and non-financial metrics. Non-financial metrics form the
individual objectives under the annual cash incentive. Objectives are set based on an executive’s role and accountabilities and assessed in a scorecard format at year-end.
Strategic priority

Compensation alignment

Product improvements
Organic growth

ü
ü

Reflected in individual objectives for the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer
Revenue and adjusted EBITDA performance goals account for 70% of the annual incentive for all executive officers and
have goals that contemplate expected levels of organic growth

Social discovery

ü

Reflected in individual objectives for the Chief Executive Officer

Domestic filer status

ü

Reflected in individual objectives for the Chief Operating Officer

Overview of our Compensation Program
The core elements of executive compensation comprise base salary, a target cash incentive based on annual performance, and equity awards tied to our stock price
performance. Executives do not necessarily receive equity on an annual basis, and in 2021 Mr. Clark was the only named executive officer to receive an equity grant,
reflecting his appointment as Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer. As a result, the target pay mix below shows the annualized compensation for the CEO over the
four-year vesting period of his 2020 equity awards (i.e., an annual salary of $625,000, a target annual cash incentive of $300,000, and an annualized equity fair value of
$1,361,243).
60%

13%

27%

Equity Incentive

Target Annual Cash
Incentive

Salary

Equity: 100% at-risk variable pay tied to stock price performance, granted in the form
of virtual stock options settled in stock, that are intended to operate in a similar
manner as stock options and RSUs. The average equity mix for the three named
executive officers still serving on December 31, 2021 since appointment is 52% in the
form of stock option equivalents, and 48% in the form of RSU equivalents. Awards
vest over a period of four years.
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Annual Cash Incentive: 100% at-risk variable pay based on financial
performance (70%) and individual performance (30%). Financial performance is
based equally on revenue and adjusted EBITDA goals. Awards are paid in
cash shortly following year-end.
Salary: Fixed cash compensation paid monthly.

Compensation Policies and Practices
Reflecting our commitment to good corporate governance there are several practices Spark has actively implemented, and others that we have actively not implemented, to
reflect the best interests of our shareholders.
Policies and practices adopted at Spark
ü

Pay for performance

ü

Prohibit the hedging of Spark securities

ü

Cap payouts under the annual incentive plan

ü

Limit the pledging of Spark securities with prior approval required

ü

Include double-trigger change in control provisions

ü

ü
Provide modest benefits to executives in line with those offered to other ü
Spark employees
ü

No re-loading or re-pricing of virtual options
No excise tax gross-ups on a change in control
No excessive perquisites

COMPENSATION GOVERNANCE
Nominating, Governance and Compensation Committee Role
The Nominating, Governance and Compensation (NGC) Committee oversees Spark’s executive compensation program. The Committee develops and recommends to the
Administrative Board the overall compensation package for our Chief Executive Officer and, with the additional assistance of our Chief Executive Officer, for each of our other
executive officers. The Chief Executive Officer does not participate conversations regarding his own compensation.
In implementing and administering the Company’s compensation philosophy, the Committee:
•
Reviews market data, to assess the competitiveness of our compensation policies;
•
Reviews performance against our plans and budgets, and considers the degree of attainment of performance goals and objectives; and
•
Reviews the individual performance of each executive officer.
Although objective criteria may be used, the Committee retains final discretion in determining the compensation of our executive officers. As a general practice, the
Committee makes significant decisions over multiple meetings, discussing conceptual matters, reviewing preliminary recommendations, reviewing final recommendations,
and reviewing advice from legal advisors before acting. The Committee also holds special meetings as necessary in order to perform its duties.
Shareholder Engagement
Spark is committed to meaningful shareholder outreach and senior management interacts regularly with our major shareholders. To the extent it is provided, feedback on
executive compensation practices is considered by the NGC Committee. At our 2021 shareholder meeting, 69.0% of votes were cast in favor of our say-on-pay resolution. In
response to this outcome, the company sought feedback on our executive compensation programs.
Spark conducted extensive outreach during 2021, inviting dialogue with all of our top 20 shareholders who collectively represent around 40% of our total shares outstanding.
Meetings were held with those shareholders who requested direct conversations, which represented over 28% of our total shares outstanding, and included our largest
individual shareholder. These conversations indicated that our investors were generally supportive of our executive compensation programs and that we could more
proactively address questions and concerns through our disclosure.
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Areas of Concern

Our Response

Maximum compensation
opportunities for Managing
Directors

Under German law, Spark is required to disclose a maximum compensation value which is not necessarily reflective of how our
programs actually operate. Below we provide a summary of the current levels of compensation.
•
Executive officers and Managing Directors’ current salaries range from €240,000 to $625,000. Increases, if awarded, are
expected to reflect those awarded to our broader employee populations. No increases were awarded in 2021.
•
Executive officers and Managing Directors have a maximum annual cash incentive opportunity of 150% their respective target,
with targets ranging from 30% to 50% of base salary.
•
Equity awards are issued periodically and while the Summary Compensation Table includes accounting values for the awards
at grant, the NGC Committee considers the potential value that could be realized under different performance scenarios when
contemplating grants.

Discretionary nature of the annual
incentive program

The 2022 Proxy Statement includes improved disclosure regarding our annual incentive program. Awards are performance based,
with 70% tied to financial performance and 30% tied to individual performance. Objectives are set in the first quarter and for financial
metrics include threshold, target, and maximum performance goals with associated payout opportunities.

Equity award to the CEO

The CEO received an equity award in 2020 following his appointment in 2019. No equity grant was made in either 2019 or 2021 and
so the annualized accounting value of his awards made in 2020 reduces to $2,722,485 over two years or $1,814,990 over three
years. During 2022 the NGC Committee will review whether the outstanding equity awards continue to provide sufficient performance
alignment and holding power, alongside market data, when determining whether or not to grant a 2022 equity award.

Equity being issued in the form of
zero-priced options

The structure of equity awards in the form of virtual stock options reflects requirements and constraints under German law that Spark is
subject to. The NGC Committee has sought to improve disclosure in this Compensation Discussion & Analysis to explain in more detail
the virtual stock options we use both with and without exercise prices, which in effect operate like stock options and restricted stock
units. The NGC Committee believes that these vehicles appropriately align executive officers’ interests with those of our shareholders
and reflect marker norms within our industry.

Lack of performance-based longterm incentives

The NGC Committee believes that at this stage in Spark’s lifecycle, virtual stock options provide a meaningful performance-based
incentive to increase company value in a sustainable, long-term manner. Furthermore, the use of vehicles such as stock options and
RSUs are widely observed in our industry and believed to be market aligned and market competitive.

Lack of share ownership
requirements

The NGC Committee is evaluating the adoption of formal share ownership guidelines.

In addition to questions on executive compensation, shareholders also asked why Director compensation is delivered entirely in the form of cash. As explained in our Director
Compensation section, this simply reflects limitations we face under German law as equity may not be issued directly by a company to its directors under German law.
Regardless, we believe that the compensation system in place provides a reasonable balance between US and German compensation practices on the Board and its
Committees, and enables us to attract and retain high caliber talent.
The NGC Committee hopes that our updated Compensation Discussion & Analysis and Director’s Compensation sections will provide clarity on points of confusion and
welcomes continued feedback on our programs.
Use of Market Data and Target Positioning
Spark is a global organization that competes for talent across different geographies and types of industries. Given these complexities, the NGC Committee believes that
benchmarking against a narrowly defined group of companies does not provide a meaningful basis for establishing compensation. Instead, the NGC Committee will
periodically review multiple data sources and apply judgement in how to interpret the data and set compensation accordingly.
During 2019, the NGC Committee retained an independent compensation consultant, WTW, to provide market data as an input into discussions and decisions in preparation
for the appointment of a new Chief Executive Officer. At this time, three distinct reference groups of companies were established comprising of companies generally operating
in the online and technology industries, based in Germany, Europe more broadly and the United States. Companies were selected based on relevance and with a view to
positioning Spark appropriately relative to the median in terms of revenue and market capitalization.
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Spark’s Relative Size (1)
Country

Revenue

Market Capitalization

Germany

1.
2.
3.
4.

Cewe Stiftung & Co. KGaA
Delivery Hero SE
Delticom AG
Holidaycheck Group AG

5. Home24.de
6. Lotto 24 AG
7. Scout24 AG
8. trivago N.V.

9. westwing Group AG
10. windeln.de SE
11. Xing

42nd percentile

25th percentile

Pan-Europe
(Outside of
Germany)

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Basware Oyj
BigBen Interactive
Digia Oyj
Digital Bros S.p.A
Doro AB

6. Eprice SpA
7. Group LDLC société anonyme
8. Just eat plc
9. lastminute.com N.V.
10. Moneysupermarket.com Group

11. PayPoint plc
12. Shop Apotheke Europe N.V.
13. Takeaway.com

62nd percentile

51st percentile

United States

1.
2.
3.
4.

Care.com, Inc.
CarGurus, Inc.
DHI Group, Inc.
Eventbrite, Inc.

5. EverQuote, Inc.
6. Leaf Group Ltd.
7. Rosetta Stone Inc.
8. SciPlay Corporation

9. The Meet Group, Inc.
10. Travelzoo
11. Truecar, Inc.

71st percentile

28th percentile

(1)

Reference Companies

As collected in 2019 at the time data was considered; revenue represented most recent financial year and market capitalization was a trailing twelve-month average.

The NGC Committee did not target a specific reference point among this data. The determination of base salary, target cash incentive opportunities, and equity incentive
grants are based on the NGC Committee’s subjective evaluation of a variety of factors, including the executive’s position, scope of responsibility, prior experience,
performance, and criticality in the context of prevailing rates of pay in the market. More broadly the NGC Committee considers compensation increases in the context of
Spark’s overall financial performance, employee merit budgets, broader economic factors, and affordability. The NGC Committee will likely update these reference peer
groups the next time external market data is collected, to reflect changes in Spark and the market since 2019.
Managing Compensation Risk
Compensation is an essential part of risk management and the NGC Committee carefully assess whether Spark’s compensation programs align with sound risk management
principles. This includes establishing an appropriate ratio between cash and equity compensation, as well as fixed and variable compensation, not overly exposing the
executives to stock price or over leveraging the compensation mix towards market-priced virtual stock options, and setting stretching yet responsible performance goals
under the annual cash incentive plan. The NGC Committee believes that Spark’s compensation policies and practices do not encourage unnecessary or excessive risktaking.
While Spark does not current maintain stock ownership requirements or a compensation recoupment policy, the NGC Committee is evaluating whether to adopt such a
requirement or policy. Executive officers are subject to Spark’s Insider Trading Policy which prohibits insider trading and certain speculative transactions, including, but not
limited to, short sales, buying put and selling call options (such as zero cost collars and forward sales contracts) and other hedging or derivative transactions in Spark’s
securities. The Policy also places limits on the pledging of Spark’s securities as collateral for loans or holding such securities in a margin account for which prior approval is
required. In addition to these hedging and pledging restrictions, the Policy establishes a regular blackout period schedule during which the executives may not trade in
Spark’s securities and establishes pre-clearance procedures that directors and executive officers must observe prior to effecting any transaction in Spark’s securities.
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2021 COMPENSATION DECISIONS AND OUTCOMES
Base Salary
Base salaries for our named executive officers are established based on the scope of their responsibilities. Base salaries are reviewed on an annual basis and increases, if
any are similar in scope to our overall corporate salary increase. The base salary is paid in twelve equal monthly installments. Named executive officer salaries did not
increase in 2021.
Name

2021 Base Salary

2020 Base Salary

Eric Eichmann (1)

$625,000

$625,000

David Clark (2)

$400,000

n/a

Gitte Bendzulla (3)

€240,000

€240,000

Increase
0

%
n/a

0

%

(1)

Mr. Eichmann’s salary comprises $525,000 under his employment agreement with Spark Networks, Inc., also referred to as the “Eichmann Employment Agreement” and
$100,000 under his employment agreement with Spark Networks, SE, also referred to as the “Eichmann Executive Director Service Agreement”. For the purpose of this
CD&A the combined value is referred to as base salary.
(2) Mr. Clark was appointed effective August 10, 2021 and this represents his annual salary. Mr. Clark’s salary comprises $340,000 under the employment agreement with
Social Net, Inc., and $60,000 with Spark Networks SE. For the purpose of this CD&A the combined value is referred to as base salary.
(3) 2020 salary reflects Ms. Bendzulla’s salary on appointment to her role as COO on Dec 1, 2020.
Annual Cash Incentives
The annual cash incentive plan is designed to drive near-term business objectives and strategic priorities, and reward for progress and performance delivered during the
year. Awards consist of an annual target with performance measures based on a combination of quantitative financial performance goals and a combination of quantitative
and qualitative individual objectives. The maximum payout is capped at 150% of target.

(1) For

Mr. Clark, who was appointed during 2021, the NGCC resolved to assess his actual annual cash incentive based solely on his individual performance.

Financial Performance
The metrics approved for 2021 were revenue and adjusted EBITDA, reflecting our priorities of driving shareholder value while ensuring we continue to meet our debt
covenants. The NGC Committee seeks to establish goals that are rigorous, and appropriately align pay with performance, while not incentivizing excessive risk taking. Each
metric has a threshold, target and maximum performance goal associated with it, and a corresponding level of payout.
Metric

Weight

Threshold
(50% Payout)

Target
(100% Payout

Maximum
(150% payout)

Actual

Achieved Payout
(% of target)

Revenue (M)

50 %

$240

$250

$260

$217

0

%

Adjusted EBITDA (M)(1)
Total

50 %

$34

$37

$40

$33

0
0

%
%

(1)

We make adjustments to U.S. GAAP financial measures for purposes of this performance metric to ensure that results properly reflect management contributions. See
Part II—Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for an explanation of how this metric is calculated from our audited
financial statements.
As a result of financial performance failing to reach the threshold performance goals, no payment was earned by our named executive officers in respect of this component
for 2021.
Individual Performance
The NGC Committee believes that it is also important to incentivize and reward for performance in areas of strategic importance specific to each executive’s role. Objectives
are established and approved by the NGC Committee in the first quarter and are intended to reflect drivers of future financial performance. Performance goals are both
quantitative and qualitative and reflect areas such as product development, customer satisfaction and human capital management.
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Spark continued to navigate a challenging macro environment during 2021 with the prolonged effects of COVID-19 disrupting factors such as customer behavior and
increased levels of employee turnover as companies battled ‘The Great Resignation’. However, the Company still hit a number of notable achievements and onboarded new
senior leaders, including Mr. Clark as Chief Financial Officer. These achievements as they relate to each named executive officer’s goals are summarized below, along with
the overall achieved percentage as determined by the NGCC.
Name
Eric Eichmann

Overview of Goal Areas
1.
2.
3.

Develop and clarify corporate strategy
Progress product portfolio
Define and execute on senior talent
development plans

Key Achievements
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

David Clark

1.
2.
3.

Build FP&A group
Reconsider Spark’s tax, IR and internal
audit/SOX to increase effectiveness and
reduce costs
Initiate new re-finance process

•
•
•
•

Gitte Bendzulla

1.
2.
3.

Develop the COO organization
Improve business-driven value
Drive improved accountability and governance
processes

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
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Achieved Payout
(% of Target)

Developed a board-approved strategy with targeted
customer segments focused on growth and prioritizing
shareholder value creation
Launched two new and differentiated social features on
Zoosk in 2021
Closed gaps on Zoosk and Elite that drove performance
improvements, a heightened user experience leading to
revenue improvements
Drove half of the full-year revenue through focused
product-revenue initiatives
Successfully onboarded key senior leaders during the year
Restructured commercial organization to drive greater
efficiencies
Maintained employee satisfaction at 90%

83 %

Refreshed Investor Relations function and strategy,
resulting in improved quality of service and lower
associated cost
Completed activities that resulted in reduced tax costs and
improved our tax strategy capabilities
Initiated an assessment of operational capacities, key
processes and financial policies to identify future
opportunities for improvement
Initiated refinance process on time in an effective manner

100 %

Build Cyber Security Organization, stabilized technical
capabilities and driving company wide awareness of Cyber
Security Threats
Established company-wide performance management and
rolled our comprehensive Learning- and Development
Program
Initiated company wide diversity program
Grew inhouse legal capabilities and implemented company
– wide Contract Management, IP Management system
Drove further efficiencies and enhanced responsibilities at
Customer Care resulting in CSat score across all brands.
Stabilized Board Governance and Compliance catering for
German and US legal specifics
Mitigated company’s risk profile by implementing proactive
monitoring regulatory developments

84 %

In summary, based on the performance and accomplishments summarized above, the NGC Committee approved the following annual incentive payouts for 2021.
Name

Target Cash Incentive

Actual Cash Incentive

Actual (% of Target)

Eric Eichmann
David Clark (1)

$300,000
$78,904

$75,000
$78,904

25 %
100 %

Gitte Bendzulla

€72,000

€18,144

25 %

(1)

Mr. Clark’s target incentive opportunity of $200,000 was pro-rated to reflect his service during the year, with his actual annual cash incentive based solely on his individual
performance.
Equity Incentives
Long-term incentive awards represent the largest percentage of a named executive officer’s compensation package and are awarded periodically. Awards are designed to
incentivize and reward long-term value creation and stock price appreciation, recognize performance, align interests with those of our shareholders and retain top talent.
The design of our equity-based compensation program is influenced by our German incorporation, although it operates in a manner consistent with other German and U.S.
companies of a similar size to Spark. Awards take the form of virtual options which are structured to operate in a manner consistent with either stock options or restricted
stock.
Vehicle

Purpose

Exercise price definition

Market-priced virtual stock Stock option
options

Operates like

Align with shareholder interests by
reward long-term sustainable stock
price appreciation

Granted with an exercise price equal to the average closing price of the
underlying shares over the five trading days preceding the date of grant

Zero-priced virtual stock
options

Align with shareholder interests and
support executive retention

In order to operate like a restricted stock unit, awards are granted to operate
like whole-value shares and so have no associated exercise price (hence the
term ‘zero-priced’)

Restricted stock unit

Virtual options are subject to a seven-year term with vesting phased over a four-year period:
•
25% of the award vests after 12 months
•
6.25% of the award subsequently vests at the end of each quarter
On vesting, awards are settled in Spark stock, and while the company can settle awards in cash under the Plan Rules, this feature is not currently used, nor is planned to be
use for named executive officers.
As noted above, the NGC Committee makes awards periodically to named executive officers with consideration to a range of factors including the market competitiveness of
that award at the time of grant, and the potential value and retention power of unvested awards. Given awards made in 2020, Mr. Eichmann, Ms. Bendzulla and Mr. Althaus
did not receive any equity grants during 2021. Following his appointment, in August 2021 Mr. Clark received an award of 200,000 virtual stock options with an exercise price
of $3.77 per ADS, and an award of 100,000 zero-priced virtual stock options. Both of Mr. Clark’s awards vest in accordance with the schedule summarized above consistent
with the other executive officers.
Market-priced virtual stock options
Operating like stock options

Zero-priced virtual stock options
Operating like RSUs

Name

Number

Value (1)

Number

Value (1)

Eric Eichmann
David Clark

0
200,000

$0
$267,500

0
100,000

$0
$308,000

Gitte Bendzulla

0

$0

0

$0

(1)

Total value of awards in 2021
(1)

$0
$575,500
$0

This value represents the grant date fair value of the stock options granted as computed in accordance with ASC 718 and captured in the Summary Compensation
Table.
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In the interest of enhanced understanding, the table below summarizes the awards made in 2020 to Mr. Eichmann and Ms. Bendzulla who were serving named executive
officers on December 31, 2021.

Name

Market-priced virtual stock options
Operating like stock options
Number
Value (1)

Zero-priced virtual stock options
Operating like RSUs
Number
Value (1)

Eric Eichmann

833,000

$2,607,290

449,000

$2,837,680

Gitte Bendzulla (2)

132,000

$378,300

42,000

$242,690

Total value of awards in 2020
(1)

$5,444,970
$620,990

(1)

This value represents the grant date fair value of the stock options granted as computed in accordance with ASC 718 and captured in the Summary Compensation
Table.
(2) Reflects the aggregate value of grants made to Ms. Bendzulla during 2020.
The average equity mix for the three executive officers as of December 31, 2021, was 52% in the form of market-priced virtual stock options, which the NGC Committee
considers performance-based given the inherent need for stock price appreciation for any value to be realized, with the remaining 48% in the form of zero-priced virtual stock
options, which operate like RSUs.
Our executive compensation program reflects our principle of aligning incentives with shareholder value creation. The table above, and our Summary Compensation Table
(SCT) below include the fair value of long-term incentive awards at the date of grant, calculated in accordance with the applicable accounting standards. Given the inherent
relationship between our stock price performance and the value of our incentive awards, on December 31, 2021, the CEO’s 2020 equity award was worth 26% of this fair
value at the date of grant. This aligns with a reduction in our stock price between the date of grant and our fiscal year-end, and provides a forward-looking incentive to build
value.

96

Benefits and Perquisites
Named executive officers are eligible to participate in all of our employee benefit plans on terms consistent with employees in the applicable geography.
Benefit

Eligibility

Key Features

Health & Welfare Insurance
Benefits

All full-time US-based employees,
ü
including Mr. Eichmann and Mr. Clark

Medical, dental, vision, group life, disability and accidental death and dismemberment
insurance, voluntary life and accidental death and dismemberment

All German-based employees,
including Ms. Bendzulla

State or private health and care insurance, state unemployment insurance, state accident
insurance

Retirement Benefits

ü

All regular US-based employees,
ü
including Mr. Eichmann and Mr. Clark

Employer sponsored 401(k) traditional and Roth retirement Safe Harbor plan
Company match is 100% up to 4% of employee contribution with maximum employee
contributions and employer match subject to annual federal limits

All German-based employees,
including Ms. Bendzulla

State pension insurance

ü

Mr. Eichmann’s employment agreement provides that Spark Networks, Inc. will reimburse Mr. Eichmann for income tax liabilities to the extent that such liabilities exceed by
$25,000 the amount he would have otherwise been obligated to paid had he been subject only to income taxes in the United States.
NOMINATING, GOVERNANCE AND COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT
The NGC Committee has reviewed this Compensation Discussion & Analysis and discussed it with Company management. In reliance on its review and the discussions
referred to above, the Committee recommended to the Administrative Board that the Compensation Discussion & Analysis be included in the Company’s Proxy Statement.
Bradley J. Goldberg (Chair)
Bangaly Kaba
David Khalil
COMPENSATION OF NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Summary Compensation Table
The following table presents summary information regarding the total compensation for services rendered in all capacities that was earned by our named executive officers
during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, all amounts are in US dollars:

Name
Eric Eichmann
Chief Executive Officer
Gitte Bendzulla (3)
Chief Operating Officer and Chief Legal
Officer
David Clark(4)
Chief Financial Officer
Bert Althaus (3)(5)
Former Chief Financial Officer
Yoon Um(6)
Global Controller
(Interim Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

Fiscal Year

Salary

Bonus

Option Awards (1)

Non-equity Incentive
Plan Compensation

All Other
Compensation(2)

Total

2021
2020
2021
2020

625,000
625,000
283,848
232,247

—
—
—
—

—
5,444,970
—
620,990

75,000
300,000
21,459
68,532

49,398
43,471
19,191
17,586

749,398
6,413,441
324,498
939,355

2021
2020
2021
2020
2021
2020

157,052
—
155,229
256,995
235,000
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

575,500
—
—
694,310
108,140
—

78,904
—
88,703
85,665
23,500
—

16,363
—
239,471
16,337
25,909
—

827,819
—
483,403
1,053,307
392,549
—
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The amounts reported in the Option Awards column represent the grant date fair value of the stock options granted to the named executive officers during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 as
computed in accordance with ASC 718. The assumptions used in calculating the grant date fair value of the stock options reported in the Option Awards column are set forth in Note 12. to the audited
consolidated financial statements included in our Form 10-K. Note that the amounts reported in this column reflect the accounting cost for these stock options, and do not correspond to the actual economic
value that may be received by the named executive officers from the options.
(2) The amounts reported in the All Other Compensation column include health and welfare insurance benefits, retirement benefits, and severance.
(3) The amounts reported for Ms. Bendzulla and Mr. Althaus have been converted into US Dollars based on the average exchange rate of 1.1827 and 1.1422 for 2021 and 2020, respectively.
(4) Mr. Clark was appointed as Chief Financial Officer in August 2021.
(5) Mr. Althaus departed as Chief Financial Officer in July 2021. Severance of $229,148 earned by Mr. Althaus in 2021, including his remaining contractual gross fixed salary through September 31, 2021, is
reflected in the All Other Compensation column.
(6) Ms. Um was appointed as Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer from May 2021 until August 2021.
(1)

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2021 Fiscal Year-End Table
The table below sets forth certain information regarding the outstanding equity awards held by our named executive officers as of December 31, 2021.
Option Awards
Option Awards
Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
Exercisable (#)

Zero Option Awards

Number of Securities
Underlying
Unexercised Options
Unexercisable (#)

Option
Exercise
Price ($)

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
Exercisable (#)

Number of Securities
Underlying
Unexercised Options
Unexercisable (#)

Grant Date

Vesting Commencement
Date

Eric Eichmann

1/21/20

1/31/20

364,439

468,561

4.88

28,063

252,561

2/28/27

Chief Executive Officer
Gitte Bendzulla

1/21/20

1/31/20

39,375

50,625

4.88

1,813

16,311

2/28/27

Chief Operating Officer
and Chief Legal Officer

11/30/20

11/30/20

10,500

31,500

4.33

3,250

9,750

12/31/27

David Clark

8/31/21

8/31/21

—

200,000

3.77

—

100,000

9/30/28

Chief Financial Officer
Bert Althaus

1/21/20

1/31/20

50,626

—

4.88

—

—

2/28/27

Former Chief Financial
Officer
Yoon Um

11/30/20

11/30/20

7,500

22,500

4.54

2,000

6,000

12/30/27

6/15/21

6/15/21

—

20,000

5.34

—

12,000

7/15/28

Name

Global Controller
(Interim Principal Financial
Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

Option
Expiration Date

Options Exercises and Stock Vested
Option Awards
Name
Eric Eichmann
Gitte Bendzulla
David Clark
Bert Althaus
Yoon Um
(1)
(2)

Number of Shares
Acquired on Exercise (#)(1)

Stock Awards

Value Realized on
Exercise ($)(2)

91,850
6,215
—
9,016
—

366,347
29,542
—
42,687
—

Number of Shares
Acquired on Vesting (#)

Value Realized on Vesting
($)

—
—
—
—
—

Represents the net shares acquired
Value realized on exercise is based on the difference between the closing price of Spark Networks SE common shares on the date of share transfer and the exercise price.
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—
—
—
—
—

Employment and Other Compensation Arrangements
Eric Eichmann. On November 19, 2019, our wholly-owned subsidiary Spark Networks, Inc. entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Eichmann (the “Eichmann
Employment Agreement”) with respect to his employment as Chief Executive Officer of Spark Networks, Inc. The Eichmann Employment Agreement provides for an annual
base salary of $525,000 and an annual target bonus amount of not less than $300,000. Pursuant to the Eichmann Employment Agreement, if Mr. Eichmann’s employment is
terminated by Spark Networks, Inc. without cause or by Mr. Eichmann with good reason, then (i) if such termination occurs within 18 months of his employment agreement,
Mr. Eichmann will be eligible to receive severance in an amount equal to 18 months of his annual base salary and his annual bonus amount for such period (plus an amount
equal to the then current annual base salary and annual bonus payable to Mr. Eichmann pursuant to the executive director service agreement with Spark Networks SE, as
described further below), paid in the form of salary continuation, as well as reimbursement of COBRA continuation coverage premium payments for 18 months; and (ii) if such
termination occurs more than 18 months following the date of his employment agreement, Mr. Eichmann will be eligible to receive severance in an amount equal to 12 months
of his annual base salary and his annual bonus amount for such period (plus an amount equal to the then current annual base salary and annual bonus payable to Mr. Eichmann
pursuant to the executive director service agreement with the Company), as well as reimbursement of COBRA continuation coverage premium payments for 12 months. Mr.
Eichmann’s eligibility for the foregoing severance is conditioned on Mr. Eichmann having first signed a release agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the Administrative
Board. Spark Networks, Inc. will reimburse Mr. Eichmann for ordinary course expenses incurred in connection with travel between the Berlin, Germany and New York, New
York, and for income tax liabilities to the extent that such liabilities exceed by $25,000 the amount he would have otherwise been obligated to paid had he been subject only to
income taxes in the United States.
Also on November 19, 2019, Spark Networks SE entered into an executive director service agreement with Mr. Eichmann (the “Eichmann Executive Director Service
Agreement”) pursuant to which Mr. Eichmann has an annual base salary of $100,000 (in addition to his salary under his employment agreement with Spark Networks, Inc.). The
term of the Eichmann Executive Director Service Agreement is four years and six months.
Gitte Bendzulla. Ms. Bendzulla has entered into an employment agreement with Spark Networks which provides for an annual fixed compensation (base salary) and an annual
performance award (annual bonus) with a target amount of 30% of her then current fixed gross annual salary. The relevant goals shall be established annually by the
Administrative Board after consultation with Ms. Bendzulla. The final amount of the bonus shall be determined annually by the Administrative Board based on achievement of
the established goals at the same time as the annual financial statements of Spark Networks are approved by Spark Networks’ auditors. The annual bonus, if any, shall be due
and payable at the end of the month following such approval of the annual financial statements. Upon termination of employment, the agreement provides that Ms. Bendzulla
may not compete with Spark Networks for one year provided that Spark Network pays Ms. Bendzulla during such period an amount equal to 50% of her total remuneration
most recently received by her. Spark Networks shall be entitled to waive this non-compete covenant by written declaration at any time, including after the service relationship,
with the effect that Ms. Bendzulla is released of the obligations immediately, and Spark Networks shall be free of the obligation to pay compensation with immediate effect
starting from the date of declaration. Ms. Bendzulla is further entitled to receive a severance payment in the amount equal to six months of her base salary, plus the pro rata
portion of her annual bonus for such year assuming achievement at the 100% level. The severance payment shall be due and payable together with the last regular salary
payment. Any vesting of VSOP or stock option granted to Ms. Bendzulla due to occur within the next 3 months after the effective date of the termination shall continue to vest.
In addition to the fixed and variable remuneration components, under the terms of the agreement, Ms. Bendzulla is entitled to additional benefits and reimbursement of
necessary and reasonable expenses. Ms. Bendzulla’s current base salary is €240,000 and her annual bonus target amount is €72,000.
David Clark. Mr. Clark’s employment agreement with Spark Networks provides for a base salary at an annual rate of $340,000 and an annual bonus with a target amount of not
less than 50% of his annual base salary based on the achievement of individual and Company performance goals to be determined by the Board. In the event that Spark
Networks terminates Mr. Clark’s employment (other than for cause, by death or by disability), Mr. Clark will be eligible to receive an amount equal to one year of his thencurrent annual base salary, payable in the form of salary continuation, and his unvested options shall vest in the number of options that would have vested on the next Vesting
Date (as defined in the LTIP) following the effective date of termination had Mr. Clark remained employed by the Company at that Vesting Date. Such severance shall be
reduced by any remuneration paid to Mr. Clark because of his employment or self-employment during the severance period, and Mr. Clark shall promptly report all such
remuneration to the Company in writing. Mr. Clark’s eligibility for severance is conditioned on him having first signed a release agreement in the form reasonably acceptable to
the Board.
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Also in connection with Mr. Clark’s hiring, Spark Networks SE entered into an executive director service agreement with Mr. Clark pursuant to which Mr. Clark has an annual
base salary of $60,000 (in addition to his salary under his employment agreement with Spark Networks, Inc.). The term of such agreement is in accordance with the German
Corporate Governance Codex limited to 3 years.
Bert Althaus. In connection with Mr. Althaus’ departure from the Company, the Company and Mr. Althaus entered into a termination agreement (the “Termination Agreement”)
pursuant to which Mr. Althaus resigned from his position as a Managing Director, effective as of March 31, 2021, but would remain employed by the Company as Chief
Financial Officer until September 30, 2021 (the “Termination Date”) in order to facilitate a transition of his duties and job responsibilities. In addition, pursuant to the
Termination Agreement, Mr. Althaus received (i) his contractual gross fixed salary until the Termination Date, (ii) a bonus in the amount of EUR 75,000 for the year 2020 and
(iii) a severance payment of EUR 156,250. The Termination Agreement also provided that virtual share options granted to Mr. Althaus under the Company’s 2020 Long Term
Incentive Plan shall continue to vest until July 31, 2021, and Mr. Althaus shall be entitled to retain all virtual share options vested but not yet exercised as of July 31, 2021. Mr.
Althaus departed as Chief Financial Officer in July 2021.
Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control
Eric Eichmann. As described above, the Eichmann Employment Agreement provides if Mr. Eichmann’s employment is terminated by Spark Networks, Inc. without cause or by
Mr. Eichmann with good reason, then (i) if such termination occurs within 18 months of his employment agreement, Mr. Eichmann will be eligible to receive severance in an
amount equal to 18 months of his annual base salary and his annual bonus amount for such period (plus an amount equal to the then current annual base salary and annual bonus
payable to Mr. Eichmann pursuant to the executive director service agreement with Spark Networks SE, as described further below), paid in the form of salary continuation, as
well as reimbursement of COBRA continuation coverage premium payments for 18 months; and (ii) if such termination occurs more than 18 months following the date of his
employment agreement, Mr. Eichmann will be eligible to receive severance in an amount equal to 12 months of his annual base salary and his annual bonus amount for such
period (plus an amount equal to the then current annual base salary and annual bonus payable to Mr. Eichmann pursuant to the executive director service agreement with the
Company), as well as reimbursement of COBRA continuation coverage premium payments for 12 months. Mr. Eichmann’s eligibility for the foregoing severance is conditioned
on Mr. Eichmann having first signed a release agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Board.
Gitte Bendzulla. In case of a termination of her employment by Spark Networks, Ms. Bendzulla is further entitled to receive a severance payment equal to the amount of her
remuneration entitlement for six equal installments of her base salary plus the pro rata variable annual bonus assuming a target achievement of 100%. The severance payment
shall be due and payable together with the last regular salary payment. Any vesting of VSOP or stock option granted to Ms. Bendzulla due to occur within the next 3 months
after the effective date of the termination shall continue to vest. In the event of enforcement of the non-competition clause contained in Ms. Bendzulla employment contract, Ms.
Bendzulla will receive compensation amounting to 50% of the basic remuneration received by her for a period of six months.
David Clark. As described above, in the event that Spark Networks terminates Mr. Clark’s employment (other than for cause, by death or by disability), Mr. Clark will be
eligible to receive an amount equal to one year of his then-current annual base salary, payable in the form of salary continuation and his unvested options shall vest in the
number of options that would have vested on the next Vesting Date (as defined in the LTIP) following the effective date of termination had Mr. Clark remained employed by
the Company at that Vesting Date. Such severance shall be reduced by any remuneration paid to Mr. Clark because of his employment or self-employment during the severance
period, and Mr. Clark shall promptly report all such remuneration to the Company in writing. Mr. Clark’s eligibility for severance is conditioned on him having first signed a
release agreement in the form reasonably acceptable to the Board.
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

The full Board determines compensation of our non-executive directors based on recommendations made by the Nominating, Governance and Compensation Committee (NGC
Committee). The NGC Committee evaluates the form and amount of compensation for non-executive directors periodically and recommends changes to our Board when
appropriate.
Director compensation was established to comply with the German Corporate Governance Code and consequently, director compensation is currently paid solely in the form of
cash. During our 2021 shareholder engagement, questions were specifically asked about why Directors do not receive any of their compensation in the form of equity, as is
customary in the United States. This reflects limitations we are subject to under German law, rather than an active choice to deviate from market norms in a

100

relevant geography for our business, talent and shareholders. Regardless, we believe that the compensation system in place provides a reasonable balance between US and
German compensation practices on the Board and its Committees, and enables us to attract and retain high caliber talent.
Non-executive directors are paid a quarterly retainer for their service on the Board and additional fees to reflect any incremental roles or duties they hold. Directors are not
compensated for attending individual meetings of the Board on a per-meeting basis.
Non-Employee Director Annual
Compensation
€80,000

Role
Board Retainer
Additional Compensation:
Chair of Board
Vice-Chair of Board
Audit Committee Chair
Audit Committee Member(1)
NGC Committee Chair
NGC Committee Member(1)
(1)

€40,000
€20,000
€20,000
€12,500
€18,000
€10,000

Committee chairs are not eligible to receive the member compensation; this time commitment is contemplated in their compensation as chair.

We reimburse all our non-executive directors for all expenses reasonably incurred in connection with their service as a director, including attendance at Board or Committee
meetings.
The following table sets forth the compensation earned by or paid to our non-employee directors for services provided during the year ended December 31, 2021. Other than as
described below, none of our non-employee directors received any fees or reimbursement of any expenses (other than customary expenses in connection with the attendance of
meetings of our Board of Directors) or any equity or non-equity awards in the year ended December 31, 2021. Amounts are converted from the policy values set out above into
US Dollars based on the average 2021 exchange rate of 1.1827.

Name
Axel Hefer
Bangaly Kaba(2)
Bradley J. Goldberg
Colleen Birdnow Brown
Chelsea A. Grayson
Cheryl Michel Law(3)
David Khalil
Joseph E. Whitters(4)

Fees Earned or Paid in Cash
($)
109,400
41,490
139,559
127,490
109,400
64,953
135,312
46,099

Option Awards ($)(1)

(1) The

Total ($)
—
—
—
—
—
—

109,400
41,490
139,559
127,490
109,400
64,953
135,312
46,099

amounts reported in the Option Awards column represent the grant date fair value of the stock options granted to the director during the year ended December 31, 2021 as computed in
accordance with ASC 718. The assumptions used in calculating the grant date fair value of the stock options reported in the Option Awards column are set forth in Note 12. to the audited
consolidated financial statements included in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021. Note that the amounts reported in this column reflect the accounting cost for these stock
options, and do not correspond to the actual economic value that may be received by the named executive officers from the options.
(2) Bangaly Kaba was appointed to the Board of Directors on August 11, 2021.
(3) Cheryl Michel Law was a Director of the Board until August 10, 2021.
(4) Joseph E. Whitters was appointed to the Board of Directors on August 11, 2021.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our ADSs as of March 7, 2022, by:
•

each stockholder known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our common stock;
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•
•
•

each of our directors or director nominees;
each of our named executive officers; and
all of our directors, director nominees and executive officers as a group.

Percentage ownership of our ADSs is based on 26,173,970 ADSs outstanding as of March 7, 2022. We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the
SEC, and thus it represents sole or shared voting or investment power with respect to our securities, and the information is not necessarily indicative of beneficial ownership for
any other purpose. Unless otherwise indicated below, to our knowledge, the persons and entities named in the table have sole voting and sole investment power with respect to
all shares that they beneficially owned, subject to community property laws where applicable. We have deemed all shares subject to options or other convertible securities held
by that person or entity that are currently exercisable or that will become exercisable within 60 days of March 7, 2022 to be outstanding and to be beneficially owned by the
person or entity holding the option for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of that person or entity but have not treated them as outstanding for the purpose of
computing the percentage ownership of any other person or entity. Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner listed in the table below is c/o Spark
Networks SE, Kohlfurter Straße 41/43, Berlin Germany 10999.
Number of ADSs beneficially
owned

Name of beneficial owner
5% stockholders
Osmium Partners, LLC
Named Executive Officers, Directors and Director Nominees
Axel Hefer
Bangaly Kaba
Bradley J. Goldberg
Colleen Birdnow Brown
Chelsea A. Grayson
David Khalil
Joseph E. Whitters
Eric Eichmann
Gitte Bendzulla
David Clark
All current executive officers and directors as a group (10 persons)

Percentage of ADSs beneficially
owned

5,682,091

21.7

%

—
—
50,000
15,000
—
534,842
525,000
105,350
7,316
3,000

—
—
0.2
0.1
—
2.0
2.0
0.4
—
—

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

1,240,508

4.7 %

Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table sets forth certain information, as of December 31, 2021, concerning securities authorized for issuance under all of our equity compensation plans:
Number of Securities to be Issued Upon
Weighted-Average Exercise Price of
Exercise of Outstanding Options, Warrants Outstanding Options, Warrants and
and Right
Right
Plan Category
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders
Total

(a)

(b)

Number of Securities Remaining Available for Future
Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans (Excluding
Securities Reflected in Column (a)
(c)

2,386,296 $

3.56

1,113,704

2,386,296 $

3.56

1,113,704

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
In addition to the compensation arrangements, including employment, termination of employment and change in control arrangements, with our directors and executive officers,
including those discussed in the sections entitled “Management” and
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“Executive Compensation,” the following is a description of each transaction since January 1, 2021 and each currently proposed transaction in which:
•
•
•

we have been or are to be a participant;
the amounts involved exceeded or will exceed the lesser of $120,000 and 1% of our total assets; and
any of our directors, executive officers or holders of more than 5% of our capital stock, or an affiliate or immediate family member of the foregoing persons, had or will
have a direct or indirect material interest.

There have not been, nor are there any currently proposed, transactions or series of similar transactions to which we have been or will be a party other than compensation
arrangements, which are described where required under the section entitled “Executive Compensation.”
Policies and Procedures for Related Party Transactions
Our Board has adopted a written Related-Party Transactions Policy that provides that our executive officers, directors, nominees for election as a director, beneficial owners of
more than 5% of our common stock, and any members of the immediate family of and any entity affiliated with any of the foregoing persons, are not permitted to enter into a
material related person transaction with us without the review and approval of our Audit Committee, or a committee composed solely of independent directors in the event it is
inappropriate for our audit committee to review such transaction due to a conflict of interest. The policy provides that any request for us to enter into a transaction with an
executive officer, director, nominee for election as a director, beneficial owner of more than 5% of our common stock or with any of their immediate family members or
affiliates in which the amount involved exceeds $120,000 will be presented to our Audit Committee (or the committee composed solely of independent directors, if applicable)
for review, consideration and approval. In approving or rejecting any such proposal, we expect that our audit committee (or the committee composed solely of independent
directors, if applicable) will consider the relevant facts and circumstances available and deemed relevant to the Audit Committee (or the committee composed solely of
independent directors, if applicable), including, but not limited to, whether the transaction is on terms no less favorable than terms generally available to an unaffiliated third
party under the same or similar circumstances and the extent of the related person’s interest in the transaction.
In addition, German mandatory stock corporation law provides for administrative board approval and publication of certain related party transaction acceding the threshold of
1.5 percent of the total of fixed assets and the current assets.
Director Independence
The Board of Directors has determined that each of our directors, other than Eric Eichmann, our current Chief Executive Officer, is independent as defined by the Nasdaq rules.
This makes seven of our eight directors independent. The Board of Directors arrived at this determination based on a review of the information provide by each director
concerning his or her background, employment and other affiliations.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
The following table presents fees for professional audit services rendered by (i) KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, our independent auditors for the fiscal year
December 31, 2020, and (ii) BDO USA, LLP, our independent auditors for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 (in thousands).
2021

Fee Category
Audit fees(1)
Tax fees(2)
Total Fees
(1) Audit

2020

$

835
12

$

2,343
21

$

847

$

2,364

fees for 2021 and 2020 include costs associated with the interim procedures and annual audits, including costs associated with the US GAAP conversion in 2020, and
statutory audits required internationally. Total Audit fees in 2020 have been restated from the prior year to include an overrun fee for additional audit-related services, which
were billed in June and July of 2021.
(2) Tax fees for 2021 and 2020 represent tax and VAT compliance.
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Principal Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Our Audit Committee generally pre-approves all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm. These services may
include audit services, audit-related services, tax services and other services. Pre-approval is detailed as to the particular service or category of services and is generally subject
to a specific budget. The independent registered public accounting firm and management are required to periodically report to the Audit Committee regarding the extent of
services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm in accordance with this pre-approval, and the fees for the services performed to date. Our Audit
Committee may also pre-approve particular services on a case-by-case basis. All of the services relating to the fees described in the table above were approved by our Audit
Committee.
PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this Form 10-K:
1.

Financial Statements

Our consolidated financial statements are listed in the “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” under Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
2.

Financial Statement Schedules

Financial statement schedules not listed have been omitted because they are not applicable, or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial statements
or notes thereto.
3.
Exhibit
Number
3.1

Exhibits

Description

Form

File No.

Exhibit
Filing Date

Exhibit No.

Spark Networks SE Amended Articles of Association,
dated August 17, 2021
Rules of Procedure for the Administrative Board of Spark
Networks SE
Form of Specimen Certificate representing Ordinary
Shares of Spark Networks SE

Form 10-Q

001-38252

August 23, 2021

3.1

Form 10-K

001-38252

March 31, 2021

3.3

F-4/A

333-220000

September 29, 2017

4.1

4.2
4.3

Deposit Agreement
Form of American Depositary Receipt

F-6
F-6

333-220610
333-220610

September 25, 2017
September 25, 2017

1
1.A

4.4

Description of Registrant's Securities Registered Under
Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended

20-F

001-38252

June 12, 2020

4.21

10.1†

Executive Director Service Agreement between Spark
Networks SE and Eric Eichmann, dated November 18,
2019*
Employment Agreement between Spark Networks, Inc.,
and Eric Eichmann, dated November 18, 2019*
Managing Director Service Agreement between Spark
Networks SE and Gitte Bendzulla, dated June 26, 2019*
Managing Director Service Agreement between Spark
Networks SE and Bert Althaus, dated September 16,
2019*

3.2
4.1

10.2†
10.3†
10.4†

10.5†
10.6†

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with
Gitte Bendzulla dated December 1, 2020*
Termination Agreement between Spark Networks, Spark
Networks Services GmbH and Bert Althaus dated March
3, 2021*

Filed/Furnished
Herewith

Filed
Filed
Filed
Filed
Filed

8-K

001-38252
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March 5, 2021

10.1

10.7†

Employment Agreement between Spark Networks SE and David
Clark dated as of June 16, 2021*
Managing Director Service Agreement between Spark Networks SE
and David Clark dated as of June 16, 2021*
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Gitte Bendzulla
dated June 15, 2021*
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with David Clark
dated August 10, 2021*
Limited Waiver and First Amendment to Loan Agreement dated May
21, 2020

8-K

20-F

001-38252

June 12, 2020

4.22

10.12
10.13

Second Amendment to Loan Agreement dated December 2, 2020
Limited Waiver under Loan Agreement dated March 5, 2021

6-K
10-Q

001-38252
001-28252

December 3, 2020
August 23, 2021

4.1
10.3

10.14

Spark Networks SE Virtual Stock Option Plan, dated November
2017, including forms of agreements*

S-8

333-222277

December 22, 2017

4.1

10.15

Spark Networks, Inc. 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, including forms
of agreements*
Spark Networks SE Virtual Stock Option Plan, dated March 2018*

8-K

001-32750

July 9, 2007

10.6

20-F

001-38252

April 25, 2018

4.6

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated March 21, 2019 among Spark
Networks SE, Chemistry Inc., Zoosk, Inc. and Fortis Advisors LLC as
the Holders' Representative
Loan Agreement, dated July 1, 2019, among Spark Networks SE,
Zoosk, Inc., Spark Networks, Inc., the subsidiary guarantors party
thereto, the lenders party thereto, and Blue Torch Finance LLC, as
administrative agent and collateral agent

6-K

001-38252

March 22, 2019

2.1

6-K

001-38252

July 2, 2019

10.1

10.19†

Spark Networks SE 2020 Long Term Incentive Plan (including form
of Grant Letter)*

6-K

001-38252

January 30, 2020

10.1

10.20
21.1

Form of Indemnification Agreement
List of Subsidiaries, dated December 31, 2021

10-K

001-38252

March 31, 2021

10.14

23.1

Consent of KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consent of BDO USA, LLP, Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm
Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to rules 13a14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934,
as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

10.8†
10.9†
10.10†
10.11

10.16
10.17

10.18

23.2
31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

101.INS

001-38252

June 17, 2021

10.1
Filed

8-K

001-38252

June 17, 2021

10.2
Filed

Filed
Filed
Filed
Filed

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to rules 13a-14(a)
and 15d-14(a) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002**
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002**

Furnished

Furnished

XBRL Instance Document.

X
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101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

X

101.CAL
101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

X
X

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

X

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

X

†

Registrant has omitted certain portions of the exhibit pursuant to Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K.

*

Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

**

The certifications furnished in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed to accompany this Form 10-K and are not deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise
subject to the liability of that section, nor shall they be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Spark Networks SE
Date: March 16, 2022

By:

/s/ Eric Eichmann
Eric Eichmann
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Name

Title

Date

Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 16, 2022

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 16, 2022

Director, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Legal Counsel

March 16, 2022

Director

March 16, 2022

Director, Vice-Chair of the Board

March 16, 2022

Director, Chair of the Board

March 16, 2022

/s/ Axel Hefer
Axel Hefer

Director

March 16, 2022

/s/ Chelsea A. Grayson
Chelsea A. Grayson

Director

March 16, 2022

/s/ Bangaly Kaba
Bangaly Kaba

Director

March 16, 2022

/s/ Joseph E. Whitters
Joseph E. Whitters

Director

March 16, 2022

/s/ Eric Eichmann
Eric Eichmann
/s/ David Clark
David Clark
/s/ Gitte Bendzulla
Gitte Bendzulla
/s/ David Khalil
David Khalil
/s/ Bradley J. Goldberg
Bradley J. Goldberg
/s/ Colleen Birdnow Brown
Colleen Birdnow Brown
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Execution Version EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR SERVICE AGREEMENT between Spark Networks SE Kohlfurter Straße 41/43 10999 Berlin represented by its Administrative Board, represented by the chairman of the Administrative Board, Mr. David Khalil, hereinafter: “Company” and Eric Eichmann 137 Cooper Av, Montclair, NJ 07043, USA hereinafter: “Executive Director” (Geschäftsführender Direktor) PREAMBLE: By resolution of November 15, 2019 the Company’s Administrative Board has appointed Eric Eichmann as Executive Director and CEO of the Company with effect as of November 18, 2019. This service agreement sets forth the terms and condition of Eric Eichmann’s services as Executive Director of the Company: § 1 POSITION/PLACE OF WORK (1) The Executive Director is, together with additional executive directors, an executive director and the CEO of the Company. (2) The Executive Director’s place of service is at the Company’s registered place of business, currently located in Berlin. The Executive Director is allowed to work partly from New Jersey, USA, while management decisions with regard to the Company shall be taken in Berlin. § 2 MANAGEMENT/REPRESENTATION Exhibit 10.1

(1) The Executive Director shall manage the Company’s business with the due care and diligence of a prudent businessman and in accordance with this Agreement, the lawful instructions issued by the Administrative Board, and in observance of the statutory provisions and the approval requirements, respectively, established by the Company’s most current version of the articles of association and the rules for procedures for the Executive Directors as well as any other Company’s guidelines, including the code of conduct. (2) Without impacting its right to issue instructions, the Administrative Board may issue reasonable rules of procedure for the management that distinguish the duties and responsibilities of several executive directors from one another. The Executive Director shall comply with the provisions of such rules of procedure as adopted from time to time when managing the Company’s business as well as in representing the Company. (3) The Executive Director shall represent the Company together with another executive director or together with an executive officer vested with power of commercial representation under German law (Prokurist). The Company may appoint additional executive directors. The Company may determine the power of representation at its own discretion and amend the same at any time. (4) The content and scope of the Executive Director’s power of representation and authority to sign are determined by the Administrative Board. (5) The Executive Director shall carry out the Company’s employer’s rights and obligations under labor and social insurance law. (6) The Executive Director can be appointed as the representative of businesses associated with the Company (“Associated Companies”) within the meaning of Sec. 15 AktG (German Stock Corporation Act). Except as set forth in the Employment Agreement dated as of the date hereof between Executive Director, the Company and Spark Networks, Inc. (the “US-Contract”) the Executive Director shall not receive any additional compensation for such services. The Executive Director shall at any time upon the Company’s request, and unsolicited, at the latest upon expiration of this Agreement resign from all of the aforementioned offices. § 3 DURATION OF
THE AGREEMENT (1) The Executive Director’s service agreement shall enter into full force and effect as of November 18, 2019, and run for a fixed term of four years and six months. It can be terminated before such expiry date by either party honoring (a) a six months’ notice period if the termination occurs within twelve months following Executive Director’s commencement of employment with the Company, or (b) a 75 day notice period if the termination occurs more than twelve months following Executive Director’s commencement of employment with the Company, unless in case of a termination for important reason. Executive Director shall be entitled to receive his regular remuneration and benefits for the full notice period, regardless of whether all or a part of the notice period is waived by the Company (for the avoidance of doubt, such payments and benefits shall not offset any Severance payable to Executive Director under the US- Contract). This Agreement shall end, without dismissal being necessary, at the end of the month in which the Executive Director reaches the age of retirement of the statutory pension fund (which shall be treated as a termination by the Company and Spark Networks, Inc. without Cause under the US-Contract), or if a complete reduction in his earning capacity is determined. (2) Notice of termination shall be in writing.

(3) The appointment as Executive Director may be revoked at any time by resolution of the Company’s Administrative Board. (4) If the agreement of the Executive Director with Spark Networks, Inc. is terminated or if the appointment as Executive Director is revoked by way of an Administrative Board’ resolution, notification of the termination or notice of the revocation to the Executive Director by the Company shall simultaneously be considered to be termination of this Agreement, effective as of the next possible date. If the termination of the agreement with Spark Networks, Inc. or the revocation is due to grounds that do not constitute cause for termination in accordance with Sec. 626 BGB (German Civil Code), this Service Agreement shall end upon the expiration of the notice period as stipulated under Sec. 3 (1) of this agreement. (5) Upon receipt of termination notice or in the event that the Executive Director is suspended or his term of office ends, the Company is entitled to release the Executive Director from his duties, insofar as the Company’s interests outweigh the Executive Director’s interest in continued service. Upon such release, all vacation claims shall be deemed as having been taken. § 4 REMUNERATION (1) As remuneration for his services, the Executive Director shall receive a fixed gross annual salary in the amount of USD 100,000.00 (in words: USD one hundred thousand). The agreed fixed gross annual salary is due and payable in 12 equal installments at the end of each calendar month, less taxes and social contributions. If the Executive Director begins or ends his job during the calendar year and the contractual year is thus shorter than the calendar year, the fixed gross annual salary shall be due on a pro-rata basis. (2) The Company anticipates adopting a Virtual Stock Option Plan (VSOP) and/or a similar stock-option program in accordance with applicable law on or before January 31, 2020. The Executive Director shall be entitled to participate in any such VSOP and/or stock- option program. In the event the Company has not implemented such a plan or program in which the Executive Director is a participant by January 31, 2020 for any reason, the Company shall pay the Executive Director a one-time lump sum
cash compensation in the amount of USD $1.5 million on the Company’s next regular pay date following such date. (3) This remuneration set forth in this Agreement and the remuneration received under the US-Contract compensates any work performed by the Executive Director. No separate remuneration will be paid for extra work, overtime, or work on Sundays or statutory holidays. § 5 FRINGE BENEFITS AND INSURANCE (1) The Company shall pay the employer's social security contributions and any mandatory health insurance contributions if the Executive Director should be subject to German statutory social insurance contributions. (2) The Company shall include the Executive Director in its financial loss liability insurance (D&O insurance) so that the Executive Director is insured in the event of a claim by a third party or by the Company for breaches of duty committed during the performance of his duties to the Company, Spark Networks, Inc., and any other Associated Companies upon terms and conditions no less favorable than for other senior executives of the Company. The Company shall be entitled to change the respective financial loss liability

insurance even without the consent of the Executive Director provided that any such change applies generally to all senior executives of the Company and Spark Networks, Inc. The parties agree on a deductible of 10% of the damage, limited to one and a half times the amount of the annual gross salary pursuant to Sec. 4 and the sum of Annual Base Salary and the Annual Bonus under the US-Contract (as such terms are defined in the US-Contract). (3) The Company shall take out an accident insurance policy for the benefit of the Executive Director or his surviving dependents with an insured sum of EUR 900,000 in the event of death and EUR 1,800,000 in the event of disability. Cover is provided for accidents of any kind, regardless of whether the accident occurred within a professional or a private context. The insurance shall be effective as of the date Executive Director commences employment with the Company (or as soon as administratively possible thereafter) and expire upon termination of this Service Agreement. (4) Entitlements to a retirement, invalidity, or survivor’s pension financed by the Company shall not result from this Service Agreement. In order to substantiate such claims, a separate written agreement must be concluded. § 6 VACATION (1) The Executive Director is entitled to annual vacation leave of 27 working days per calendar year. ‘Working days’ refers to all calendar days which at the location of employment are neither Saturdays, Sundays, nor statutory holidays. Should this Agreement begin or end during the year, the Executive Director is entitled to prorated vacation time. The vacation leave shall be scheduled taking into consideration the Company’s interests in agreement with the other Executive Directors. If the Executive Director is taking vacation days under his US-Contract, this shall at the same time constitute a vacation day under this Agreement. (2) The entire annual vacation leave shall, as a rule, be taken during the current calendar year. Vacation leave may be carried forward to the following calendar year only if justified either for urgent operational reasons or for personal reasons of the Executive Director. (3) The Executive Director shall ensure that he remains reachable on reasonably short notice even
while on vacation. § 7 CONTINUED PAYMENT OF RENUMERATION IN CASE OF ILLESS OR DEATH (1) In the event of illness or any other hindrance occurring through no fault of his own that prevents him from executing his job during his service, the Executive Director shall be entitled to continued payment of his pro-rata remuneration pursuant to Sec. 4 (1) of this Agreement for a duration of up to six months; at the longest, however, until expiration of this Agreement. The Executive Director must allow these payments to be set off against any sick pay, daily benefits or pension payments he receives from health insurance or other insurances to the extent that these payments are not based exclusively on his contributions, unless otherwise provided under such other programs. The Executive Director shall notify the Company without undue delay and comprehensively of all payments of this sort. (2) The Executive Director shall inform the Company immediately of any inability to work and its expected duration and shall provide the reasons for such inability upon the Company’s request. The Executive Director shall without request provide the Company

with a medical certificate at the latest on the third calendar day of his illness, confirming his inability to work and its probable duration. The notification shall be made to another executive director or, if there is no other executive director, to the chairman of the Administrative Board. (3) In the event of the Executive Director’s death during the term of this Agreement, the pro- rata remuneration must continue to be paid pursuant to Sec. 4 (1) of this Agreement for the month of death and the two subsequent months to the Executive Director’s spouse, alternatively to the Executive Director’s dependent children (the latter as the owner of joint rights); at the longest, however, until the expiration of this Agreement. With the payment to the bank account designated by the Executive Director for remuneration payments, the Company shall be released from its payment obligation. § 8 REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES For business entertainment of business partners and on business trips, the Executive Director is entitled to reimbursement of his reasonable expenses, if the Executive Director has incurred such expenses in the interest of the Company. Should the expenses spent exceed the permissible lump-sum allowance according to tax provisions, the Executive Director must show proof of these expenses in detail by submitting proper receipts and invoices. In addition, the respective most current guidelines of the Company on travel and other expenses shall apply, which are, in this respect, an integral part of this Agreement. Any reimbursement can only occur once, either under this Service Agreement or under the US- Contract. § 9 BUSINESS TRAVEL The Company shall reimburse travel expenses on the basis of receipts in accordance with the applicable tax directives and the Company guidelines. In the case that the Executive Director travels by train, the 1st class fare will be reimbursed; when traveling by plane, economy class tickets will be reimbursed; or, if the flight duration is more than 5.5 hours, business class tickets will be reimbursed. The Company will reimburse the Executive Director for reasonable costs of his regular trips from New York, USA to Berlin, including airfare, ground transportation, meals and accommodation. Any reimbursement can only occur
once, either under this Service Agreement or under the US-Contract. § 10 LENGTH OF SERVICE IN THE COMPANY/NON-COMPETITION CLAUSE/SIDE ACTIVITIES (1) The Executive Director shall devote all of his working time to the Company and promote the interests of the Company to the best of his ability. If the common good of the Company requires, the Executive Director shall be available to the Company after normal business hours and, if necessary in safeguarding its interests, on Sundays and statutory holidays as well. (2) For the duration of this Agreement the Executive Director undertakes not to assume a competing position, either independently or dependently, as an employee or as an entrepreneur or in any other manner; either directly or indirectly through investment; to become active in any way for a company that directly competes with the Company; or to work for an Associated Company without the prior consent of the Administrative Board. (3) Any paid employment or customarily paid activity, any investments in businesses, as well

as any membership on supervisory or advisory boards of other companies or other institutions, requires the prior written notification of the Company by the Executive Director and shall be subject to prior explicit written consent from the Administrative Board. For business reasons, in particular if the Executive Director’s job is suffering any material adverse effects, any such consent may be revoked at any time. In performing any side activities, the Executive Director shall exercise a strict duty of loyalty vis-à-vis the Company and Associated Companies, and in the course of carrying out these side activities shall not negatively impact the business interests or any other interests of the Company. The customary acquisition of securities for purposes of personal asset management shall be excluded from the duty to obtain consent. § 11 POST-CONTRACTUAL NON-COMPETE COVENANT (1) The Executive Director shall be prohibited, for a period of one year after the end of this Agreement, from working in any form – be it as an employee, or on a self-employed or any other basis – for an undertaking that competes directly or indirectly with the Company or which is affiliated with a competing undertaking. The Executive Director shall likewise be prohibited from setting up, acquiring or holding a direct or indirect interest in such an undertaking during this period. This non-competition covenant shall also apply in favor of undertakings affiliated with the Company. Acquiring up to 5% interests in a company is not subject of this non-competition covenant. The post- contractual non-compete covenant does not apply to subordinated, basic activities of the Executive Director for a competing undertaking without a connection to the Executive Director’s activity as Executive Director for the Company. Advisory activities are, regardless of their temporal scope or economic output, no subordinated, basic activities in this sense. (2) The non-compete covenant shall cover all countries in which the Company or an Affiliated Company is active at the time of the Executive Director’s departure from the Company. (3) During the term of the non-compete covenant, the Executive Director shall receive compensation in the amount of 50% of the total fixed
remuneration most recently received by him under Sec. 4 (1) of this Agreement. The Executive Director shall not receive any compensation during the term of the non-compete covenant to the extent he receives a Severance according to Section 4 (b) of the US-Contract. (4) The Company shall be entitled to waive this non-compete covenant by written declaration at any time, including after the employment, with the effect that the Executive Director is released of the obligations immediately. (5) Should the employment with the Executive Director be terminated by the Company without notice due to a material and intentional breach of contract, the claim to compensation pursuant to paragraph 3 shall lapse. (6) The post-contractual non-compete covenant shall not apply if the Executive Director has reached the statutory retirement age (Regelaltersgrenze) designated by the statutory pension scheme on his departure from the Company. (7) For each action resulting in the culpable breach of the non-competition or non-solicit covenant, the Executive Director shall pay a contractual penalty equal to the gross

monthly salary most recently received by him. Should the breach consist of participating in the capital of a competing undertaking or entering into a contract for the performance of a continuing obligation (e.g. an employment, service, commercial agency or consultancy contract), the contractual penalty shall be imposed anew for each full or partial month in which the capital participation or the contract for the performance of a continuing obligation exists (ongoing breach). Multiple breaches shall each trigger a separate contractual penalty, possibly also more than once within one month. However, if individual breaches occur within the scope of an ongoing breach, they shall be covered by the contractual penalty owed for the ongoing breach. Where several contractual penalties are imposed, the total amount of the penalties to be paid shall be limited to six times the gross monthly salary most recently received by the Executive Director. The Company reserves the right to assert damages over and above the contractual penalty imposed, as well as to assert all other statutory claims and legal consequences arising from a breach (e.g. cease and desist claims, forfeiture of the claim to compensation for non-competition for the duration of the breach, etc.). (8) Insofar as the aforesaid provisions do not stipulate otherwise, sections 74 et seq. German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch – HGB), with the exception of Sec. 75 para 2 HGB, this shall in particular apply to the reduction of contractual provisions to what is legally permissible pursuant to Sec. 74a HGB. § 12 NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT/RETURN OF COMPANY PROPERTY AND DOCUMENTS/INVENTIONS (1) For the duration of this Agreement and after expiration thereof, the Executive Director shall be obligated to maintain the utmost secrecy with regard to all confidential information on the business or on special matters of the Company and furthermore not to exploit this information for his own or third party use. This non-disclosure obligation refers in particular to the strategic plans of the Company and Associated Companies as well as to executed and scheduled transactions of the Company and Associated Companies; to all information on products and product developments and product
planning, on price structuring, customer relationships and supplier contacts, other contractual relationships, agreements, marketing strategies, on plans or analyses of market potential and investment possibilities; and to information on sales, profits, productivity, financing, fundraising plans or fundraising activities, and personnel and personnel planning of the Company and its Associated Companies. (2) At any time upon the Company’s request, and unsolicited, at the latest upon expiration of this Agreement, the Executive Director shall return to the Company all objects in his possession that are the property of the Company or of Associated Companies, or which were provided to him by the Company or Associated Companies, in particular also those files and other documents concerning the business operations of the Company or Associated Companies, as well as copies thereof or electronically stored media that contain the contents of such documents, as well as any copies thereof. This obligation to return the aforementioned objects shall apply especially to any object that may have been entrusted to the Executive Director, such as a laptop, blackberry telephone, or mobile telephone, even insofar as their use was permitted for private purposes. (3) The Company shall be exclusively entitled to inventions made by the Executive Director during the term of this Service Agreement. This shall also apply to technical and organizational suggestions for improvement that result directly or indirectly from the Executive Director’s tasks, or are related to them. The Executive Director shall be obligated to notify the Company, or a person designated by it, in writing of any inventions and suggestions for improvement without delay, and to assist the Company in

obtaining patent protection and other intellectual property rights. The Executive director shall not have a claim to separate remuneration for inventions and suggestions for improvement. Compensation for the Executive Director’s performance shall be covered by the remuneration agreed upon in this Agreement. (4) Additionally, the regulations set forth in Exhibit A on Intellectual Property Rights and Confidential Information constitute an integral part of this Service Agreement and shall prevail in case of doubt. § 13 PRIVATE USE (1) The Company’s IT equipment (computers and devices), tele-communications equipment (telephones, telefax), and photocopying machines are reserved for business purposes, however, may be used by the Executive Director for private purposes to a limited extent. (2) The obligation to use the IT service exclusively for business purposes applies, however, to the use of e-mail and Internet. Should the Employee nevertheless receive e-mails with private content, these must be deleted immediately and completely. § 14 FORFEITURE OF CLAIMS (1) All claims arising from and related to the employment relationship shall be forfeited if not asserted vis-à-vis the respective other party in text form within six months after their due date. This does not include claims resulting from injury to life, body, or health, as well as claims resulting from breaches of contract. (2) If the opposing party objects to the claim or if he does not answer within four weeks after the claim has been made pursuant to para. (1), the claims shall be forfeited unless they are asserted in court within six months of the objection, or after the abovementioned answer period has run out. § 15 FINAL PROVISIONS (1) No arrangements have been concluded outside of this Agreement and the US-Contract. (2) Modifications or addenda to this Agreement must be made in writing to be valid, and shall be subject to the explicit approval of the Administrative Board. The same shall apply for the cancellation of this written form clause. (3) The assertion of claims solely based on documentary evidence (“Urkundsverfahren”) shall be excluded. (4) Should individual provisions of this Agreement be or become invalid, this shall not affect the validity of the
remaining provisions in case of doubt. To replace the invalid provision or to fill any potential gap, an appropriate provision must be agreed upon that comes closest to fulfilling the commercial purpose intended by the contractual parties, or the provision that corresponds to what would have been agreed upon in accordance with the whole purpose of this Agreement, had the matter been deliberated at the outset. (5) The laws of the Federal Republic of Germany shall apply to all disputes regarding the validity of this Agreement as well as to claims arising from and in connection with this agreement.

Exhibit A to the Executive Director Service Agreement on Intellectual Property Rights and Confidential Information sf-4133995 This Exhibit A forms an integral part of the Managing Director Service Contract (hereinafter, the “Service Agreement”) entered into by Spark Networks SE (“Company”) and Mr. Eric Eichmann (“Executive Director”). § 1 DEFINITIONS. In this Exhibit A, the following terms shall have the meaning assigned to it herein: “Affiliates” mean affiliated companies within the meaning of Section 15 German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz). “Company Confidential Information” means (i) all data, know-how, creations, inventions, TradeSecrets, as well as any other information relating to the business of the Company or its Affiliates(regardless of whether such information is marked “protected” or “confidential”) that is disclosed or otherwise made accessible to Executive Director by the Company, by one of its Affiliates, or by a third party, or to which he otherwise has access, and (ii) information that Executive Director creates alone or together with others within the scope of the Service Agreement, both, (i) and (ii), includinginformation relating to turnover, customers, marketing strategies, current or future products, services,trademarks, Internet domains, business plans, financial and personnel matters, or relating to technical matters such as source codes or object codes, data, programs, processes or designs; whereby Company Confidential Information does not include information which (1) prior to its disclosure by the Company, by one of its Affiliates, or by a third party, or prior to its creation by Executive Director, was, or later became, publicly known without Executive Director or a third party having violated a confidentiality obligation, (2) was known to Executive Director prior to its disclosure by the Company, by one of itsAffiliates, or by a third party, (3) was developed by Executive Director apart from its contractual relationship with the Company and without violating this Exhibit A, or (4) was received by Executive Director from a third party without that third party having been obligated to keep such informationconfidential. “Company Intellectual Property” means Intellectual Property that is conceived, created,
developedor learned by Executive Director either alone or jointly with others, during the term of the Service Agreement and (i) within the scope of the Service Agreement, or (ii) largely based upon the experiences or workings of the Company’s operations, and which does not qualify as Unrelated Intellectual Property. “Intellectual Property” means any discoveries, inventions, technical developments, patents and utility models, trade secrets, know-how, trademarks and design rights, and all applications thereof, works of authorship, including software in form of object and source code, as well as any exploitation rights (Nutzungs- und Verwertungsrechte) associated there with, and any other form of intellectualproperty which may now or in the future exist. “Moral Rights” means (i) the right to decide whether and how a copyrighted work is to be published, (ii) the right to access one’s own copyrighted work, (iii) the right to be named as the author of a copyrighted work, (iv) the right to take action against distortions of one’s own copyrighted work, as well as all other recognized rights of this kind. The term “Moral Rights” excludes the right to be named as an inventor of a patentable invention. “Previous Intellectual Property” means any Intellectual Property conceived, created, developed or learned by Executive Director either alone or jointly with others prior to the effective date of theService Agreement.

2 sf-4133995 “Trade Secrets” means any and all confidential and protected information that actually has, or might possibly have, independent economic value because it is not generally known and therefore also not known to such persons who could achieve an economic profit from its disclosure or use, and concerning which the owner takes measures to maintain confidentiality to an appropriate extent.“Unrelated Intellectual Property” means Intellectual Property reduced to practice, conceived, created, developed or learned by Executive Director either alone or jointly with others during the term of the Service Agreement but without the use of technologies, professional knowledge, data, TradeSecrets, or operating capital of the Company or otherwise outside the scope of the Service Agreement. § 2 COMPANY CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION. (1) During the term of the Service Agreement, Executive Director will treat Company Confidential Information as strictly confidential and not disclose it to third parties or make it publicly accessible, unless required by law or based on a court order, or unless this occurs based on the express instructions of the Company, either in writing or by email. (2) Executive Director acknowledges that Company Confidential Information is the sole property of the Company and that it may only be used within the scope of Executive Director’s work at the Company and only for the specific purpose for which it was entrusted to him. Company Confidential Information may be made accessible to other Employees of the Company only on a “need to know” basis. (3) Executive Director acknowledges that the obligations under § 2 (1) and (2) – to the extent legally permissible – continue to apply after termination of the Service Agreement, particularly with respect to Trade Secrets which are of central importance for the Company. (4) Executive Director will carefully document all Company Confidential Information he creates either alone or together with third parties, and bring it to the notice of the Company without delay. He will handle carefully all Company Confidential Information with which he is entrusted, and adequately ensure that it is not inadvertently disclosed by him. (5) Executive Director will
not transport Company Confidential Information out of the business premises of the Company or download such information from Company's IT systems without the consent of the Company. Executive Director acknowledges that all records of Company Confidential Information have to be made available to the Company at all times and must be surrendered to the Company by him upon the Company’s request. After termination of the Service Agreement, Executive Director will not retain any physical or electronic copies of Company Confidential Information. (6) In performance of his obligations under the Service Agreement, Executive Director will not use or disclose any confidential information or Trade Secrets of former employers or other third parties without the prior consent of the respective former employer or other authorized third party, nor will he bring such information into the business premises of the Company or introduce such information into IT systems of the Company. § 3 COMPANY INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY. (1) Executive Director is obligated to inform the Company without delay about all Company Intellectual Property.

3 sf-4133995 (2) Executive Director hereby irrevocably assigns to the Company in advance all of his rights to the Company Intellectual Property to the extent that they are assignable under applicable law. The Company accepts the assignment of the rights. (3) To the extent that an assignment of rights pursuant to § 3 (2) is not permissible under applicable law, in particular with regard to such Intellectual Property which is protected by the German Copyright Act (Urhebergesetz), Executive Director hereby grants the Company an irrevocable, worldwide, exclusive, transferable, sub-licensable (through multiple tiers), fully-paid up, royalty- free and unlimited right to use and exploit the rights in the Company Intellectual Property, including the rights in the original and the unlimited right to create derivative works or otherwise change, modify or translate the work without any further consent, and including the right to reproduce, distribute, make publicly available or otherwise use the Company Intellectual Property or parts thereof, in any medium in analog or digital form or in any mode of exploitation – known or unknown at the time of signing the Service Agreement – for any purpose whatsoever. To exercise all or part of the rights under this provision, no further consent by the Executive Director is required. Executive Director's rights under Section 31a of the German Copyright Act (Urhebergesetz) remain unaffected. The Company is under no obligation to register or exploit the rights of use. The Company accepts the granting of the license. (4) The right of revocation due to non-exercise (Section 41 of the German Copyright Act (Urhebergesetz)) shall be excluded, (i) insofar as the revocation affects the interests of the Company, in its entirety, and (ii) otherwise, if applicable, for a period of two (2) years commencing with the granting of the right to the respective copyrighted work or, if the work result is delivered later, with delivery of the copyrighted work. A revocation due to non-exercise can only be declared after Executive Director provides the Company with written notice of an additional grace period of two (2) years, requesting in detail the types of use. (5) Executive Director hereby waives, to the extent permissible by law, his Moral Rights to the Company
Intellectual Property vis-à-vis the Company. For clarity, this does not preclude Executive Director’s right to be named as the inventor if a work result is applied for as a patent or utility model. (6) In the event of termination of the Service Agreement, Company Intellectual Property shall remain with the Company for further exclusive, worldwide, unlimited and unrestricted use and exploitation in accordance with § 3 (1) to (5), irrespective of the termination event. A right of access to the Company Intellectual Property in favor of Executive Director is expressly excluded. § 4 UNRELATED INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY; PREVIOUS INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY. (1) With regard to any Unrelated Intellectual Property that pertains to the business purpose of the Company, Executive Director undertakes to inform the Company in writing (e-mail shall suffice) of the accrual of such Unrelated Intellectual Property and to offer the Company a non-exclusive and unrestricted right of use which otherwise, in terms of content and scope, shall correspond to the license grant under § 3 (3) to (6), for reasonable remuneration. (2) Executive Director shall not, without the prior written consent of the Company, incorporate Unrelated Intellectual Property or Previous Intellectual Property into any of Company's products or services. If Executive Director, contrary to his aforementioned obligation, incorporates or has incorporated any Unrelated Intellectual Property or any Previous Intellectual Property into products or services of the Company without the prior written consent of the Company and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the parties, he hereby grants to the Company and the Company accepts a right

4 sf-4133995 to use and exploit the respective Intellectual Property in connection with the products or servicesin question, which, in terms of content and scope, corresponds to the license grant under § 3 (3) to (6). § 5 COOPERATION REGARDING COMPANY INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY; POWER OF ATTORNEY. Upon the Company's reasonable request, Executive Director will support the Company, both during the term of the Service Agreement and thereafter, in the registration, maintenance, defense, or assertion of the Company Intellectual Property rights and will issue all declarations and do all acts that are required in such context. If the Company is unable to secure the signature of Executive Director for any declarations required in connection with the aforementioned measures, he hereby irrevocably authorizes the Company to make the respective declaration or do the relevant act on his behalf. § 6 USE OF OPEN SOURCE SOFTWARE. Executive Director assures that without the approval of the Company, either in writing or by email, he does not incorporate any software into the products or services of the Company in such a way as would necessitate the publication or licensing of the source codes of the software of the Company under anyapplicable GNU General Public License, a Lesser General Public License or a similar license.§ 7 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST. Executive Director confirms that his work at the Company is not in conflict with any agreement with a former employer or with any agreement with a third party. § 8 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. Executive Director represents and warrants to the Company that he (i) is the sole owner of the Company Intellectual Property at the time of creation or development and has the right to transfer the Company Intellectual Property to the Company free of any third party rights and other encumbrances in rem of any kind whatsoever or, if this is not possible, to at least grant an exclusive right of use, (ii) will discloseTrade Secrets of third parties to the Company and, in the performance of the Service Agreement, use such Trade Secrets only to the extent permitted pursuant to § 2 (6), and (iii) will fully comply with the confidentiality obligations
pursuant to § 2.§ 9 NO ADDITIONAL REMUNERATION. (1) Unless otherwise expressly agreed herein, all rights assignments, granting of licenses, waivers, cooperation obligations and confidentiality obligations under this Exhibit A are deemed to be completely covered by the payments or other remuneration for services rendered for the Company pursuant to the Service Agreement. The payments and/or other remuneration also cover exploitation successes and any proceeds from sales and/or license agreements with third parties. This shall apply irrespective of whether it concerns Company Intellectual Property or Unrelated Intellectual Property. The provisions in Sections 32, 32a and 32c of the German Copyright Act (Urhebergesetz) remain unaffected. (2) With regard to the support rendered pursuant to § 5, the parties agree that Executive Director shall (i) during the term of the Service Agreement render such support during normal working hours and against no additional compensation, but shall be reimbursed for the reasonable and actual costs incurred by the submission of declarations or documents, if any, and (ii), after the term of the Service Agreement, receive a reasonable daily rate and/or, as the case may be, reimbursement for

5 sf-4133995 all reasonable and actual costs incurred as result of the Company’s request to submit declarationsor documents, if any. § 10 GENERAL PROVISIONS. (1) This Exhibit A is an integral part of the Service Agreement. The regulations contained herein shall have precedence insofar as special terms are set out herein. (2) Provisions of this Exhibit A shall survive the termination of the Service Agreement to the extent explicitly provided herein or to the extent the nature of the rights or obligations require it. [end]

Exhibit 10.2

EU-265723 v1 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR SERVICE AGREEMENT between Spark Networks SE Kohlfurter Straße 41/43 10999 Berlin, Germany represented by its Administrative Board,represented by the chairman of the Administrative Board, Mr. David Khalil,hereinafter: “Company” and Gitte BendzullaDanziger Strasse 75, 10405 Berlin hereinafter: “Executive Director”(Geschäftsführender Direktor)PREAMBLE: By resolution of June 26, 2019 the Company’s Administrative Board has appointed Gitte Ben- dzulla as executive director of the Company with effect as of January 1, 2020. This Executive Director Service Agreement (hereinafter “Agreement”) replaces all prior and existing agreements among the Company and the Executive Director. It sets forth the terms and condition of Gitte Bendzulla’s services as executive director of the Company: § 1 POSITION/PLACE OF WORK (1) The Executive Director is, together with additional executive directors, an executive director and the General Counsel of the Company. (2) As General Counsel of the Company, the Executive Director is providing independent and autonomous analysis of operationally relevant legal issues; independent assessments and Exhibit 10.3

- 2 - EU-265723 v1 presentation of legal solutions with regard to specific operational questions; advice for rele- vant legal questions; independent assessment of possible legal solutions, autonomous negoti- ations of contracts and other arrangements with third parties. The Executive Director is notsubject to instructions of the Company or the administrative Board when it comes to legal guidance. (3) The Executive Director’s place of service is at the Company’s registered place of business, currently located in Berlin. § 2 MANAGEMENT/REPRESENTATION (1) The Executive Director shall manage the Company’s business with the due care and diligence of a prudent businessman and in accordance with this Agreement, the instructions issued by the Administrative Board, and in observance of the statutory provisions and the approval re- quirements, respectively, established by the Company’s most current version of the articles of association and the rules for procedures for the Executive Directors as well as any other Com- pany’s guidelines, including the code of conduct. (2) Without impacting its right to issue instructions, the Administrative Board may issue rules of procedure for the management that distinguish the duties and responsibilities of several exec- utive directors from one another. The Executive Director shall comply with the provisions of such rules of procedure as adopted from time to time when managing the Company’s business as well as in representing the Company. (3) The Executive Director shall represent the Company together with another executive director or together with an executive officer vested with power of commercial representation under German law (Prokurist). The Company may appoint additional executive directors. The Com- pany may determine the power of representation at its own discretion and amend the same at any time. (4) The content and scope of the Executive Director’s power of representation and authority to sign are determined by the Administrative Board. (5) The Executive Director shall carry out the Company’s employer’s rights and obligations under labor and social insurance law. (6) The Executive Director’s responsibilities and obligations include her appointment as the representative of businesses associated with the Company (“Associated Companies”) within the meaning of Sec. 15 AktG (German Stock Corporation Act). The Executive Director shall not receive an additional compensation in this respect. The Executive Director shall at any time upon the Company’s request, and unsolicited, at the latest upon expiration of this Agreement resign from all of the aforementioned offices. § 3 DURATION OF THE AGREEMENT (1) This Agreement shall enter into full force and effect as of January 1, 2020, and run for an indefinite term, and can be terminated by either party honoring a six months’ notice period to the end of each month.

- 3 - EU-265723 v1 (2) In case the company terminates the Agreement in accordance with sec. 3 (1) the Managing Director shall be entitled to receive a severance payment equal to the amount of her remuner- ation entitlement for three equal installments under sect. 4 plus the pro rata variable annual bonus assuming a target achievement of 100%. The severance payment shall be due and pay- able together with the last regular salary payment. Any vesting of VSOP or stock option granted to the Managing Director under sect. 4 (3) due to occur within the next 3 months after the effective date of the termination shall continue to vest. (3) This Agreement shall end, without dismissal being necessary, at the end of the month in which the Executive Director reaches the age of retirement of the statutory pension fund, or if a complete reduction in her earning capacity is determined. (4) The right to termination without notice for good cause shall remain unaffected. (5) Notice of termination shall be in writing. (6) The appointment as Executive Director may be revoked at any time by resolution of the Com- pany’s Administrative Board. (7) If the appointment as Executive Director is revoked by way of an Administrative Board’ res- olution, notification of the revocation to the Executive Director by the Company shall simul- taneously be considered to be termination of this Agreement, effective as of the next possible date. If the revocation is due to grounds that do not constitute cause for termination in accord- ance with Sec. 626 BGB (German Civil Code), this Agreement shall end upon the expiration of the notice period as stipulated under Sec. 3 (1) of this Agreement. Sec. 3 (2) shall apply accordingly. (8) Upon receipt of termination notice or in the event that the Executive Director is suspended or her term of office ends, the Company is entitled to irrevocably release the Executive Director from her duties, insofar as the Company’s interests outweigh the Executive Director’s interest in continued service. Upon such release, all vacation claims shall be deemed as having been taken. § 4 REMUNERATION (1) As remuneration for her services, the Executive Director shall receive a fixed gross annual salary in the amount of EUR 200,000.00 (in words: EUR two
hundred thousand) The agreed fixed gross annual salary is due and payable in 12 equal installments at the end of each calen- dar month, less taxes and social contributions. If the Executive Director begins or ends her job during the calendar year and the contractual year is thus shorter than the calendar year, the fixed gross annual salary shall be due on a pro-rata basis. (2) The Executive Director shall furthermore be eligible to a discretionary annual bonus in the amount of up to EUR 60,000.00 (in words: EUR sixty thousand) gross. The relevant goals and corresponding bonus payments shall be established annually before the start of the next cal- endar year by the Administrative Board after consultation of the Executive Director. The final amount of the bonus shall then be determined annually by the Administrative Board based on target achievement at the same time as the annual financial statements of the Company are approved by the Company’s auditors. The annual bonus, if any, shall be due and payable at the end of the month following this approval of the annual financial statements.

- 4 - EU-265723 v1 For 2020, the targets and a corresponding bonus payments re set out in Annex 1 to this Agree- ment. (3) The Executive Director participates in a Virtual Stock Option Plan (VSOP) and/or a stock- option program of the Company in accordance with applicable law as specified in a separate letter of grant. (4) This remuneration compensates any work performed by the Executive Director. No separate remuneration will be paid for extra work, overtime, or work on Sundays or statutory holidays. § 5 FRINGE BENEFITS UND INSURANCE (1) The Company shall pay the employer's social security contributions if the Executive Director is subject to statutory social insurance contributions. The company shall continue to pay the Executive Director a subsidy for private health insurance in the amount of the employer's contribution as it would exist in the case of statutory health insurance, but not to exceed half of the amount which the Executive Director has to pay for her health insurance, and limited as in the case of statutory health insurance and as in the case of statutory contributions pursuant to Book V of the Social Code. (2) The Company shall include the Executive Director in its financial loss liability insurance (D&O insurance) so that the Executive Director is insured in the event of a claim by a third party or by the Company for breaches of duty committed during the performance of her duties. The Company shall be entitled to change the respective financial loss liability insurance even without the consent of the Executive Director. The Parties agree on a deductible of 10% of the damage, limited to one and a half times the amount of the annual gross salary pursuant to Sec. 4. (3) The Company shall take out an accident insurance policy for the benefit of the Executive Director or her surviving dependents with an insured sum of EUR 500,000 in the event of death and EUR 1,000,000 in the event of disability. Cover is provided for accidents of any kind, regardless of whether the accident occurred within a professional or a private context. The insurance expires upon termination of this Agreement. (4) Entitlements to a retirement, invalidity, or survivor’s pension financed by the Company shall not result from this
Agreement. In order to substantiate such claims, a separate written agree- ment must be concluded. § 6 VACATION (1) The Executive Director is entitled to annual vacation leave of 27 working days per calendar year. ‘Working days’ refers to all calendar days which at the location of the service relation- ship are neither Saturdays, Sundays, nor statutory holidays. Should the Agreement begin or end during the year, the Executive Director is entitled to prorated vacation time. The vacation leave shall be scheduled taking into consideration the Company’s interests in agreement with the other Executive Directors. (2) The entire annual vacation leave shall, as a rule, be taken during the current calendar year. Vacation leave may be carried forward to the following calendar year only if justified either for urgent operational reasons or for personal reasons of the Executive Director.

- 5 - EU-265723 v1 (3) The Executive Director shall ensure that he remains reachable on short notice even while on vacation. § 7 CONTINUED PAYMENT OF RENUMERATION IN CASE OF ILLNESS OR DEATH (1) In the event of illness or any other hindrance occurring through no fault of her own that pre- vents her from executing her job during her service, the Executive Director shall be entitled to continued payment of her pro-rata remuneration pursuant to Sec. 4 (1) of this Agreement for a duration of up to six months; at the longest, however, until expiration of this Agreement. The Executive Director must allow these payments to be set off against any sick pay, daily benefits or pension payments he receives from health insurance or other insurances to the extent that these payments are not based exclusively on her contributions. The Executive Di- rector shall notify the Company with undue delay and comprehensively of all payments of this sort. (2) The Executive Director shall inform the Company immediately of any inability to work and its expected duration and shall provide the reasons for such inability upon the Company’s request. The Executive Director shall without request provide the Company with a medical certificate at the latest on the third calendar day of her illness, confirming her inability to work and its probable duration. The notification shall be made to another Executive Director or, if there is no other Executive Director, to the chairman of the Administrative Board. (3) In the event of the Executive Director’s death during the term of this Agreement, the pro-rata remuneration must continue to be paid pursuant to Sec. 4 (1) of this Agreement for the month of death and the two subsequent months to the Executive Director’s spouse, alternatively to the Executive Director’s dependent children (the latter as the owner of joint rights); at the longest, however, until the expiration of this Agreement. With the payment to the bank ac- count designated by the Executive Director for remuneration payments, the Company shall be released from its payment obligation. § 8 REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES For business entertainment of business partners and on business trips, the Executive Director isentitled to reimbursement of
her reasonable expenses, if the Executive Director has incurred suchexpenses in the interest of the Company. Should the expenses spent exceed the permissible lump- sum allowance according to tax provisions, the Executive Director must show proof of these ex- penses in detail by submitting proper receipts and invoices. In addition, the respective most currentguidelines of the Company on travel expenses shall apply, which are, in this respect, an integral part of this Agreement.§ 9 BUSINESS TRAVEL The Company shall reimburse travel expenses on the basis of receipts in accordance with the applicable tax directives and the Company travel guidelines. In the case that the Executive Director travels by train, the 1st class fare will be reimbursed; when traveling by plane, economy class tickets will be reimbursed; or, if the flight duration is more than 5.5 hours, business class tickets will be reimbursed.

- 6 - EU-265723 v1 § 10 NON-COMPETITION CLAUSE/SIDE ACTIVITIES (1) The Executive Director shall devote all of her working time to the Company and promote the interests of the Company to the best of her ability. If the common good of the Company re- quires, the Executive Director shall be available to the Company after normal business hours and, if necessary in safeguarding its interests, on Sundays and statutory holidays as well. (2) For the duration of this Agreement the Executive Director undertakes not to assume a com- peting position, either independently or dependently, as an employee or as an entrepreneur or in any other manner; either directly or indirectly through investment; to become active in any way for a company that directly competes with the Company; or to work for an Associated Company without the prior consent of the Administrative Board. (3) Any paid employment or customarily paid activity, any investments in businesses, as well as any membership on supervisory or advisory boards of other companies or other institutions, requires the prior written notification of the Company by the Executive Director and shall be subject to prior explicit written consent from the Administrative Board. For business reasons, in particular if the Executive Director’s job is suffering any adverse effects, any such consent may be revoked at any time. In performing any side activities, the Executive Director shall exercise a strict duty of loyalty vis-à-vis the Company and Associated Companies, and in the course of carrying out these side activities shall not negatively impact the business interests or any other interests of the Company. The customary acquisition of securities for purposes of personal asset management shall be excluded from the duty to obtain consent. § 11 POST-CONTRACTUAL NON-COMPETE COVENANT (1) The Executive Director shall be prohibited, for a period of six months after the end of this Agreement, from working in any form – be it as an employee, or on a self-employed or any other basis – for an undertaking that competes directly or indirectly with the Company or which is affiliated with a competing undertaking. The Executive Director shall likewise be prohibited from setting
up, acquiring or holding a direct or indirect interest in such an under- taking during this period. This non-compete covenant shall also apply in favor of undertakings affiliated with the Company. Acquiring up to 5% interests in a company is not subject of this non-competition covenant. The post-contractual non-competition covenant does not apply to subordinated, basic activities of the Executive Director for a competing undertaking without a connection to the Executive Director’s activity as Executive Director for the Company. Advi- sory activities are, regardless of their temporal scope or economic output, no subordinated, basic activities in this sense. (2) The non-compete covenant shall cover all countries in which the Company or an Affiliated Company is active at the time of the Executive Director’s departure from the Company. (3) During the term of the non-compete covenant, the Executive Director shall receive compen- sation in the amount of 50% of the total fixed remuneration most recently received by her under Sec. 4 (1) and 4 (2) of this Agreement. The Executive Director must allow any other earnings received by her to be deducted from this compensation to the extent that these to- gether with the compensation exceed 100% of the fixed remuneration most recently received by her. At the end of each quarter, the Executive Director must, without being asked to do so,

- 7 - EU-265723 v1 submit a written statement on whether he received income from other sources and if so to what amount. If requested, he must submit proof of this.(4) The Company shall be entitled to waive this non-compete covenant by written declaration at any time, including after the service relationship, with the effect that the Executive Director is released of the obligations immediately, the Company shall be free of the obligation to pay compensation six months after the declaration. (5) Should the service relationship with the Executive Director be terminated by the Company without notice due to an intentional breach of contract, the claim to compensation pursuant to paragraph 3 shall lapse. (6) The post-contractual non-compete covenant shall not apply if the Executive Director has reached the statutory retirement age (Regelaltersgrenze) designated by the statutory pension scheme on her departure from the Company or if her service relationship has existed for less than a year (7) For each action resulting in the culpable breach of the non-competition or non-solicit covenant, the Executive Director shall pay a contractual penalty equal to the gross monthly salary most recently received by her. Should the breach consist of participating in the capital of a compet- ing under-taking or entering into a contract for the performance of a continuing obligation (e.g. an employment, service, commercial agency or consultancy contract), the contractual penalty shall be imposed anew for each full or partial month in which the capital participation or the contract for the performance of a continuing obligation exists (ongoing breach). Multiple breaches shall each trigger a separate contractual penalty, possibly also more than once within one month. However, if individual breaches occur within the scope of an ongoing breach, they shall be covered by the contractual penalty owed for the ongoing breach. Where several con- tractual penalties are imposed, the total amount of the penalties to be paid shall be limited to six times the gross monthly salary most recently received by the Executive Director. The Com- pany reserves the right to assert damages over and above the contractual penalty imposed, as well as to assert all other statutory claims and legal consequences arising from a
breach (e.g. cease and desist claims, forfeiture of the claim to compensation for non-competition for the duration of the breach, etc.). (8) Insofar as the aforesaid provisions do not stipulate otherwise, sections 74 et seq. German Com- mercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch – HGB), with the exception of Sec. 75 para 2 HGB, this shall in particular apply to the reduction of contractual provisions to what is legally permissible pursuant to Sec. 74a HGB. § 12 RETURN OF COMPANY PROPERTY AND DOCUMENTS/INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY/CONFIDENTIALITY (1) At any time upon the Company’s request, and unsolicited, at the latest upon expiration of this Agreement, the Executive Director shall return to the Company all objects in her possession that are the property of the Company or of Associated Companies, or which were provided to her by the Company or Associated Companies, in particular also those files and other docu- ments concerning the business operations of the Company or Associated Companies, as well as copies thereof or electronically stored media that contain the contents of such documents, as well as any copies thereof. This obligation to return the aforementioned objects shall apply especially to any object that may have been entrusted to the Executive Director, such as a

- 8 - EU-265723 v1 laptop, blackberry telephone, or mobile telephone, even insofar as their use was permitted for private purposes. (2) With regard to the intellectual property and confidentiality obligations, Exectuvie Direcotr shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the, Intellectual Property Rights and Confi- dential Information attachment, which is annexed hereto as Exhibit A and forms an integral part of this Service Agreement and shall prevail in case of doubt. § 13 PRIVATE USE (1) The Company’s IT equipment (computers, devices, and programs), tele-communications equipment (telephones, telefax), and photocopying machines are reserved for business pur- poses, however, may be used by the Executive Director for private purposes to a limited ex- tent. (2) The obligation to use the IT service exclusively for business purposes applies, however, to the use of e-mail and Internet. Should the Executive Director nevertheless receive e-mails with private content, these must be deleted immediately and completely. § 14 FORFEITURE OF CLAIMS (1) All claims arising from and related to the service relationship shall be forfeited if not asserted vis-à-vis the respective other party in text form within six months after their due date. This does not include claims resulting from injury to life, body, or health, as well as claims resulting from intentional breaches of contract. (2) If the opposing party objects to the claim or if he does not answer within four weeks after the claim has been made pursuant to para. (1), the claims shall be forfeited unless they are asserted in court within six months of the objection, or after the abovementioned answer period has run out. § 15 FINAL PROVISIONS (1) No arrangements have been concluded outside of this Agreement. (2) Modifications or addenda to this Agreement must be made in writing to be valid, and shall be subject to the explicit approval of the Administrative Board. The same shall apply for the cancellation of this written form clause. (3) The assertion of claims solely based on documentary evidence (“Urkundsverfahren”) shall be excluded. (4) Should individual provisions of this Agreement be or become invalid, this shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions in case of
doubt. To replace the invalid provision or to fill any potential gap, an appropriate provision must be agreed upon that comes closest to fulfilling the commercial purpose intended by the contractual parties, or the provision that corresponds to what would have been agreed upon in accordance with the whole purpose of this Agree- ment, had the matter been deliberated at the outset. (5) The laws of the Federal Republic of Germany shall apply to all disputes regarding the validity of this Agreement as well as to claims arising from and in connection with this Agreement.

- 9 - EU-265723 v1 Berlin/Date________________ __________________________________Spark Networks SE Represented by its Administrative Board, represented by the chairman of the Administrative Board, Mr. David Khalil,Berlin/Date________________ ________________________________Gitte Bendzulla

Employment Contract DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13 Exhibit 10.4

[2]Unbefristeter Arbeitsvertrag Unlimited Employment Contract Zwischen Between Spark Networks Services GmbH Kohlfurterstr. 41/43, D-10999 Berlin Spark Networks Services GmbH Kohlfurterstr. 41/43, D-10999 Berlin - nachfolgend „Arbeitgeber“ genannt - - hereinafter referred to as the “Employer” - und And Bert AlthausChodowiekistrasse 710405 BerlinGeb.: 21.08.1978 Bert AlthausChodowiekistrasse 710405 BerlinD.O.B.: 21.08.1978 - nachfolgend „Arbeitnehmer“ genannt - - hereinafter referred to as the “Employee” - - beide gemeinsam im Folgenden „Vertragspartner“ genannt - - hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Contractual Parties” - wird nachfolgender Arbeitsvertrag geschlossen: the following employment contract is secured: § 1 Tätigkeit, Arbeitsort, Zuweisung anderer Aufgaben Section 1 Work Activity and Workplace, Assignment of Additional Duties(1) Der Arbeitnehmer wird ab dem 16.09.2019 unbefristet als Deputy CFO für den Arbeitgeber tätig.Im Falle, dass die Wirksamkeit des Arbeitsvertrages unter der aufschiebenden Bedingung gemäß §1 Absatz 2 steht, wird der Arbeitnehmer ab dem Tag des Wirksamwerdens dieses Vertrages als Deputy CFO für den Arbeitgeber tätig. (1) The Employee shall be employed by the Employer as Deputy CFO commencing on 16.09.2019 for an indefinite period of time. In the event that the effectiveness of the employment contract is affected by the condition in clause 1.2, the employee shall be employed as Deputy CFO for the employer from the date of effectiveness of this contract. (2) Sofern notwendig, steht die Wirksamkeit des Arbeitsvertrages unter der aufschiebenden Bedingung, dass der Arbeitnehmer dem Arbeitgeber die von der zuständigen Behörde erteilte notwendige Arbeitserlaubnis vorlegt. (2) If applicable, the effectiveness of the employment contract depends on the possession of a valid work permit issued by the responsible authorities. (3) Arbeitsort ist Berlin. (3) Place of work shall be Berlin. (4) Der Arbeitnehmer verpflichtet sich, seine ganze Arbeitskraft dem Arbeitgeber zu widmen und – soweit dies erforderlich ist – auch über die regelmäßige Arbeitszeit hinaus (4) The Employee is committing to devote his / her entire working capacity to the Employer and – insofar
as required – to undertake work beyond regular working DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[3]tätig zu werden. hours.(5) Der Arbeitgeber behält sich unter Wahrung der Interessen des Arbeitnehmers das Recht vor, diesem in den Grenzen des billigen Ermessens auch andere seiner Vorbildung und seinen Fähigkeiten entsprechende gleichwertige und zumutbare Aufgaben zu übertragen. (5) The Employer reserves the right to assign, within fair discretion and while upholding the Employee’s interests, other tasks for the Employee that are reasonable, of a similar quality and commensurate to the latter’s prior training, experience and skills. (6) Der vorangehende Vorbehalt erstreckt sich auch auf eine Beschäftigung an einem anderen Ort. Die persönlichen Belange des Arbeitnehmers werden hierbei angemessen berücksichtigt. Soweit nicht dringende betriebliche Gründe entgegenstehen, wird der Arbeitgeber die Zuweisung eines anderen Arbeitsortes nur mit einer Ankündigungsfrist von zwei Monaten erklären. (6) The preceding restriction shall also extend to activities at a different work location. Due consideration shall be given for the Employee’s personal interests. Insofar not precluded from doing so by urgent operational circumstances, the Employer shall give two months’ notice prior to assigning the Employee to a different place of work. (7) Auch wenn der Arbeitnehmer längere Zeit auf einem bestimmten Arbeitsplatz eingesetzt worden ist, tritt damit keine Beschränkung des Direktionsrechts ein. (7) Should the employee have been working in a specific position for an extended period of time, even this should not give effect to any restriction of the employer’s executive right to give orders. § 2 Probezeit, ProbezeitkündigungSection 2 Probationary Period, Termination of Probationary Period (1) Die ersten sechs Monate der Vertragslaufzeit werden als Probezeit vereinbart. (1) It is hereby agreed that the first six months of the contractual term shall constitute a probationary period. (2) Während der Probezeit kann das Arbeitsverhältnis beiderseits mit einer Frist von zwei Wochen gekündigt werden. (2) During the term of the probationary period, the employment may be terminated by either party subject to a notice period of two weeks. § 3 Arbeitszeit, Sonn-, Feiertags- und Nachtarbeit;Überstunden und Abgeltung
von Überstunden Section 3 Working Time, Work on Sundays and Public Holidays; Compensation of Overtime Work (1) Die regelmäßige Arbeitszeit beträgt 40 Wochenstunden ohne Berücksichtigung von Pausen. Lage und Verteilung der Arbeitszeit richten sich nach den betrieblichen Erfordernissen und entsprechend den Anweisungen des Arbeitgebers oder seiner Beauftragten. Nach Auftragslage kann im (1) Regular working hours shall be 40 hours per week, excluding breaks. The scheduling and allocation of working time shall be determined by business requirements and in accordance with the instructions of the Employer or its appointees. In light of the order situation the parties may agree on DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[4]gegenseitigen Einvernehmen die Wochenstundenzahl angepasst werden. adjusting the weekly working time. (2) Der Arbeitnehmer erklärt sich bereit, Überstunden sowie Sonn-, Nacht-, und Feiertagsarbeit zu leisten, soweit dies von dem jeweiligen Vorgesetzten angeordnet wird und dies zu der Erbringung der Arbeitsleistung notwendig und gesetzlich zulässig ist. (2) Where directed by the respective supervisor and insofar as legally permissible and necessary for the performance of the work, the Employee hereby agrees to work overtime hours as well as to undertake work on Sundays, during the night and on public holidays. (3) Mit Zahlung der Vergütung nach § 4 sind alle etwaigen Überstunden abgegolten. (3) Any potential overtime is compensated in the salary in accordance with Section 4. § 4 Vergütung/Ausschluss der Einrede der Entreicherung Section 4 Salary, Exclusion of the Defense of Change of Position(1) Der Arbeitnehmer erhält eine monatliche Bruttovergütung von € 18.750,00 (in Worten: achtzehntausend-siebenhundertfünfzig Euro). Die monatliche Vergütung ist jeweils am letzten Tag des Monats bargeldlos zur Zahlung fällig. (1) The Employee shall receive a monthly gross salary of € 18.750,00 (in words: eighteen thousand seven hundred fifty Euro). The monthly remuneration is payable cashless and on the last day of a month. (2) Soweit der Arbeitgeber darüber hinaus sonstige Zahlungen gewährt, geschieht dies freiwillig, ohne Anerkennung einer Rechtspflicht und ohne dass ein Rechtsanspruch auf Zahlung für die Zukunft entsteht. Dies gilt auch, wenn eine Leistung wiederholt ohne ausdrückliche Wiederholung dieses Freiwilligkeits-vorbehaltes gewährt wird. Individualabreden haben Vorrang. (2) Any additional payments granted by the Employer shall be on a voluntary basis, shall not give rise to any legal obligations, or create any legitimate expectations, of any additional payments or benefits being granted in the future. This shall also apply to repeat payments or benefits where no express reference to the voluntary nature of such payment or benefit was made. Individual agreements supersede this agreement. (3) Der Arbeitnehmer wird – soweit noch nicht erfolgt – spätestens innerhalb von zehn
Tagen nach Beginn des Arbeitsverhältnisses ein SEPA (Euro) Konto einrichten und dem Arbeitgeber die Kontonummer und Bankverbindung mitteilen. (3) To the extent not already been done, the Employee shall, within ten days of the commencement of employment, open a SEPA (Euro) account with a bank and communicate the account number and other bank account payment details to the employer. (4) Überzahlungen der Vergütung oder von Vergütungsbestandteilen sind von dem Arbeitnehmer unverzüglich an den Arbeitgeber zurückzuerstatten. Der (4) The Employee shall repay any overpayments of the salary or parts thereof to the Employer without delay. The Employer shall be entitled to offset of DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[5]Arbeitgeber ist berechtigt, die überschüssigenZahlungen gegen das laufende Gehalt des Arbeitnehmers aufzurechnen. Die Einrede derEntreicherung gemäß § 818 Abs. 3 BGB ist hiermit ausgeschlossen. the sum of any overpayment against the Employee’s ongoing salary. The defense ofchange of position / loss of enrichment (Entreicherung) pursuant to Section 818 (3) of the German Civil Code (BGB) is herebyexcluded. § 5 Dienstreisen, Auslagen- und SpesenersatzSection 5 Business Travel, Reimbursement of Expenses(1) Die Tätigkeit des Arbeitnehmers kann mit Reisen und mit längeren Aufenthalten im In-und Ausland, d. h. bis zu drei Monaten, verbunden sein. Hierzu erklärt sich der Arbeitnehmer ausdrücklich bereit. (1) The Employee’s work may involve trips and extended stays, i.e. up to three months, both within Germany and abroad. The Employee hereby gives his / her express consent thereto. (2) Der Arbeitnehmer erhält keine gesonderte Vergütung für die außerhalb der regelmäßigen Arbeitszeit liegende Dienstreisezeit. Als Dienstreisezeit gilt nicht die Zeit, die der Arbeitnehmer von seinem Aufenthaltsort zur Erreichung seines Arbeitsortes und zurück benötigt (Wegezeit). Die Wegezeit wird ebenfalls nicht vergütet. (2) The Employee shall not receive any special remuneration for business travel time falling outside regular working hours. Business travel time shall be deemed not to include the time needed by the Employee to travel between his / her place of stay to the place of work (commuting time). Neither shall the time needed to commute receive any special remuneration. (3) Reisekosten für genehmigte Dienstreisen und andere Aufwendungen, die dem Arbeitnehmer in Ausübung seiner Tätigkeit entstehen, werden gegen Vorlage der entsprechenden Originalbelege im Rahmen der geltenden Steuergesetze und der etwaigen Richtlinien der Reise- und Bewirtungskostenordnung des Arbeitgebers erstattet, sofern die Ausgaben im Interesse des Arbeitgebers erforderlich waren und sowohl aus Sicht des Arbeitnehmers als auch aus wirtschaftlicher Sicht vernünftig sind. Die Buchung von Dienstreisen und Unterkünften ist nur entsprechend der etwaigen Richtlinien möglich. Die Belege müssen
spätestens am Ende des Monats, der der Ausgabe folgt, im Original vorgelegt werden. (3) Travel costs for authorized business trips and other expenses incurred by the employee in the course of performing his / her work shall, upon presentation of the corresponding original receipts, be reimbursed in accordance with applicable tax rules, and pursuant to potential guidelines set forth in the Employer’s policy on travel, accommodation and hospitality, provided that such costs / expenses were necessary, in the interests of the Employer, and are deemed reasonable both from an economic perspective and from the perspective of the Employee. Business travel and accommodation bookings must receive prior approval from the management pursuant to potentially existing guidelines. The original receipts must be submitted by no later than the end of the month following any costs or expenses incurred. DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[6]§ 6 ErholungsurlaubSection 6 Vacation (1) Der Arbeitnehmer hat kalenderjährlich Anspruch auf den gesetzlichen Mindesturlaub von 20 Arbeitstagen (montags – freitags). Darüber hinaus gewährt der Arbeitgeber kalenderjährlich einen übergesetzlichen Urlaub von 7 Arbeitstagen. Der Zeitpunkt des Urlaubs ist den Geschäftsinteressen des Arbeitgebers anzupassen und mit dem Vorgesetzten rechtzeitig abzusprechen. (1) The employee is entitled to the statutory minimum leave of 20 working days per calendar year (Monday - Friday). In addition, the employer grants vacation leave, exceeding that which is required by statute per calendar year, of 7 days. The date set for the vacation must conform to the employer’s business interests and be agreed upon with the management in time before the start of the vacation is planned to commence. (2) Der Urlaubsanspruch verfällt am Ende des Urlaubsjahres (Kalenderjahres). Wird der Urlaub aufgrund dringender betrieblicher oder in der Person des Arbeitnehmers liegender Gründe in das Folgejahr übertragen, so verfällt er, wenn er nicht bis zum 31.3. genommen ist. Der Anspruch auf den gesetzlichen Mindesturlaub (20 Arbeitstage bei einer Fünftagewoche) verfällt ausnahmsweise nicht zu diesen Zeitpunkten, wenn und soweit gesetzliche Regelungen dem entgegenstehen, insbesondere wenn der Arbeitnehmer den Urlaub wegen krankheitsbedingter Arbeitsunfähigkeit ganz oder teilweise nicht nehmen konnte. Für den Fall, dass der gesetzliche Urlaubsanspruch infolge Arbeitsunfähigkeit nicht bis zum Ablauf des gesetzlichen Übertragungszeitraums gewährt werden kann, verfällt er dessen ungeachtet in jedem Fall 15 Monate nach Ablauf des Urlaubsjahres. (2) The vacation entitlement shall lapse at the end of a given calendar year. In the event of urgent business operations, or for personal reasons relating to the employee causing the vacation entitlement to be carried over into the following year, such entitlement shall lapse where the vacation is not taken by March 31. As an exception, the entitlement to statutory minimum leave of that point in time (20 working days based on a five-day-working-week) does not expire, if, and insofar, statutory rules to the
contrary exist, and in particular, where illness-related work incapacity hindered the employee from taking the vacation in full or in part. In the event of the statutory entitlement to annual leave not being taken advantage of before the expiry of the statutory carry- over-period as a result of work incapacity, it will, nevertheless, lapse 15 months after the statutory carry-over-period has ended. (3) Im Übrigen gilt das Bundesurlaubsgesetz in seiner jeweils gültigen Fassung. (3) Without prejudice to the foregoing, the provisions of the German Federal Vacation Act (Bundesurlaubsgesetz), as amended from time to time, shall apply accordingly. § 7 Nebentätigkeit/Vorträge/Veröffentlichungen Section 7 Secondary Occupation / Presentations / Publications (1) Der Arbeitnehmer ist verpflichtet, dem (1) The Employee shall be required to give the DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[7]Arbeitgeber jede beabsichtigte entgeltliche Nebentätigkeit zuvor anzuzeigen. Dies gilt auch für die Übernahme von ehrenamtlichen unentgeltlichen Tätigkeiten, soweit dieseTätigkeiten repräsentativen Charakter haben, z. B. in Vorständen oder als Sprecher, etc. Employer advance notice of his intentions prior to engaging in any secondary paid work. This shall also apply to any honoraryunpaid work, as far as this work resembles representative functions, e. g. as memberof a board or speaker, etc. (2) Die Ausübung jeder Nebentätigkeit bedarf sodann der vorherigen schriftlichen Zustimmung des Arbeitgebers. Der Arbeitgeber wird die Zustimmung erteilen, soweit hierdurch keine betrieblichen Interessen berührt sind. (3) Absätze 1 und 2 gelten entsprechend für Vorträge oder Veröffentlichungen des Arbeitnehmers. (2) In such cases, the performance of any secondary occupation shall require the prior written consent of the Employer. The Employer shall grant such consent insofar as the interests of the business are not thereby affected. (3) Subsections 1 and 2 shall apply equally to any presentations or publications the Employee wishes to produce. § 8 ArbeitsverhinderungSection 8 Inability to Work (1) Ist der Arbeitnehmer durch Krankheit oder sonstige Ereignisse verhindert zu arbeiten, so hat er dies dem Arbeitgeber unverzüglich mitzuteilen. Bei Verhinderung durch Krankheit, die länger als einen Tag dauert, hat der Arbeitnehmer spätestens am vierten Kalendertag nach Beginn der Verhinderung eine Bescheinigung seines Arztes über die Arbeitsunfähigkeit und voraussichtliche Dauer vorzulegen. Der Arbeitgeber ist berechtigt, die Vorlage der ärztlichen Bescheinigung früher zu verlangen. Dauert die Arbeitsunfähigkeit länger als in der ärztlichen Arbeitsunfähigkeits-bescheinigung angegeben, ist der Arbeitnehmer verpflichtet, dies dem Arbeitgeber unter Angabe der voraussichtlichen Dauer der fortbestehenden Arbeitsverhinderung unverzüglich anzuzeigen. Er hat dem Arbeitgeber überdies unverzüglich eine neue ärztliche Arbeitsunfähigkeitsbe- scheinigung einzureichen, auch wenn der Zeitraum der Entgeltfortzahlung überschritten ist. (1) Should illness or other events prevent the Employee from performing his / her work duties, he
/ she shall be required to notify the Employer thereof without delay. In the case of illness, that last longer than one day, the Employee must present the Employer with a medical note from his / her doctor certifying such work incapacity, as well as the expected duration by no later than the fourth calendar day following the onset of the work incapacity. The Employer reserves the right to demand presentation of such a medical note at an earlier stage. In case the illness last longer than stated in the doctor’s certificate the Employee shall immediately inform the Employer indicating the estimated duration of the inability to work. Moreover, the Employee shall present a further doctor’s certificate, even where the term for on-going payments has expired. (2) Die Entgeltfortzahlung im Krankheitsfalle richtet sich nach den jeweils geltenden gesetzlichen Bestimmungen. (2) Continued remuneration of salary due to illness is subject to the applicable valid statutory rules. (3) Der Arbeitnehmer ist verpflichtet, den (3) The Employee shall be required to inform DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[8]Arbeitgeber über alle Umstände zu informieren, die den Verdacht der Verursachung der Arbeitsunfähigkeit durchDritte begründen können.the Employer of any circumstances where there are grounds to suspect that theinability to work has been caused by athird party. (4) Solange der Mitarbeiter die erforderlichen Nachweise nicht erbringt, ruht der Anspruch auf Fortzahlung des Arbeitsentgelts. (4) As long as the Employee has not presented the relevant documents any payment obligations from the Employer shall rest. § 9 Abtretung und Durchsetzung von Schadensersatzansprüchen Section 9 Assignment and Enforcement of Damages Claims (1) Der Arbeitnehmer tritt hiermit im Voraus alle etwaigen Ansprüche, die ihm gegen Dritte wegen Eintritts der Arbeitsunfähigkeit zustehen, an den Arbeitgeber ab. Der Arbeitgeber nimmt hiermit diese Abtretung an. (1) The Employee hereby assigns to the Employer in advance any and all of his / her claims against third parties arising in connection with the inability to work. The Employer hereby accepts such assignment. (2) Der Arbeitnehmer ist verpflichtet, den Arbeitgeber nach besten Kräften bei der Durchsetzung etwaiger Schadensersatzansprüche gegen Dritte zu unterstützen. (2) The Employee shall use his / her best efforts to assist the Employer in the pursuit of any damage claims against third parties. (3) Der Arbeitgeber ist verpflichtet, solche Ansprüche an den Arbeitnehmer zurück abzutreten, die den Betrag übersteigen, den der Arbeitgeber dem Arbeitnehmer gemäß § 9 Absatz 2 zahlt. (3) The employer is obliged to assign back to the employee such claims that exceed the amount paid by the employer to the employee pursuant to Section 9 (2). §10 Section 10Abbedingen des § 616 BGB/Sonderurlaub Waiver of Section 616 German Civil Code/Special Leave (1) § 616 BGB ist grundsätzlich abbedungen. Der Arbeitgeber ist somit nicht zur Fortzahlung der Vergütung verpflichtet, auch wenn der Arbeitnehmer für eine verhältnismäßig nicht erhebliche Zeit durch einen in seiner Person liegenden Grund ohne sein Verschulden an der Erbringung der Arbeitsleistung verhindert wird. Dies gilt nicht im Falle von Arbeitsunfähigkeit gemäß § 8. (1) Section 616
German Civil code is hereby generally waived. Hence, the Employer is not obliged to pay any remuneration, even if the employee should not be able to work for proportionately shorter time period due to personal reasons without being accountable for such reason. This shall not apply in case of an inability to work pursuant to Section 8. (2) Im Falle der Erkrankung eines Kindes bestehen entgegen § 10 Abs. 1 dieses Vertrages Vergütungsansprüche des Arbeitnehmers gegen den Arbeitgeber für (2) In case of an illness of a child the Employee has payment claims against the Employer for a total of 10 days per year. Further- going claims are excluded. The Employee is DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[9]insgesamt 10 Tage jährlich. Darüber hinausgehende Vergütungsansprüche bestehen nicht. Dem Arbeitnehmer istbekannt, dass in diesem Fall Ansprüche gegenüber der Krankenversicherung bestehenkönnen.aware that in that case claims against his/her health insurance might exist. (3) Aus begründetem Anlass (z. B. bei eigener Eheschließung, bei Geburt des Kindes, beim Tode naher Angehöriger) kann dem Arbeitnehmer aufgrund gesonderter Vereinbarung bezahlte Arbeitsbefreiung ohne Anrechnung auf den Jahresurlaub in angemessenem Umfang gewährt werden, jedoch nicht mehr als zwei Werktage pro Anlass. (3) In special cases (e. g. Employee’s wedding, birth of child, death of close relatives) the Employer may grant paid special leave based on an individual agreement without setting this off from paid holidays; however, such leave is limited to two days per special case. § 11 Kündigung, FreistellungSection 11Termination of Employment, Release (1) Nach Ablauf der Probezeit kann der Arbeitsvertrag beiderseits unter Einhaltung einer Kündigungsfrist von sechs Monaten zum Ende eines Kalendermonats gekündigt werden, bis es aufgrund von § 622 BGB zu einer Verlängerung der Kündigungsfrist kommt. Eine Verlängerung der Kündigungsfrist zugunsten einer Vertragspartei gilt auch als zugunsten der anderen Vertragspartei vereinbart. Eine ordentliche Kündigung des Arbeitsverhältnisses vor Arbeitsantritt ist für beide Seiten ausgeschlossen. (1) After the probationary period, the employment contract may be terminated by either party subject to the notice period of six months to the end of a calendar month until, pursuant to Section 622 of the German Civil Code (BGB), an extension of the period of contractual notice is due. An extension of the period of contractual notice to the benefit of one of the contracting parties shall also apply as agreed for and to the benefit of the other contracting party. Any ordinary termination before the start of employment shall be excluded. (2) Das Recht zur Kündigung aus wichtigem Grund gemäß § 626 BGB bleibt unberührt. (2) The right to terminate the contract for cause (aus wichtigem Grund) pursuant to Section 626 of the German Civil Code (BGB) shall remain unaffected. (3) Jede Kündigung bedarf
der Schriftform. (3) Any notice of termination must be served in writing with an original signature. (4) Der Arbeitgeber ist berechtigt, den Arbeitnehmer im Falle einer Kündigung – gleichgültig von welcher Seite –, unter Fortzahlung der Bezüge und unter (4) In the event of notice of termination being served by either party, the Employer shall be entitled to irrevocably release the Employee from his / her work duties at any DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[10] Anrechnung des Erholungsurlaubes und etwaigen Freizeitausgleichs wegen geleisteterÜberstunden von der Verpflichtung zur Arbeitsleistung jederzeit freizustellen, auchunwiderruflich. Entsprechendes gilt bei einvernehmlicher Beendigung des Arbeitsverhältnisses. Die Verpflichtung, während der Dauer der Freistellung keine Wettbewerbstätigkeit aufzunehmen, bleibt von der Freistellung unberührt. time, on continued payment of salary and, in doing so, to offset any accruedentitlement to outstanding vacation and time-in-lieu as a result of overtime work.The same shall apply in the event of aunanimous termination of employment. The exemption from work duties does not invalidate the obligation to refrain from engaging in any competitive activity for the duration of the release period. (5) Der Anstellungsvertrag endet in jedem Fall, ohne dass es einer Kündigung bedarf, mit dem Ablauf des Monats, der dem Monat vorhergeht, in dem der Arbeitnehmer erstmals gesetzliche Alters-, Erwerbs- oder Berufsunfähigkeitsrente bezieht. Der Arbeitnehmer hat den Arbeitgeber von der Zustellung eines entsprechenden Rentenbescheids zu unterrichten. (5) The employment contract shall, in any event and without need for any termination of notice, take effect at the end of the month preceding the month in which the Employee first draws statutory pension or incapacity benefit (Alters-, Erwerbs- oder Berufsunfähig-keitsrente). The Employee shall inform the employer in case he/she receives a respective pension decision by the authorities. (6) Darlehen und Vorschüsse werden im Falle der Beendigung des Arbeitsverhältnisses wegen des Betrages, der zur Rückzahlung noch offen ist, ohne Rücksicht auf die bei Abschluss getroffenen Vereinbarungen fällig. (6) Any and all loans or advancements shall be payable at the end of the employment relationship, irrespective of the amount that is still due and the content of the agreement for the loan/advancement. (7) Der Arbeitnehmer wird bereits jetzt darauf hingewiesen, dass er verpflichtet ist, sich möglichst frühzeitig, spätestens jedoch 3 Monate vor Beendigung des Arbeitsverhältnisses beim Arbeitsamt persönlich arbeitsuchend zu melden. DerArbeitnehmer ist allein für die Anmeldung verantwortlich.(7) The
Employee is hereby informed that, in regard to the end of the employment relationship, he or she is obliged to personally register with the employment agency as a job-seeker as soon as possible, and 3 months before the ending of the work relationship at the latest. The Employee is solely responsible for the registration. § 12 Vertragsstrafe bei vertragswidriger Vertragsauflösung Section 12Contractual Penalty in the Event of WrongfulContractual Termination Beendet der Arbeitnehmer seine Tätigkeit vertragswidrig oder nimmt er die vereinbarte Tätigkeit vertragswidrig nicht auf oder wird das Arbeitsverhältnis vom Arbeitgeber wirksam aus wichtigem Grund nach § 626 BGB wegen unentschuldigtem Fernbleibens von der Arbeit Where the Employee terminates his / her work in breach of contract, or where the Employee does not commence his/her work in contrary to the employment contract, or where the Employer lawfully terminates the employment for cause (aus wichtigem Grund) in accordance DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[11] außerordentlich gekündigt, so hat der Arbeitnehmer eine Vertragsstrafe in Höhe derBruttomonatsgehälter zu zahlen, die er bei Einhaltung der für ihn geltenden ordentlichenKündigungsfrist erhalten hätte, höchstens jedoch drei Bruttomonatsgehälter. with Section 626 of the German Civil Code(BGB) on grounds of absenteeism, theEmployee shall be required to pay a contractual penalty, equal to the number of gross monthly salaries that he / she would have received hadthe Employee served the applicable notice period, subject to a maximum of three gross monthly salaries. § 13 Übertragung von Urheberrechten und sonstigen Schutzrechten Section 13Transfer of Copyright and Other Intellectual Property Rights(1) Soweit der Arbeitnehmer an den von ihm erbrachten Leistungen und Arbeitsergebnissen Markenrechte, Geschmacksmusterrechte, Urheberrechteoder verwandte Schutzrechte im Sinne des Urheberrechts (einschließlich aller Entwicklungsstufen) sowie sonstigeImmaterialgüterrechte während der Zeit seiner Tätigkeit erwirbt, überträgt er die ausschließlichen, auch den Arbeitnehmer ausschließenden, räumlich, zeitlich und gegenständlich unbegrenzten Nutzungsrechteauf den Arbeitgeber, wenn diese Rechte (1) Insofar as the Employee acquires trademark rights, registered design rights (Geschmacksmuster), copyright or neighboring rights within the meaning of copyright laws (including all development stages), as well as any other intellectual property rights, in the performance and work results / products created by him / her during the course of his / her employment, he / she shall transfer to the Employer the exclusive (also excluding the Employee him-/herself) rights of use therein, being unlimited in geographic, temporal and substantive scope, insofar as such rights (a) im Zusammenhang mit dengeschäftlichen Aktivitäten – im Rahmen oder außerhalb der Arbeitszeit – von dem Arbeitnehmern erworben wurdenoder entstanden sind oder(a) were acquired by the Employee, or were created, in connection with the activities of the business, either during or outside working time, or (b) unter Verwendung von Material und/oder Arbeitszeit, die von dem Arbeitgeber zur Verfügung gestellt wurden, entwickelt oder erworben wurden,
während oder außerhalb der Arbeitszeit, oder (b) were developed or acquired, either during or outside working time, using material and / or working time provided by the Employer, or (c) sonst mit seiner Arbeit während des Zeitraums dieses Arbeitsvertrags zusammenhängen. (c) otherwise relate to his / her work during the term of this employment contract. (2) Die vorstehende Rechteübertragung umfasst insbesondere das Recht des Arbeitgebers, die Leistungen und Arbeitsergebnisse – ganz oder in Teilen – zu vervielfältigen. Eingeschlossen (2) Particularly, the above transfer of rights includes the right of the Employer to reproduce, in whole or in part, the services and work results. It also includes DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[12] ist ferner das Recht des Arbeitgebers, dieWerke im In- und Ausland in körperlicher und unkörperlicher Form – entgeltlich oder unentgeltlich – ganz oder in Teilen zu nutzen und zu verwerten, öffentlich wieder zu geben,zu vervielfältigen, zu verbreiten, in digitaler oder analoger Form auf Bild-, Daten- und Tonträger aller Art aufzunehmen und dieseihrerseits zu vervielfältigen und zu verbreiten.Sämtliche Rechte können von dem Arbeitgeber nach freiem Belieben ganz oder teilweise auch in Form einer ausschließlichen oder nicht ausschließlichen Berechtigung auf Dritte weiter übertragen werden. the right of the Employer to use and to exploit, publicly reproduce, reproduce, distribute, in digital or analogue form, the works in Germany and abroad in physical and intangible form - either in return for payment or free of charge, to record form on image, data and sound carriers of all kinds and in turn to reproduce and distribute them. All rights may be transferred in full or in part by the Employer to third parties in the form of an exclusive or non-exclusive entitlement. (3) Die Nutzungsrechte umfassen weiterhin das Recht des Arbeitgebers, Änderungen und Bearbeitungen an den Leistungen und Arbeitsergebnissen vorzunehmen bzw. vornehmen zu lassen, einschließlich Umgestaltungen, Erweiterungen, Nutzungsänderungen und Modernisierungen, soweit damit keine Entstellungen des Werks verbunden sind. (3) The rights of use shall further encompass the right of the Employer to implement, or to arrange for the implementation of, modifications and adaptations to the performance and work results / products, including, without limitation, redesigns, extensions, changes in use and modernizations, provided that these do not result in any distortions to the work. (4) Der Arbeitgeber ist berechtigt, die Nutzungsrechte ganz oder teilweise auf Dritte zu übertragen, von Dritten ausüben und ausführen zu lassen sowie Dritten hieran weitere Nutzungsrechte einzuräumen. (4) The Employer shall be entitled to transfer the rights of use to third parties in whole or in part, to allow third parties to exercise and perform such rights, and to grant third parties sub-rights of use therein. (5) Der Arbeitnehmer ist im Rahmen seines Bestimmungsrechts
gemäß § 13 S. 2 UrhG damit einverstanden, dass eine Benennung und Bezeichnung des Arbeitnehmers als Urheber im Rahmen der Verwertung der vertragsgegenständlichen Rechte nicht erfolgt. (5) With regard to his / her determination right (Bestimmungsrecht) pursuant to Section 13 sentence 2 of the German Copyright Act (UrhG), the Employee hereby agrees that he / she shall not be identified and described as the author in the course of exploiting the rights falling within the scope of this contract. (6) Der Arbeitnehmer gibt insbesondere seine Zustimmung zur umfassenden Nutzung und Verwertung durch den Arbeitgeber von Foto-, Film- und Tonaufnahmen der Person des Arbeitnehmers, die im Zusammenhang mit den geschäftlichen Aktivitäten mit seiner Kenntnis hergestellt wurden. Die umfassende Nutzung schließt die Verbreitung dieser Aufnahmen in jedweder Form, insbesondere (6) In particular, the Employee hereby grants his / her consent to the extensive use and exploitation by the Employer of photographic, film and sound recordings of the Employee’s person that were created with his / her knowledge in connection with the activities of the business. Extensive use shall also include, but not be limited to, dissemination of such DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[13] über das Internet, mit ein. Ein Widerruf derZustimmung ist nur bei Vorliegen eines plausiblen Grundes, warum der Arbeitnehmersein Recht auf informationelle Selbstbestimmung nunmehr anders ausüben will, möglich. recordings in any format whatsoever, including, without limitation, via the internet. The Employee may only revokehis/her consent in case a plausible reasonexists, why the Employee now considers toexercise his/her right to informational self- determination differently.(7) Für Rechte an Erfindungen oder technischen Verbesserungen, die der Arbeitnehmer während seiner Tätigkeit für den Arbeitgeber oder im Zusammenhang mit seiner Tätigkeit für den Arbeitgeber oder aufgrund seiner Tätigkeit für den Arbeitgeber oder aufgrund von Arbeitsergebnissen des Arbeitgebers gemacht oder erarbeitet hat, gilt das Gesetz über Erfindungen von Arbeitnehmern (ArbNErfG). (7) Rights in inventions or technical improvements that the Employee has created or developed during, in connection with, or as a result of, his / her work for the Employer or on the basis of the Employer’s work results / products, shall be governed by the German Employee Inventions Act (ArbNErfG). (8) Die Übertragung der Nutzungsrechte nach dieser Klausel ist mit der Zahlung der Vergütung gemäß diesem Arbeitsvertrag vollständig abgegolten, es sei denn nach deutschem Recht ist zwingend eine zusätzliche Vergütung vorgeschrieben, auf die der Arbeitnehmer nicht wirksam verzichten kann. (8) Any transfer of the rights of use pursuant to this clause shall already be included in and fully compensated by the payment of the salary pursuant to this employment contract, unless German law mandatorily provides for additional remuneration and the Employee cannot validly waive his / her rights thereto. (9) Die vorstehenden Bestimmungen bleiben von einer Beendigung des Arbeitsvertrags unberührt. Im Falle einer Kündigung des Arbeitsvertrags, gleich aus welchem Grund, umfasst die Nutzungsrechtsübertragung diejenigen Arbeitsergebnisse und Leistungen, die der Arbeitnehmer bis zum Zeitpunkt des Wirksamwerdens der Kündigung geschaffen hat (9) The foregoing provisions shall remain unaffected by any
termination of this employment contract.In the event that notice of termination of the employment contract is served for any reason whatsoever, the transfer of rights of use shall encompass the performance and work results / products created by the Employee up until the time at which the termination takes effect. § 14 E-Mail-Account-Nutzung Section 14 Email Account Usage (1) Der Arbeitnehmer ist nicht berechtigt, das dienstliche E-Mail-Konto privat zu nutzen. Der Arbeitnehmer ist damit einverstanden, dass der Arbeitgeber die Nutzung des E-Mail- Verkehrs auf die Einhaltung dieser Regelung hin prüft. (1) The Employee shall not be entitled to use the company e-mail account for private purposes. The Employee hereby agrees to the Employer undertaking regular monitoring of e-mail traffic for the purposes of ensuring compliance with this provision. DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[14] (2) Für den Fall seiner betrieblichen Abwesenheit (Urlaub, Krankheit etc.) ist der Arbeitnehmer verpflichtet, eigenverantwortlich eine automatisierte Antwort an den Absender eingehender E-Mails einzurichten oder einrichten zu lassen, die den Absender über die Abwesenheit des Arbeitnehmers informiert und einen Hinweis auf den zuständigen Vertreter und dessen Telefonnummer enthält. (2) In the event of his / her absence from work (vacation, illness etc.), the Employee shall have sole responsibility for activating, or arranging for the activation of, an automated response for the sender of incoming emails notifying the sender of the Employee’s absence and identifying the responsible temporary contact and the latter’s telephone number. § 15 Nutzung von Hard- und Software, Umgang mit Passwörtern Section 15Usage of Hard- and Software, Handling of Passwords(1) Der Arbeitnehmer darf die ihm von dem Arbeitgeber zur Verfügung gestellte Hard- und Software nur zu dienstlichen Zwecken nutzen. (1) The Employee may use the hard- and software provided to him / her by the Employer solely for business purposes. (2) Der Arbeitnehmer benötigt die vorherige Zustimmung des Arbeitgebers, um Software auf der ihm zur Verfügung gestellten Hardware zu installieren. (2) The Employee shall require the prior consent of the Employer in order to install software on the hardware provided to him / her. (3) Der Arbeitnehmer ist verpflichtet, dem Arbeitgeber sämtliche von ihm erstellten Passwörter und Zugangscodes für die Benutzung der Hard- und Software mitzuteilen. Dies gilt unaufgefordert auch für jede Änderung dieser Passwörter oder Zugangscodes. (3) The Employee shall be required to notify the Employer of all passwords and access codes created by him / her for the use of hard- and software.This shall also apply, without request, to any change of such passwords or access codes. (4) Der Arbeitnehmer darf private Hard- und Software nicht zu dienstlichen Zwecken benutzen, insbesondere keine dienstlichen Daten oder Dokumente auf privater Hardware speichern oder mit privater Software verarbeiten. (4) The Employee may not use private hard- or software for business purposes,
including the storage of business data or documents on private hardware or the processing thereof using private software. § 16 Aufbewahrung sowie Rückgabe von Unterlagen und Gegenständen Section 16Safe-Keeping and Surrender of Documents and Objects(1) Der Arbeitnehmer wird alle Aufzeichnungen und Unterlagen im Zusammenhang mit seiner Tätigkeit für den Arbeitgeber ordnungsgemäß aufbewahren und dafür Sorge tragen, dass unbefugte Dritte nicht Einsicht nehmen können. (1) The Employee shall keep all records and documents in connection with his work safe at any time and shall take care that no unauthorized third party may take insight. DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[15] (2) Auf Aufforderung des Arbeitgebers hat der Arbeitnehmer jederzeit geschäftliche Dokumente und Schriftstücke, egal in welcher Form, einschließlich Duplikaten, Kopien, elektronischen Daten, etc., einschließlich etwaiger Passwörter hierzu, sowie sämtliche ihm vom Arbeitgeber überlassene Gegenstände, Unterlagen und Daten, an einen Bevollmächtigten des Arbeitgebers heraus zu geben. (2) Upon the Employer’s request, the Employee shall at any time be required to return to an authorized representative of the Employer all business documents and written materials, irrespective of form, including, but not limited to, duplicates, copies, electronic data, etc., including respective passwords, as well as all objects, documentation and data supplied to him / her by the Employer. (3) Im Fall der Beendigung desArbeitsverhältnisses oder der Freistellung desArbeitnehmers ist dieser unaufgefordert zur unverzüglichen Rückgabe verpflichtet. EinZurückbehaltungsrecht an den Dokumenten, Schriftstücken oder Gegenständen desArbeitgebers steht dem Arbeitnehmer nichtzu. Auf Wunsch des Arbeitgebers wird derArbeitnehmer ausdrücklich versichern, die vorgenannten Gegenstände vollständig herausgegeben und insbesondere keine Abschriften oder Kopien behalten zu haben. (3) In the event of the employment being terminated or the Employee being released from his / her work duties, the Employee shall immediately return the aforementioned business documents and written materials without request. The Employee shall have no right of retention with respect to the documents, written materials or objects belonging to the Employer. Upon the Employer’s request the Employee shall reassure that he/she has completely returned the aforementioned objects and has, in particular, not kept any copies. § 17 Geheimhaltung, Verschwiegenheitspflicht,Insiderhandel, Abwerbungsverbot, Verhaltenskodex Section 17Secrecy, Duty of Confidentiality, InsiderTrading, Non-Solicitation, Code of Conduct (1) Der Arbeitnehmer verpflichtet sich zur Geheimhaltung aller ihm während der Dauer des Vertrags zur Kenntnis gelangenden Unternehmens-/Geschäftsbelange des Arbeitgebers und mit diesem verbundener Unternehmen. Der Begriff
Unternehmens-/ Geschäftsbelange bezieht sich insbesondere auf alle Arbeitsergebnisse, Betriebsgeheimnisse, Systeme, Designs, Verfahren und Methoden, Computer- Softwareprogramme, auf die gesamte Dokumentation, Handbücher, geplante und durchgeführte Projekte, Formate, auf alle sonstigen vertraulichen Berichte und Mitteilungen sowie auf Informationen über Lieferanten, Kunden, potentielle Kunden und (1) The Employee undertakes to treat, in the strictest confidence, all company / business matters of the Employer and its affiliates that come to his / her knowledge during the term of the contract. The term “company / business matters” shall include, but not be limited to, all work results / products, business secrets, systems, designs, processes and methods, computer software programs, all documentation, handbooks, planned or exercised projects, formats, any other confidential reports and notices as well as information regarding suppliers, customers, potential customers and any used contract templates. DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[16] die verwendeten Vertragsmuster.(2) Diese Geheimhaltungsverpflichtung gilt auch für alle Einzelheiten dieses Arbeitsvertrags. (2) This duty of confidentiality shall also apply to all details of this employment contract. (3) Dem Arbeitnehmer ist bekannt, dass er die ihm aufgrund seiner Tätigkeit bekannt gewordenen persönlichen und geschäftlichen Daten Dritter, insbesondere von Kunden des Arbeitgebers, nicht an unbefugte Dritte weitergeben darf; es sei denn, dies dient dienstlichen Zwecken. (3) The Employee is aware that he / she is prohibited from passing to unauthorized third parties any personal or business data of third parties that has come to his / her knowledge as a result of his / her work, including, and without limitation to, data of the Employer’s customers, unless this should serve the Employer’s business interests. (4) Diese Geheimhaltungsverpflichtung gilt unverändert nach Beendigung des Arbeitsvertrags. (4) This duty of confidentiality shall resume application unaltered by the expiry of this employment contract. (5) Diese Geheimhaltungsverpflichtungen gilt nicht, solange und soweit die Informationen nach den Bestimmungen dieses Arbeitsvertrags an Dritte weitergegeben werden dürfen, dem Empfänger bereits vorher ohne Verpflichtung zur Geheimhaltung bekannt waren, allgemein bekannt sind oder werden, ohne dass dies der Empfänger zu vertreten hat, dem Empfänger von einem Dritten ohne Verstoß gegen Geheimhaltungsverpflichtungen mitgeteilt bzw. überlassen werden, vom Empfänger nachweislich unabhängig gewonnen worden sind, von dem überlassenden Vertragspartner einem Dritten unter Verstoß gegen Geheimhaltungsverpflichtungen mitgeteilt bzw. zur Verfügung gestellt worden sind, von dem überlassenden Vertragspartner zur Bekanntmachung schriftlich freigegeben worden sind oder aufgrund einer gesetzlichen Vorschrift oder einer richterlichen oder behördlichen Anordnung offengelegt werden müssen. (5) These duties of confidentiality shall not apply where, and so long as, the information may lawfully be passed to third parties in accordance with the provisions of this employment contract; was already previously known to the recipient without any duty of confidentiality; is or
becomes publicly known at no fault of the recipient; was notified or furnished to the recipient by a third party without any violation of duties of confidentiality; it can be proven that such information was independently obtained by the recipient; the information was notified or furnished by the employer; the information was released in writing by the employer for the purposes of disclosure, or is subject to disclosure on the basis of statutory rules or a court or administrative order. (6) Dem Arbeitnehmer sind insbesondere die Beschränkungen zum Erwerb und Verkauf von Aktien der Sparks Network SE aufgrund der Regelungen der USA für Wertpapiere bekannt, die für Personen gelten, die maßgebliche, nicht-öffentliche Informationen der Gesellschaft oder zur Kommunikation von (6) The Employee is aware of the restrictions imposed by the United States securities laws on the purchase or sale of securities of Spark Networks SE by any person who has received material, non-public information from the issuer of such securities and on the communication of DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[17] Informationen mit irgendeiner Person erhalten haben, in Bezug auf die es vernünftigerweise vorhersehbar war, dass diese andere Person aufgrund derInformationen wahrscheinlich Wertpapierekaufen oder verkaufen würde. such information to any other person when it is reasonably foreseeable that such other person is likely to purchase orsell such securities in reliance upon suchinformation. (7) Während der Laufzeit dieses Vertrags sowie bis zu 12 Monaten nach dem Ende des Vertrages unabhängig vom Grund ist es dem Arbeitnehmer untersagt, andere Arbeitnehmer des Arbeitgebers für einen neuen Arbeitgeber abzuwerben oder auf sonstige Art und Weise zu einem Arbeitsplatzwechsel zu veranlassen. (7) For the term of this agreement as well as for the period of 12 months after this agreement ends (irrespective of the reason), the Employee shall not entice other employees of the Employer away or cause them in any other way to change their employment to the Employee’s new employer. (8) Für jeden Fall der Zuwiderhandlung gegen einen oder mehrere der unter §17 genannten Punkte ist der Arbeitnehmer verpflichtet, eine Vertragsstrafe von einem durchschnittlichen Bruttomonatsgehalt zu zahlen. Im Falle eines Dauerverstoßes wird die Vertragsstrafe für jeden angefangenen Monat neu verwirkt, unter Ausschluss des Einwandes des Fortsetzungszusammenhangs. Der Arbeitgeber behält sich die Geltendmachung eines darüber hinaus gehenden Schadens vor. (9) Mit meiner Unterschrift bestätige ich, dass ich eine Kopie des Code of Business Conduct & Ethics von Spark Networks erhalten habe. Ich bestätige weiterhin, dass ich die Richtlinien gelesen, verstanden und voll und ganz einhalten werde. (8) For each violation of one or more points mentioned under Section 17, the Employee shall be required to pay a contractual penalty equal to one month’s average gross salary. In the event of an ongoing violation, the contractual penalty shall be newly imposed for each commenced month; the defense of pleading a single continued breach (Fortsetzungszusam-menhang) is hereby excluded. The Employer reserves the right to assert damages in excess of such contractual penalty. (9) With my signature I acknowledge that I
have received a copy of the Spark Networks Code of Business Conduct & Ethics. I further acknowledge that I have read, understand and will fully adhere to the policy. § 18 Annahme von Vergünstigungen Section 18Receiving Benefits & Gifts (1) Jegliche Annahme unmittelbarer oder mittelbarer Vergünstigungen oder Geschenke von Kunden, Lieferanten oder anderen Personen bzw. Organisationen, die mit dem Arbeitgeber eine geschäftliche Beziehung unterhalten oder anbahnen wollen, ist dem Arbeitnehmer verboten, soweit der Wert € 100,00 netto pro Vergünstigung oder (1) The Employee shall be prohibited from accepting any direct or indirect benefits or gifts from customers, suppliers or other persons or organizations that maintain, or are seeking to establish, business relations with the Employer, where the net value of such benefit or gift exceeds EUR 100.00 net per benefit or gift or in any such case DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[18] Geschenk übersteigt, sowie für den Fall, dass Vergünstigungen oder Geschenke von einem oben beschriebenen Geschäftspartner einenJahreswert von € 250,00 netto überschreiten. Die Forderung von Vergünstigungen ist in jedem Fall verboten.where the total annual amount of benefits or gifts from one such person or organization exceeds EUR 250.00 net. Therequesting of benefits shall be absolutelyprohibited. (2) Der Arbeitnehmer hat dem Arbeitgeber jede ihm gewährte Vergünstigung oder jeden Versuch der Gewährung einer Vergünstigung unverzüglich mitzuteilen. Dies gilt entsprechend für Einladungen zuGeschäftsessen. (2) The Employee shall be required to notify the Employer without delay of any benefit granted to him / her or of any attempt to grant such benefit. This shall apply accordingly to invitations to business dinners. § 19 Verwendung von Daten des Arbeitnehmers, Einwilligung zu der Nutzung Section 19Use of Employee Data, Consent to Use of Data (1) Der Arbeitgeber weist dem deutschen Bundesdatenschutzgesetz und DSGVO entsprechend darauf hin, dass die persönlichen Daten des Arbeitnehmers zu betrieblichen Zwecken auf Datenträgern gespeichert, verwendet und genutzt werden sowie an Dritte weitergegeben werden können. (1) In accordance with the German Federal Data Protection Act (Bundesdatenschutzgesetz) and the GDPR (General Data Protection Regulation), the Employer hereby gives notice that the Employee’s personal data may be stored on data media, used and passed to third parties for purposes relating to his / her employment. (2) Der Arbeitnehmer erklärt sich mit der Speicherung, Verwendung, Nutzung und Weitergabe seiner Daten zu betrieblichen Zwecken im Rahmen der Zweckbestimmung seines Arbeits-verhältnisses einverstanden. (2) The Employee hereby consents to the storage, use and transfer of his / her data for business purposes in accordance with purposes relating to his / her employment. § 20 Mitteilungspflichten Section 20Notification Requirements Der Arbeitnehmer ist verpflichtet, dem Arbeitgeber jede Änderung seiner Personaldaten, insbesondere seiner Privatanschrift, seiner Bankverbindung und abrechnungsrelevanter Daten, unverzüglich mitzuteilen. The
Employee shall be obliged to notify the Employer without delay of any changes to his / her personal data, including, without limitation, his / her private address, bank account details and any data for accounting purposes.§ 21 Ausschlussfrist, Verfall von AnsprüchenSection 21Preclusion Period, Limitation of Claims (1) Alle Ansprüche aus dem Arbeitsverhältnis verfallen, soweit gesetzlich zulässig, wenn diese nicht binnen drei Monaten nach Fälligkeit gegenüber dem anderen (1) All claims arising out of the employment relationship shall lapse, as far as legally permissible, unless they are asserted against the other Contractual Party in DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[19] Vertragspartner in Textform geltend gemacht werden.writing within three months of such claims arising. (2) Lehnt der andere Vertragspartner den Anspruch ab oder erklärt sich nicht innerhalb von drei Wochen nach Geltendmachung des Anspruchs, verfällt dieser, soweit gesetzlich zulässig, wenn er nicht innerhalb von drei Monaten nach der Ablehnung oder dem Fristlauf gerichtlich geltend gemacht wird. (2) In the event that the other Contractual Party denies the claim or fails to respond thereto within three weeks of the claim being asserted, such claim shall lapse, as far as legally permissible, unless it is asserted in court proceedings within three months of the claim being denied or of the deadline expiring. (3) Die Absätze 1 und 2 gelten auch für Ansprüche, die mit dem Arbeitsverhältnis in Zusammenhang stehen. (3) Subsections 1 and 2 shall also apply to claims arising in connection with the employment relationship. (4) Die Absätze 1 und 2 gelten nicht für Ansprüche wegen vorsätzlichen oder grob fahrlässigen Verhaltens und für Ansprüche wegen der Verletzung von Leben, Körper, Gesundheit oder Freiheit. (4) Subsections 1 and 2 shall not apply to claims resulting from, intentional or grossly negligent conduct, or to claims resulting from death, personal injury, damage, to health or violation of freedom. § 22 Wettbewerbsverbot / Abwerbeverbot(1) Dem Arbeitnehmer ist es untersagt, für die Dauer dieses Arbeitsvertrages und für die Dauer von zwölf (12) Monaten nach Beendigung dieses Arbeitsvertrages in selbstständiger, unselbständiger oder sonstiger Weise Geschäfte im Geschäftsbereich des Arbeitgebers zu tätigen oder für ein Unternehmen tätig zu werden oder es auf andere Weise zu unterstützen, welches Geschäfte im Geschäftsbereich desArbeitgebers betreibt (hiernach „Wettbewerbsunternehmen“) oder mit einem Wettbewerbsunternehmen i.S.d §§ 115ff. AktG verbunden ist. In gleicher Weise ist es dem Arbeitnehmer für die Dauer dieses Arbeitsvertrages und für die Dauer von zwölf(12) Monaten nach Beendigungen dieses Arbeitsvertrages untersagt, ein solches Unternehmen zu errichten, zu erwerben, oder sich hieran unmittelbar oder mittelbar zu beteiligen. Dies gilt nicht bei Beteiligung in
Section 22Non-competition / non-solicitation (1)For the duration of this employment contract and for a period of twelve (12) months after expiration/termination of this employment contract, the employee undertakes not to engage in any activity whether self-employed, as employee, or in any other capacity in the business field of the employer or to work for or otherwise support an enterprise that competes with the employer (“competitor”) or is affiliated with a competitor according to Sec. 15 et seq. of the German Stock Corporation Act. Likewise, for the duration of this employment contract and for a period of twelve (12) months after termination of this employment contract, the employee is prohibited from establishing, acquiring or directly or indirectly participating in such a business. This does not apply to participation of less than 5% in the share capital of listed companies (in total the DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[20] Höhe von weniger als 5 % am Aktienkapital börsennotierter Unternehmen (insgesamt das „Wettbewerbsverbot“)."non-competition clause"). (2) Das nachvertragliche Wettbewerbsverbot ist räumlich auf solche Länder beschränkt, in denen die Gruppe des Arbeitgebers bei Ausscheiden des Arbeitnehmers geschäftlich tätig ist. (2) The post-contractual non-competition clause is limited to those countries in which the employer's group is active on the date of the expiration/termination. (3) Dem Arbeitnehmer ist es untersagt, während der Dauer dieses Arbeitsvertrages und für die Dauer von zwölf (12) Monaten nach Beendigung des Dienstvertrages, Arbeitnehmer des Arbeitgebers oder mit ihm verbundener Unternehmen für eigene oder fremde Zwecke abzuwerben, dritte Personen zur Abwerbung zu veranlassen oder diese bei Abwerbungsaktivitäten zu unterstützen. In demselben Zeitraum ist es dem Arbeitnehmer ebenfalls untersagt, direkt oder indirekt vertragliche Beziehungen zu Kunden des Arbeitgebers, der von ihm beherrschten Unternehmen sowie der sonst mit ihr verbundenen Unternehmen, für die der Arbeitnehmer tätig geworden ist, einzugehen oder dies zu versuchen. Dieses Verbot ist auf Kunden des Arbeitgebers beschränkt, die in den letzten drei Jahren in Geschäftsbeziehungen mit dem Arbeitgeber bzw. der mit ihr verbundenen Unternehmen standen (insgesamt das „Abwerbeverbot“) (4) Der Arbeitgeber zahl dem Arbeitnehmer für die Dauer des nachvertraglichen Wettbewerbsverbot- und Abwerbeverbots eine Entschädigung in Höhe von 50 % der zuletzt bezogenen Festvergütung. Auf die Entschädigung werden Einkünfte angerechnet, die der Arbeitnehmer während der Dauer des nachvertraglichen Wettbewerbs- und Abwerbeverbot durch anderweitige Verwendung seiner Arbeitskraft bezieht. (3) For the duration of this contract of employment and for a period of twelve (12) months after termination of the employment contract, the employee is prohibited from soliciting any other person employed by the employer or its affiliated companies for his own purpose or the purpose of any third party to solicit such an employee. During the same period, the employee shall also be prohibited from entering into or
attempting, directly or indirectly, contractual relations with clients of the employer or its affiliated companies, for which the employee has been acting. This prohibition is limited to clients of the employer who have had business relations with the employer or its affiliates for the last three years (the "non-solicitation" altogether) (4) The employer pays the employee compensation for the duration of the post- contractual non-competition clause and non-solicitation in the amount of 50% of the last fixed remuneration received. Any other remuneration received by the employee during the term of the post- contractual non-compete-obligation and the post-contractual non-solicitation obligation shall be credited against the compensation payment. (5) Der Arbeitgeber kann durch schriftliche (5) The employer may waive the post- DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[21] Erklärung jederzeit, sowohl vor Beendigung des Arbeitsvertrages als auch danach, auf das nachvertragliche Wettbewerbsverbot und Abwerbeverbot verzichten mit der Folge, dass er nach Ablauf von sechs (6) Monaten von der Zahlung der Entschädigung befreit ist. Endet das Arbeitsverhältnis, weil der Arbeitnehmer die Regelaltersgrenze in der gesetzlichenRentenversicherung erreicht hat oder dauerhaft dienstunfähig ist, tritt dasnachvertragliche Wettbewerbs- oder Abwerbeverbot nicht in Kraft. Im Falle einer Kündigung aus wichtigem Grund steht dem kündigungsberechtigen Vertragsteil das Rechtzu, innerhalb eines (1) Monats nachAusspruch der Kündigung aus wichtigem Grund durch schriftliche Erklärung gegenüber dem anderen Teil das nachvertragliche Wettbewerbs- und Abwerbeverbot mit sofortiger Wirkung entschädigungslosaufzuheben. contractual non-competition clause and non-solicitation by written declaration atany time, both prior to termination of theemployment contract and thereafter, with the result that he is exempted from payment of the compensation after six (6) months. If the employment ends becausethe employee has reached the standardretirement age in the statutory pensioninsurance or is permanently incapacitated for work, the post-contractual competition or non-employment prohibition does notenter into force. In the case of termination for cause, the party entitled to terminate has the right, within one (1) month of the termination of the termination for cause, to terminate the post-contractual competition and non-advertising obligation with immediate effect withoutcompensation by written declaration to the other party.(6) Für jede Handlung, durch die der Arbeitnehmer das (nachvertragliche) Wettbewerbs- und Abwerbeverbot gemäß vorstehenden Ziff. schuldhaft verletzt, hat er eine Vertragsstrafe in Höhe eines Bruttomonatsgehalts zu zahlen.Besteht die Verletzungshandlung in der kapitalmäßigen Beteiligung an einem Wettbewerbsunternehmen oder der Eingehung eines Dauerschuldverhältnisses (z.B. Arbeits-, Dienst, Handelsvertreter oder Geschäftsführer), wird die Vertragsstrafe für jeden angefangenen Monat, in dem die kapitalmäßige Beteiligung oder dasDauerschuldverhältnis besteht, neu verwirkt
(Dauerverletzung). MehrereVerletzungshandlungen lösen jeweils gesonderte Vertragsstrafen aus, gegebenenfalls auch mehrfach innerhalbeines Monats. Erfolgen dagegen einzelne Verletzungshandlungen im Rahmen einer Dauerverletzung, sind die von der für die Dauerverletzung verwirkten Vertragsstrafen mit umfasst. Bei Verwirkung mehrerer(6) For any act by which the employee violates the (post-contractual) prohibition of competition and non-solicitation pursuant to the before mentioned paragraphs, the employee has to pay a contractual penalty in the amount of a gross monthly salary. Should the breach consist of participating in the capital of a competitor or enter into a contract for the performance of a continuing obligation (e.g. an employment,service, commercial agency or consultancycontract), the contractual penalty shall be imposed anew for each full or partial month in which the capital participation or the contract for the performance of continuing obligation exists (ongoing breach).Several breaches shall trigger separatecontractual penalties, if necessary several times within one month. If, on the other hand, individual breaches occur within the scope of an ongoing breach they shall beDocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

[22] Vertragsstrafen ist der Gesamtbetrag der zuzahlenden Vertragsstrafen auf das sechsfache (6) eines Bruttomonatsgehalts begrenzt. Die Geltendmachung von Schäden, die über die verwirkte Vertragsstrafe hinausgehen, sowie die Geltendmachung sonstiger Rechte, z.B. Unterlassungsansprüche bleiben vorbehalten. covered by the contractual penalty owed for the ongoing breach. If severalcontractual penalties are incurred, the total amount payable is limited to an aggregated amount of six (6) gross monthly salaries. The Company reservesthe right to assert damages over andabove the contractual penalty imposed, as well as other rights, e.g. the right to claim injunctive relief. (7) Soweit in diesem Arbeitsvertrag nichts anderes geregelt ist, gelten die ³³74 ff HGB entsprechend. (7) Unless otherwise stipulated in this employment contract, the Sec. 74 et sec. HGB apply accordingly. § 23 SchlussbestimmungenSection 23Concluding Provisions(1) Die beim Arbeitgeber geltenden Richtlinien und das Handbuch sind zu beachten. (2) The Employee shall observe the Employer’s guidelines and the handbook at any time. (3) Alle Änderungen oder Ergänzungen dieses Arbeitsvertrags, einschließlich der Aufhebung dieser Schriftformklausel, der Schriftform. (4) Nebenabreden sind nicht getroffen. (5) Any and all purported amendments or additions to this employment contract, including any purported revocation of this written form requirement, must be made in writing. (6) No ancillary agreements have been entered into. Der Vertrag wird in zwei Ausfertigungen erstellt,von denen jeder Vertragspartner eine erhaltenhat. Der englische Text in diesem Vertrag dient nur zurOrientierung. Bei Unstimmigkeiten zwischen der deutschen Version und der englischen Version ist die deutsche Version maßgebend. Each Contractual Party has received one of the two issued copies of this contract. The English text in this contract is provided for guidance only. In the event of any inconsistencybetween the German version and the English version, the German version shall prevail. Berlin, den 08.07.2019 __________________________________ Ort, Datum /Place, date __________________________________Spark Networks Services GmbH __________________________________
Bert AlthausDocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

- Anlage 1 Appendix 1 Rechteübertragung Zu den gemäß § 13 des Vertrages übertragenen Rechten gehören insbesondere, aber nicht ausschliesslich folgende Rechte: Assignment of Rights The rights assigned pursuant to Art. 13 are, inparticular but not limited to, the 1. Verfilmung-und Vertonung/Bearbeitung 1. Filming-and Scoring /Editing 1.1 das Werkbearbeitungs- und Übersetzungsrecht, d.h. das Recht, das Werk sowie Charaktere, Handlungselemente, Dialoge, Szenen etc. des Werkes bzw. der Produktion unter Wahrung der Urheberpersönlichkeitsrechte abzuändern, neue oder geänderte Teile hinzuzufügen, Teile herauszunehmen oder die Handlungsabfolgen umzustellen, (Co-) Autoren mit einer Bearbeitung zu beauftragen und das Werk in sämtliche Sprachen übersetzen zu lassen und diese Übersetzungen Dritten zugänglich zu machen. Dies schließt die Umgestaltung des Werks im Rahmen interaktiver Nutzung ein. 1.1 the right to edit and translate works, meaning, the right to modify the work as well as characters, plot elements, dialogs, scenes, etc. of the work or the production respectively under observance of the inherent moral rights, the right to add new or modified parts, to remove parts or the changed the sequence of events, to hire (co- )authors to edit the work and the have thework translated into any and all languages and to make such translations available to third parties. This shall include the redesign of the work within the scope of interactive use. 1.2 das Filmherstellungs- und Vertonungsrecht, d.h. das Recht, die Produktion unter Verwendung des Werkes, von Teilen oder Bearbeitungen hiervon in deutscher oder fremdsprachiger Fassung für sämtliche unter Ziffer 2 genannten Nutzungsrechte und in allen bekannten technischen Verfahren (Film- , Fernseh-, Video-, Foto- und Tonbandaufnahmen etc. in digitaler und nicht digitaler Form) in allen Sprachfassungen (auch in untertitelter oder kommentierter Fassung – auch ohne Originalsprache- sowie in bebilderter Form) herzustellen,einschließlich des Rechtes zur Wiederverfilmung. 1.2 the filming and scoring right, meaning, the right to create the productionusing the work or parts or derivations thereof in German or foreign language versions forany and all rights
of use set forth under No. 2 and for all known technical procedures (film-, tv-, video-, photo- and tape recordings etc. in digital and non-digital form) in all languages (including in sub-titled or commentated ver- sion – even without the original language – as well as in illustrated form), including the rightto remake. 1.3 das Titelverwendungsrecht, d.h. den Titel des Werkes auch zur Bezeichnung der Produktion und sämtlicher aus und im Zusammenhang mit der Produktion entwickelten Produkte und neu entstehenden Werke zu verwenden. Eingeschlossen ist das Recht, den Titel – ggf. auch nach seiner Veröffentlichung – zu verändern bzw. zu ersetzen oder für dritte Produktionen zu nutzen. 1.3 the right to the title of the work, meaning, the right to use the title of the work including for the naming of the produc-tionand any and all newly developed prod-uctsand newly created works created in connec- tion with the production. This in-cludes the right to change or replace the title or use it for third productions – even after its publica- tion. DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

- 1.4 das Wiederverfilmungs- und Weiterentwicklungsrecht, d.h. die Befugnis, die Produktion ggf. mit Änderungen oder in umgestalteter Form beliebig häufig wiederzuverfilmen bzw. Handlungselemente oder in dem Werk enthaltene Personen und deren Charakteristika sowie sonstige Ideen und Gestaltungselemente neben der Werkbearbeitung uneingeschränkt auch für Folgeproduktionen (Prequels, Sequels, Serialization) zu verwenden, und zwar auch dann, wenn die Drehbücher und Konzepte für solche weiteren Produktionen ohne Mitwirkung des Urhebers erstellt werden sollten. 1.4 the right to remake and further develop, meaning, the authorization to remake the pro- duction as many times as desired, where appli- cable with modifications or changed formats, and to use plot elements and the persons de- picted in the work and their characteristics as well as any design elements not only for edit- ing the work but also for subsequent produc- tions (prequels, sequels, serialization) without limitations, even in the event of such scripts and concepts for additional productions beingcreated without the participation of the origi- nal author. 2. Auswertung Die dem Arbeitgeber vom Mitarbeiter eingeräumten exklusiven, zeitlich und örtlich unbegrenzten, frei übertragbaren, Auswertungsrechte in allen Sprachfassungen umfassen insbesondere nachstehende Rechte: 2. Exploitation The employee grants employer exclusive, freely transferrable exploitation rights for all language versions without term or location lim- itations, which shall particularly encompass the following rights: 2.1 das Senderecht, d.h. das Recht, die Produktion ganz und in Teilen und beliebig häufig im In- und Ausland durchTon- und Fernsehrundfunk, Drahtfunk, Hertz'sche Wellen, Laser, Mikrowellen oder ähnliche technische Einrichtungen ganz oder in Teilen der Öffentlichkeit mittels analoger oder digitaler Speicher- undÜbertragungstechnik beliebig häufig zugänglich zu machen. Dies gilt für alle möglichen Sendeverfahren einschließlich Live-Streaming (z.B. terrestrische Sender (z.B. DVB-T, DVB-H, DMB oder durch entsprechende Nachfolgetechnologien wie DXB), Kabelfernsehen, Kabelweitersendung,über leitungsgebundene und nicht leitungsgebundene
Daten- und/oder Telefonnetze (z.B. per ISDN, DSL,Kabelmodem, WAP, GPRS, HSCSD, HSMD, UMTS, etc.), Satellitenfernsehen unter Einschluss von Direktsatelliten, Abruffernsehen), unabhängig von der Rechtsform (öffentlich-rechtliches oder privates Fernsehen), der Art des Empfangsgeräts (Fernseh- und/oder sonstigesGerät), der Finanzierungsweise des Fernsehsenders (kommerzielles oder nicht- kommerzielles Fernsehen) oder derGestaltung des Rechtsverhältnisses zwischen 2.1 the right to broadcast, meaning, the right to make the productionavailable, as a whole or in part and as often aswished at home and abroad, to the general public for any desired number of times by means of analog or digital storage and trans- mission technologies via public radio and tele- vision broadcasting, wired radio, Hertzianwaves, laser, microwaves or any similar tech- nological devices. This shall apply to any and all available transmission technologies including live streaming(e.g. terrestrial broadcasting (e.g. DVB-T, DVB-H, DMB or via respective succeed- ing technologies such as DXB), cable TV, cableretransmission, wired and wireless data and/or telephone networks (e.g. via ISDN, DSL, cable modem, WAP, GPRS, HSCSD, HSMD, UMTS,etc.), satellite TV including direct satellites, vid- eo on demand), irrespective of the legal form(public or private broadcast stations), the typeof the receiving device (television set and/or other devices), the funding method of the broadcasting station (commercial or noncom- mercial broadcast) or the legal design of the re- lationship between the broadcaster and thereceiver (Free-TV, Pay-TV, pay per view, videoon demand, near video on demand, etc.) and for as many broadcasts as desired. The right to playback broadcasts shall be included. TheDocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

- Sender und Empfänger (Free-TV, Pay-TV, pay per view, video on demand, near video on demand, etc.) und für beliebig vieleAusstrahlungen. Eingeschlossen ist das Rechtder Wiedergabe von Sendungen. Das Senderecht umfasst auch das Recht der Wiedergabe von Funksendungen der Leistung/Produktion, insbesondere das Recht,Funksendungen des Werkes durch Bildschirm (z.B. TV, PC, Mobiltelefon, Personal Digital Assistant (PDA)), Lautsprecher oder ähnlichetechnische Einrichtungen öffentlichwahrnehmbar zu machen, einschließlich des Rechts, die Leistung/Produktion einem begrenzten Empfängerkreis (closed circuit), z.B. in Gaststätten, Hotels, Diskotheken, Vereins- und Altersheimen, Schiffen, Flugzeugen, Autobussen, Zügen, Krankenhäusern, Bahnhöfen, Warteräumen, Einkaufszentren, Gefängnissen und Bildungsreinrichtungen, wahrnehmbar zu machen, sowie das Recht, Vervielfältigungsstücke im Zuge des Sende- oder Übertragungsprozesses, insbesondere ephemere Speicherungen bei Rundfunkübertragungen, herzustellen. Von der Rechteübertragung umfasst sind ferner Vergütungsansprüche, die im Zusammenhang mit der Funksendung der Leistung/Produktion oder deren Wiedergabe entstehen. right to broadcast also includes the right to re- play broadcasts of the work/production, in par- ticular the right to make broadcasts of the workavailable for public perception via screen (e.g. TV, PC, mobile phone, personal digital as- sistant (PDA)), speakers or similar technical equipment, including the right to make the work/production available for public percep- tion by a limited group of receivers (closed cir- cuit), e.g. in restaurants, hotels, discotheques, club houses, nursing homes, ships, airplanes, busses, trains, hospitals, train stations, waitingrooms, shopping centres, prisons and educa- tional institutes, as well as the right to produceduplications in the course of the broadcasting process, in particular ephemeral storage during broadcasting transmissions. Also included in the assignment of rights are remuneration claims arising from the broadcasting of the work/production or the replay thereof.2.2 das Recht zur Verfügungsstellung auf Abruf(Video On Demand), d.h. das Recht, die Produktion ganz oder in
Teilen in elektronischen Datenbanken bereitzuhalten und mittels digitaler oder anderweitiger Übertragungstechnik einer Vielzahl von Nutzern derart zur Verfügung zu stellen, dass diese die Produktion auf jeweils individuellen Abruf mittels eines Fernseh- und/oder sonstigen Gerätes auch zur interaktiven Nutzung empfangen („Television on demand“, „Video on demand“, „Online“ etc.) und gegebenenfalls öffentlich vorführen können. 2.2 the right to make available on request (Video On Demand), meaning, the right to maintain the produc- tion, whole or in parts, in an electronic data- base, to make it available to a multitude ofusers by means of digital or other transmis- sion technologies in such a manner that theseusers can receive the production on a televi- sion set and/or other devices on demand, in- cluding for interactive use (“Television ondemand”, “Video on demand”, “Online”, etc.) and, where applicable, for public presenta- tions. 2.3 das Theaterrecht (Kino- undVorführungsrechte), d.h. das Recht, die Produktion durch technische Einrichtungen öffentlich wahrnehmbar zu machen, unabhängig von der technischen Ausgestaltung des Vorführsystems und der Bild-/Tonträger sowie der Art und 2.3 the theatrical presentation right (theatre and exhibition rights), meaning, the right to use technical devices tomake the production available for public per- ception, regardless of the technical design of the presentation system and the video/sound media as well as regardless of the type and DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

- Weise der Zulieferung der vorzuführenden Signale. Das Theaterrecht bezieht sichinsbesondere auf alle Film- und Schmalfilmrechte (70, 35, 16, 8 mm) sowieelektro-magnetische sowie digitale (Video-) Systeme und umfasst die gewerbliche und nicht-gewerbliche Filmvorführung. manner in which the signals to be presented will be delivered. The theatrical presentation right particularly applies to all film and motion picture film rights (70, 35, 16, 8 mm) as well as to electromagnetic and digital (video-) systems encompassing both commercial and noncom- mercial film presentations. 2.4 das Messerecht, d.h. das Recht, die Produktion auf Messen, Verkaufsausstellungen, Festivals, Wettbewerben und ähnlichen Veranstaltungen durch technische Einrichtungen unabhängig von der technischen Ausgestaltung des Vorführsystems und der Bild-/Tonträger öffentlich wahrnehmbar zu machen. 2.4 the trade fair right, meaning, the right to make the productionavailable for perception by means of technical devices at trade fairs, sales exhibitions, festi- vals, competitions and similar events, irrespec- tive of the technical design of the presentation system or the video/sound media. 2.5 das Bild- und Tonträgerrecht, d.h. das Recht zur Vervielfältigung und Verbreitung (Verkauf, Vermietung, Leihe etc.) des Werkes und der Produktion, ganz oder in Teilen, auf Bild-/Tonträgern aller Art zum Zwecke der nicht-öffentlichen Wiedergabe. Dieses Recht umfasst sämtliche audiovisuellen Systeme wie Schmalfilme, Schmalfilm- und Videokassetten, Videobänder, Videoplatten, Disketten, Chips, CD-ROM, CDi, 3DO, MMCD, SDD, DVD sowie multimediale Bild-/Tonträger unabhängig von der technischen Ausgestaltung des Systems und unabhängig von der Art der Nutzung, einschließlich interaktiver Nutzung. Hiervon umfasst ist die Herstellung,Vervielfältigung und Verbreitung von Bild / Tonträgern, auf denen die Produktion derart gespeichert ist, dass eine Wiedergabe nur durch Übermittlung zusätzlicher Dateninformationen („Schlüssel“) ermöglicht wird. Eingeschlossen ist das Recht, die Produktionfür einen begrenzten Empfängerkreis (z.B. Krankenhäuser, Hotels, Flugzeuge, Schiffe, Busse,
Züge Schulen) zugänglich oder wahrnehmbar zu machen. 2.5 the video and sound media rights, meaning, the right to reproduce and dissemi- nate (sell, rent out, loan, etc.) the work and the production, whole or in parts, on vid- eo/sound media of any type for the purpose of nonpublic playback. This right encom- passes any and all audiovisual systems suchas motion picture films, motion picture film and video cassettes, video tapes, video plat- ters, diskettes, chips, CD-ROM, CDi, 3DO, MMCD, SDD, DVD as well as multimedia vid- eo/sound media irrespective of the technical design of the system and irrespective of thetype of use, including interactive use. This includes the production, reproduction and dissemination of video / audio media, on which the production is stored in such a manner that playback is only possible after the transmission of additional data (“key”). Furthermore included is the right to make theproduction accessible or perceptible to/by alimited audience (e.g. hospitals, hotels, air- planes, ships, busses, trains, schools). DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

- 2.6 das Vervielfältigungs- und Verbreitungsrecht,d.h. das Recht, die Produktion im Rahmen der hier eingeräumten Rechte beliebig – d.h. auch auf anderen als den ursprünglich verwendeten Bild-/Tonträgern – zu vervielfältigen und zu verbreiten. Eingeschlossen ist das Recht zur Vervielfältigung und Verbreitungin Form von Einzelbildern. 2.6 the reproduction and dissemination right, meaning, the right to freely reproduce and disseminate the production within the scope of the rights granted herein – including on other than the originally used video/audio media. The right to reproduction and dis- semination in the form of individual still im- ages is included. 2.7 das Bearbeitungs- und Synchronisationsrecht, d.h. das Recht, die Produktion bzw. ihre Bild- bzw. Tonbestandteile, und/oder sonstigen Elemente unter Wahrung der Urheberpersönlichkeitsrechte (§ 93 UrhG) auch im Rahmen sämtlicher in dieser Anlage übertragenen Nutzungsrechte zu kürzen, zu teilen, Werbung/Sponsoring oder andere Werke auch unterbrechend einzufügen, insbesondere auch die Produktion im selben Medium zeitgleich mit Werbung wahrnehmbar zu machen (auch im Wege des sog. „Split- Screen-Verfahren“, bei dem die Produktion und Werbung, auch unter Verwendung von Namen und Bildnis der Mitwirkenden, gleichzeitig zu sehen sind), die Produktion ganz oder in Teilen mit anderen Werken zu verbinden, den Titel neu festzusetzen , die Musik auszutauschen oder in sonstiger Weise zu bearbeiten sowie das ausschließliche Recht, die Produktion in anderen Sprachen zu synchronisieren sowie insgesamt oder in Teilen neu- oder nachzusynchronisieren oder untertitelte und Voice-Over-Fassungen herzustellen. Dies schließt interaktive Nutzungen ein, d.h. die Befugnis, dem Nutzer individuelle Bearbeitungsmöglichkeiten der Produktion bzw. ihren einzelnen Bild- bzw. Tonbestandteile und/oder sonstigen Elementen bereit zu stellen, insbesondere im Wege der Kürzung, Verfremdung, Umgestaltung, Komprimierung, Verbindung mitanderen Werken und durch sonstige Veränderung. 2.7 the editing and synchronization right, meaning, the right to, under observance ofthe moral rights (§ 93 of the Copyright Act) and within the scope of all
rights transferred by this appendix, abridge, split, insert adver- tisements/sponsoring or other works even ifthey interrupt into the production or its video and audio components and/or other ele- ments. Furthermore and especially to makethe production perceptible on the same me- dium simultaneously with advertisement (in- cluding by means of the so-called “splitscreen procedure”, in which the productionand advertisements can be seen simultane- ously, including the use of names and like- nesses of the participants), to combine the production as a whole or in parts with other works, to rename the title, to replace the music or to edit in any other way, and the ex- clusive right to dub the production into other languages as well as to re- or newly dub as a whole or in parts or to create subtitled orvoice-over versions. This shall encompass in- teractive uses, meaning the authorization to offer the user individual edited options of the production or its individual image or audio components and/or other elements, especial- ly by way of abridgement, alteration, re- design, compression, connection with otherworks and any other modifications. 2.8 das Recht zur Werbung und Klammerteilauswertung, d.h. die Befugnis, Ausschnitte aus der Produktion innerhalb anderer Produktionen auszuwerten oder für Werbezwecke (inkl. Promotion für den Arbeitgeber oder dessen Lizenznehmer) zu nutzen sowie das Recht, in branchenüblicher Weise (z.B. im Fernsehen, 2.8 the right to advertise and clip license exploi- tation, meaning, the authorization to exploit clips of the production within other productions or to use them for advertising purposes (incl. pro- motions for the employer or his licensees), as well as the right to advertise the productionand its comprehensive exploitation pursuant DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

- im Kino, Online, auf Videogrammen oder inDruckschriften) für die Produktion und deren umfassende Auswertung zu werben. Hierineingeschlossen ist das Recht zur Herstellung, Vervielfältigung und Verbreitung vonInhaltsdarstellungen und sonstigen kurzen Druckwerken aus der Produktion sowie von sonstigen Werbeschriften im üblichenUmfang. Dieses Recht umfasst auch die Befugnis, Abbildungen, Namen und Biographien der an der Produktion Mitwirkenden und sonstigen Elemente der Produktion zu nutzen. to industry standards (e.g. on television, in movie theatres, online, on videograms or in print collateral). This includes the right to produce, reproduce and disseminate content synopses and other short print works from the production as well as other advertising copy within the usual scope. This right in- cludes the authorization to use likenesses, names and biographies of those participating in and other elements of the production. 2.9 das Archivierungsrecht, d.h. das Recht, die Produktion oder das Werk in jeder technischen Form zu archivieren und abrufbar zu speichern. 2.9 the right to archive, meaning, the right to archive and store, readyto use, the production or the work by any technical means. 2.10 das Datenbankrecht, d.h. das Recht, die Leistung oder Produktion oder Bearbeitung der Leistung oder Produktion einschließlich von Abstracts oder sonstigen Inhaltsangaben digitalisiert zu erfassen und auf allen bekannten Speichermedien gemeinsam mit anderen Werken oder Werkteilen zu speichern, zu bearbeiten und mit einer Retrieval-Software zu versehen sowie auf beliebigen Datenträgern zu speichern, diesen Datenträger in beliebiger Form zu vervielfältigen, zu verbreiten, zu vermieten und/oder öffentlich zugänglich zu machen zugänglich zu machen sowie ferner die Produktion und/oder Bearbeitung der Produktion im Wege der Datenfernübertragung (mit oder ohne Download) auf die Rechner Dritter zu übertragen sowie Ausdrucke von Papierkopien durch die jeweiligen Endnutzer zu gestatten. 2.10 the database (transmission) right, meaning the right to digitally collect thework, production or the editing thereof, in- cluding abstracts or other content summar- ies, to store them on all known storage
media alongside other works or work components, to edit them and furnish them with a Retriev- al Software, as well as to store them on anydata carriers, to reproduce such data carrierin any form and disseminate, rent out and/or make publicly available, as well as to transferthe production and/or the editing of the pro- duction to the computer of third parties via remote data transmission (with or without downloading) and to permit the printing of paper copies by the respective end users. 2.11 das Merchandising-Recht, d.h. das Recht zur kommerziellen oder nicht kommerziellen Auswertung des Werkes und der Produktion durch Herstellung undVertrieb von Waren aller Art, auch durch Verbreitung und/oder öffentlichen Zugänglichmachung, insbes. von interaktivenund multimedialen Produkten,d.h. Spieleund/oder andere Hard- und Software- Anwendungen, in denen visuelle und/oder akustische Elemente kombiniert eingesetzt werden bzw. eingesetzt werden können 2.11 the merchandising rights, meaning, the right to commercial or noncom- mercial exploitation of the work or the pro- duction by manufacturing and selling goods of all types, including by disseminating and/or making publicly available, in particular, in- terac-tive and multimedia products, meaninggames and/or other hard- and software ap- plications, in which visual and/or acoustic el- ements are used in combination or respec- tively can be used and/or which allow the us- er to interact with the multimedia product DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

- und/oder die dem Nutzer ermöglichen (off- oder online) mit dem multimedialen Produkt zu interagieren,oder das Angebot von Dienstleistungen jeweils unter Verwendung von Vorkommnissen, Namen, Titeln, Figuren, Abbildungen, Logos, Ausschnitten und/oder sonstigen in einer Beziehung zu dem Werkund/oder zu der Produktion stehendenElementen und Zusammenhängen. Eingeschlossen ist das Recht, derartige Elemente in bearbeiteter oder unbearbeiteter Formfür Waren und Dienstleistungen jeder Art zu nutzen und damitzu werben. Weiter eingeschlossen sind die Themenparkrechte (z.B. Freizeit- und Vergnügungsparks, Restaurants, Einkaufszentren etc.) (offline or online), or the offering of services with the use of events, names, titles, figures, images, logos, clips and/or other elements and tie-ins related to the work and/or theproduction. This includes the right to usesuch elements in edited or unedited forms for goods and ser-vices of any type and for ad- vertising. Fur-thermore included are theme park rights (e.g. recreational- and amusement parks, restau-rants, shopping malls, etc.). 2.12 das Drucknebenrecht, d.h. das Recht, das Werk (bzw. Zusammenfassungen, Inhaltsangaben, Synopsen oder Teile des Werks) herzustellen, zu bearbeiten, zu verbreiten oder als Druckwerk zu veröffentlichen sowie das Recht zur Herstellung, Vervielfältigung und Verbreitung von bebilderten und nicht- bebilderten Büchern, Heften, Comic-Streifen usw., die aus dem Werk oder der Produktion durch Wiedergabe oder Nacherzählung desInhalts – auch in abgewandelter oder neugestalteter Form – oder durchfotografische, gezeichnete oder gemalte Abbildungen oder ähnliches abgeleitet sind. 2.12 the subsidiary print right, meaning, the right to produce, edit, dissemi- nate the work (or summaries, content descrip- tions, synopses or parts of the work) or to pub- lish it in print form, as well as the right to pro- duce, reproduce and disseminate books, maga- zines, comic strips, etc. with and without illus- trations, which are derived from the work or the production by means of rendering or retell- ing the content – including in modified or rede- signed forms – or by means of photographic, sketched or drawn images or similar. 2.13 das Tonträgerrecht, d.h.
das Recht zur Herstellung, Vervielfältigung und Verbreitung von Schallplatten, Bandkassetten oder sonstigen analogen sowie digitalen Tonträgern wie CD, CD-ROM, DCC, MiniDisc, DAT, CDi, Chips, DVD, MP3- Files etc., die unter Verwendung des Soundtracks der Produktion oder unter Nacherzählung, Neugestaltung oder sonstigerBearbeitung des Inhalts des Werkes oder der Produktion gestaltet werden, sowie das Recht, derartige Tonträger durch Funk zu senden oder öffentlich vorzuführen.Dies umfasst das Recht, das Werk in allen Konfigurationen, z.B. als Single, Maxi-Single, EP, Music-on-Demand, Album, einschließlich Compilations und Samples, oder in Computerprogrammen festzulegen und diese 2.13 the sound recording right, meaning, the right to produce, reproduce and disseminate vinyl records, tape cas-settes or other analog and digital audio rec-ords such as CD, CD-ROM, DCC, MiniDisc, DAT, CDi, Chips, DVD, MP3 files etc., which are created by using the soundtrack of the production or by retelling, recreating or oth-erwise editing the content of the work or the production, as well as the right to broad-cast such audiorecords via radio waves or to make themavailable for public screening. This includes the right to assign the work in all configurations, e.g. as a single, maxi-single, EP, music-on-demand, album, includ-ing compilation albums and samples, or in com- puter programs and to reproduce, edit, dis- seminate, transfer, make available for public DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

- Ton- und Datenträger zu vervielfältigen, zu bearbeiten, zu verbreiten, zu senden, öffentlich wahrnehmbar und zugänglich zumachen und wie das Werk selbstauszuwerten. perception and exploit as the work it-self, any such sound- and data carriers. 2.14 das Bühnen- und Radiohörspielrecht, d.h. das Recht, die Produktion oder das Werk für eine ggf. geänderte Bühnen- oder Radiohörspielfassung zu nutzen. 2.14 the stage and radio drama rights, meaning, the right to use the production or the work for possibly modified stage- or radiodrama versions. 2.15 soweit gesetzlich zulässig die gesetzlichenAnsprüche auf angemessene Vergütung für - die Aufnahme der Produktion auf Bild-/ Tonträger sowie die Überspielung von einem Bild-/ Tonträger auf einen anderen zum persönlichen Gebrauch (§§54, 54a, 54 d Urhebergesetz); - die Vervielfältigung durch Aufnahme von Schulsendungen auf Bild- und Tonträger (§47 Abs.2 Urhebergesetz); - die Vervielfältigung und Verbreitung von Bild- und Tonträgern, die in eine Sammlung für den Kirchen-, Schul- oder Unterrichtsgebrauch aufgenommen werden (§46 Abs. 4 Urhebergesetz); - das Vermieten und/oder Verleihen von Bild- und Tonträgern gemäß §27 Urhebergesetz - die Kabelweitersendung sowie die anteiligen urheberrechtlichen Vergütungsansprüche, d.h. das Recht zur zeitgleichen, vollständigen und unveränderten Kabelweitersendung der Produktion und zur Geltendmachung von aus der Kabelweitersendung – gleich auf welchem Territorium – resultierenden anteiligen Vergütungsansprüchen sowie zur Geltendmachung der anderweitigen anteiligen Vergütungsansprüche innerhalb des Exklusivgebiets (insb. aus §§ 20b, 27, 54 UrhG). 2.15 To the extent permitted by law, the statutory rights to reasonable compensation for - the recording of the production on vid- eo/audio media as well as the transfer from one video/audio medium to another for personal use (Articles 54, 54a, 54d, Copyright Act); - the reproduction by recording school broadcasts on video and audio media (Art. 47 para. 2 Copyright Act); - the reproduction and dissemination of video and audio media, which are to be included in collections for church, school or training uses (Art. 46 para. 4
Copyright Act); - The renting out and/or loaning of video and audio media pursuant to Art. 27 Copy- right Act. - the cable retransmission as well as the prorated copyright license compensation claims, meaning, the right to simultane- ous, complete and unmodified cable re- transmission of the production and to the submission of prorated claims resulting from cable retransmissions – regardless of territory – as well as to the submission of other prorated compensation claims with- in the exclusive territory (esp. pursuant to Articles 20b, 27, 54 Copyright Act). 2.16 Rechte an Computerprogramme: - alle ausschließliche, unbefristete, übertragbare, unwiderruflich Nutzungsrechte an dem Werk, einschließlich Dokumentation und Benutzungsanleitung. Das Nutzungsrecht gilt für alle bekannten Nutzungsarten einschließlich der Bearbeitung, Vervielfältigung und Veröffentlichung. - die dauerhafte oder vorübergehende 2.16 Rights in computer programs: - any and all exclusive, indefinite, transfer- rable, irrevocable rights of use of the work, including documentation and user manuals. The right of use applies to all known types of use, including editing, re- production and publication. - the permanent or transient reproduction, whole or in part, of a computer program using any means and in any form, espe- DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

- Vervielfältigung, ganz oder teilweise, eines Computerprogramms mit jedem Mittel und in jeder Form, insbesondere wenn das Laden, Anzeigen, Ablaufen, Übertragen oder Speichern des Computerprogrammseine Vervielfältigung erfordert. - die Übersetzung, die Bearbeitung, das Arrangement und andere Umarbeitungen eines Computerprogramms sowie die Vervielfältigung der erzielten Ergebnisse. - jede Form der Verbreitung des Originals eines Computerprogramms oder von Vervielfältigungsstücken, einschließlichder Vermietung. Wird einVervielfältigungsstück einesComputerprogramms mit Zustimmung des Rechtsinhabers im Gebiet der Europäischen Union oder eines anderen Vertragsstaates des Abkommens über den Europäischen Wirtschaftsraum im Wegeder Veräußerung in Verkehr gebracht, so erschöpft sich das Verbreitungsrecht in bezug auf dieses Vervielfältigungsstück mit Ausnahme des Vermietrechts; - die drahtgebundene oder drahtlose öffentliche Wiedergabe eines Computerprogramms einschließlich der öffentlichen Zugänglichmachung in der Weise, dass es Mitgliedern der Öffentlichkeit von Orten und zu Zeiten ihrer Wahl zugänglich ist. cially when loading, displaying, playing, transmitting or saving of the computerprogram requires the process of reproduc- tion. - the translation, editing, arrangement and other modifications of a computer pro- gram as well as the reproduction of the achieved results thereof. - any and all forms of dissemination of the original of a computer program or its cop- ies, including renting. When a copy of a computer program is brought into circula- tion within the European Union or another member state of the Agreement on the European Economic Area with the consent of the rights owner by way of sale, the dis- tribution right with respect to that particu- lar copy shall be exhausted, with the ex- ception of the right to rent; - the wired or wireless public distribution of a computer program including publicly granting access in such a manner that ac- cess is available to members of the gen- eral public at a location and time of their choosing. 2.17 Das Audiotext- und Teletextrecht, d.h. das Recht, Teile, Elemente oder die gesamteLeistung oder Produktion überkostenpflichtige
Telefonmehrwertdienste oder im Teletext-Segment darzustellen, zu bewerben und/oder zu gewerblichen Angeboten zu nutzen. Damit verbunden istdas Recht im Zusammenhang mit der Produktion Preise auszuloben, Ausschreiben zu veranstalten und Gebühren zuvereinnahmen. Die Produktion kann zur Bewerbung dieser Angebote mit entsprechenden Hinweisen versehen werden und auch zur Bewerbung dieser Angebote in allen Medien in Ausschnitten genutzt werden.Des Weiteren kann zu diesem Zweck auch nur Ton oder eine Bildfolge, bzw. Standbilder genutzt werden. 2.17 The audio text right and the teletext right,meaning the right to present, promote and/or utilize for commercial offers parts, el- ements or the entirety of the work or produc- tion through paid value-added telephone ser- vices or in teletext-segment. Related thereto is the right to offer prizes, organize bids and collect fees in regards to the production. The production may be furnished with corre- sponding references to advertise such offers and may also be used in excerpts in all media to advertise such offers. In addition, audio- only content or a sequence of images or still images may also be used for this purpose. 2.18 Rechtseinräumung in Bezug auf ausländische Rechtsordnungen: Mit Wirkung für alle Rechtsordnungen, die eine Abtretung des 2.18 Granting of rights with regard to foreign legalsystems: effective for any legal system thatpermits the assignment of copyrights, the DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

- Urheberrechts („Copyright Assignment“) zulassen, tritt der Arbeitnehmer, sofern er in den Rechtsordnungen Urheberrechte innehat, diese an den Arbeitgeber ab. Der Arbeitgeber ist berechtigt, diese Abtretung in den hierfür maßgeblichen Registern (zB United States Copyright Office) eintragen zu lassen. Soweit dies nach den jeweiligen Rechtsordnungen zulässig ist, erklärt derArbeitnehmer darüber hinaus einen Verzicht auf die Geltendmachung der Urheberpersönlichkeitsrechte („waiver of moral rights“). Darüber hinaus soll dieRechtseinräumung mit Wirkung für alle Rechtsordnungen, die eine Rechtseinräumung auch für unbekannte Nutzungsarten zulassen, auch für derart erst zukünftig bekannt werdende Nutzungsarten gelten. Soweit diese Rechtsordnungenvorsehen, dass der Arbeitgeber hierfür demArbeitnehmer entsprechende Beteiligungeneinzuräumen hat, verpflichtet sich der Arbeitgeber, diese Zahlungen an den Arbeitnehmer im Zeitpunkt der Nutzung der Leistung oder der Produktion in diesen, heutenoch unbekannten, Nutzungsarten zu leisten. Die Parteien sind sich darüber einig, dass für die in dieser Ziffer getroffenen Regelungendas Recht des jeweiligen Schutzlandes gilt. employee assigns all copyrights he owns un- der such legal systems to the employer. The employer is entitled to register such assign- ment of rights with the competent registries (e.g. United States Copyright Office). The em- ployee further declares his waiver of moral rights, to the extent that such waivers arepermitted under the respective legal systems. Effective for any legal system that permits thegranting of rights relating to unknown types of use, the granting of rights shall also apply to types of use that become known in the fu- ture. To the extent that such legal systems require the employer to grant corresponding shareholdings to the employee, the employor shall be obligated to fulfil such payment du- ties to the employee at the time of use of thework or the production through such as yetunknown types of use. The parties agree that the respective lex loci protectionis (laws of the place where the protection is claimed) shall apply with regard to the provisions ofthis section. Berlin, 08.07.2019 Bert Althaus DocuSign Envelope ID: 4A9C5BC0-8BE3-49EC-8A04-8238747C7B13

Between Spark Networks SE Kohlfurterstr. 41/43 D-10999 Berlin hereinafter referred to as "Company" and Gitte Bendzulla Danziger Strasse 75 10405 Berlin hereinafter referred to as " Executive Director " (Geschäftsführender Direktor) In amendment to the Executive Director Service Agreement from 29.05.2020 the following amendment willbe concluded: Exhibit 10.5

- § 1 Präambel Mit Beschluss vom 26. Juni 2019 hat der Verwal- tungsrat der Gesellschaft Frau Bendzulla mit Wir- kung zum 1. Januar 2020 zum Geschäftsführer derGesellschaft ernannt. In Ergänzung zum bestehen- den Executive Director Service Agreement nebst etwaiger Ergänzungsvereinbarung, vereinbaren die Vertragspartner wie folgt: Section § 1 Preamble By resolution of June 26, 2019 the Company’sAdministrative Board has appointed Gitte Bend- zulla as executive director of the Company with effect as of January 1, 2020. As amendment to the Executive Director Service including any amend- ments, the Parties resolve as follows: § 2 Änderungen Section § 2 Amendments (1) § 4 (1) Vergütung (Gültig ab 01.12.2020) Als Vergütung für ihre Dienste erhält die ExecutiveDirektorin ein festes Bruttojahresgehalt in Höhevon 240.000,00 EUR (in Worten: zweihundertvier- zigtausend EUR). Das vereinbarte feste Bruttojah- resgehalt ist am Ende eines jeden Kalendermonats in 12 gleichen Raten fällig und zahlbar, abzüglich Steuern und Sozialabgaben. Beginnt oder beendet der Exekutivdirektor seine Tätigkeit während des Kalenderjahres und ist das Vertragsjahr somit kürzer als das Kalenderjahr, so ist das feste Brutto- jahresgehalt anteilig fällig. (1) Section § 4 (1) Remuneration (with effect from 01.12.2020) As remuneration for her services, the Executive Director shall receive a fixed gross annual salary in the amount of EUR 240.000,00 (in words: EUR two hundred forty thousand). The agreed fixed grossannual salary is due and payable in 12 equal in- stallments at the end of each calendar month, less taxes and social contributions. If the Executive Director begins or ends her job during the calendar year and the contractual year is thus shorter than the calendar year, the fixed grossannual salary shall be due on a pro-rata basis. (2) § 4 (2) Vergütung (Gültig ab 01.01.2021) Die Executive Director hat ferner Anspruch auf einen jährlichen Ermessensbonus in Höhe von bis zu 72.000,00 EUR (in Worten: zweiundsiebzigtau- send EUR) brutto. Die entsprechenden Ziele und entsprechenden Bonuszahlungen werden jährlich vor Beginn des nächsten Kalenderjahres vom Ver- waltungsrat nach Konsultation des Exekutivdirek- tors festgelegt. Der endgültige
Betrag des Bonuswird dann jährlich vom Verwaltungsrat auf der Grundlage der Zielerreichung festgelegt, wenn derJahresabschluss der Gesellschaft von den Wirt- schaftsprüfern der Gesellschaft genehmigt wird. Der etwaige Jahresbonus ist am Ende des Monats nach dieser Genehmigung des Jahresabschlussesfällig und zahlbar. (2) Section § 4 (2) Remuneration (with effect from 01.01.2021) The Executive Director shall furthermore be eligib- le to a discretionary annual bonus in the amount of up to EUR 72.000,00 (in words: EUR seventy- two thousand) gross. The relevant goals and cor- responding bonus payments shall be established annually before the start of the next calendar year by the Administrative Board after consultation of the Executive Director. The final amount of the bonus shall then be determined annually by the Administrative Board based on target achieve- ment at the same time as the annual financial statements of the Company are approved by the Company’s auditors. The annual bonus, if any, shall be due and payable at the end of the monthfollowing this approval of the annual financial statements. § 3 Schlussbestimmung Sofern vorstehend nichts Abweichendes geregelt wird, bleiben die übrigen Bestimmungen des Exe- cutive Director Service Agreement und eventuell Section § 3 Concluding Provision As far as this amendment does not state other- wise, the remaining provisions of the ExecutiveDirector Service Agreement and any amendments

- zusätzlicher gültiger Vertragsänderungen unbe- rührt. shall remain unaffected. Berlin, 01.12.2020 _________________________________________ Spark Networks SE Represented by its Administrative Board, repre- sented by the chairman of the Administrative Board, Mr. David Khalil Gitte Bendzulla

sf-4132303 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR SERVICE AGREEMENT between Spark Networks SE Kohlfurter Straße 41/43 10999 Berlinrepresented by its Administrative Board,represented by the chairman of the Administrative Board, Mr. David Khalil,hereinafter: “Company” and David Clark 3501 Goshen Rd, Newtown Square,PA 19073; USA hereinafter: “Executive Director”(Geschäftsführender Direktor)PREAMBLE: By resolution of June 9, 2021 the Company’s Administrative Board has appointed David Clark, born April 20, 1964, resident 3501 Goshen Rd, Newtown Square, PA 19073; USA.as ExecutiveDirector and CFO of the Company with effect as of August 10, 2021. This service agreement sets forth the terms and condition of David Clark’s services as Executive Director of the Company: § 1 POSITION/PLACE OF WORK (1) The Executive Director is, together with additional executive directors, an executive director and the CFO of the Company. Exhibit 10.8

- 2 - (2) The Executive Director’s place of service is at the Company’s registered place of business, currently located in Berlin. The Executive Director is allowed to work partly from Philadel- phia, USA, while management decisions with regard to the Company shall be taken in Berlin. § 2 MANAGEMENT/REPRESENTATION (1) The Executive Director shall manage the Company’s business with the due care and diligence of a prudent businessman and in accordance with this Agreement, the lawful instructions is- sued by the Administrative Board, and in observance of the statutory provisions and the ap- proval requirements, respectively, established by the Company’s most current version of the articles of association and the rules for procedures for the Executive Directors as well as any other Company’s guidelines, including the code of conduct. (2) Without impacting its right to issue instructions, the Administrative Board may issue reason- able rules of procedure for the management that distinguish the duties and responsibilities of several executive directors from one another. The Executive Director shall comply with the provisions of such rules of procedure as adopted from time to time when managing the Com- pany’s business as well as in representing the Company. (3) The Executive Director shall represent the Company together with another executive director or together with an executive officer vested with power of commercial representation under German law (Prokurist). The Company may appoint additional executive directors. The Com- pany may determine the power of representation at its own discretion and amend the same at any time. (4) The content and scope of the Executive Director’s power of representation and authority to sign are determined by the Administrative Board. (5) The Executive Director shall carry out the Company’s employer’s rights and obligations under labor and social insurance law. (6) The Executive Director can be appointed as the representative of businesses associated with the Company (“Associated Companies”) within the meaning of Sec. 15 AktG (German Stock Corporation Act). Except as set forth in the Employment Agreement dated as of the date hereof between Executive Director, the Company
and Spark Networks, Inc. (the “US-Contract”) the Executive Director shall not receive any additional compensation for such services. The Ex- ecutive Director shall at any time upon the Company’s request, and unsolicited, at the latest upon expiration of this Agreement resign from all of the aforementioned offices. § 3 DURATION OF THE AGREEMENT (1) The Executive Director’s service agreement shall enter into full force and effect as of July, 1 2021 and run for a fixed term of three years. It can be terminated before such expiry date by either party honoring (a) a six months’ notice period if the termination occurs within twelve months following Executive Director’s commencement of employment with the Company, or (b) a 75 day notice period if the termination occurs more than twelve months following Exec- utive Director’s commencement of employment with the Company, unless in case of a termi- nation for important reason. Executive Director shall be entitled to receive his regular remu- neration and benefits for the full notice period, regardless of whether all or a part of the notice period is waived by the Company (for the avoidance of doubt, such payments and benefits shall not offset any Severance payable to Executive Director under the US-Contract).This

- 3 - Agreement shall end, without dismissal being necessary, at the end of the month in which the Executive Director reaches the age of retirement of the statutory pension fund (which shall betreated as a termination by the Company and Spark Networks, Inc. without Cause under the US-Contract), or if a complete reduction in his earning capacity is determined.(2) Notice of termination shall be in writing. (3) The appointment as Executive Director may be revoked at any time by resolution of the Com- pany’s Administrative Board. (4) If the agreement of the Executive Director with Social Net Inc. is terminated or if the appoint- ment as Executive Director is revoked by way of an Administrative Board’ resolution, notifi- cation of the termination or notice of the revocation to the Executive Director by the Company shall simultaneously be considered to be termination of this Agreement, effective as of the next possible date. If the termination of the agreement with Social Net Inc. or the revocation is due to grounds that do not constitute cause for termination in accordance with Sec. 626 BGB (German Civil Code), this Service Agreement shall end upon the expiration of the notice period as stipulated under Sec. 3 (1) of this agreement. (5) Upon receipt of termination notice or in the event that the Executive Director is suspended or his term of office ends, the Company is entitled to release the Executive Director from his duties, insofar as the Company’s interests outweigh the Executive Director’s interest in con- tinued service. Upon such release, all vacation claims shall be deemed as having been taken. § 4 REMUNERATION (1) As remuneration for his services, the Executive Director shall receive a fixed gross annual salary in the amount of USD 60,000.00 (in words: USD sixty thousand). The agreed fixed gross annual salary is due and payable in 12 equal installments at the end of each calendar month, less taxes and social contributions. If the Executive Director begins or ends his job during the calendar year and the contractual year is thus shorter than the calendar year, the fixed gross annual salary shall be due on a pro-rata basis. (2) The Executive Director shall be entitled to participate in the Company’s VSOP and/or stock- option program.
Respective grants will be made by separate letter. (3) This remuneration set forth in this Agreement and the remuneration received under the US- Contract compensates any work performed by the Executive Director. No separate remuner- ation will be paid for extra work, overtime, or work on Sundays or statutory holidays. § 5 FRINGE BENEFITS AND INSURANCE (1) The Company shall pay the employer's social security contributions and any mandatory health insurance contributions if the Executive Director should be subject to German statutory social insurance contributions. (2) The Company shall include the Executive Director in its financial loss liability insurance (D&O insurance) so that the Executive Director is insured in the event of a claim by a third party or by the Company for breaches of duty committed during the performance of his duties to the Company, and any other Associated Companies upon terms and conditions no less fa- vorable than for other senior executives of the Company. The Company shall be entitled to

- 4 - change the respective financial loss liability insurance even without the consent of the Exec- utive Director provided that any such change applies generally to all senior executives of theCompany. The parties agree on a deductible of 10% of the damage, limited to one and a half times the amount of the annual gross salary pursuant to Sec. 4 and the sum of Annual Base Salary and the Annual Bonus under the US-Contract (as such terms are defined in the US- Contract). (3) The Company shall take out an accident insurance policy for the benefit of the Executive Director or his surviving dependents with an insured sum of EUR 600,000 in the event of death and EUR 1,200,000 in the event of disability. Cover is provided for accidents of any kind, regardless of whether the accident occurred within a professional or a private context. The insurance shall be effective as of the date Executive Director commences employment with the Company (or as soon as administratively possible thereafter) and expire upon termi- nation of this Service Agreement. (4) Entitlements to a retirement, invalidity, or survivor’s pension financed by the Company shall not result from this Service Agreement. In order to substantiate such claims, a separate written agreement must be concluded. § 6 VACATION (1) The Executive Director is entitled to annual vacation leave of 27 working days per calendar year. ‘Working days’ refers to all calendar days which at the location of employment are nei- ther Saturdays, Sundays, nor statutory holidays. Should this Agreement begin or end during the year, the Executive Director is entitled to prorated vacation time. The vacation leave shall be scheduled taking into consideration the Company’s interests in agreement with the other Executive Directors. If the Executive Director is taking vacation days under his US-Contract, this shall at the same time constitute a vacation day under this Agreement. (2) The entire annual vacation leave shall, as a rule, be taken during the current calendar year. Vacation leave may be carried forward to the following calendar year only if justified either for urgent operational reasons or for personal reasons of the Executive Director. (3) The Executive Director shall ensure that he remains reachable on
reasonably short notice even while on vacation. § 7 CONTINUED PAYMENT OF RENUMERATION IN CASE OF ILLESS OR DEATH (1) In the event of illness or any other hindrance occurring through no fault of his own that pre- vents him from executing his job during his service, the Executive Director shall be entitled to continued payment of his pro-rata remuneration pursuant to Sec. 4 (1) of this Agreement for a duration of up to six months; at the longest, however, until expiration of this Agreement. The Executive Director must allow these payments to be set off against any sick pay, daily benefits or pension payments he receives from health insurance or other insurances to the extent that these payments are not based exclusively on his contributions, unless otherwise provided under such other programs. The Executive Director shall notify the Company with- out undue delay and comprehensively of all payments of this sort. (2) The Executive Director shall inform the Company immediately of any inability to work and its expected duration and shall provide the reasons for such inability upon the Company’s request. The Executive Director shall without request provide the Company with a medical

- 5 - certificate at the latest on the third calendar day of his illness, confirming his inability to work and its probable duration. The notification shall be made to another executive director or, ifthere is no other executive director, to the chairman of the Administrative Board. (3) In the event of the Executive Director’s death during the term of this Agreement, the pro-rata remuneration must continue to be paid pursuant to Sec. 4 (1) of this Agreement for the month of death and the two subsequent months to the Executive Director’s spouse, alternatively to the Executive Director’s dependent children (the latter as the owner of joint rights); at the longest, however, until the expiration of this Agreement. With the payment to the bank ac- count designated by the Executive Director for remuneration payments, the Company shall be released from its payment obligation. § 8 REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES For business entertainment of business partners and on business trips, the Executive Director is entitled to reimbursement of his reasonable expenses, if the Executive Director has incurred such expenses in the interest of the Company. Should the expenses spent exceed the permissible lump- sum allowance according to tax provisions, the Executive Director must show proof of these ex- penses in detail by submitting proper receipts and invoices. In addition, the respective most currentguidelines of the Company on travel and other expenses shall apply, which are, in this respect, an integral part of this Agreement. Any reimbursement can only occur once, either under this Service Agreement or under the US-Contract. § 9 BUSINESS TRAVEL The Company shall reimburse travel expenses on the basis of receipts in accordance with the applicable tax directives and the Company guidelines. In the case that the Executive Director travels by train, the 1st class fare will be reimbursed; when traveling by plane, economy class tickets will be reimbursed; or, if the flight duration is more than 5.5 hours, business class tickets will be reimbursed. The Company will reimburse the Executive Director for reasonable costs of his regular trips from Philadelphia, USA to Berlin, including airfare, ground transportation, meals and accommodation. Any reimbursement can only occur once, either under
this Service Agreement or under the US- Contract.§ 10 LENGTH OF SERVICE IN THE COMPANY/NON-COMPETITION CLAUSE/SIDE ACTIVITIES (1) The Executive Director shall devote all of his working time to the Company and promote the interests of the Company to the best of his ability. If the common good of the Company re- quires, the Executive Director shall be available to the Company after normal business hours and, if necessary in safeguarding its interests, on Sundays and statutory holidays as well. (2) For the duration of this Agreement the Executive Director undertakes not to assume a com- peting position, either independently or dependently, as an employee or as an entrepreneur or in any other manner; either directly or indirectly through investment; to become active in any way for a company that directly competes with the Company; or to work for an Associated Company without the prior consent of the Administrative Board. (3) Any paid employment or customarily paid activity, any investments in businesses, as well as any membership on supervisory or advisory boards of other companies or other institutions,

- 6 - requires the prior written notification of the Company by the Executive Director and shall be subject to prior explicit written consent from the Administrative Board.For business reasons, in particular if the Executive Director’s job is suffering any material adverse effects, any such consent may be revoked at any time. In performing any side activi- ties, the Executive Director shall exercise a strict duty of loyalty vis-à-vis the Company andAssociated Companies, and in the course of carrying out these side activities shall not nega- tively impact the business interests or any other interests of the Company. The customary acquisition of securities for purposes of personal asset management shall beexcluded from the duty to obtain consent. § 11 POST-CONTRACTUAL NON-COMPETE COVENANT (1) The Executive Director shall be prohibited, for a period of one year after the end of this Agree- ment, from working in any form – be it as an employee, or on a self-employed or any other basis – for an undertaking that competes directly or indirectly with the Company or which is affiliated with a competing undertaking. The Executive Director shall likewise be prohibited from setting up, acquiring or holding a direct or indirect interest in such an undertaking during this period. This non-competition covenant shall also apply in favor of undertakings affiliated with the Company. Acquiring up to 5% interests in a company is not subject of this non- competition covenant. The post-contractual non-compete covenant does not apply to subordi- nated, basic activities of the Executive Director for a competing undertaking without a con- nection to the Executive Director’s activity as Executive Director for the Company. Advisory activities are, regardless of their temporal scope or economic output, no subordinated, basic activities in this sense. (2) The non-compete covenant shall cover all countries in which the Company or an Affiliated Company is active at the time of the Executive Director’s departure from the Company. (3) During the term of the non-compete covenant, the Executive Director shall receive compen- sation in the amount of 50% of the total fixed remuneration most recently received by him under Sec. 4 (1) of this Agreement. The
Executive Director shall not receive any compensation during the term of the non-compete covenant to the extent he receives a Severance according to Section 4 (b) of the US-Contract. (4) The Company shall be entitled to waive this non-compete covenant by written declaration at any time, including after the employment, with the effect that the Executive Director is re- leased of the obligations immediately. (5) Should the employment with the Executive Director be terminated by the Company without notice due to a material and intentional breach of contract, the claim to compensation pursuant to paragraph 3 shall lapse. (6) The post-contractual non-compete covenant shall not apply if the Executive Director has reached the statutory retirement age (Regelaltersgrenze) designated by the statutory pension scheme on his departure from the Company. (7) For each action resulting in the culpable breach of the non-competition or non-solicit covenant, the Executive Director shall pay a contractual penalty equal to the gross monthly salary most recently received by him. Should the breach consist of participating in the capital of a com- peting undertaking or entering into a contract for the performance of a continuing obligation

- 7 - (e.g. an employment, service, commercial agency or consultancy contract), the contractual penalty shall be imposed anew for each full or partial month in which the capital participationor the contract for the performance of a continuing obligation exists (ongoing breach). Multi- ple breaches shall each trigger a separate contractual penalty, possibly also more than once within one month. However, if individual breaches occur within the scope of an ongoingbreach, they shall be covered by the contractual penalty owed for the ongoing breach. Where several contractual penalties are imposed, the total amount of the penalties to be paid shall be limited to six times the gross monthly salary most recently received by the Executive Director. The Company reserves the right to assert damages over and above the contractual penalty imposed, as well as to assert all other statutory claims and legal consequences arising from a breach (e.g. cease and desist claims, forfeiture of the claim to compensation for non-competi- tion for the duration of the breach, etc.). (8) Insofar as the aforesaid provisions do not stipulate otherwise, sections 74 et seq. German Com- mercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch – HGB), with the exception of Sec. 75 para 2 HGB, this shall in particular apply to the reduction of contractual provisions to what is legally permissible pursuant to Sec. 74a HGB. § 12 NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT/RETURN OF COMPANY PROPERTY AND DOCUMENTS/INVENTIONS (1) For the duration of this Agreement and after expiration thereof, the Executive Director shall be obligated to maintain the utmost secrecy with regard to all confidential information on the business or on special matters of the Company and furthermore not to exploit this information for his own or third party use. This non-disclosure obligation refers in particular to the strategic plans of the Company and Associated Companies as well as to executed and scheduled trans- actions of the Company and Associated Companies; to all information on products and prod- uct developments and product planning, on price structuring, customer relationships and sup- plier contacts, other contractual relationships, agreements, marketing strategies, on plans or analyses of market potential
and investment possibilities; and to information on sales, profits, productivity, financing, fundraising plans or fundraising activities, and personnel and person- nel planning of the Company and its Associated Companies. (2) At any time upon the Company’s request, and unsolicited, at the latest upon expiration of this Agreement, the Executive Director shall return to the Company all objects in his possession that are the property of the Company or of Associated Companies, or which were provided to him by the Company or Associated Companies, in particular also those files and other docu- ments concerning the business operations of the Company or Associated Companies, as well as copies thereof or electronically stored media that contain the contents of such documents, as well as any copies thereof. This obligation to return the aforementioned objects shall apply especially to any object that may have been entrusted to the Executive Director, such as a laptop, blackberry telephone, or mobile telephone, even insofar as their use was permitted for private purposes. (3) The Company shall be exclusively entitled to inventions made by the Executive Director dur- ing the term of this Service Agreement. This shall also apply to technical and organizational suggestions for improvement that result directly or indirectly from the Executive Director’s tasks, or are related to them. The Executive Director shall be obligated to notify the Company, or a person designated by it, in writing of any inventions and suggestions for improvement without delay, and to assist the Company in obtaining patent protection and other intellectual property rights. The Executive director shall not have a claim to separate remuneration for

- 8 - inventions and suggestions for improvement. Compensation for the Executive Director’s per- formance shall be covered by the remuneration agreed upon in this Agreement. § 13 PRIVATE USE (1) The Company’s IT equipment (computers and devices), tele-communications equipment (tel- ephones, telefax), and photocopying machines are reserved for business purposes, however, may be used by the Executive Director for private purposes to a limited extent. (2) The obligation to use the IT service exclusively for business purposes applies, however, to the use of e-mail and Internet. Should the Employee nevertheless receive e-mails with private content, these must be deleted immediately and completely. § 14 FORFEITURE OF CLAIMS (1) All claims arising from and related to the employment relationship shall be forfeited if not asserted vis-à-vis the respective other party in text form within six months after their due date. This does not include claims resulting from injury to life, body, or health, as well as claims resulting from breaches of contract. (2) If the opposing party objects to the claim or if he does not answer within four weeks after the claim has been made pursuant to para. (1), the claims shall be forfeited unless they are asserted in court within six months of the objection, or after the abovementioned answer period has run out. § 15 FINAL PROVISIONS (1) No arrangements have been concluded outside of this Agreement and the US-Contract. (2) Modifications or addenda to this Agreement must be made in writing to be valid, and shall be subject to the explicit approval of the Administrative Board. The same shall apply for the cancellation of this written form clause. (3) The assertion of claims solely based on documentary evidence (“Urkundsverfahren”) shall be excluded. (4) Should individual provisions of this Agreement be or become invalid, this shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions in case of doubt. To replace the invalid provision or to fill any potential gap, an appropriate provision must be agreed upon that comes closest to fulfilling the commercial purpose intended by the contractual parties, or the provision that corresponds to what would have been agreed upon in accordance with the whole purpose
of this Agree- ment, had the matter been deliberated at the outset. (5) The laws of the Federal Republic of Germany shall apply to all disputes regarding the validity of this Agreement as well as to claims arising from and in connection with this agreement. Berlin/Date________________

- 9 - __________________________________ Spark Networks SE Represented by its Administrative Board, represented by the chairman of the Administrative Board, Mr. David Khalil,Berlin/Date________________ ________________________________David Clark

Amendment to Employment Agreement THIS AMENDMENT TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”) is made and entered into effective as of August 10, 2021 (the “Amendment Effective Date”), by and between SocialNet, Inc. a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Spark Networks, Inc. (the “Company”), and David Clark, ChiefFinancial Officer (the “Executive” and, together with the Company, the “Parties”). Whereas, the Company and Executive entered into that certain Employment Agreement (the “Agreement”) dated as of August 10, 2021, as amended as of August 10, 2021, and Whereas, the Parties desire to amend Section 3(a) of the Agreement in the manner reflected herein, and Whereas, the Board of Directors of the Company has approved the amendment of the Agreement in the manner reflected herein, Now Therefore, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants and conditions herein, the Parties, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows, effective as of the Amendment Effective Date: 1. Compensation. Section 3 of the Agreement is hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety with the following: “3(a) Base Salary. During the Term, the Company shall pay Executive a base salary at the annual rate of $400,000 USD (the “Annual Base Salary” to be paid evenly over the course of the year, of which $340,000 USD will be paid by SocialNet, Inc, in accordance with the Company’s standard payroll policiesand $60,000 USD will be paid by Spark Networks, SE, in accordance with the Company’s standard payroll policies and the Executive Director Service Agreement.” 2. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in one or more facsimile, electronic or original counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and both of which together shall constitute the same instrument. 3. Ratification. All terms and provisions of the Agreement not amended hereby, either expressly or by necessary implication, shall remain in full force and effect. From and after the date of this Amendment, all references to the term “Agreement” in this Amendment or the original Agreement shall include the terms contained in this Amendment. [Signature Page Follows]Exhibit 10.10

WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment to Employment Agreement effective as of the Amendment Effective Date.SOCIALNET, INC. By: Name: Trini Szoyka Roberts Title: Secretary / Head of HR, US DAVID CLARK

Exhibit 21.1
Spark Networks SE
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2021

Entity

Jurisdiction of Formation

Spark Networks Services GmbH
Spark Networks, Inc.
Zoosk, Inc.
SilverSingles LLC
EliteSingles LLC
LDS Singles LLC
Adventist Singles LLC
Charm Labs LLC
Spark Networks Limited
Spark Networks USA, LLC
Spark Networks Ltd.
Jdate Limited
LOV USA, LLC
MingleMatch, Inc.
Smooch Labs, Inc.
SocialNet, Inc.
Zoosk Limited
Zoosk Ireland Limited

Germany
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
United Kingdom
Delaware
Israel
United Kingdom
Delaware
Utah
Delaware
New York
United Kingdom
Ireland

Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (No. 333-255204, 333-224719 and 333-222277) on Forms S-8 of
our report dated March 31, 2021, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Spark Networks SE.
/s/ KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Berlin, Germany
March 16, 2022

Exhibit 23.2
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Spark Networks SE
Berlin, Germany
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-255204, 333-224719 and 333222277) of Spark Networks SE of our report dated March 16, 2022, relating to the consolidated financial statements, which appears in the
Annual Report to Shareholders, which is incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
/s/ BDO USA, LLP
New York, New York
March 16, 2022

Exhibit 31.1
Form of Certification
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Eric Eichmann, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Spark Networks SE;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the consolidated financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: March 16, 2022

By:

/s/ Eric Eichmann
Eric Eichmann
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
Form of Certification
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, David Clark, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Spark Networks SE;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the consolidated financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: March 16, 2022

By:

/s/ David Clark
David Clark
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1

Form of Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code), each of
the undersigned officers of Spark Networks SE (the “Company”), does hereby certify, to such officer’s knowledge, that:
The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 of the Company fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 16, 2022

By:

/s/ Eric Eichmann
Eric Eichmann
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 32.2

Form of Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code), each of
the undersigned officers of Spark Networks SE (the “Company”), does hereby certify, to such officer’s knowledge, that:
The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 of the Company fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 16, 2022

By:

/s/ David Clark
David Clark
Chief Financial Officer

